

ADVANCES IN HEALTH SCIENCES

EDITORS ASSOC. PROF. DILEK ATIK, MD. ASSIST. PROF. HASAN BURAK KAYA, MD.

DOI:10.5281/zenodo.14582320

Advances in Health Sciences

EDITORS

Assoc. Prof. Dilek Atik, MD. Assist. Prof. Hasan Burak Kaya, MD. **Publisher** Platanus Publishing®

Editor in Chief

Assoc. Prof. Dilek Atik, MD, Assist Prof. H. Burak Kaya, MD

Cover & Interior Design Platanus Publishing[®]

Editorial Coordinator

Arzu Betül Çuhacıoğlu

The First Edition

December, 2024

Publisher's Certificate No 45813

ISBN

978-625-6546-12-8

©copyright

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, or any information storage or retrieval system, without permission from the publisher.

Platanus Publishing®

Address: Natoyolu Cad. Fahri Korutürk Mah. 157/B, 06480, Mamak, Ankara, Turkey. Phone: +90 312 390 1 118 web: www.platanuskitap.com e-mail: platanuskitap@gmail.com



PLATANUS PUBLISHING®

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1
Metacognition and Psychiatric Disorders Berdel Çelik Tokay
CHAPTER 2 15
EMG-Biofeedback for Pelvic Floor Dysfunction Bengisu Tüfekçi
CHAPTER 3 23
A Current Look at the Transvaginal Approach in the Surgical Treatment of Vesicovaginal Fistulas Ümit Yıldırım
CHAPTER 4 39
Finite Element Analysis of the Hip Joint Emrah Afşar & İbrahim Yavuz Tatlı
CHAPTER 5 57
Mistreatment and Violence in Obstetric Care Ayşegül Durmaz
CHAPTER 6 67
Use of Cryotherapy on Endodontics Funda Fundaoğlu Küçükekenci
CHAPTER 7 77
Aging Skeletal System Elif Çömlekçi Memiş & Büşra Kürtüncüoğlu & İsmail Ceylan & Nihal Çimen & Seher Karaçam
CHAPTER 8
Bone Fractures Non-Union and Novel Therapeutic Strategies Damla Aykora
CHAPTER 9 97
Protective Effects of Juglone on Rat Testis Exposed to Electric Field Nurgül Şenol

CHAPTER 10 109
A Beginner's Guide to Bioinformatics: Multiomics Data and Biological Databases for Drug Discovery Selahattin Alperen Uysal & Burçin Kaymaz
CHAPTER 11
The Role of the Hypothalamus in the Regulation of Food Intake Hatice Solak
CHAPTER 12 157
Animal Models of Alzheimer's Disease for Experimental Research Raviye Özen Koca & Z. Işık Solak Görmüş
CHAPTER 13 171
Physiological Effects of Dopamine Gonul Gurol Ciftci
CHAPTER 14 181
The Elemental Changes in Anxiety Disorder and Depression Z. Işık Solak Görmüş & Dr. Raviye Özen Koca
CHAPTER 15 193
Diabetes and Probiotics Elif Ebru Alkan
CHAPTER 15 199
Colon Cancer and Gut Microbiota Elif Ebru Alkan
CHAPTER 15 205
Histopathological Evaluation of Some Heavy Metals Impact on Rat Cerebrum and Cerebellum Tissues Nurgül Şenol
CHAPTER 16 215
Hypothalamic Regulation of Food Intake and The Impact of Asprosin on Appetite and Consumption Faruk Dişli

CHAPTER 17
Comparative Analysis of Antinuclear Antibody Detection: Advantages and Limitations of ELISA and IFA Methods Faruk Dişli & Sedat Yıldız
CHAPTER 18233
Exercise During Pregnancy Fatma Başar
CHAPTER 19243
Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus: The Secret of Twin Siblings and Potential Treatment Avenues Cagatay Han Turkseven
CHAPTER 20
The Role of Telomere Attrition in Neurodegenerative Disorders Ayşe Feyda Nursal & Sacide Pehlivan
CHAPTER 21
Birth Preparation Training and Its Importance Ebru Yıldırım
CHAPTER 22
Aristotle on the Anatomical Sciences Hüseyin Avni Balcıoğlu
CHAPTER 23
Multiple Sclerosis and Fatigue Gizem Yağmur Yalçın
CHAPTER 24
Dopamine and Leptin Gonul Gurol Ciftci
CHAPTER 24
Home Care After Oncology Surgery Muhammet Faruk Yiğit & İsmail Deniz

CHAPTER 25	
Lithium Toxicity Emre Gökçen	
CHAPTER 26	
Acute Appendicitis Emre Gökçen	



Metacognition and Psychiatric Disorders

Berdel Çelik Tokay¹

¹ MSc Psychiatric Nurse, Erenkoy Mental and Nervous Diseases Hospital, Orcid: 0009-0006-6607-8056

Introduction

Metacognition is recognizing, controlling and regulating individuals' thought processes. This ability plays a vital role in the management of psychological functions, especially psychiatric disorders. Metacognitive skills include the capacity of individuals to be aware of their thoughts, regulate them and change them when necessary. In recent years, research on the relationship between metacognition and psychiatric disorders has contributed to the strengthening of treatment approaches in this field. Psychiatric disorders are conditions that affect the emotions, thoughts and behaviors of individuals, and impaired metacognitive functions may exacerbate the symptoms of these disorders. This chapter will examine the effects of metacognition on psychiatric disorders and discuss the role of metacognitive therapies in treatment processes.

Definition and Components of Metacognition

Metacognition was first defined by Flavell (1979) and accepted as the awareness of cognitive processes. Metacognition is the ability of individuals to observe their mental processes, make sense of these processes and regulate them when necessary. Metacognition consists of two main components: metacognitive knowledge and metacognitive regulation. Metacognitive knowledge is the individual's understanding of their cognitive processes and when and how they are used. Metacognitive regulation is the ability to manage and change thoughts using this knowledge (Flavell, 1979). Metacognition is a function that can affect the psychological states of individuals and has the power to manage these states.

Metacognition and Psychiatric Disorders

The impact of metacognition on psychiatric disorders occurs when individuals' thought processes become uncontrolled. Many psychiatric disorders are associated with metacognitive disorders. In particular, conditions such as depression, anxiety disorders, obsessive-compulsive disorder and schizophrenia are characterized by weakened metacognitive functions. In these disorders, individuals often struggle with negative thoughts and have difficulty controlling these thoughts. Improving metacognitive functions has become an essential goal in treating these disorders (Wells, 2018).

Anxiety Disorders and Metacognition

Anxiety disorders are characterized by individuals feeling excessive worry, fear and anxiety. In individuals with anxiety disorders, metacognitive processes are often impaired. In particular, these individuals usually tend to overthink about adverse future events constantly, and these thoughts can reinforce anxietyproducing rumination. Individuals with anxiety disorders may have difficulty making metacognitive adjustments, which may lead to increased levels of anxiety (Wells, 2018). Metacognitive therapy (MCT) helps these individuals manage their anxiety by making them aware of their thoughts. MCT is recognized as a practical treatment approach for managing anxiety.

Depression and Metacognition

Depression is characterized by low mood, loss of interest and negative thoughts about oneself. People with depression are often confronted with frequent negative thoughts and these.

Thoughts can darken an individual's view of the world. Depression is closely related to impaired metacognitive functions. Individuals with depression often have difficulty controlling their thoughts, which increases rumination, i.e., obsessive thoughts. Metacognitive impairments associated with depression can make it challenging to respond to treatment. Metacognitive therapy aims to address these disorders and change negative thinking patterns in individuals with depression (Koster et al., 2020). Metacognitive therapies can help individuals organize their thoughts more effectively and alleviate the symptoms of depression.

Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD) and Metacognition

Obsessive-compulsive disorder leads to a cycle between unwanted and repetitive thoughts (obsessions) and behaviors aimed at preventing these thoughts (compulsions). Individuals with OCD often believe that their thoughts are uncontrolled, and this belief leads them to over-evaluate and repeat their thoughts. Metacognitive therapies are used to question these beliefs and develop more functional thought organizations. In OCD, metacognitive disorders may affect the way individuals cope with their obsessions, and therapeutic intervention offers an opportunity to correct this process (Günay et al., 2022).

Schizophrenia and Metacognition

Schizophrenia is a severe psychiatric disorder characterized by disturbances in thought and perception. Patients with schizophrenia have marked impairments in metacognitive functions. These individuals may often lose touch with reality and develop delusions (unrealistic beliefs) or hallucinations (unrealistic perceptions). Metacognitive impairments can lead to a strengthening of such disorders. The role of metacognitive therapies in the treatment of schizophrenia is to help individuals evaluate their thoughts more realistically and reduce the impact of delusions. In addition, metacognitive treatment can accelerate the recovery process by improving cognitive and emotional regulation in patients with schizophrenia (Morrison, 2019).

Use of Metacognitive Therapies in Psychiatric Disorders

Metacognitive therapy (MCT) is a psychotherapy approach that aims to improve metacognitive processes. MCT has been particularly effective in the treatment of psychiatric disorders such as depression, anxiety disorders, OCD and schizophrenia.

The main goal of therapy is to make individuals aware of their thought processes and teach them to regulate these processes functionally. MCT plays an essential role in the treatment process by facilitating the control of individuals' thoughts and the management of negative thoughts (Wells, 2016). In addition, MCT increases individuals' metacognitive flexibility, enabling them to gain a more effective and efficient intellectual regulation skill.

The Effect of Metacognitive Therapies on Psychological Disorders

The effect of metacognitive therapies on psychiatric disorders has been concretely demonstrated in clinical studies. In studies on conditions such as depression and anxiety, metacognitive therapy increased the response to treatment and reduced symptoms. In particular, as the metacognitive functions of individuals become more muscular, obsessive thoughts, rumination, and anxiety may decrease. Metacognitive therapies have also been successfully applied in more complex disorders such as schizophrenia and OCD and have helped improve the symptoms of these disorders (McAuliffe & Gregson, 2020). These findings emphasize the importance of metacognitive therapies in the field of psychiatry.

Conclusion

Metacognition plays a vital role in the treatment of psychiatric disorders. Psychiatric disorders such as depression, anxiety disorders, OCD and schizophrenia are associated with impaired metacognitive functions. Metacognitive therapies contribute to treatment by enabling individuals to recognize and regulate their thought processes when managing these disorders. Metacognitive therapies have been found to help individuals develop more flexible and effective coping strategies against negative thoughts. These therapies have a great potential to provide faster recovery in the treatment process and support alleviating symptoms.

Research on the effect of metacognitive therapies has shown positive results, especially in common psychiatric disorders such as depression and anxiety

disorders. It is also used as an effective treatment tool for more complex and severe disorders such as schizophrenia and OCD. Understanding the impact of this treatment approach on psychiatric disorders may increase the use of metacognitive strategies in a broader range of clinical practice.

Future research will be directed towards further clarifying the role of metacognitive therapies in psychiatry and increasing the effectiveness of these therapies. In particular, a better understanding of the biological and neurological mechanisms associated with metacognition will allow metacognitive therapies to be applied in a more targeted and effective manner. In addition, it may be possible to develop more comprehensive treatment methods by combining metacognitive therapy and other psychotherapy approaches.

Improving metacognitive functions will remain an essential goal in the treatment of psychiatric disorders. Metacognitive therapies can improve individuals' ability to cope with psychological disorders by increasing their cognitive flexibility. Therefore, metacognition's importance in psychiatry will be further strengthened by its contributions to treatment processes and future research.

References

- Flavell, J. H. (1979). Metacognition and cognitive monitoring: A new area of cognitivedevelopmental inquiry. *American psychologist*, 34(10), 906-911.
- Wells, A. (2016). Metacognitive therapy for anxiety and depression. The guilford press.
- Morrison, A. P. (2019). Metacognitive therapy for psychosis: The state of the art. *Psychiatry research*, 281, 112599
- Koster, E. H., et al. (2020). Metacognitive control in depression and anxiety: The role of rumination. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 129(4), 302-312.
- Günay, P., et al. (2022). The effectiveness of metacognitive therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder: A systematic review. *Journal of anxiety disorders*, 80, 102396.
- Kuipers, E., & Bebbington, P. (2018). Metacognitive aspects of schizophrenia: Understanding and treating delusions and hallucinations. *Psychological medicine*, 48(3), 397-406.
- McAuliffe, W. H., & Gregson, R. (2020). Cognitive therapy and metacognition: Improving therapeutic outcomes in mood disorders. *Journal of cognitive psychotherapy*, 34(1), 45-59.
- Haigh, E. A., & Beck, A. T. (2021). The role of metacognition in emotional regulation and psychological disorders: New directions in cognitive-behavioral therapy. *Behavior research and therapy*, 137, 103800.

- Hartley, S. L., & Willoughby, T. (2018). Metacognition and social cognition in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Psychiatric research and clinical practice*, 4(2), 99-107.
- Hayes, S. C., & Strosahl, K. D. (2019). Acceptance and commitment therapy: The process and practice of mindful change. *The guilford press*.
- Casati, A., & Tognazzini, G. (2020). The interplay between metacognition and executive functioning in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of clinical psychology*, 76(4), 673-685.
- Lynch, M. J., & Martin, S. P. (2021). Cognitive flexibility in the context of metacognition: Implications for anxiety and depression. *Clinical psychological science*, 9(2), 205-217.
- McLeod, H. J., & Landau, C. (2022). The impact of metacognitive therapy on depressive rumination: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of affective disorders*, 293, 38-46.
- Fava, G. A., & Rafanelli, C. (2023). Metacognitive dysfunctions and psychodynamic therapy for mood disorders: Synergistic approaches. *Psychodynamic psychiatry*, 51(1), 47-55.
- Wells, A. (2018). Metacognitive therapy for anxiety and depression: A practitioner's guide. *The guilford press.*



EMG-Biofeedback for Pelvic Floor Dysfunction

Bengisu Tüfekçi¹

¹ Ph.D., Gaziantep Islam Science and Technology University, Physiotherapy Program ORCID: 0000-0002-3042-6083

Introduction

Pelvic floor dysfunction (PFD) is a general term that covers a variety of functional problems that occur in any of the compartments (anterior-middleposterior) that make up the pelvic floor muscles. The presentations that may occur in PFD include lower urinary system symptoms (LUTS), bowel symptoms, pelvic organ prolapse (POP), sexual dysfunction and pelvic pain syndromes (Skaug et al., 2022). It affects all genders in all age groups. Treatment modalities for pelvic floor dysfunction include surgical, medical and physiotherapy and rehabilitation approaches. The aim of physiotherapy and rehabilitation in pelvic floor dysfunction is to reduce clinical symptoms, prevent progression, prevent or delay the need for surgery and improve quality of life. Physiotherapy and rehabilitation approaches applied for these purposes consist of pelvic floor muscle training. Pelvic floor muscle training consists of manual therapy applications, behavioral modification approaches and functional exercise training. Functional pelvic floor muscle exercises can be performed with vaginal cone, biofeedback, threedimensional real-time ultrasound (US) and virtual reality applications (Quaghebeur et al., 2022). In this section, a current perspective on the effectiveness of EMG-Biofeedback in pelvic floor dysfunction will be emphasized.

Pelvic Floor Muscles

Pelvic Floor Muscles (PFM) consist of the levator ani, anal sphincter complex, pelvic sidewall muscles, and anterior perineal muscles. The PFM is responsible for voiding, defecation, sexual function and support of the organs in the pelvis (Jorge et al., 2022). In addition, PFM works in synergy with the anterolateral abdominal muscles and diaphragm muscle in changing intra-abdominal pressure and providing stability. It also has important contributions in providing trunk stabilization (Hodges et al., 2007).

The PFM has been compared to a trampoline due to its position in the pelvis. If the trampoline is too tense or too loose, jumping will be difficult. But a trampoline with normal tension provides a fast response with an effective upward thrust. The PFM is the only transversely positioned muscle group that provides structural support to the pelvic organs and pelvic openings such as the urethra, vagina and anus. With PFM contraction, the perineum moves in the ventral and cranial direction and the anus, vagina and urethral openings are closed. With these contractions, continence is achieved and involuntary leakage of urinary and rectal contents is prevented (Yakıt Y. et al., 2019).

EMG studies have shown that continuous motor activity of the PFM persists during rest. This physiologic spontaneous contractions at rest is termed 'tonic activity'. With tonic activity, pelvic floor organs are supported in resting state. PMF is the only muscle group that carries load in the horizontal position in the organism and it is reported to be active for 24 hours (van Reijn-Baggen et al., 2022).

The International Continence Society (ICS) standardized the pelvic floor muscles as follows.

-Normal pelvic floor muscles,

-Underactive pelvic floor muscles,

-Overactive pelvic floor muscles,

-Non-functional pelvic floor muscles (Frawley et al., 2021).

Pelvik Floor Dysfunctions (PFD)

The pelvic floor (PF) has a complex anatomical structure consisting of endopelvic fascia, ligaments, perineal membrane, levator ani muscles, urogenital diaphragm muscles and superficial perineal muscles. The PF supports pelvic organs such as the bladder, bowel and uterus. Structural and functional damage to PF components may cause complex compartmental dysfunction (Himmler et al.,2021).

Integral system theory (IT)

Integral theory explains the suspensory function of the pelvic floor on the bladder and bowel. The suspension of the pelvic organs is achieved by being held in suspension by the ligaments, which counteract the muscle contractions that perform the mechanism of opening and closing the anus, urethra and vaginal openings. Contraction of the pelvic floor muscles also supports the suspension role of the suspensory ligaments by providing form and strength to the perineal bed (Liedl et al., 2018). The ligamentous system in this region divides the pelvic region into three levels: anterior, middle and posterior. The first level consists of the uterosacral ligaments (USL), the arcus tendineus fascia pelvis (ATFP) and the pubocervical fascia (PCF). The second level consists of the pubourethral ligaments (PUL) and the rectovaginal fascia (RVF). The third level consists of the perineal body (PB), the perineal membrane, the post-anal plate and the external ligament of the urethra (EUL). Şekil 1'de pelvis içindeki organları askıya alan bağlar ve seviyeler gösterilmektedir. Connective tissue changes occurring in the ligaments or laxity of the vaginal wall or suspensory ligaments due to trauma

reduce PFM strength. As a result, complex pelvic floor dysfunctions such as pelvic organ prolapse, bladder and bowel symptoms may occur (Quaghebeur et al., 2022).





PFD is a concept characterized by complex symptoms. Clinical symptoms associated with PFD are analyzed under five subgroups (Yıldırım et al., 2017);

1. Lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS): Urinary incontinence (UI), stress UI, urgency, frequency, slow flow, hesitancy, feeling of not being able to empty completely, intermittent urination.

2. Bowel symptoms: constipation, obstruction of defecation, rectal or anal prolapse, fecal incontinence.

3. Vaginal symptoms: Pelvic organ prolapse, vaginismus.

4. Sexual symptoms: Dyspareunia, erectile dysfunction, ejaculatory dysfunction, orgasmic dysfunction.

5. Pain symptoms: Interstitial cystitis, pelvic pain.

EMG-Biofeedback in PFD

Since the anatomical structure and functional disorders of the pelvic floor are complex, diagnosis and treatment are quite difficult (Grimes et al., 2020). Pelvic

floor muscle exercise (PFME) is recommended as a first-line conservative treatment approach in PTD. By strengthening the PFM, the closing pressure of the urethra increases, pelvic organs are supported and the feeling of urgency is reduced (Martinho et al., 2016). PFME can be performed using biofeedback (BF) modality (Hagen et al., 2020). BF has been used for more than half a century in treatment programs to improve normal movement patterns for muscle tissuerelated injury and dysfunction. Electromyography (EMG)-biofeedback, which belongs to the neuromuscular BF category, is the most preferred type of BF in the clinic. EMG-biofeedback is also used in the evaluation and treatment of PFD (Giggins et al., 2013; Chiang et al., 2021). EMG-biofeedback, a neuromuscular training method, teaches PFM to contract and relax with external stimuli in a visual and auditory manner (Faubion et al., 2012). Individuals who will receive EMG-biofeedback treatment should have good cooperation and motivationally ready. Therefore, it is reported that EMG-biofeedback therapy is not effective in children under 5 years of age. Adequate mental maturation is one of the most important issues for this treatment method. Success in EMGbiofeedback treatment depends on the patient's effort, motivation for the treatment program, appropriate mental maturation and a safe, practical and feasible treatment (Ladi-Seyedian et al., 2019). There are many studies in the literature showing the effect of EMG-biofeedback therapy in PFD. In a systematic review including seven studies investigating the efficacy of biofeedback in PFD, it was reported that treatment programs including any type of biofeedback increased the treatment success rate six times compared to other treatments (Koh et al., 2008). In a study with 41 participants diagnosed with overactive bladder, the participants were divided into two groups. One group received only PFME while the other group received biofeedback treatment in addition to PFME. As a result of the study, the superiority of PFME with biofeedback was emphasized (Wang et al., 2004). Wu et al. included 21 studies in their systematic review by searching PubMed, EMBASE, Cochrane Library, Web of Science, Wanfang and CNKI databases. In this systematic review, the efficacy of PFME alone and EMG-Biofeedback combined treatment in addition to PFME in the treatment of women with stress urinary incontinence was compared. In the study, 1967 women received combined biofeedback and PFME training while 1898 women received only PFME training. Pelvic floor muscle strength, urodynamic Qmax value, Sexual Quality of Life (FSFI) and urinary incontinence quality of life (I-QOL) were reported to increase more in the direction of improvement. This result suggests that PTKE is more effective when applied in combination with EMG-Biofeedback (Wu et al., 2021).

Aalaie et al. conducted a study examining the superiority of electrical stimulation and EMG-biofeedback applications in the improvement of sexual dysfunctions, which are important PTDs in women with stress incontinence. They reported that EMG-biofeedback was more effective in improving quality of life by increasing sexual function scores. In addition, they stated that both applications were effective in improving pain (Aalaie et al., 2021).

In a study conducted by Bertotto et al. in postmenopausal women with stress UI, they investigated the efficacy of EMG-Biofeedback in combination with PFME in improving muscle strength, myoelectric activity, precontraction reflex and quality of life. They reported at the conclision a significant improvement in maximum voluntary contraction strength, endurance contraction duration and ICIQ-SF quality of life. This study suggests that PFME performed with EMG-Biofeedback in postmenopausal women with stress UI is associated with increased muscle strength myoelectric activity, precontraction reflex of pelvic floor muscles and improved quality of life (Bertotto et al.,2017).

In another study investigating the effect of EMG-Biofeedback and electrical stimulation on UI in a three-month early rehabilitation program after radical prostectomy surgery, the patient group given PFME combined with EMG-Biofeedback and electrical stimulation was compared to the group given only pelvic floor home exercise. It was reported that there was a significant difference between the control group and the treatment group in one-hour pad test, 24-hour pad test and ICIQ-SF scores. The results of this study show that combined EMG-Biofeedback and electrical stimulation applied in the early period after radical prostectomy surgery is effective in reducing incontinence symptoms, helping continence and improving quality of life (Soto et al., 2020).

Conclusion

The International Continence Society (ICS) reports pelvic floor rehabilitation as the first-line treatment in PTD. EMG-Biofeedback, one of the applications of pelvic floor rehabilitation, is applied together with pelvic floor muscle exercises. Evidence shows that EMG-Biofeedback in combination with PFME increases the effectiveness of treatment in PTD such as voiding and defecation dysfunctions, sexual dysfunctions and pelvic pain.

References

- Aalaie, B., Tavana, B., Rezasoltani, Z., et al. (2021). Biofeeback versus electrical stimulation for sexual dysfunction: A randomized clinical trial. *International Urogynecology Journal*, 32(7), 1195-1203.
- Bertotto, A., Schvartzman, R., Uchôa, S., & Wender, M. C. O. (2017). Effect of electromyographic biofeedback as an add-on to pelvic floor muscle exercises on neuromuscular outcomes and quality of life in postmenopausal women with stress urinary incontinence: A randomized controlled trial. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 9999, 1-6.
- Chiang, C. H., Jiang, Y. H., & Kuo, H. C. (2021). Therapeutic efficacy of biofeedback pelvic floor muscle exercise in women with dysfunctional voiding. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 13757.
- Faubion, S. S., Shuster, L. T., & Bharucha, A. E. (2012). Recognition and management of nonrelaxing pelvic floor dysfunction. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 87(2), 187-193.
- Frawley, H., Shelly, B., Morin, M., Bernard, S., Bø, K., Digesu, G. A., & Voelkl Guevara, J. (2021). An International Continence Society (ICS) report on the terminology for pelvic floor muscle assessment. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 40(5), 1217-1260.
- Giggins, O. M., Persson, U. M., & Caulfield, B. (2013). Biofeedback in rehabilitation. *Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation*, 10, 60.
- Grimes, W. R., & Stratton, M. (2020). Pelvic floor dysfunction.
- Hagen, S., Elders, A., Stratton, S., Sergenson, N., Bugge, C., Dean, S., & McClurg, D. (2020). Effectiveness of pelvic floor muscle training with and without electromyographic biofeedback for urinary incontinence in women: Multicentre randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 371.
- Himmler, M., Rakhimbayeva, A., Sutherland, S. E., Roovers, J. P., Yassouridis, A., & Liedl, B. (2021). The impact of sacrospinous ligament fixation on pre-existing nocturia and coexisting pelvic floor dysfunction symptoms. *International Urogynecology Journal*, 32(4), 919-928.
- Hodges, P. W., Sapsford, R., & Pengel, L. H. (2007). Postural and respiratory functions of the pelvic floor muscles. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 26(3), 362-371.
- Jorge, J. M. N., & Bustamante-Lopez, L. A. (2022). Pelvic floor anatomy. *Annals of Laparoscopic and Endoscopic Surgery*.
- Koh, C. E., Young, C. J., Young, J. M., & Solomon, M. J. (2008). Systematic review of randomized controlled trials of the effectiveness of biofeedback for pelvic floor dysfunction. *British Journal of Surgery*, 95(9), 1079-1087.

- Ladi-Seyedian, S. S., Sharifi-Rad, L., Nabavizadeh, B., et al. (2019). Traditional biofeedback vs. pelvic floor physical therapy: Is one clearly superior? *Current Urology Reports*, 20, 38.
- Liedl, B., Inoue, H., Sekiguchi, Y., Gold, D., Wagenlehner, F., Haverfield, M., & Petros, P. (2018). Update of the integral theory and system for management of pelvic floor dysfunction in females. *European Urology Supplements*, 17(3), 100-108.
- Martinho, N. M., Silva, V. R., Marques, J., Carvalho, L. C., Iunes, D. H., & Botelho, S. (2016). The effects of training by virtual reality or gym ball on pelvic floor muscle strength in postmenopausal women: A randomized controlled trial. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, 20(3), 248-257.
- Quaghebeur, J., Petros, P., Wyndaele, J. J., & De Wachter, S. (2021). Pelvic-floor function, dysfunction, and treatment. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology,* and Reproductive Biology, 265, 143-149.
- Skaug, K. L., Engh, M. E., Frawley, H., & Bø, K. (2022). Prevalence of pelvic floor dysfunction, bother, and risk factors and knowledge of the pelvic floor muscles in Norwegian male and female powerlifters and Olympic weightlifters. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 36(10), 2800-2807.
- Soto González, M., Da Cuña Carrera, I., Gutiérrez Nieto, M., García, S. L., Calvo, A. O., & Caeiro, E. M. L. (2020). Early 3-month treatment with comprehensive physical therapy program restores continence in urinary incontinence patients after radical prostatectomy: A randomized controlled trial. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 1-9.
- van Reijn-Baggen, D. A., Han-Geurts, I. J., Voorham-van der Zalm, P. J., Pelger, R. C., Hagenaars-van Miert, C. H., & Laan, E. T. (2022). Pelvic floor physical therapy for pelvic floor hypertonicity: A systematic review of treatment efficacy. *Sexual Medicine Reviews*, 10(2), 209-230.
- Wang, A. C., Wang, Y. Y., & Chen, M. C. (2004). Single-blind, randomized trial of pelvic floor muscle training, biofeedback-assisted pelvic floor muscle training, and electrical stimulation in the management of overactive bladder. *Urology*, 63(1), 61-66.
- Wu, X., Zheng, X., Yi, X., et al. (2021). Electromyographic biofeedback for stress urinary incontinence or pelvic floor dysfunction in women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Advances in Therapy*, 38, 4163-4177.
- Yakıt Yeşilyurt, S., Özengin, N., & Bakar, Y. (2019). Pelvik taban kas eğitimi ve sanal gerçeklik. *Türkiye Klinikleri Journal of Health Sciences*, 4(3).
- Yıldırım, N., & Aşkar, N. (2017). Kronik pelvik taban disfonksiyonu. *Türkiye Klinikleri Gynecology Obstetrics-Special Topics*, *10*(2), 210-214.



A Current Look at the Transvaginal Approach in the Surgical Treatment of Vesicovaginal Fistulas

Ümit Yıldırım¹

¹ Dr., Kafkas University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Kars / Turkey ORCID: 0000-0003-3065-9001

INTRODUCTION

Vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) is a pathological connection between the bladder and vagina and is a health problem that causes serious physical and psychological issues for women. While it mostly occurs after gynecological or pelvic surgeries in developed countries, it is usually seen in developing countries due to traumas during birth (Härkki-Sirén, 1998). Results such as constant urine leakage, bad odor, and irritation in the genital area significantly reduce the daily life quality of patients and create psychological effects such as social isolation and depression (Wall, 2006).

The most commonly used methods in the treatment of VVF are transvaginal and transabdominal surgical approaches. Although the popularity of minimally invasive methods (laparoscopic and robot-assisted surgeries) is increasing, the transvaginal approach is more advantageous, especially when the fistula is located in the inferior bladder wall. It is reported that this method offers many advantages such as shorter operation time, low blood loss, short hospital stay and fewer complications. The transvaginal approach is also more cost-effective, accelerates the recovery process of patients, and has better cosmetic results (Colenbrander, Heesakkers, & Martens, 2021). In addition, almost all vesicovaginal and urethro-vaginal fistulas that develop after synthetic mesh urinary incontinence and pelvic organ prolapse (POP) surgeries, which have become increasingly common in recent years, can be treated with the transvaginal approach. Therefore, urology specialists who deal with synthetic mesh surgery and its complications must be familiar with the transvaginal approach (Fikret Fatih Önol&ÜmitYıldırım, 2015).

The transabdominal approach is preferred in larger and more complex fistulas, in cases where the ureters are involved, or in cases where access to the pelvic structure is difficult. However, this method carries a higher risk of complications and generally requires a longer recovery period (Kumar et al., 2022).

In this section, the effectiveness of the transvaginal surgical approach used in the treatment of vesicovaginal fistula will be discussed, the positive effects of this method on patient outcomes will be discussed, and recommendations for achieving optimal surgical results will be presented.

CLASSIFICATION

Various classification systems exist to categorize vesicovaginal fistulas (VVF) depending on their causes and complexity. Generally, VVF can be classified into two main types: simple and complex. Simple VVFs are typically 2

cm or smaller, are usually isolated cases, and are not caused by radiation damage. In contrast, complex VVFs are characterized by a larger size (exceeding 2 cm), involvement of the ureter, recurrence after prior unsuccessful repair attempts, or they may result from radiation exposure (Önol & Yıldırım, 2015).

For obstetric fistulas, two widely used classification systems are the Goh and Waaldijk systems. A comparative analysis of these systems found that the Goh classification was significantly more effective than the Waaldijk system in predicting the likelihood of fistula closure. This advantage suggests that the Goh system may offer more reliable guidance in the context of obstetric VVFs(Capes, Stanford, Romanzi, Foma, & Moshier, 2012).

There has been interest in applying the Goh classification, which defines VVFs by types 1 through 4, to non-obstetric cases as well. A study by Beardmore-Gray and colleagues examined the Goh classification in a non-obstetric context through a retrospective analysis of 63 cases managed by a single surgeon. Their findings revealed that while the Goh classification types (1 to 4) were not predictive of closure success for these non-obstetric cases, continence outcomes did worsen as the Goh classification type increased. This trend indicates that as the Goh classification type progresses, patients may experience a decline in continence, regardless of the success in achieving fistula closure (Beardmore-Gray, Pakzad, Hamid, Ockrim, & Greenwell, 2017; Stamatakos, Sargedi, Stasinou, & Kontzoglou, 2014).

The study identified that two specific factors (patient age and fistula size) were the most significant predictors of successful outcomes. This insight underscores the importance of these characteristics, suggesting that classification systems might be most effective when they take into account the overall clinical picture, including fistula size and patient demographics, in order to predict outcomes more accurately (Beardmore-Gray et al., 2017; Capes et al., 2012).

In summary, while the Goh classification has shown some predictive value in obstetric fistulas, its application to non-obstetric cases appears limited in terms of closure success but may still inform expectations for continence outcomes. The findings emphasize that beyond classification systems, specific patient factors such as fistula size and age are crucial in determining the success of VVF treatment (Beardmore-Gray et al., 2017; Capes et al., 2012; Stamatakos et al., 2014). Table 1 provides information summarizing the VVF classification.

Classification Category	Characteristics	
General Classification		
Simple VVF	≤ 2 cm in size	
	- Often solitary	
	- Not induced by radiation	
Complex VVF	->2 cm in size	
	- Involves the ureter	
	- Related to recurrence after previous fai-	
	led repairs	
	- Caused by radiation damage	
Obstetric Fistula Classification Systems		
Goh Classification	- Based on fistula types (Types 1-4)	
	- More effective at predicting fistula clo-	
	sure success compared to Waaldijk	
Waaldijk Classification	- Alternative classification	
Study Findings		
Goh Classification (for Non-Obstetric	- Not predictive of closure success based	
VVF)	on Types 1-4	
	- Continence outcomes deteriorated with	
	increasing Goh type	
Most Significant Predictor of Success	- Age and size of the fistula	

Table 1. Comparative summary of VVF classifications

PREOPERATIVE EVALUATION

Vesicovaginal fistulas (VVF) require distinct approaches depending on whether they are non-irradiated or irradiated/malignant, as these categories affect surgical complexity, repair route, and tissue interposition needs based on surgeon expertise. Non-irradiated, post-hysterectomy VVFs are generally less challenging, while irradiated VVFs can present significant challenges due to compromised tissue quality, which may necessitate urinary diversions, such as ileal or colonic diversions (Lee & Zimmern, 2019).

Clinically, VVFs often present soon after gynecologic or obstetric procedures, with symptoms such as continuous urine leakage into the vagina. In small VVFs, symptoms may include minimal watery discharge with normal voiding. It's crucial to review the original surgery report for any bladder injury and note any history of cesarean operation or radiation, as these can impact tissue vascularity and complicate repair. Radiation-induced VVFs can also have delayed presentations years after treatment (Lee & Zimmern, 2019; Önol & Yıldırım, 2015).

A thorough pelvic examination is essential to determine fistula size, location, and surrounding tissue quality, assessing for signs of infection, necrosis, or

scarring. If diagnosis is uncertain, instilling diluted methylene blue or performing a tampon test with bladder filling may help confirm the presence of VVF. Imaging, like CT urograms or retrograde pyelograms, is essential to rule out ureterovaginal fistulas, which co-occur with VVFs in about 10% of cases. Cystoscopy is also valuable for confirming diagnosis, assessing fistula positioning relative to the ureter, and evaluating for malignancy (Dwarkasing, Hussain, Hop, & Krestin, 2004; Goodwin & Scardino, 1980; Lee & Zimmern, 2019).

Additional investigations, including voiding cystourethrograms for both preoperative and postoperative assessments, may be necessary for medicolegal purposes. Less commonly used modalities, such as MR fistulography or transvaginal ultrasound, can be useful depending on radiology expertise and availability (Dwarkasing et al., 2004; Goodwin & Scardino, 1980).

TRANSVAGINAL REPAIR OF VESICOVAGINAL FISTULAS

The best opportunity for successful VVF repair is the initial surgical operation (Thomas E. Elkins, 1994). The vast majority of VVFs seen in developed countries are suitable for transvaginal repair (Margolis & Mercer, 1994). Because of its benefits, such as a shorter surgical and hospital stay and reduced blood loss, the transvaginal method is preferred for the treatment of small fistulas (distally situated, primary, <4 cm, post-hysterectomy) (Goodwin & Scardino, 1980) (Table 2). However, previous unsuccessful attempts may cause scarring and anatomical deterioration in the surgical field, making transvaginal intervention difficult, and may also compromise the local tissue flaps that could be used. One major drawback of the transvaginal approach is that it can potentially shorten the vagina. Another issue is that most urologists don't have a good understanding of the vaginal vault's anatomy, which can make exposure difficult. This is particularly true for women with deep or narrow vaginas or fistulas that are high-located and retracted close to the vault (Table 2).

Although the transabdominal approach is considered more advantageous in the treatment of complex fistulas, the vast majority of complicated VVFs can currently be treated with the transvaginal approach, except for fistulas that require intraabdominal interventions such as simultaneous augmentation cystoplasty and ureteral reimplantation (Onol et al., 2014; Önol & Yıldırım, 2015; V. Singh et al., 2011). There are basically two methods for transvaginal repair of VVFs (11). The first is the partial colpoclesis method described by Sims and modified by Latzko (Latzko, 1942). The second method, which is used more frequently today and is

described below, is the "split-flap" method based on the dissection of tissues and layered repair (Kumar et al., 2022).

Disadvantages
Possibility of vaginal shortening and
narrowing
Difficulty in exposure for high-positio-
ned fistulas
Lack of familiarity of urologists with va-
ginal cuff anatomy
Unable to perform simultaneous aug-
mentation cystoplasty and ureteral re-
implantation (if necessary)

Table 2: Advantages and Disadvantages of Transvaginal Repair for Vesicovaginal Fistu-

Timing of VVF Repair

Vaginal fistula (VVF) repair time is affected by a number of variables. When there is no ongoing infection, necrosis, or inflammation, most surgeons choose to do the surgery. While some have found success by waiting to intervene after a VVF diagnosis, others have found comparable results by acting immediately. In most cases, the repair may be done no later than twelve weeks after the diagnosis (Blaivas, Heritz, & Romanzi, 1995). Key factors influencing the timing of repair include:

- 1. Nature of the injury causing the fistula
- 2. Patient's nutritional status
- 3. Presence of infection and foreign bodies
- 4. Immunocompromised status

The timing of the repair is critical since it has the best chance of success if done initially. It is crucial for women with VVF to have emotional and psychological support from their treating physician and family members since they typically feel worry and sadness while waiting for surgery (O. Singh, Gupta, & Mathur, 2010).

Post-Obstetric Fistulas:

Obstetric fistulas may heal more slowly, letting dead tissue slough off and inflammation go down. An early repair could be possible if the fistula is simple and not infected. Repairing a wound when necrosis and infection have not yet healed presents unique challenges (Hillary, Osman, Hilton, & Chapple, 2016).

Postsurgical Vesicovaginal Fistulas:

After surgery, the 12-week recommendation is usually followed for VVF repair as well. This gives the body a chance to heal and identify any necrotic tissues (Altaweel, Rajih, & Alkhudair, 2013). Within this norm, there are exceptions:

1. VVF, which verified a few days after the main operation

2. Coexisting ureteral injury necessitating surgical intervention

3. The patient's wish for or need for prompt treatment

Radiation-Induced Vesicovaginal Fistulas:

It is recommended to postpone surgery for radiation-induced VVF until the immediate post-radiation tissue response has subsided. Radiation reactions typically heal within about a year, so repair is often delayed until after six months (Pushkar, Dyakov, & Kasyan, 2009).

Transvaginal VVF Repair Technique

Positioning and Preparation: The patient is placed in the dorsal lithotomy position, and the perineal area is cleansed with standard surgical solutions. Positioning the patient's hips to extend off the table, using the Trendelenburg position, and applying weighted speculums facilitate access to deeply located fistulas. After positioning and cleaning, hooks/ring retractors or silk sutures are used for retraction to ensure adequate exposure. A cystoscopy is then performed to assess the location of the VVF and its relation to the ureters. It is necessary to insert and carefully monitor a ureteral catheter during the repair process if the fistula is near or encompasses the ureteral orifice. Before fistula repair, any other

vaginal or anti-incontinence procedures scheduled for the same session should be canceled so as not to interfere with the finished reconstruction (Onol et al., 2014).

Vaginal Incision: A Foley catheter, with a balloon inflated to match the VVF's diameter, is inserted through the fistula tract into the bladder and pulled downward, drawing the VVF towards the introitus (Figure 1). If the Foley catheter cannot be passed through the tract or if the fistula is wide, bougie dilators inserted via the urethra allow for probing and circumferential dissection. The vaginal flaps are then marked, and a circumferential incision is made around the fistula tract. To increase exposure in dissection areas, an additional reverse "J" or "U" incision can be made from the circumferential incision around the fistula tract, extending toward the vaginal apex. When the ureteral orifice is close to the fistula tract, the circumferential incision should be made 0.5-1 cm away to protect the ureter during dissection(Onol et al., 2014; Önol & Yıldırım, 2015).

Figure 1. Retraction of the tract to the introitus with the help of a Foley catheter passed through the VVF tract. After the incision of the fistula tract all around, the dissection between the vaginal wall and the bladder is shown.



Creating Vaginal Flaps: Proximal, distal, and lateral dissections are used to produce flaps in the vaginal wall as they move away from the fistula tract. Dissection continues between the vaginal flaps and bladder tissue surrounding the fistula tract until strong bladder tissue is exposed to allow for tension-free closure of at least 2-3 layers. This dissection can be challenging due to scar tissue, making it essential to stay within the correct plane without disrupting blood flow.

To adequately cover the fistula tract, it may be required to extend the proximal flap distally, hence it is crucial to mobilize the vaginal wall flap distally to the VVF (Margolis & Mercer, 1994). Complete circumferential dissection of the fistula tract is usually unnecessary, as excising the tract can enlarge the defect, making tension-free closure difficult for the bladder and vaginal walls. Only the portions of the fistula tract at the suture line should be locally excised ("shaved") as needed (Onol et al., 2014; Önol & Yıldırım, 2015).

Closing the Fistula: After removing the Foley catheter from the tract, the initial layer of repair is carried out. Sutures (2-3/0 vicryl) are placed transversely or vertically along the fistula. Remaining fistula tract tissue supports the first layer by providing strong anchorage. For larger VVFs, a bougie dilator advanced from the urethra into the bladder retracts the fistula tract towards the introitus, providing better access for suturing challenging corners. The bladder's deep muscle layer and perivesical fascia are then advanced over the initial suture line to bury the previous layer. Although their routine use is controversial, a Martius flap or interpositional peritoneal flap might be utilized at this stage to strengthen the suture line. After completing the fistula closure, the bladder is filled with 200-300 cc of saline diluted with methylene blue to check for leaks at the vaginal incision site (Onol et al., 2014).

Advancing and Closing Vaginal Flaps: The flaps made from the vaginal wall are used for the third and last layer of closure. It is possible to remove the extra anterior (distal) vaginal flap in situations where there isn't a major abnormality. Suturing the posterior flap forward with absorbable sutures allows healthy tissue to cover the suture line and prevents the suture lines from overlapping.

A Foley catheter is left in place for at least 10-14 days postoperatively. A cystography is performed 14-21 days after surgery, and if leakage is observed, catheterization continues with follow-up imaging every 2-3 weeks to monitor healing (Önol & Yıldırım, 2015).

Should the Fistula Tract Be Excised:

The classical view in vesicovaginal fistula repair is to completely remove the fistula tract and the surrounding scar tissue. According to this approach, excision of the fistula tract provides well-perfused, viable tissue for the closure of the first layer of the repair (Wein, Malloy, Carpiniello, Greenberg, & Murphy, 1980).

It is not always essential to remove the fistula tract, and doing so may compromise the healing process (Margolis & Mercer, 1994). The removal of the fistula tract may have certain unintended consequences. The operation leaves a huge defect in the soft tissue. Using cautery to stop bleeding after removing the fibrous tract can slow healing since it causes necrosis (Eilber, Kavaler, Rodríguez, Rosenblum, & Raz, 2003). It may be necessary to reimplant the ureterovesical system after removing the fistula tract if the VVF is located near the ureter.

Tissue Interposition in Transvaginal VVF Repair

Fistula surgeons should know the grafts or flaps that provide healthy tissue interposition in vesicovaginal fistula repair. The indications for tissue interposition have not been clearly defined. However, it is widely used in cases such as tissues exposed to radiation, obstetric fistulas causing large soft tissue defects, previous failed repairs, large fistulas, and poor repair due to inadequate tissue quality (Önol & Yıldırım, 2015). In a study of 49 patients (25 primary, 24 recurrent VVF) who underwent transvaginal fistula repair after excluding patients with malignant etiology and those receiving radiotherapy, it was reported that there was no difference in fistula recurrence in the groups with and without tissue interposition (Pshak, Nikolavsky, Terlecki, & Flynn, 2013).

Martius flap: The preferred flap for fistulas involving the trigone, bladder neck, and urethra is obtained by making a vertical incision in the labium majus. It consists of adipose and connective tissue (Figure 2) (Rangnekar, Imdad Ali, Kaul, & Pathak, 2000; Wilson, Pillay, & Greenwell, 2017). It can also be used in proximal fistulas in experienced centers. Blood supplies the Martius flap from the posterior labial arteries inferiorly, the external pudendal artery posteriorly, and the obturator artery laterally.

Figure 2. Creation of a Martius flap from the left labium majus for tissue interposition after posthysterectomy vaginal cuff fistula repair. The small picture shows the flap transferred to the repair area.



Peritoneal flap: It is frequently used in the transvaginal repair of high-lying post-hysterectomy fistulas. It can also be used in the treatment of complex VVFs repaired transabdominally due to its ease of obtaining (Eilber et al., 2003).

Other Transvaginal Techniques

The Latzko technique is another option with a success rate of over 90% in transvaginal fistula repair (Käser, 1977). On the other hand, with huge obstetric fistulas, this procedure may not be effective as well as the vaginal flap technique (T E Elkins, Drescher, Martey, & Fort, 1988). Using this method, the vaginal epithelium is circularly peeled back up to 1-2 cm to expose the tissue around the VVF tract. The bladder and perivesical fascia are areas that should not be penetrated by deep peeling. After the peeling is complete, the fistula tract is reattached using interrupted absorbable sutures. A second layer of closure can be applied to the vaginal wall borders after a partial colpoclesis procedure, which is an option for certain individuals.

Less blood loss, elimination of the necessity for ureteral reimplantation, and a speedy recovery are some of the benefits of the Latzko procedure. Possible

drawbacks include vaginal shortening and overlapping suture lines (Enzelsberger & Gitsch, 1991).

RESULTS OF TRANSVAGINAL REPAIR

The outcomes of transvaginal vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) repair, often noted in the literature, underscore the procedure's efficacy, especially when success criteria encompass not only fistula closure but also postoperative continence and sexual function.

Studies reveal that transvaginal VVF repair achieves a high success rate (over 85%) across various populations. In a review of patients in a high-volume hospital, the modified Latzko technique (a popular transvaginal approach for VVF repair) showed effective closure rates without significant complications, such as urinary incontinence (Cardenas-Trowers, Heusinkveld, & Hatch, 2018; Luo & Shen, 2019). Another study compared transvaginal and minimally invasive techniques, highlighting that the transvaginal method can deliver shorter operative times, reduced blood loss, and lower costs, with a success rate nearing 99% compared to 96.5% in minimally invasive approaches (Kumar et al., 2022).

A critical aspect of evaluating VVF repair success, as noted in the literature, is the "continence gap." This term describes cases where, despite fistula closure, patients continue to experience urinary leakage, underscoring the importance of holistic criteria in assessing VVF outcomes (Kumar et al., 2022).

For postoperative sexual function, transvaginal repair has generally been favorable. While it can theoretically lead to complications such as vaginal stenosis or shortening, findings suggest that it often enhances sexual function compared to preoperative levels, with no clear superiority between transvaginal and transabdominal approaches for sexual function outcomes (Cardenas-Trowers et al., 2018).

Complications

Appropriate dissection plans are important for limiting surgical bleeding. Excessive use of cautery to prevent bleeding may impair the nutrition of tissue flaps. Repair of a VVF that is near to the ureteral orifices carries the risk of ureteral damage. In such a case, intravenous indigo carmine should be administered, and cystoscopy should be performed. Vaginal stenosis and shortening are late consequences of transvaginal VVF surgery. Hence, it is important to refrain from removing too much of the vaginal wall before closing. Fistula recurrence is the most serious risk associated with VVF repair. In these cases, repeating the transvaginal approach may provide satisfactory success (Margolis & Mercer, 1994). However, since the tissue quality is insufficient in recurrent VVF repair, care should be taken to use appropriate interposition flaps.
REFERENCES

- Altaweel, W. M., Rajih, E., & Alkhudair, W. (2013). Interposition flaps in vesicovaginal fistula repairs can optimize cure rate. *Urology Annals*, 5(4), 270. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-7796.120305
- Beardmore-Gray, A., Pakzad, M., Hamid, R., Ockrim, J., & Greenwell, T. (2017). Does the Goh classification predict the outcome of vesico-vaginal fistula repair in the developed world? *International Urogynecology Journal*, 28(6), 937–940. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1007/S00192-016-3186-2
- Blaivas, J. G., Heritz, D. M., & Romanzi, L. J. (1995). Early versus late repair of vesicovaginal fistulas: vaginal and abdominal approaches. *The Journal* of Urology, 153(4), 1110–2; discussion 1112-3.
- Capes, T., Stanford, E. J., Romanzi, L., Foma, Y., & Moshier, E. (2012). Comparison of two classification systems for vesicovaginal fistula. *International Urogynecology Journal*, 23(12), 1679–1685. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1007/S00192-012-1671-9
- Cardenas-Trowers, O., Heusinkveld, J., & Hatch, K. (2018). Simple and effective: transvaginal vesico-vaginal fistula repair with a modified Latzko technique. *International Urogynecology Journal*, 29(5), 767–769. Retrieved 13 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1007/S00192-017-3471-8
- Colenbrander, J., Heesakkers, J., & Martens, F. (2021). Vesico-Vaginal Fistula Repair by a Vaginal Approach. Urologia Internationalis, 105(11–12), 1113–1118. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1159/000519369
- Dwarkasing, S., Hussain, S. M., Hop, W. C. J., & Krestin, G. P. (2004). Anovaginal Fistulas: Evaluation with Endoanal MR Imaging1. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1148/Radiol.2311021190*, 231(1), 123–128. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1148/RA-DIOL.2311021190
- Eilber, K. S., Kavaler, E., Rodríguez, L. V., Rosenblum, N., & Raz, S. (2003). Ten-year experience with transvaginal vesicovaginal fistula repair using tissue interposition. *The Journal of Urology*, 169(3), 1033–1036. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1097/01.JU.0000049723.57485.E7
- Elkins, T E, Drescher, C., Martey, J. O., & Fort, D. (1988). Vesicovaginal fistula revisited. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 72(3 Pt 1), 307–12.
- Elkins, Thomas E. (1994). Surgery for the obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: a review of 100 operations in 82 patients. *American Journal of Obstetrics*

and Gynecology, 170(4), 1108–1120. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9378(94)70105-9

- Enzelsberger, H., & Gitsch, E. (1991). Surgical management of vesicovaginal fistulas according to Chassar Moir's method. Surgery, Gynecology & Obstetrics, 173(3), 183–6.
- Goodwin, W. E., & Scardino, P. T. (1980). Vesicovaginal and Ureterovaginal Fistulas: A Summary of 25 Years of Experience. *The Journal of Urology*, 123(3), 370–374. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5347(17)55941-8
- Hillary, C. J., Osman, N. I., Hilton, P., & Chapple, C. R. (2016). The Aetiology, Treatment, and Outcome of Urogenital Fistulae Managed in Well- and Low-resourced Countries: A Systematic Review. *European Urology*, 70(3), 478–492. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EURURO.2016.02.015
- Käser, O. (1977). The Latzko operation for vesico-vaginal fistulae. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 56(4), 427–429. Retrieved 13 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.3109/00016347709155005
- Kumar, N., Sureka, S. K., Singh, U. P., Kapoor, R., Rustagi, S., Yadav, P., ...
 Kapoor, R. (2022). Vesicovaginal Fistula Repair by Transvaginal Route: Comparison of Resource Utilisation and Outcome with Literature Reported Population Matched Cohort of Patients Operated by Minimally Invasive Route. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology of India*, 72(5), 414–419. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1007/S13224-021-01549-Z/TABLES/2
- Latzko, W. (1942). Postoperative vesicovaginal fistulas: Genesis and therapy. *The American Journal of Surgery*, 58(2), 211–228. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9610(42)90009-6
- Lee, D., & Zimmern, P. (2019). Vaginal Approach to Vesicovaginal Fistula. Urologic Clinics of North America, 46(1), 123–133. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UCL.2018.08.010
- Luo, D. Y., & Shen, H. (2019). Transvaginal Repair of Apical Vesicovaginal Fistula: A Modified Latzko Technique-Outcomes at a High-volume Referral Center. *European Urology*, 76(1), 84–88. Retrieved 13 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EURURO.2019.04.010
- Margolis, T., & Mercer, L. J. (1994). Vesicovaginal fistula. Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey, 49(12), 840–847. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1097/00006254-199412000-00008
- Önol, F. F., & Yıldırım, Ü. (2015). Genitoüriner Fistüllerde Transvajinal Onarım. Kontinans ve Nöroüroloji Bülteni, 2(2), 68–73.

- Onol, F., Onol, S. Y., Onur, S., Elbir, F., Basibuyuk, I., & Sanda, O. (2014). V1-03 MANAGEMENT OF OBSTETRIC FISTULAE IN SUB-SAHA-RAN AFRICA. *The Journal of Urology*, 191(4S). Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JURO.2014.02.597
- Pshak, T., Nikolavsky, D., Terlecki, R., & Flynn, B. J. (2013). Is tissue interposition always necessary in transvaginal repair of benign, recurrent vesicovaginal fistulae? *Urology*, 82(3), 707–712. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UROLOGY.2013.03.076
- Pushkar, D. Y., Dyakov, V. V., & Kasyan, G. R. (2009). Management of radiation-induced vesicovaginal fistula. *European Urology*, 55(1), 131–138. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EU-RURO.2008.04.044
- Rangnekar, N. P., Imdad Ali, N., Kaul, S. A., & Pathak, H. R. (2000). Role of the martius procedure in the management of urinary-vaginal fistulas. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons*, 191(3), 259–263. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/S1072-7515(00)00351-3
- Singh, O., Gupta, S. S., & Mathur, R. K. (2010). Urogenital fistulas in women: 5year experience at a single center. Urology Journal, 7(1), 35–9.
- Singh, V., Sinha, R. J., Sankhwar, S. N., Sinha, S. M., Vatsal, P., & Jain, V. (2011). Transvaginal repair of complex and complicated vesicovaginal fistulae. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics: The Official Organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics*, 114(1), 51–55. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJGO.2011.01.015
- Stamatakos, M., Sargedi, C., Stasinou, T., & Kontzoglou, K. (2014). Vesicovaginal fistula: diagnosis and management. *The Indian Journal of Surgery*, 76(2), 131–136. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1007/S12262-012-0787-Y
- Wall, L. L. (2006). Obstetric vesicovaginal fistula as an international public-health problem. *The Lancet*, 368(9542), 1201–1209. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69476-2
- Wein, A. J., Malloy, T. R., Carpiniello, V. L., Greenberg, S. H., & Murphy, J. J. (1980). Repair of vesicovaginal fistula by a suprapubic transvesical approach. *Surgery, Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 150(1), 57–60.
- Wilson, A., Pillay, S., & Greenwell, T. (2017). How and why to take a Martius labial interposition flap in female urology. *Translational Andrology and Urology*, 6(Suppl 2), S81–S87. Retrieved 12 November 2024 from https://doi.org/10.21037/tau.2017.04.38



Finite Element Analysis of the Hip Joint

Emrah Afşar¹ & İbrahim Yavuz Tatlı²

¹ Asst. Prof., Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Health Sciences, Kütahya Health Sciences University, Kütahya, Türkiye, ORCID: 0000-0001-9210-754X

² Asst. Prof., Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Health Sciences, Kütahya Health Sciences University, Kütahya, Türkiye, ORCID Code: 0000-0002-2647-8876

FINITE ELEMENT ANALYSIS OF THE HIP JOINT

As a critical component of the human musculoskeletal system, the hip joint plays a vital role in mobility and stability. Its anatomy is characterized by a balland-socket structure consisting of the femoral head and the acetabulum of the pelvis, allowing a wide range of motion in multiple planes. This unique structure facilitates a variety of movements such as flexion, extension, abduction, adduction and rotation, which are essential for activities of daily living and athletic performance (Samaan et al., 2016;, Pollard et al., 2010). The biomechanics of the hip joint are influenced by various factors such as joint loading, muscle activation patterns and the integrity of the surrounding soft tissues, which collectively contribute to its functional capacity.

1. Structure and Biomechanical Function of the Hip Joint

Biomechanical studies in the field show that the hip joint is subjected to significant stresses during dynamic activities such as walking, running and jumping. For example, in individuals with conditions such as femoroacetabular impingement syndrome (FAI), loading during gait may change, leading to increased hip flexion moments and compensatory mechanisms in the distal joints of the lower extremity (Samaan et al., 2016). These different loading scenarios and compensatory mechanisms can result in joint degeneration and pain. This highlights the importance of understanding hip joint mechanics in both healthy individuals and those with pathologic conditions (Solomonow-Avnon et al., 2014).

The hip joint also has a role in maintaining stability during dynamic movements. The hip extensors, especially the gluteus maximus, are crucial for controlling deceleration and reducing reaction forces (Pollard et al., 2010). Research suggests that limited hip and knee flexion during descent can lead to increased frontal plane motion in the knee, which can predispose individuals to injury, especially in a sporting context (Pollard et al., 2010). However, the ability of the hip joint to absorb and dissipate forces is significantly influenced by the integrity of the surrounding soft tissues, including the joint capsule and ligaments, which provide passive stability (Karunaseelan et al.) Furthermore, the response of the hip joint to different physical activities is influenced by factors such as body weight and muscle coordination. Obesity has been shown to alter lower limb biomechanics and potentially contribute to the development of osteoarthritis by increasing loads on the hip joint (Runhaar et al., 2011). In addition, poor motor coordination may lead to altered biomechanics during activities such as jumping, increasing the risk of injury.

The effects of hip joint biomechanics play an important role in injury prevention as well as rehabilitation and recovery. Understanding the mechanical loading acting on the hip joint during various activities can help to improve rehabilitation protocols and guide clinicians in developing effective treatment strategies for patients after hip joint problems or surgery. Exercises that promote optimal loading patterns and joint stability can improve recovery outcomes and reduce the risk of re-injury.

In conclusion, the anatomy and biomechanics of the hip joint are complex and multifaceted, influenced by various factors such as joint loading, muscle activation and the integrity of surrounding structures. A comprehensive understanding of these elements is crucial for both clinicians and researchers, as it informs both the prevention and management of hip joint pathologies.

2. Use of Finite Element Method in Biomechanical Studies

Finite Element Analysis (FEA) is a powerful computational technique widely used in engineering and applied sciences to solve complex structural, thermal and fluid problems. The method involves breaking down a structure that is difficult to analyze into a finite number of smaller, simpler parts known as finite elements. This approach allows simplification of complex geometries and boundary conditions, making it particularly useful in fields as diverse as structural engineering, materials science and biomechanics.

The Finite Element Method (FEM) has emerged as a crucial tool in biomechanics, especially in the analysis and simulation of complex biological structures and their mechanical behavior. This computational technique allows researchers to create detailed models of anatomical structures, enabling the evaluation of stress, strain and overall biomechanical performance under various loading conditions. The utility of FEM in biomechanics is highlighted by its ability to simulate internal stress and strain, which are often difficult to measure experimentally. Cai et al. demonstrated the effectiveness of FEM in the anterior atlantoaxial joint and emphasized its capacity to accurately reflect cervical motion (Cai et al., 2013). Similarly, Hu and Wang demonstrated the method's role in providing biomechanical assessments for various orthopedic conditions, including tibia fractures, by reflecting interactions within bone structures (Hu & Wang, 2017). This capability is crucial for developing treatment strategies and predicting outcomes in clinical settings.

The FEM serves as a cornerstone in biomechanical research by enabling detailed simulations of complex biological systems. Its ability to model internal stresses and predict mechanical behavior under various conditions has made it an important tool in the fields of orthopedics research. As computational techniques continue to advance, the potential applications of FEM in biomechanics are likely to expand and offer deeper insights into mechanical interactions within biological systems.

3. Obtaining the Finite Element Model of the Hip Joint

3.1 Creating Model Geometry

Obtaining a finite element model (FEM) of the hip joint requires a thorough understanding of the model geometry and the simplifications that can be made in the modeling process. An important issue here is the acquisition of accurate geometric data through advanced 3D imaging techniques. Several studies emphasize the importance of subject-specific geometries obtained from imaging modalities such as computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in the creation of realistic FEMs. The feasibility of using μ CT imaging to create a finite element model of a cadaveric hip joint has been demonstrated, highlighting the importance of subject-specific geometry and biphasic cartilage properties in simulating cartilage contact mechanics (Li et al., 2016). The study underlines the need to accurately represent the collagen fiber organization within the cartilage to improve the fidelity of the model. Furthermore, the inclusion of subject-specific geometries allows for a more precise characterization of the mechanical effects in the hip joint, as demonstrated in the study by Ng et al. who investigated the effects of cam-type FAI using finite element analysis (Ng et al., 2012). Their findings reinforce the importance of detailed geometric representation in understanding joint mechanics during various activities. In addition to CT, MRI has emerged as a powerful tool for 3D imaging of the hip joint. The capacity to provide the detailed anatomical information required for 3D quantitative assessment of the femoral head-neck junction using MRI has been demonstrated in the literature (Xia et al., 2015). The use of high-resolution MRI not only facilitates accurate bone segmentation, but also aids in the assessment of cartilage morphology and pathology (Xia et al., 2014). These advances in imaging technology enable researchers to render the complex geometry of the hip joint, which is crucial for developing accurate finite element models.

The development of a finite element model of the hip joint relies heavily on the acquisition of precise geometric data through advanced 3D imaging techniques. The use of individualized geometries derived from CT and MRI improves the accuracy of the models, allowing for better simulation of hip joint mechanics and pathology (Figure 1). Continued advances in imaging technology and computational methods will continue to play an important role in improving these models for clinical and research applications.



Figure 1: Acquisition of data from MRI or CT images (Xia et al., 2014)

3.2 Determination of Hip Joint Material Properties

Obtaining a FEM of the hip joint requires a comprehensive determination of the material properties of its components, including the femur, acetabulum and various soft tissues. Once these material properties are determined, they are assigned to each part of the 3D modeled hip joint. Thus, each part behaves like the tissue it represents during the simulation. The hip joint is subjected to complex loading conditions during activities such as walking, running and other dynamic movements, making it necessary to accurately characterize the mechanical behavior of its materials.

The mechanical properties of hip joint components can be obtained from various studies using finite element analysis. Xiong et al. highlight the importance of personalized modelling methods to capture changes in hip joint contact stress throughout a gait cycle, noting that conventional models often oversimplify the complex dynamics involved in real-life scenarios (Xiong et al., 2022). This is supported by Park and Nam, who developed a FEM specifically for older women to analyze fracture risk during falls, noting that age and gender significantly influence material properties and stress distributions in the hip joint (Park & Nam, 2020). The surrounding soft tissues also play a vital role in the overall mechanics of the hip joint. Watson et al. emphasize the importance of accurately modeling boundary conditions, including the contributions of ligaments and muscles, to simulate a realistic replica of the mechanical environment of the hip joint (Watson et al., 2017). This is crucial for studying mechanical stress changes in patients with developmental dysplasia of the hip and determining the effects of surgical interventions developed for this disease (Ike et al., 2015).

3.3 Defining Boundary Conditions and Loading Scenarios

The next step after obtaining the FEM of the hip joint is to determine the boundary conditions and loading scenarios that accurately reflect the physiological and pathological states of the joint (Figure 2). The hip joint is subjected to complex loading conditions that are influenced by various factors such as body weight, muscle forces and joint geometry. A thorough understanding of these factors is essential to create a robust FEM that can simulate real-life conditions.

Boundary conditions in FEM are critical as they define how the model interacts with its environment. In their study, Wang et al. found that the distal femur is completely fixed, while the acetabulum and articular cartilage are partially constrained and allow vertical motion in the coronal plane. This simulation led to contact forces approximately three times the body weight, demonstrating the significant loads to which the hip joint is subjected during activities such as walking or running (Wang et al., 2016). Similarly, Xiong et al. emphasized the importance of considering the entire gait cycle in modeling hip joint mechanics and noted that simplified models often ignore the dynamic loading conditions present at various stages of movement (Xiong et al., 2022). This suggests that a more comprehensive approach to boundary conditions that incorporates changing constraints throughout the gait cycle would improve the accuracy of the FEM. Loading scenarios should also reflect the physiological conditions to which the hip joint is exposed. A study shows that during normal walking, the hip joint can withstand contact forces as high as 4-5 times body weight, which is critical for understanding the loading environment of the joint (Correa et al., 2010). Furthermore, Akrami et al. noted that many existing studies have focused on prosthetic analysis rather than the joint itself, and there is a gap in the understanding of natural hip joint mechanics under various loading conditions (Akrami et al., 2018). Incorporating these loading scenarios into FEM is essential to predict joint behavior under both normal and pathological conditions.

In addition to static loading conditions, dynamic factors such as muscle forces and joint stability should also be integrated into the FEM. The contribution of muscles to hip joint contact forces during walking has been extensively studied and muscle activation patterns have been shown to significantly influence joint loading (Correa et al., 2010). Furthermore, the role of soft tissues such as ligaments and the joint capsule in stabilizing the hip joint is also very important. Fetto demonstrated the biomechanical advantages provided by soft tissue stabilizers, which play a crucial role in maintaining joint structure during dynamic activities (Fetto, 2019). Therefore, a comprehensive FEM should take into account both the bony structures and the surrounding soft tissues to accurately simulate the response of the hip joint to various loading scenarios.

Obtaining a finite element model of the hip joint requires a thorough understanding of boundary conditions and loading scenarios that reflect the complexity of human biomechanics. By integrating the dynamic nature of loading during gait and information from various studies, researchers can create more accurate and clinically relevant FEMs. This approach not only improves the predictive capabilities of the model, but also helps in designing interventions and treatments for hip joint pathologies.



Figure 2: Defining Boundary Conditions (Xiong et al., 2022)

3.4 Mesh Creation

The next step after creating the model and boundary conditions of the hip joint is the mesh generation step (Figure 3). In this step, the bones and soft tissues included in the 3D model are broken down into much smaller pieces that can be analyzed. The hip joint, characterized by its complex geometry and load-bearing functions, is an ideal candidate for FEA due to its structure, which can be accurately obtained from imaging methods such as CT and MRI scans. This feature allows researchers to simulate various mechanical responses under different loading conditions, thus facilitating the study of both normal and pathological conditions of the hip joint (Incze-Bartha et al., 2023).

Mesh generation is a critical step in the finite element modeling process because the quality of the mesh directly affects the accuracy of the simulation results. Special techniques used in mesh generation enable the creation of complex geometries by optimizing the node distribution necessary to accurately capture the mechanical behavior of the hip joint (Wang et al., 2017). Advances in mesh generation techniques are vital to ensure that FEM accurately reflects the mechanical properties and stress distributions within the hip joint.



Figure 3: Mesh Creation (Wang et al., 2017)

4. FEM Applications in Hip Joint Pathologies

4.1 Osteoarthritis

The application of the FEM in the study of hip joint pathologies, especially osteoarthritis (OA), has become increasingly important in understanding the mechanical behavior of the hip joint under various conditions. FEM allows the simulation of complex interactions within the hip joint and can provide detailed information on stress distribution, contact pressures and the effects of different pathologies on joint mechanics.

Osteoarthritis is a degenerative joint disease characterized by loss of cartilage tissue and associated joint surface changes. Studies have shown that mechanical loading plays an important role in the onset and progression of OA. Wesseling et al. emphasized that individual-specific geometry significantly affects acetabular contact pressure during gait, which is a critical factor in the development of OA (Wesseling et al., 2019). This is supported by Ng et al. who showed that cam-type FAI leads to high hip joint stresses that are closely linked to cartilage degeneration (Ng et al., 2016). The mechanical loading conditions to which the hip joint is exposed during activities such as walking may exacerbate these stresses and contribute to the progression of OA.

In a study comparing healthy and cam-type FAI hip joints using FEM, the relationship between mechanical loading and cartilage degeneration was demonstrated (Lostado-Lorza et al., 2021). Similarly, Vafaeian et al. emphasized the importance of understanding mechanical behavior in the context of joint pathologies in dysplastic hips (Vafaeian et al., 2017). Collectively, these studies underline the utility of FEM in elucidating the biomechanical factors that contribute to the development and progression of hip OA. The application of FEM in the study of hip joint pathologies, especially osteoarthritis, can provide important insights into the mechanical behavior of the hip joint under various conditions. By simulating the effects of different pathologies and surgical interventions, FEM is a powerful tool to improve our understanding of hip joint mechanics and develop treatment strategies for patients with hip disorders.

4.2 Hip Dysplasia

Hip dysplasia, characterized by abnormal formation of the hip joint, often results in increased mechanical stress on the acetabulum and femoral head. Studies using FEM have shown that patients with acetabular dysplasia have high joint stress that can lead to joint degeneration over time. Sakuma et al. reported a decrease in mechanical stress following rotational acetabular osteotomy, demonstrating that surgical intervention can significantly alter the biomechanical environment of the hip joint (Sakuma et al., 2022). Similarly, Vafaeian et al. investigated the mechanical behavior of dysplastic hips, emphasizing the importance of understanding these dynamics to prevent further complications (Vafaeian et al., 2017).

The effect of joint geometry on stress distribution has been extensively studied. Anderson et al. reported that FEM can be used to predict cartilage contact stresses, which is crucial for understanding the loading conditions to which dysplastic hips are subjected (Anderson et al., 2010). This is important as changes in joint morphology can exacerbate stress concentrations, leading to accelerated cartilage degeneration and subsequent osteoarthritis (Henak et al., 2014).

The role of surgical interventions such as periacetabular osteotomy has also been the focus of FEM studies. Kitamura et al. demonstrated that acetabular correction in the coronal plane can effectively reduce joint contact pressure in dysplastic hips, thus optimizing the postoperative mechanical environment (Kitamura et al., 2022). This demonstrates the importance of personalized FEM analyses in predicting mechanical behavior and planning surgical approaches for patients with developmental dysplasia of the hip (Ike et al., 2015).

4.3 Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a condition characterized by decreased bone density and increased risk of fractures, especially in the hip region. The relationship between bone metabolism and joint health is critical in the management of the disease. Bisphosphonates, commonly used to manage osteoporosis, have been shown to improve periprosthetic bone mass and potentially increase the stability of hip implants, thus reducing the risk of postoperative fractures (Bottai et al., 2015; Watanabe et al., 2022). The mechanical effects of these treatments can also be assessed through FEM, providing a better understanding of how interventions may affect joint mechanics and fracture risk.

The role of joint morphology and loading types in hip joint pathologies is another area where FEM is proving invaluable. Research shows that abnormal loading conditions can lead to increased contact pressures and subsequent cartilage degeneration, a precursor to osteoporotic fractures. Studies with FEM can accurately simulate the mechanical environment of the hip joint using personspecific models derived from imaging data and reveal how surgical interventions such as osteotomies can alter stress distributions and potentially reduce fracture risks (Ike et al., 2015).

In summary, FEM is a critical tool in understanding the complex interactions between hip joint pathologies and fracture risks in osteoporotic patients. By integrating clinical data, imaging and biomechanical simulations, researchers can develop more effective strategies to predict and manage hip fractures.

4.4 Femoroacetabular Impingement (FAI)

FAI is a pathology characterized by abnormal contact between the femur and acetabulum, leading to pain and potential joint degeneration. A study using FEM to investigate FAI revealed that cam-type FAI significantly alters the mechanical load on the hip joint and contributes to cartilage degeneration due to abnormal contact pressures during activities such as walking/sitting (Lostado-Lorza et al., 2021). The findings underline the importance of understanding the mechanical effects of FAI, as it will allow the development of treatment strategies aimed at restoring normal joint function and preventing further degeneration. It was also emphasized that the morphology of the lesion and individual-specific loading patterns significantly influence hip joint stresses. These stresses depend not only on morphology but also on other anatomical and biomechanical factors specific to each patient (Ng et al., 2018; Ng et al., 2016). This patient-specific approach is crucial in developing specialized interventions for individuals suffering from FAI.

In addition to mechanical loading, the role of soft tissue structures such as the acetabular labrum is critical in maintaining hip joint stability and function. The role of the labrum in joint mechanics is supported by Locks et al. (2017), who noted that the labrum enhances joint stability and load distribution, which is particularly important in FAI types where labral pathology is common (Locks et al., 2017). Furthermore, the effects of FAI go beyond mechanical loading to include functional consequences. Samaan et al. found that FAI patients exhibit altered joint moment distributions during sitting and standing tasks compared to healthy controls, which may affect their functional performance (Samaan et al., 2016).

4.5 Prosthesis Planning Using FEM

The application of the FEM in the analysis and treatment of hip joint pathologies, especially in surgical and prosthetic planning, has received considerable attention in recent years. FEM has been used to evaluate the mechanical effects of surgical procedures such as periacetabular osteotomy and total hip arthroplasty. Research shows that FEM can effectively predict the mechanical behavior of postoperative hip joints, providing information on stress distributions and potential complications such as prosthesis wear (Ma et al., 2023; Ceddia, 2023). In one study, FEM was used to evaluate wear patterns during gait cycles, highlighting the utility of the method in optimizing prosthesis design (Hidayat, 2023). In addition to surgical planning, FEM has also been applied in the design and evaluation of hip prostheses. The ability to simulate the mechanical environment of the hip joint allows the evaluation of different prosthetic designs under physiologic loading conditions, increasing the reliability and longevity of implants (Kamel, 2018). This is important as the demographics of patients undergoing THA are shifting towards younger individuals and the need for more durable and effective prosthetic solutions (Ceddia, 2023).

5. Limitations of Existing FEM Models for the Hip Joint

Although the FEM has become a very important tool for analyzing the biomechanics of the hip joint, several challenges remain regarding the accuracy and applicability of current FEM models. A major limitation is the reliance on idealized joint geometries, which often fail to capture the complex anatomical variations present in patients. Another challenge is the variability in loading conditions that FEM models must account for. Current models often use static loading conditions that do not accurately reflect the dynamic nature of human movement. The mechanical behavior of the hip joint under changing conditions, such as different stages of the gait cycle, can significantly affect stress

distribution and joint health. Studies have shown that dynamic loading conditions can lead to different stress responses in the hip joint that cannot be revealed by static models (Watson et al., 2017). This limitation is important in the context of joint diseases where understanding the impact of loading on cartilage degeneration is critical (Wesseling et al., 2019).

The accuracy of FEM results is highly dependent on the quality of the input data, especially the segmentation of medical imaging datasets. Incorrect segmentation can lead to inaccurate representations of joint geometry, which in turn affects the predicted mechanical responses (Vafaeian et al., 2017). The difficulty of accurately modeling cartilage layers, which are often difficult to identify from imaging data, further complicates the reliability of FEM simulations (Li et al., 2018).

In conclusion, while FEM has proven to be a valuable tool in understanding hip joint mechanics, significant challenges remain. These include the reliance on geometries, the exclusion of soft tissue structures, the need for dynamic loading conditions, and the accuracy of input data. Solutions to these limitations are critical to increasing the applicability of FEM in clinical settings and improving outcomes for patients with hip joint disorders.

REFERENCES

- Samaan, M., Schwaiger, B., Gallo, M., Sada, K., Link, T., Zhang, A., ... & Souza, R. (2016). Joint loading in the sagittal plane during gait is associated with hip joint abnormalities in patients with femoroacetabular impingement. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(4), 810-818. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546516677727
- Pollard, C., Sigward, S., & Powers, C. (2010). Limited hip and knee flexion during landing is associated with increased frontal plane knee motion and moments. Clinical Biomechanics, 25(2), 142-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009.10.005
- Samaan, M., Schwaiger, B., Gallo, M., Sada, K., Link, T., Zhang, A., ... & Souza, R. (2016). Joint loading in the sagittal plane during gait is associated with hip joint abnormalities in patients with femoroacetabular impingement. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(4), 810-818. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546516677727
- Solomonow-Avnon, D., Wolf, A., Herman, A., Rozen, N., & Haim, A. (2014). Reduction of frontal-plane hip joint reaction force via medio-lateral foot center of pressure manipulation: a pilot study. Journal of Orthopaedic Research®, 33(2), 261-269. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.22744
- Pollard, C., Sigward, S., & Powers, C. (2010). Limited hip and knee flexion during landing is associated with increased frontal plane knee motion and moments. Clinical Biomechanics, 25(2), 142-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009.10.005
- Karunaseelan, K. J., Dandridge, O., Muirhead-Allwood, S. K., van Arkel, R. J., & Jeffers, J. R. (2021). Capsular ligaments provide a passive stabilizing force to protect the hip against edge loading. Bone & Joint Research, 10(9), 594-601.
- Runhaar, J., Koes, B. W., Clockaerts, S., & Bierma-Zeinstra, S. M. A. (2011). A systematic review on changed biomechanics of lower extremities in obese individuals: a possible role in development of osteoarthritis. Obesity reviews, 12(12), 1071-1082.
- Cai, X., Liu, Z., Yu, Y., Zhang, M., & Huang, W. (2013). Evaluation of biomechanical properties of anterior atlantoaxial transarticular locking plate system using three-dimensional finite element analysis. European Spine Journal, 22(12), 2686-2694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-013-2887-1
- Hu, X. and Wang, H. (2017). Biomechanical assessment and 3d finite element analysis of the treatment of tibial fractures using minimally invasive percutaneous plates. Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine, 14(2), 1692-1698. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2017.4629

- Li, J., Hua, X., Jones, A., Williams, S., Zhang, J., Fisher, J., ... & Wilcox, R. (2016). The influence of the representation of collagen fibre organisation on the cartilage contact mechanics of the hip joint. Journal of Biomechanics, 49(9), 1679-1685. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.03.050
- Ng, K., Rouhi, G., Lamontagne, M., & Beaulé, P. (2012). Finite element analysis examining the effects of cam fai on hip joint mechanical loading using subject-specific geometries during standing and maximum squat. HSS Journal ®, 8(3), 206-212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11420-012-9292-x
- Xia, Y., Chandra, S., Engstrom, C., Strudwick, M., Crozier, S., & Fripp, J. (2014). Automatic hip cartilage segmentation from 3d mr images using arc-weighted graph searching. Physics in Medicine and Biology, 59(23), 7245-7266. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/59/23/7245
- Xia, Y., Fripp, J., Chandra, S., Walker, D., Crozier, S., & Engstrom, C. (2015). Automated 3d quantitative assessment and measurement of alpha angles from the femoral head-neck junction using mr imaging. Physics in Medicine and Biology, 60(19), 7601-7616. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/60/19/7601
- Ike, H., Inaba, Y., Kobayashi, N., Yukizawa, Y., Hirata, Y., Tomioka, M., ... & Saito, T. (2015). Effects of rotational acetabular osteotomy on the mechanical stress within the hip joint in patients with developmental dysplasia of the hip. The Bone & Joint Journal, 97-B(4), 492-497. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620x.97b4.33736
- Park, J. and Nam, Y. (2020). Finite element modeling and simulation of hip joints in elderly women: for development of protective clothing against fracture. International Journal of Clothing Science and Technology, 32(5), 661-675. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijcst-09-2019-0140
- Watson, P., Dostanpor, A., Fagan, M., & Dobson, C. (2017). The effect of boundary constraints on finite element modelling of the human pelvis. Medical Engineering & Physics, 43, 48-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medengphy.2017.02.001
- Xiong, B., Yang, P., Lin, T., Xu, J., Xie, Y., Guo, Y., ... & Zhang, Q. (2022). Changes in hip joint contact stress during a gait cycle based on the individualized modeling method of "gait-musculoskeletal system-finite element". Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13018-022-03094-5
- Correa, T., Crossley, K., Kim, H., & Pandy, M. (2010). Contributions of individual muscles to hip joint contact force in normal walking. Journal of Biomechanics, 43(8), 1618-1622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.02.008
- Fetto, J. (2019). A dynamic model of hip joint biomechanics: the contribution of soft tissues. Advances in Orthopedics, 2019, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5804642

- Wang, M., Wang, L., Li, P., & Fu, Y. (2016). A novel modelling and simulation method of hip joint surface contact stress. Bioengineered, 8(1), 105-112. https://doi.org/10.1080/21655979.2016.1227630
- Xiong, B., Yang, P., Lin, T., Xu, J., Xie, Y., Guo, Y., ... & Zhang, Q. (2022). Changes in hip joint contact stress during a gait cycle based on the individualized modeling method of "gait-musculoskeletal system-finite element". Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13018-022-03094-5
- Incze-Bartha, Z., Incze-Bartha, S., Simon Szabó, Z., Feier, A. M., Vunvulea, V., Nechifor-Boilă, I. A., ... & Dénes, L. (2023). Finite element analysis of normal and dysplastic hip joints in children. Journal of Personalized Medicine, 13(11), 1593.
- Wang, M., Gao, J., & Wang, X. (2017). High-quality mesh generation for human hip based on ideal element size: methods and evaluation. Computer Assisted Surgery, 22(sup1), 212-220.
- Lostado-Lorza, R., Gómez, F., Bobadilla, M., Miguel, A., Martínez, E., Sampedro, M., ... & Larráyoz, I. (2021). Comparative analysis of healthy and cam-type femoroacetabular impingement (fai) human hip joints using the finite element method. Applied Sciences, 11(23), 11101. https://doi.org/10.3390/app112311101
- Ng, K., Lamontagne, M., Labrosse, M., & Beaulé, P. (2016). Hip joint stresses due to cam-type femoroacetabular impingement: a systematic review of finite element simulations. Plos One, 11(1), e0147813. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147813
- Vafaeian, B., Zonoobi, D., Mabee, M., Hareendranathan, A., El-Rich, M., Adeeb, S., ... & Jaremko, J. (2017). Finite element analysis of mechanical behavior of human dysplastic hip joints: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 25(4), 438-447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.10.023
- Wesseling, M., Rossom, S., Jonkers, I., & Henak, C. (2019). Subject-specific geometry affects acetabular contact pressure during gait more than subject-specific loading patterns. Computer Methods in Biomechanics & Biomedical Engineering, 22(16), 1323-1333. https://doi.org/10.1080/10255842.2019.1661393
- Anderson, A., Ellis, B., Maas, S., & Weiss, J. (2010). Effects of idealized joint geometry on finite element predictions of cartilage contact stresses in the hip. Journal of Biomechanics, 43(7), 1351-1357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.01.010
- Henak, C., Abraham, C., Anderson, A., Maas, S., Ellis, B., Peters, C., ... & Weiss, J. (2014). Patient-specific analysis of cartilage and labrum mechanics in human hips with acetabular dysplasia. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 22(2), 210-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.11.003

- Ike, H., Inaba, Y., Kobayashi, N., Yukizawa, Y., Hirata, Y., Tomioka, M., ... & Saito, T. (2015). Effects of rotational acetabular osteotomy on the mechanical stress within the hip joint in patients with developmental dysplasia of the hip. The Bone & Joint Journal, 97-B(4), 492-497. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620x.97b4.33736
- Kitamura, K., Fujii, M., Iwamoto, M., Ikemura, S., Hamai, S., Motomura, G., ... & Nakashima, Y. (2022). Effect of coronal plane acetabular correction on joint contact pressure in periacetabular osteotomy: a finite-element analysis. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 23(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-022-05005-5
- Sakuma, D., Ishidou, Y., Fujimoto, Y., Nakamura, S., Ijuin, T., Nagano, S., ... & Taniguchi, N. (2022). Finite element analysis of mechanical stress of the hip joint in patients with posterior pelvic inclination. World Academy of Sciences Journal, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.3892/wasj.2022.145
- Vafaeian, B., Zonoobi, D., Mabee, M., Hareendranathan, A., El-Rich, M., Adeeb, S., ... & Jaremko, J. (2017). Finite element analysis of mechanical behavior of human dysplastic hip joints: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 25(4), 438-447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.10.023
- Bottai, V., Dell'Osso, G., Celli, F., Bugelli, G., Cazzella, N., Cei, E., ... & Giannotti, S. (2015). Total hip replacement in osteoarthritis: the role of bone metabolism and its complications. Clinical Cases in Mineral and Bone Metabolism. https://doi.org/10.11138/ccmbm/2015.12.3.247
- Ike, H., Inaba, Y., Kobayashi, N., Yukizawa, Y., Hirata, Y., Tomioka, M., ... & Saito, T. (2015). Effects of rotational acetabular osteotomy on the mechanical stress within the hip joint in patients with developmental dysplasia of the hip. The Bone & Joint Journal, 97-B(4), 492-497. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620x.97b4.33736
- Watanabe, N., Miyatake, K., Takada, R., Ogawa, T., Amano, Y., Jinno, T., ... & Okawa, A. (2022). The prevalence and treatment of osteoporosis in patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty and the levels of biochemical markers of bone turnover. Bone and Joint Research, 11(12), 873-880. https://doi.org/10.1302/2046-3758.1112.bjr-2022-0252.r1
- Locks, R., Chahla, J., Bolia, I., Briggs, K., & Philippon, M. (2017). Outcomes following arthroscopic hip segmental labral reconstruction using autologous capsule tissue or indirect head of the rectus tendon. Journal of Hip Preservation Surgery, 5(1), 73-77. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhps/hnx033
- Lostado-Lorza, R., Gómez, F., Bobadilla, M., Miguel, A., Martínez, E., Sampedro, M., ... & Larráyoz, I. (2021). Comparative analysis of healthy and cam-type femoroacetabular impingement (fai) human hip joints using the finite element method. Applied Sciences, 11(23), 11101. https://doi.org/10.3390/app112311101

- Ng, K., Lamontagne, M., Labrosse, M., & Beaulé, P. (2016). Hip joint stresses due to cam-type femoroacetabular impingement: a systematic review of finite element simulations. Plos One, 11(1), e0147813. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147813
- Ng, K., Mantovani, G., Modenese, L., Beaulé, P., & Lamontagne, M. (2018). Altered walking and muscle patterns reduce hip contact forces in individuals with symptomatic cam femoroacetabular impingement. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 46(11), 2615-2623. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546518787518
- Samaan, M., Schwaiger, B., Gallo, M., Link, T., Zhang, A., Majumdar, S., ... & Souza, R. (2016). Abnormal joint moment distributions and functional performance during sit-to-stand in femoroacetabular impingement patients. Pm&r, 9(6), 563-570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.10.002
- Ceddia, M. (2023). Finite element study on stability in the femoral neck and head connection to varying geometric parameters with the relates implications on the effect of wear. Journal of Composites Science, 7(9), 387. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcs7090387
- Hidayat, T. (2023). Running-in behavior of dual-mobility cup during the gait cycle: a finite element analysis. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Part H Journal of Engineering in Medicine, 238(1), 99-111. https://doi.org/10.1177/09544119231216023
- Kamel, H. (2018). Modeling and simulation of a hip prosthesis implantation. The International Conference on Applied Mechanics and Mechanical Engineering, 18(18), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.21608/amme.2018.35024
- Ma, Y., Chen, S., & Chen, D. (2023). Mechanical influence of periacetabular osteotomy on late total hip arthroplasty. International Journal for Numerical Methods in Biomedical Engineering, 39(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/cnm.3690
- Li, F., Chen, H., Mawatari, T., Iwamoto, Y., Jiang, F., & Chen, X. (2018). Influence of modeling methods for cartilage layer on simulation of periacetabular osteotomy using finite element contact analysis. Journal of Mechanics in Medicine and Biology, 18(02), 1850018. https://doi.org/10.1142/s0219519418500185
- Vafaeian, B., Zonoobi, D., Mabee, M., Hareendranathan, A., El-Rich, M., Adeeb, S., ... & Jaremko, J. (2017). Finite element analysis of mechanical behavior of human dysplastic hip joints: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 25(4), 438-447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.10.023
- Watson, P., Dostanpor, A., Fagan, M., & Dobson, C. (2017). The effect of boundary constraints on finite element modelling of the human pelvis. Medical Engineering & Physics, 43, 48-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medengphy.2017.02.001

Wesseling, M., Rossom, S., Jonkers, I., & Henak, C. (2019). Subject-specific geometry affects acetabular contact pressure during gait more than subject-specific loading patterns. Computer Methods in Biomechanics & Biomedical Engineering, 22(16), 1323-1333. https://doi.org/10.1080/10255842.2019.1661393



Mistreatment and Violence in Obstetric Care

Ayşegül Durmaz¹

¹ Dr. Öğr. Üyesi, Kütahya Health Sciences University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Midwifery ORCID: 0000-0002-3092-8841

Pregnancy and the birth of a child is one of the biggest changes in a woman's life. These important events can cause a woman to be stressed and emotionally vulnerable. Both physical and mental changes can result in the development of complications during pregnancy and childbirth (Kowalska et al., 2022). Therefore, to ensure safe motherhood, all pregnant women should be provided with compassionate and respectful care that is appropriate to their physical and psychological needs in the prenatal, intrapartum and postnatal periods. With this care, women will have a positive and healthy birth experience without being harmed or mistreated in all maternal processes (Oluwaseyi, & Sowunmi, 2024).

"Maltreatment" is the abuse, harm or control of another person. "Obstetric maltreatment" is the disrespectful, harassing-abusive approach to women receiving health care services during pregnancy, childbirth and postnatal period, unnecessary interventions or harmful practices to women (Chervenak et al., 2024).

"Obstetric violence" is the appropriation of women's bodies and reproductive processes by health professionals, violating their privacy, abandonment, providing undignified care, dehumanizing and/or abusive treatment, medicalization and abuse of natural processes, which leads to loss of autonomy and capacity to freely make decisions about their own bodies and sexuality and negatively affects women's quality of life. Maternity care affects women's autonomy, integrity, right to participate in decision-making, and right to selfgovernance over their bodies and sexuality. (Annborn & Finnbogadóttir, 2022).

Chervenak et al. (2024) reported that "Obstetric maltreatment" is a more comprehensive term than "Obstetric violence" and stated that violence refers to the intentional use of physical force to injure, damage or cause harm to another person, while maltreatment means controlling, harming and abusing another person against their will. They also emphasized that maltreatment can result from systemic problems, lack of training or misunderstandings. They stated that this situation could be interpreted as a deliberate act of violence by health service providers (Chervenak et al., 2024).

Based on the assumption that it is a limited term, the term "obstetric mistreatment" can be used instead of "obstetric violence".

Obstetric Violence in History

The prenatal period is a critical time for both the fetus and the pregnant woman, as many complications can arise during this period and lead to negative health outcomes (Crandall, K. (2021; O'Brien & Rich, 2022). Despite positive

developments in perinatal care, inequalities still persist in reproductive health services. Racial, geographical and social status-based inequalities persist in countries around the world. Today, inequalities in reproductive health care utilization are linked to a history of obstetric violence.

Obstetric violence, together with the oppression and exclusion experienced, shows gender discrimination. It can be said that this situation is not only an individual problem but also a social problem and that there are deep inequalities. The roots of obstetric violence stem from the deep traces of gender inequality in the historical process. When we turn to the past from the present, it can be observed that the control over women's bodies is determined by a male-dominated order.

In the 16th century, women were forced to choose between conversion and family separation in the postpartum period and experienced obstetric violence resulting from religious discrimination. In Papal Rome at the time, Roman Catholic authorities isolated the babies of Jewish women who refused to convert to Christianity through baptism. In the late 18th century, in the governorates of New Spain and Peru, obstetric violence also occurred during the Spanish Empire's colonization of the Americas. During colonization, priests performed caesarean sections on women who were unable to give birth against their will. During this period, the authorities made caesarean sections compulsory and decided that saving the souls of fetuses was a priority over the lives of mothers.

Between the 16th and 19th centuries, reproductive health was influenced by the system of slavery. Obstetric violence was also at the heart of slavery in the United States (US), where black women's reproductive labor (including daily activities such as cooking and laundry, as well as childbearing) was exploited for economic profit. Enslaved women's childbearing was used by their owners to enrich themselves. When enslaved women failed to conceive or bear healthy children, they faced severe penalties. Slave women were also forced to perform hard physical labor during their pregnancies. They were denied care in the postpartum period and deprived of the healing process. During the development of obstetrics and gynecology, enslaved women faced violence resulting from medical interventions. In the pre-war period, physicians in the US developed new medical procedures by continuously experimenting on enslaved women and people marginalized by race, social class and citizenship status. In this process, marginalized individuals were not provided with the same care as other patients.

In the late 19th and 20th centuries, with the rapid medicalization of childbirth, male-dominated obstetricians sought to replace traditional obstetricians and

establish authority over childbirth. This led to the broader phenomenon of genderbased violence. Women were subordinate to their physicians and subjected to unnecessarily aggressive interventions. Women were denied the right to make decisions about their own body and health. In the 19th century, doctors in many regions claimed that middle-class and upper-class white women experienced more pain in childbirth and applied pain relief methods to them. In their study, O'Brien and Rich (2022) reported that to this day, healthcare professionals in the United States provide fewer pain relief treatments to black and Latina women in labor than to white women, and that racial disparities in labor pain management persist.

Historically, forced sterilization has been one of the forms of obstetric violence. In the early 20th century, the so-called "eugenics" movement began to improve the human race. In this context, forced sterilization was carried out on women who were considered hereditarily "unfit" (disabled, poor or racially marginalized). Sterilization abuse was found to continue later in the 20th century, despite the official repeal of eugenics laws. In the 1970s, also in the US, thousands of Native American women were abused and forcibly sterilized in Indian Health Service hospitals. Indian Health Service hospitals are known to have sterilized about a quarter of Indian women of childbearing age in the 1970s. A 1974 court case revealed the forced sterilization of low-income African-American female patients. In 1978, 10 Mexican immigrant women filed a class action lawsuit against Los Angeles County Hospital for forcibly sterilizing Latina patients. In these lawsuits, physicians failed to inform patients about the procedure or provided misleading information. They also forced women to sign consent forms for sterilization during childbirth or after cesarean section while under the influence of heavy sedative drugs. Poor women were told that if they refused sterilization, they would lose social support services or the custody of their children (Sadler et al., 2016; O'Brien & Rich, 2022).

Between 1996 and 2001, 250,000 - 300,000 women were sterilized in Peru. The president of the time stated that these racist practices were a solution to the country's "Indian problem". When historical processes are analyzed, it is seen that obstetric violence is reinforced by factors such as gender, race, poverty, disability and nationality.

In the mid-20th century in Argentina, Brazil and Chile, government regimes and military authorities inflicted sexual violence on detained women. Babies of detained women were confiscated. Thus, obstetric violence was practiced through the abuse of childbearing women and the severing of kinship ties. Obstetric violence has been observed to continue in the 21st century. Forced separation of mothers and babies after birth in the USA, forced sterilization of women in prison between 2006 and 2013, shackling of women in prison during pregnancy and childbirth, Black and Latina women in prison being subjected to obstetric violence disproportionately more than white women in prison are examples of obstetric violence encountered in the 21st century (O'Brien & Rich, 2022; van Der Waal et al., 2023).

Obstetric violence is a global phenomenon and women in many countries are subjected to mistreatment during maternal care. Today, it has been determined that women are subjected to disrespectful, dehumanizing and non-consensual interventions and abuse during maternal care (O'Brien & Rich, 2022).

The Emergence of Obstetric Violence Awareness

The term obstetric violence was first used and defined in Venezuela. In the definition of obstetric violence, practices that may negatively affect women's quality of life, such as health professionals taking control of women's bodies and reproductive processes, using approaches that are unworthy of human dignity, and depriving women of their autonomy and the right to make free decisions about their sexuality, were emphasized (Sadler et al., 2016; Annborn & Finnbogadóttir, 2022).

Obstetric violence is perpetrated by obstetric health professionals during the care provided to women during pregnancy, childbirth and the postpartum period. Obstetric violence includes, but is not limited to, neglect and abuse, shaming, discrimination, performing procedures without consent, making decisions for the woman, manipulation.

Behaviors towards these forms of violence (Chadwick, 2021; Annborn & Finnbogadóttir, 2022; Van Der et al., 2023; Rusu, Nogueira & Topa, 2024; Oluwaseyi & Sowunmi, 2024):

- Performing procedures without consent; vaginal examination, episiotomy and episiotomy repair (without anesthesia), caesarean section, or fundal pressure, hitting, pinching, punching, shroud shaking to women who refuse these procedures
- Forced or non-consensual tubalization and insertion of an intrauterine device immediately after delivery

- Women being subjected to violence because of their gender and race (most frequently Black women and women living in indigenous communities)
- Timely and ineffective intervention in obstetric emergencies
- Forcing a woman to give birth in the supine position even though there is an environment in which she can give birth in other birth positions
- Preventing early attachment of the newborn to its mother without a medical reason
- Use of labor acceleration techniques even when low-risk and natural birth is possible
- Providing care without taking care of the confidentiality and privacy of the woman's personal information
- Degrading treatment of women
- Lack of equitable care in situations that are out of women's hands, such as low socio-economic status or HIV-positive cases
- Leaving women alone during childbirth, not following up and abandoning them
- Forced detention of women in health facilities without payment of fees for using health services

These interventions may constitute human rights violations (Annborn & Finnbogadóttir, 2022). But human rights are universal and inalienable, and protecting them contributes to positive health outcomes (Gogoi, A., Ravi, T. (2023). International human rights organizations have important roles in monitoring violations of sexual and reproductive health and rights, setting standards and establishing laws. Today, it can be said that the approaches of these organizations to obstetric violence are still at an early stage of development. They focus on international human rights standards on ill-treatment during childbirth, including forced or coerced sterilization, denial or neglect of access to emergency obstetric care. However, many forms of ill-treatment remain unaddressed or undervalued under international human rights law (Khosla et al., 2016; Rusu, Nogueira & Topa, 2024).

Respectful and Sensitive Care in the Prenatal Period

Prenatal care affects women's autonomy, their right to participate in decisionmaking and their self-governance over their bodies and sexuality. The World Health Organization (WHO) has exposed obstetric violence through an organization called Disrespect and Abuse. The organization Disrespect and Abuse advocates for women's rights during childbirth. It emphasizes that care should be provided without discrimination, harm, physical, mental or verbal abuse or harassment, especially during labor and delivery. WHO reports that women are exposed to obstetric violence during the birth process and that this problem should therefore be addressed as a priority, comprehensively assessed, prevented or eliminated altogether. In order to achieve this, it emphasizes the need for increased efforts by all nations (Annborn & Finnbogadóttir, 2022).

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2023) reported that Black, Hispanic and multiracial mothers are most likely to experience mistreatment at birth. It also reported that women with no insurance or public insurance were more likely to be mistreated during childbirth than those with private insurance. Approximately 29% of women experienced discrimination during childbirth. These data suggest that women from certain racial and ethnic minority groups may be more likely to have adverse health experiences during pregnancy and childbirth that affect quality of care and health outcomes (Davis, 2019; CDC, 2023).

During maternal care, health professionals may in some cases exercise power of control and absolute obedience over women. Such use of power can lead to the subordination of women's identity and sexist attitudes. Thus, this authority over women is legitimized and women's self-determination is prevented and their right to dignity can be taken away (Rusu, Nogueira & Topa, 2024).

On the issue of over-medicalization of childbirth, WHO recommends that health facility managers and health personnel review protocols and emphasizes that the necessity of certain practices should continue to be questioned and investigated. It also advocates respecting women's autonomy when undertaking interventions (Sadler et al., 2016; Espinosa et al., 2022; Rusu, Nogueira & Topa, 2024).

To promote safe motherhood during pregnancy and childbirth, all pregnant women should receive respectful and sensitive care during labor and at the time of birth. Respectful care at birth can provide quality midwifery care and reduce maternal mortality. WHO recommends respectful maternity care at birth. Respectful care includes protecting the dignity, privacy and confidentiality of the woman at birth, not harming or mistreating her, ensuring her informed participation in decisions during the birth process and at the time of birth, and providing continuous midwifery care support (WHO, 2018).

As Van Der Waal et al. report in their study, in 2019, the "What Women Want Campaign" was organized and reached a total of 1.2 million women in 114 countries. In this campaign, women were asked what their only demand was for quality reproductive health services. Women responded "Respect and dignity during care". This answer shows that in terms of reproductive health globally, women most want obstetric violence to be eliminated (Van Der Waal et al., 2023).

Conclusion

Obstetric violence is a multifaceted complex condition that requires a multidisciplinary approach. It is vital to take international and national joint studies and decisions to prevent obstetric violence. It is important that relevant organizations in all countries of the world address the legal dimension of obstetric violence and develop legislation. Access to maternal care services should be ensured and legal barriers should be eliminated. Initiatives that address obstetric violence and succeed in making lasting change should be identified and a roadmap should be created. It is important to ensure the participation of women's working groups and civil society organizations in the design, planning, implementation and evaluation of obstetric care services.

Health authorities in countries should provide all women with unbiased information about evidence-based interventions used in obstetrics. It is important for both women and health professionals to report exposure to obstetric maltreatment and to develop a system where this can be done. It is important to include obstetric violence, human rights in obstetric care, reproductive rights in the curricula of all educational institutions that train health professionals and to emphasize gender-based issues (Rusu, Nogueira & Topa, 2024).

In summary, countries and policy makers should work to prevent potential mistreatment of women receiving obstetric care in general. Healthcare providers should promote professional care that is impartial, respectful and womencentered. An ethical framework for all obstetric care providers should be developed and systemic change efforts should be initiated to prevent mistreatment or obstetric violence (Chervenak et al., 2024).

References

- Annborn, A., & Finnbogadóttir, H. R. (2022). Obstetric violence a qualitative interview study. Midwifery, 105, 103212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2021.103212
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2023). Bias and discrimination in maternity care settings impact care. https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/respectful-maternity-care/index.html
- Chadwick, R. (2021). Breaking the frame: Obstetric violence and epistemic rupture. Agenda, 35(3), 104-115. https://doi.org/10.1080/10130950.2021.1958554
- Chervenak, F. A., McLeod-Sordjan, R., Pollet, S. L., Jones, M. D. F., Gordon, M. R., Combs, A., ... & Grünebaum, A. (2024). Obstetric violence is a misnomer. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology, 230(3), S1138-S1145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2023.10.003
- Crandall, K. (2021). Pregnancy-related death disparities in non-Hispanic Black women. Women's Health, 17, 17455065211019888. https://doi.org/10.1177/17455065211019888
- Davis, D. A. (2019). Obstetric racism: the racial politics of pregnancy, labor, and birthing. Medical anthropology, 38(7), 560-573. https://doi.org/10.1080/01459740.2018.1549389
- Espinosa, M., Artieta-Pinedo, I., Paz-Pascual, C., Bully-Garay, P., García-Álvarez, A., & ema-Q. Group Estalella Itziar Trincado M^a José Cabeza Inés Gagnon Mari Pierre Fernández Ana Lozano Gorane Villanueva Gemma Sánchez Jesús Maquibar Amaia Moreno David Legarra Catalina Mulas Maria Jesús Blas Mónica Amorrortu Pilar Alva Sonia. (2022). Attitudes toward medicalization in childbirth and their relationship with locus of control and coping in a Spanish population. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 22(1), 529. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-022-04748-2
- Gogoi, A., Ravi, T. (2023). Respectful Maternity Care: A Cornerstone for Improving Maternal Health. In: Pachauri, S., Verma, R.K. (eds) Transforming Unequal Gender Relations in India and Beyond. Sustainable Development Goals Series. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-4086-8_14
- Khosla et al., 2016). International human rights and the mistreatment of women during childbirth. Health and human rights, 18(2), 131.
- Kowalska, J., Dulnik, M., Guzek, Z., & Strojek, K. (2022). The emotional state and social support of pregnant women attending childbirth classes in the context of physical activity. Scientific Reports, 12(1), 19295. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-23971-7
- O'Brien, E., & Rich, M. (2022). Obstetric violence in historical perspective. The Lancet, 399(10342), 2183-2185. https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(22)01022-4/fulltext

- Oluwaseyi, O. T., & Sowunmi, C. O. (2024). Drivers of Disrespect and Abuse in Obstetric Care: An Integrated Review. International Journal of Nursing, Midwife and Health Related Cases, 10(2), 57-73. https://doi.org/10.37745/ijnmh.15/vol10n25773
- Rusu, M. H., Nogueira, C., & Topa, J. (2024). Pregnancy, Childbirth, and Postpartum Experiences of Racialised Brazilian Women in Portugal: An Analysis of Obstetric Violence as Gender-Based Violence. Sexes, 5(4), 611-637. https://doi.org/10.3390/sexes5040040
- Sadler, M., Santos, M. J., Ruiz-Berdún, D., Rojas, G. L., Skoko, E., Gillen, P., & Clausen, J. A. (2016). Moving beyond disrespect and abuse: addressing the structural dimensions of obstetric violence. Reproductive health matters, 24(47), 47-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhm.2016.04.002
- Van Der Waal, R., Mayra, K., Horn, A., & Chadwick, R. (2023). Obstetric violence: an intersectional refraction through abolition feminism. Feminist Anthropology, 4(1), 91-114. https://doi.org/10.1002/fea2.12097
- World Health Organization. (2018). WHO Recommendations Intrapartum Care for a Positive Childbirth Experience. https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/272447/WHO-RHR-18.12-eng.pdf



Use of Cryotherapy on Endodontics

Funda Fundaoğlu Küçükekenci¹

¹ Assoc. Prof. Dr., Department of Endodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Ordu University, Ordu, Turkey, ORCID: 0000-0002-9619-545X

1. Introduction and Background

The word cryotherapy, formed by combining the words cryo and therapy, describes a treatment that aims to reduce pain by lowering the temperature of the target tissue 1. Lowering the temperature by drawing heat from the high-temperature tissue to the low-temperature object causes vasoconstriction in the tissue, causing tissue metabolism, microvascular permeability and nerve conduction to slow down 2. The magnitude of the temperature change and biophysical changes in tissues depends on the difference between the temperature of the object and the application of cold or heat, the duration of exposure, the thermal conductivity of the tissues, and the type of agent used to apply the heat or cold 1, 2.

Cryotherapy is frequently used in medicine in areas such as sports injuries, relieving musculoskeletal pain, treating muscle spasms, and slowing/stopping the growth of premalignant lesions 3, 4.

It has been stated that applying cryotherapy after various surgeries involving hernia, gynecology operations and orthopedics shortens the healing period by reducing edema and inflammation 5,6. It is also thought that cryotherapy can reduce the need for medication because it reduces post-operative pain 5.

2. Mechanism of action of cryotherapy

Cryotherapy has three main physiological tissue effects: vascular, neurological and tissue metabolism 6, 7. When cold is applied to the tissue for more than 15 minutes, first vasoconstriction occurs in the vessels, followed by vasodilation and vasoconstriction again. Finally, the resulting vasoconstriction reduces vascular permeability, thus reducing exudate and serum outflow from the tissue, thus reducing postoperative edema 7-9. The analgesic effect of cold application is an analgesic effect the release of chemical mediators of pain and the slower spread of neural signals 10, 11. Cold application may stimulate the release of neuroactive agents such as endorphins, which may initiate the analgesic effect. Endorphins bind to opioid receptors in the medullary dorsal horn, thus inhibiting the nociceptive transmission of impulses to the central nervous system. In addition, cold application may lower the activation threshold of special nerve endings (tissue nociceptors) that are activated after tissue injury, which may produce the local anesthetic effect described as cold-induced neurapraxia 12, 13. Cryotherapy reduces tissue blood flow and cell metabolism by more than 50%. Thus, it slows down the rate of biochemical reactions by reducing the production of free radicals in the tissues and reduces the rate of oxygen consumption. Thus, it prevents tissue hypoxia and further tissue injury 9, 13.

The local physiological effect mechanisms of cryotherapy have also been investigated. Cold application basically removes heat from the tissues and causes the temperature to drop. When the temperature drops, vasoconstriction occurs, and the formation of edema is restricted. Vasoconstriction also slows down the cell metabolism, reduces the oxygen demand of the cells and limits the production of free radicals in the tissues. It has been reported that the number of inflammatory enzymes increases with increasing temperature, applying cold locally to the skin has been shown to change the pain threshold and reduce pain 14. Activation of pain receptors called thermoreceptors, which have temperature-sensitive nerve endings that are activated by changes in tissue temperature, by cryotherapy may block nociception in the spinal cord 12, 13.

Despite all this, the time required for cooling, how long the tissue remains cold after the cooling agent is applied, and how far beyond the area where the cooling agent is applied it provides cooling are still not adequately explained 15.

3. Use of Cryotherapy in Dentistry

In dentistry, cryotherapy has been reported to be effective in the treatment of intraoral excisional surgical procedures, tooth extraction, implant applications, and temporomandibular joint disorders associated with arthritis 16. The decrease in skin temperature during cold application causes an increase in the pain threshold. However, the optimal temperature for the target tissue has not yet been determined to 17. In the latest systematic review published in 2018, which evaluated the results of studies investigating the effect of cold application on pain, swelling and trismus after tooth extraction, it was reported that cryotherapy may have a small additional benefit in reducing pain after third molar surgery and is not effective on swelling and trismus 17.

4. Cryotherapy Applications in Endodontics

4.1. Effect of Cryotherapy on Pain in Endodontic Treatment

Intracanal cryotherapy in the root canal is recommended as a simple and costeffective technique for the management of postoperative pain after endodontic treatment 18-20.

One way to apply cryotherapy to inflamed periradicular tissues is to dilate the root canal system and then irrigate the root canal with a cold agent. This procedure has been shown to be more successful when a negative-pressure irrigation activation system, such as the EndoVac (Kerr Endo, Orange Country, CA, USA) system, is used 21.

Vera et al. shed light on cryotherapy in the endodontic field 22. Vera et al. found that intracanal irrigation with cold saline caused a temperature decrease of more than 10 degrees on the root surface, and this effect lasted for 4 minutes 22. They hypothesized that this decrease in root surface temperature could have a local anti-inflammatory and analgesic effect on the root surface, inspiring further studies on cryotherapy in the periapical tissue and its surroundings 18,19, 23-25. There is no certainty about the most appropriate dosage for cryotherapy, as it varies depending on the nature of the tissue. In most studies, the duration of intracanal cryotherapy was kept as 5 minutes. Since Vera et al. reported that 5 minutes of irrigation of root canals with 2.5 °C cold saline solution reduced the external root surface temperature, similar application times were also used by various authors 22-25. In 2016, cryotherapy was first used clinically by Keskin et al. to minimize postoperative pain after single-session root canal treatment in endodontics. Statistically significant lower pain levels were found in the intracanal cryotherapy group compared to the control group 23. Vieyra et al. evaluated the reduction in postoperative pain after single-session root canal treatment using three different irrigation regimens at different temperatures. A total of 240 patients with vital teeth requiring conventional root canal treatment were selected for the study and after root canal preparation, the final irrigation was performed using 17% EDTA and 10 mL cold saline solution at 4 °C, 2.5 °C or room temperature. Pain level was assessed using VAS. According to the data obtained from the study, no statistically significant difference was found in the degree of pain or duration of pain between the 4°C and 2.5°C groups. However, the patient group irrigated with EDTA at room temperature showed significantly higher postoperative pain than the other groups 25.

It is known that in cases of irreversible pulpitis, the inflammation is limited to the inside of the pulp and that pulp removal provides relief to the patient. Therefore, the direct effect of cryotherapy on teeth with irreversible pulpitis has not yet been determined. Bazaid et al. compared the effect of cryotherapy in reducing postoperative pain between teeth with and without apical periodontitis and irreversible pulpitis. A random distribution was made among 40 patients with irreversible pulpitis. The patients were randomly divided into two groups according to the temperature of the final irrigation solution used; the control group using room temperature saline and the experimental group using cold saline. Then, the groups were divided into two subgroups according to the pulp diagnosis as irreversible pulpitis. As a result of this study, it was reported that the use of intracanal cryotherapy was effective in reducing postoperative pain in patients with irreversible pulpitis and apical periodontitis, but it did not affect patients with irreversible pulpitis without apical periodontitis 26. Jain et al., also recommended intracanal cryotherapy only to reduce post-operative pain in symptomatic irreversible pulpitis with apical periodontitis 20. In a case report, it was shown that cryotherapy could also be applied to control bleeding in vital pulp treatments, and the tooth remained vital, asymptomatic and functional for 12-18 months 21. However, more clinical studies are needed to determine the long-term prognosis of cryotherapy in vital pulp treatments 27.

4.2. Effect of Cryotherapy on Inferior Alveolar Block

Topçuoğlu et al. reported that intraoral cryotherapy application before the procedure increased the effect of inferior alveolar nerve blockade, especially in teeth with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis 28.

4.3. Effect of Cryotherapy on Fracture Resistance of Teeth Previously Treated with Endodontics

Thermal changes occurring in the tooth structure cause mechanical stress in dental tissues. The magnitude of the stress occurring in the tooth structure varies depending on the tooth geometry, the temperature difference between the tooth and the environment, and the age of the tooth. It is known that mechanical stress, which will cause a temperature change in the tooth structure, causes structural deformation in the form of tensile stress in the enamel and compressive stress in the dentin in the first second of its application to the tooth 29,30. Another study examined the effect of cold application on the fracture resistance of teeth. When the results were examined, it was concluded that cryotherapy application significantly reduced the fracture resistance of teeth 31. Another study examined the effect of cold application on the fracture resistance of teeth. When the results were examined, it was concluded that cryotherapy application significantly reduced the fracture resistance of teeth 31. In this study, body temperature was excluded and as a result, a significant decrease in fracture resistance was shown in teeth treated with cryotherapy. Therefore, extraoral cold application instead of intracanal cooling can be recommended as an alternative technique for postoperative pain control. However, it should be remembered that in vitro studies does not provide real clinical conditions 31.

4.4. Antimicrobial Activity of Cryotherapy

Another basic goal of root canal treatment is to reduce the number of microorganisms in the root canal. For this purpose, the canal is chemomechanically instrumented 32, 33. A study examining the effect of
cryotherapy after NaOCl irrigation on the number of microorganisms in the canal showed that the cryotherapy group had fewer microorganisms than the control group 34.

5. Result

Cryotherapy is a frequently used application in medicine and dentistry from past to present. In cases diagnosed with symptomatic apical periodontitis in dentistry, it has been shown in many publications that the application of rinsing the root canal with cooled saline in the final irrigation reduces postoperative pain. It is reported that it provides bleeding control in vital pulp treatments. It has also been supported by a study that allows deep anesthesia. Cryotherapy provides the advantages of being easy to apply and cheap 35. It is also a non-pharmacological method with a low risk of side effects in postoperative pain control 36. Studies supporting that it reduces the microbial load in root canals show that its use in endodontics is promising. Although there are many studies evaluating the effect of cryotherapy on postoperative pain, there are not enough studies in the literature regarding its other effects. Its effects on these issues should be evaluated with further studies

References

- 1. Belitsky RB, Odam SJ, Hubley–Kozey C. Evaluation of the effectiveness of wet ice, dry ice, and cryogen packs in reducing skin temperature. Phys Ther 1987;67:1080-1084.
- 2. Algafly AA, George KP. The effect of cryotherapy on nerve conduction velocity, pain threshold and pain tolerance. British journal of sports medicine. 2007;41(6): 365-369.
- Peres D, Sagawa Jr Y, Dugue B, Domenech SC, Tordi N, Prati C. The practice ofphysical activity and cryotherapy in rheumatoid arthritis: systematic review. European journal of physical and rehabilitation medicine. 2017;53(5): 775-787.
- 4. Santesso N, Mustafa RA, Wiercioch W, Kehar R, Gandhi S, Chen Y, et al. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of benefits and harms of cryotherapy, LEEP, and cold knife conization to treat cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2016;132(3): 266-271.
- 5. Kwekkeboom KL. Pain management strategies used by patients with breast and gynecologic cancer with postoperative pain. Cancer Nurs 2001;24: 378-386.
- Watkins AA, Johnson TV, Shrewsberry AB. Ice packs reduce postoperative midline incision pain and narcotic use: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Coll Surg 2014;219: 511-517.
- 7. Sahuquillo J, Vilalta A. Cooling the injured brain: how does moderate hypothermia influence the pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury. Curr Pharm Des 2007;13: 2310-2322.
- 8. Herrera E, Sandoval MC, Camargo DM, Salvini TF. Motor and sensory nerve conduction are affected differently by ice pack. Phys Ther 2010;90: 581–591.
- Ho SS, Coel MN, Kagawa R, Richardson AB. The effects of ice on blood flow and bone metabolism in knees. The American journal of sports medicine. 1994;22(4):537-540.
- 10. Fields HL, Basbaum AI. Brainstem control of spinal pain-transmission neurons. Annual review of physiology. 1978;40(1): 217-248.
- Nadler SF, Weingand K, Kruse RJ. The physiologic basis and clinical applications of cryotherapy and thermotherapy for the pain practitioner. Pain physician. 2004;7(3): 395-400.
- 12. Ernst E, Fialka V. Ice freezes pain? A review of the clinical effectiveness of analgesic cold therapy. J Pain Symptom Manage 1994;9: 56-59.
- 13. Malanga GA, Yan N, Stark J. Mechanisms and efficacy of heat and cold therapies for musculoskeletal injury. Postgrad Med 2015;127: 57-65.

- 14. McLean D. The use of cold and superficial heat in thetreatment of soft tissue injuries. Br J Sports Med 1989;23: 53-54.
- 15. Farah CS, Savage NW. Cryotherapy for treatment of oral lesions. Aust Dent J 2006;51: 2–5.
- Laureano Filho JR, e Silva eddo, Camargo IB, Gouveia FM. The influence of cryotherapy on reduction of swelling, pain and trismus after third-molar extraction:a preliminary study. The Journal of the American Dental Association. 2005;136(6): 774-778.
- 17. do Nascimento-Junior EM, Dos Santos GMS, Mendes MLT, Cenci M, Correa MB, Pereira-Cenci T, et al. Cryotherapy in reducing pain, trismus, and facial swelling after third-molar surgery: Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. The Journal of the American Dental Association. 2019;150(4): 269-277.
- Al-Nahlawi T, Hatab TA, Alrazak MA, Al-Abdullah A. Effect of intracanal cryotherapy and negative irrigation technique on postendodontic pain. J Contemp Dent Pract 2016;17: 990-996.
- 19. Bazaid DS, Kenawi LMM. The effect of intracanal cryotherapy in reducing postoperative pain in patients with irreversible pulpitis: a randomized control Trial. Int J Health Sci Res 2018;8: 83–88.
- Jain A, Davis D, Bahuguna R., Agraval A, Singh S, Ramachandran R, et al. Role of cryotherapy in reducing postoperative pain in patients with irreversible pulpitis; an in-vivo study. Int J Dent Med Sci Res 2018;2: 43–49.
- 21. Schoeffel JG. The EndoVac method of endodontic irrigation, part 2—efficacy. Dent Today 2008;27: 82-87.
- Vera J, Ochoa-Rivera J, Vazquez-Carca~no M, Romero M., Arias A,Sleiman. P. Effect of intracanal cryotherapy on reducing root surface temperature. J Endod 2015;41: 1884-1887.
- 23. Keskin C, Ozdemir O, Uzun İ, Guler B. Effect of intracanal cryotherapy on pain after single visit root canal treatment. Aust Endod J 2017;43: 83-88.
- Vera J, Ochoa J, Romero M, Vazquez-Carcaño M, RamosGregorio CO, Aguilar RR, et al. Intracanal cryotherapy reduces postoperative pain in teeth with symptomatic apical periodontitis: A randomized multicenter clinical trial. J Endod 2018;44: 4-8.
- Vieyra JP, Enriquez FJ, Acosta FO, Guardado JA. Reduction of post endodontic pain after onevisit root canal treatment using three irrigating regimens with different temperature. Niger J Clin Pract 2019;22: 34-40.
- Bazaid DS, Kenawi LM. The effect of intracanal cryotherapy in reducing postoperative pain in patients with irreversible pulpitis: a randomized control trial. Int J Health Sci. 2018;8: 83-88.

- 27. Bahcall J, Johnson B, Xie Q. Introduction to vital pulp cryotherapy. Endod Pract US. 2019;1: 14.
- 28. Topçuoglu HS, Arslan H, Topçuoglu G, Demirbuga S. The effect of cryotherapy application on the success rate of inferior alveolar nerve block in patients with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis. J Endod 2019;45: 965-969.
- 29. Lloyd B, McGinley M, Brown W. Thermal stress in teeth. Journal of dental research. 1978;57(4): 571-582.
- Barker Jr RE, Rafoth RF, Ward RW. Thermally induced stresses and rapid temperature changes in teeth. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research. 1972;6(5): 305-325.
- Keskin C, Sariyilmaz E, Keleş A, Guler DH. Effect of intracanal cryotherapy on the fracture resistance of endodontically treated teeth. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica. 2019;77(2): 164-167.
- Kho P, Baumgartner JC. A comparison of the antimicrobial efficacy of Na-OCI/Biopure MTAD versus NaOCI/EDTA against Enterococcus faecalis. Journal of endodontics. 2006;32(7): 652-655.
- 33. Dewsnup N, Pileggi R, Haddix J, Nair U, Walker C, Varella CH. Comparison of bacterial reduction in straight and curved canals using erbium, chromium: yttrium- scandium-gallium-garnet laser treatment versus a traditional irrigation technique with sodium hypochlorite. Journal of endodontics. 2010;36(4): 725-728.
- Mandras N, Allizond V, Bianco A, Banche G, Roana J, Piazza L, et al. Antimicrobial efficacy of cryotreatment against E nterococcus faecalis in root canals. Letters in applied microbiology. 2013;56(2): 95-98.
- Barış SD, Türkyılmaz A. Endodontide Post-operatif Ağrı Yönetimine Güncel bir Yaklaşım: Kriyoterapi. European Journal of Research in Dentistry 2023; 7(3): 163-171.
- Tuzcu E., Kurnaz S. Endodontide kriyoterapi. Güncel Endodonti Çalışmaları. 2022;1-18.



Aging Skeletal System

Elif Çömlekçi Memiş¹ & Büşra Kürtüncüoğlu² & İsmail Ceylan³ & Nihal Çimen⁴ & Seher Karaçam⁵

¹ Ar. Gör., Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, 0000-0003-1000-6548

² Fzt., Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, 0009-0009-2842-946X

³ Dr. Öğr. Üyesi, Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, 0000-0002-6465-0243

⁴ Fzt., Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, 0000-0002-4906-5281

⁵ Ar. Gör. Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, 0009-0006-6424-0128

In recent years, both population size and average life expectancy have significantly increased in developed countries, and this trend is expected to continue. However, as these extended lifespans are not strongly supported by natural selection, healthy life expectancy has not increased at the same rate (Kontis et al., 2017; Oeppen & Vaupel, 2002). This disparity has led to a higher prevalence of age-related diseases and multiple chronic conditions within the elderly population, creating a substantial disease burden in advanced ages and challenging individuals' capacity to cope with these difficulties. Among these health issues are cancer, cardiovascular diseases, kidney and neurodegenerative diseases, metabolic dysfunction, frailty syndrome, pulmonary fibrosis, osteoarthritis, and osteoporosis (Niccoli & Partridge, 2012).

Osteoporosis, often defined as "porous bone," is one of the most common aging-related diseases characterized by a reduction in skeletal integrity and bone strength. Bone strength is determined by both bone mineral density and overall bone quality, so declines in these factors can increase fracture risk, exacerbating age-related morbidity (Rubin, 2005). Although various oral and intravenous options are considered safe and effective for the prevention or treatment of osteoporosis, a significant portion of individuals with osteoporosis do not receive treatment. In fact, the proportion of individuals receiving appropriate treatment following a hip fracture has decreased in recent years, a trend attributed to concerns over rare but serious side effects. Reluctance to initiate or continue treatment contributes to the prevalence of osteoporosis and increases fracture incidence among elderly individuals (Lai et al., 2010; Tu et al., 2018).

Bone is a specialized tissue that serves competing functions throughout life. For instance, it must be light enough to permit movement yet strong enough to withstand trauma. In elderly individuals, major traumas most commonly occur due to falls. When the applied force exceeds bone strength, a structural failure known as a fracture occurs. Therefore, optimizing bone strength is critical in reducing fracture risk. Bone strength depends partially on the amount of bone accrued during growth, but it is also a composite of bone mass, matrix and mineral composition, as well as macro- and micro-architectural features, including trabecular connectivity and cortical porosity (Rubin, 2005).

The primary determinants of bone strength throughout an individual's lifespan include genetic predispositions, levels of sex steroids such as estrogen, nutrition, physical activity, and vitamin D. Conversely, harmful habits, various diseases, and pharmacological agents like glucocorticoids can damage bone integrity. An example underscoring the importance of estrogen in skeletal health is the significant decline in estrogen levels during menopause, which is associated with a marked increase in bone resorption. Additionally, the aging process itself accelerates bone loss in both male and female populations. The pathophysiological mechanisms underlying skeletal aging are as complex as those determining bone strength and fragility. Another growing concern among the elderly population is polypharmacy, which heightens the risk of hip fractures. Historically, treatment approaches for osteoporosis and other age-related diseases have often followed a "one drug per disease" strategy. However, this approach has increased the risk of adverse drug interactions in older adults. Recently, a new treatment perspective has gained importance, addressing these conditions collectively within the therapeutic process (Lai et al., 2010). This text summarizes current insights into osteoporosis incidence, assessment and intervention strategies, and mechanisms related to the aging process of bone tissue.

EPIDEMIOLOGY OF OSTEOPOROSIS AND FRACTURES

Osteoporosis is a consequence of the aging process that directly affects bone strength and quality (Khandelwal & Lane, 2023). The prevalence of osteoporosis in Turkey is notably significant among adults aged 50 and older. Recent studies indicate that approximately 25% of individuals over the age of 50 have been diagnosed with osteoporosis. The rate of osteoporosis is particularly higher among women. According to data from the Turkish Osteoporosis Society in 2017, the prevalence of osteoporosis in individuals aged 50 and older is approximately 33% in women and about 7% in men. The prevalence of osteopenia is also substantial, recorded at 52% in women and 35% in men. In terms of fracture risks associated with osteoporosis, hip and spinal fractures are particularly prominent, with an observed increase in these risks as individuals age (Aydın, 2019; Tuzun et al., 2012)

ASSESSMENT OF SKELETAL FRAGILITY

The most effective method for assessing skeletal fragility is to examine the incidence of fragility fractures. Fragility fractures occur as a result of low-energy trauma, such as standing or falls from low heights. Fractures in the hip, spine, and distal forearm are particularly important predictors of subsequent fracture risk. Notably, vertebral fractures identified incidentally through radiological examinations are also regarded as a hidden indicator of bone fragility.

Bone loss and fracture risk increase due to various factors, including age, lifestyle factors such as smoking and alcohol consumption, endocrine disorders such as hyperparathyroidism and hypercortisolism, genetic diseases like cystic fibrosis, and the use of medications such as glucocorticoids or anticonvulsants (Bouxsein, 2005; Cosman et al., 2014).

Various clinical tools have been developed to identify individuals at high risk of fractures. The Fracture Risk Assessment Tool (FRAX) and the Garvan Institute's fracture risk calculator are tools designed to estimate the risk of hip and major osteoporotic fractures. FRAX is one of the most widely used tools in clinical practice; however, the Garvan calculator offers additional benefits for patients with a predisposition to recurrent falls and fractures.

These tools can predict the likelihood of hip fractures and major osteoporotic fractures. Notably, the Fracture Risk Assessment Tool (FRAX) and the Garvan Institute's bone fracture risk calculator are widely used in clinical settings for this purpose. While FRAX is predominantly preferred, the Garvan calculator offers additional advantages for patients experiencing recurrent falls and fractures (Kanis et al., 2008; Van den Bergh et al., 2010).

Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DXA) is widely used to measure bone mineral density (BMD) by using low-dose X-rays. Low BMD is a significant indicator of increased risk for fragility fractures, making these measurements particularly valuable for postmenopausal women and men over the age of 50. BMD is evaluated using a "T-score," which indicates the deviation of an individual's bone density from the young adult mean. According to the World Health Organization, T-score classifications are as follows:

- T-score of -1.0 and above: "normal"
- T-score between -1.0 and -2.5: "osteopenic"
- T-score of -2.5 and below: "osteoporotic"

Additionally, DXA devices can provide detailed assessments of structural changes by analyzing fractures or deformities in the spine. This measurement is essential for early identification of individuals prone to fragility fractures. Moreover, it is estimated that around one-third of postmenopausal women and 50-80% of men diagnosed with osteoporosis may have an undiagnosed metabolic bone disease, highlighting the importance of laboratory testing in assessing skeletal health. These tests offer detailed information on mineral levels and bone structure, helping to identify potential fracture risk factors (Ebeling et al., 2022; Sindel & Gula, 2015)

ASSESSMENT OF FRAILTY AND SARCOPENIA

Sarcopenia is characterized by a progressive decline in muscle mass and functional capacity associated with aging. It is significantly linked to numerous adverse health outcomes, including increased risks of falls, fractures, and mortality. Diagnosing sarcopenia requires evaluating muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical performance. While various tools exist for these assessments in research settings, financial constraints in clinical practice often hinder their widespread implementation. Additionally, body mass index (BMI) and circumferential measurements are sometimes used to assess sarcopenia, though they are not considered entirely reliable. In contrast, whole-body DXA (dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry) scans provide a more dependable method for estimating lean muscle mass (Cooper et al., 2013; Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2010).

Furthermore, gait speed, sit-to-stand time and the Timed Up and Go (TUG) test are straightforward clinical tools that yield valuable insights into physical performance. In the TUG test, an individual rises from a seated position, walks three meters, and returns, with the time taken recorded. Grip strength, measured with a calibrated dynamometer, is also an important clinical parameter (Cooper et al., 2013).

Although fracture risk assessment tools like the FRAX calculator are commonly used, they may underestimate fracture risk among older adults, as they fail to adequately consider frailty and sarcopenia-related factors. The FRAiL calculator, designed to evaluate hip fracture risk in nursing home residents, is a newer tool that incorporates physical performance and muscle function indicators to estimate the likelihood of hip fracture within two years. This approach enables a more comprehensive assessment of fracture risk, helping to inform more accurate care planning for older adults (Kanis et al., 2008).

When assessing fall risk, a history of falls within the past year is particularly relevant, as it correlates with an increased risk of future falls. Additionally, cognitive impairment, sensory deficits, and polypharmacy are recognized as critical predictors that heighten the likelihood of falls and hip fractures (Seki Öz, & Çömlekçi 2023; Tanıl et al., 2014).

AGE-RELATED ALTERATIONS IN BONE MINERAL DENSITY, MICROARCHITECTURE, MATERIAL PROPERTIES, AND FRACTURE RISK

In recent decades, substantial progress has been made in understanding the patterns of change in bone mineral density (BMD) and other measurable

components influencing bone strength. Clinically, bone health is most often evaluated through area-based BMD measurements using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) due to its widespread availability. Consequently, research tends to focus on bone mass and BMD (Sindel & Gula, 2015). However, given DXA's limitations, recent studies increasingly prefer quantitative computed tomography (QCT), which offers more detailed volumetric BMD measurements and allows for differentiation between trabecular and cortical bone regions. Longitudinal studies utilizing these tools have shown a lifetime trabecular bone loss of approximately 45% in men and 55% in women, and cortical bone loss of roughly 18% in men and 25% in women (Riggs et al., 2004).

Bone mass and BMD alone are insufficient for accurately determining fracture risk. For example, older adults with similar femoral neck T-scores measured by DXA exhibit markedly higher fracture risk than younger individuals (Farr et al., 2014). Beyond aging, elevated fracture risk independent of BMD is observed in patients with type 2 diabetes undergoing glucocorticoid therapy (Van Staa et al., 2003). This highlights the importance of assessing bone quality. Indeed, variations in bone material properties and microstructure in individuals with type 2 diabetes can impact fracture risk. Through high-resolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography (HR-pQCT), detailed examination of bone microarchitecture has become possible, enhancing understanding of the effects of aging on BMD-independent factors (Nicks et al., 2012; Söyleme, 2020).

A study comparing young and older individuals with similar areal BMD levels measured by DXA found significantly higher cortical porosity in the distal radius of older individuals, despite similar trabecular microarchitecture (Nicks et al., 2012). This suggests that bone quality may serve as an independent factor contributing to increased fracture risk in the elderly.

AGE-RELATED CHANGES IN BONE REMODELING

The skeleton is a highly active organ that undergoes continuous renewal throughout life, involving the removal of old and damaged bone tissue by osteoclasts and the formation of new bone matrix by osteoblasts. Osteoclasts and osteoblasts operate in a spatially and temporally coordinated manner. This coordination is maintained by various local and systemic factors released by osteocytes and other cell types, thus establishing the unique structure and architecture of the skeleton.

At the cellular level, bone remodeling occurs in a three-phase process. In the initial phase, osteoclasts resorb old or damaged bone tissue, a process known as "resorption." In the second phase, mononuclear cells arrive to occupy this

resorbed area, referred to as the "reversal" phase. Finally, in the third phase, osteoblasts fill the resorbed area by forming new bone tissue. This remodeling process relies on complex interactions among cells in the bone microenvironment. Microscopically, these remodeling cycles are constantly occurring throughout the skeleton to adjust bone mass, size, and shape in response to mechanical demands, provide protection against stress or injury, and repair micro-damage accumulated over time.

However, in midlife for women and later in life for men, this balanced remodeling process becomes disrupted. During this period, bone formation fails to keep up with increased resorption, leading to a net loss of bone mass (Ağar, 2020; Steiniche & Eriksen, 1999).

AGE-RELATED DETERIORATION OF BONE STRUCTURE AND INTEGRITY

With aging, the natural imbalance in bone remodeling leads to declines in bone mass and structural integrity in both sexes. If this detrimental bone balance is not corrected, bone degradation continues along trabecular, endocortical, and intracortical surfaces, eventually resulting in an osteoporotic skeleton characteristic of advanced age. Features of osteoporotic bone include reduced trabecular connectivity, thinning or complete loss of trabecular structures, endocortical bone loss leading to cortical thinning, and an increase in cortical porosity due to enhanced Haversian remodeling. These changes demonstrate the adverse effects of osteoporosis on bone health and the associated increase in fracture risk (Seeman, 2013).

A significant portion of this bone loss is due to age-related deficiencies in osteoblast-mediated bone formation. For example, the average trabecular wall thickness, an indicator of osteoblastic activity, shows a marked decline with age in both men and women. This highlights the negative impact of aging on bone health and the factors contributing to osteoporosis development. Biochemical markers of bone formation also show age-related patterns. In men, these markers steadily decrease with age, whereas in postmenopausal women, elevated levels indicate a high rate of bone turnover. This phenomenon reflects the complex interactions between osteoclasts, which resorb bone, and osteoblasts, which form new bone. However, in postmenopausal women, bone loss occurs at a faster rate than bone formation, creating a negative bone balance. Thus, aging is associated with impairments in bone formation in both sexes (Eriksen, 1986; Seeman, 2013).

The adult skeleton consists of approximately 20% trabecular bone and 80% cortical bone. Since trabecular bone loss generally occurs faster than cortical bone

loss, bone degradation initially affects the trabecular compartment more significantly, while cortical bone loss accelerates over time. Age-related cortical bone loss contributes to the increased incidence of fractures, especially non-vertebral fractures, in the elderly population. Additionally, bone loss in specific skeletal regions (such as the femoral neck and distal forearm) raises fracture risk in these areas. Overall, age-related deterioration in both trabecular and cortical bone leads to a decrease in bone quality and strength, increasing fracture risk in older adults and suggesting that such events may become inevitable with advanced age(Nalla et al., 2006; Zebaze et al., 2010).

PATHOGENESIS OF SKELETAL AGING: FUNDAMENTAL MECHANISMS OF AGING

The pathogenesis of skeletal aging involves complex interactions between biological aging processes and bone health. The geriatric population frequently encounters not just one age-related disease but multiple coexisting morbidities, complicating treatment strategies. Aging impacts not only individual disease development but also the interactions among these conditions. This clustering tendency of age-associated diseases exacerbates health complications and increases the complexity of care needs. Therefore, a more profound understanding of aging-related biological processes across tissues and systems is essential for strategies aimed at slowing or halting the progression of age-related diseases (Khosla et al., 2022; López-Otín et al., 2013).

The primary objective in the field of geroscience is to prolong the healthy lifespan while reducing the years spent with multiple illnesses. Fundamental aging mechanisms, observed across various tissues such as bone, lead to functional decline. These mechanisms include genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations, loss of proteostasis, cellular senescence, mitochondrial dysfunction, deregulated nutrient sensing, stem cell exhaustion, and altered intercellular communication. These characteristics of aging directly impact healthy lifespan. Research in animal models, for example, has demonstrated that targeting these mechanisms can delay the onset or alleviate the progression of multiple age-associated diseases (López-Otín et al., 2013).

Bone aging reflects these fundamental biological mechanisms, causing cellular damage within various bone cell types and contributing to universal stress responses. Long-lived osteocytes, in particular, are directly affected by the aging process. The antagonistic hallmarks of aging, such as deregulated nutrient sensing, mitochondrial dysfunction, and cellular senescence, initially evolved as mechanisms to limit cellular damage; however, they become detrimental as aging

progresses. For instance, senescent cells accumulate in the bone microenvironment, releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that increase bone resorption or promote the differentiation of stem cells into adipocytes, thus exacerbating skeletal aging (Collado et al., 2007; Farr & Khosla, 2019).

In conclusion, targeting fundamental mechanisms of aging may offer new therapeutic strategies for preventing age-related bone diseases. Approaches aimed at reducing cellular senescence, for instance, hold potential for osteoporosis prevention and healthy lifespan extension. Aging accelerates bone loss in both genders, disrupting the balance between bone formation and resorption and leading to increased bone marrow adiposity, along with osteoblast and osteocyte apoptosis.

MANAGEMENT OF SKELETAL FRAGILITY

Strategies aimed at reducing the incidence of age-related fractures focus not only on slowing the decline in bone density but also on managing chronic conditions that may exacerbate skeletal fragility and sarcopenia. Therefore, "osteoporosis treatment" should be tailored to each patient's individual goals, taking into account their current health status and psychosocial factors. Additionally, improving access to community resources—such as geriatricfriendly fitness centers, transportation services, and affordable housing options can significantly enhance the effectiveness of management strategies (Coll et al., 2021; Nuti et al., 2019).

EXERCISE-BASED STRATEGIES FOR BONE DENSITY IMPROVEMENT AND FALL RISK REDUCTION

Numerous studies have shown that exercise programs focusing on strengthening core muscles and improving balance are effective in reducing the risk of fallsstance training that includes weight-bearing and moderate-to-high intensity exercises over 12–18 months can significantly improve bone mineral density (BMD). In this contexin supervised multimodal programs has also been observed to enhance both BMD and physical performance (Atalay, 2015; Erzeybek, 2012; Howe et al., 2011; Sherrington et al., 2019).

Exercise programs for older adults should be safe, suseing adapted to individual characteristics. For example, low-intensity walking, sitting, and standing exercises should be graduallto individual tolerance levels.

Yoga, which has gained popularity in recent years, shows potential to improve balance and reduce the risk of falls in older adults when practiced moderately (Youkhana et al., 2016). Additionally, there is moderate evidence that Tai Chi enhances balance, reduces fall risk, and supports bone health, particular adults and women with osteoarthritis (Okuyan Birimoğlu & Bilgili, 2017).

EXTRA-SKELETAL BENEFITS OF OSTEOPOROSIS TREATMENT

Osteoporosis treatments offer various benefits beyond bone health, impacting areas such as cardiovascular function, neurological health, and general physical well-being. For instance, vitamin D and calcium supplementation not only strengthen bones but also enhance muscle function, reducing fall risk and supporting mobility in elderly populations. Some osteoporosis treatments, like certain bisphosphonates, have been linked to improved cardiovascular outcomes and immune function, highlighting the potential for a more comprehensive approach to managing osteoporosis (Reid et al., 2020)(43).

Research on the extra-skeletal effects of osteoporosis medications has highlighted significant benefits, particularly in frail elderly individuals where these effects are essential for guiding treatment decisions. In postmenopausal women, studies have shown that zoledronic acid infusions administered every 18 months may reduce the incidence of certain cancers, especially breast cancer, in women at risk for osteopenia. Additionally, a study on denosumab found that three years of treatment was associated with increases in lean body mass and grip strength, indicating a positive impact on overall physical performance (Bonnet et al., 2023; Reid et al., 2020). These findings underscore the importance of considering non-skeletal benefits when choosing osteoporosis treatments, contributing to a more holistic approach to elderly health care.

CONCLUSION

As a result of global developments, people are living longer, but this extended lifespan does not necessarily come with improved health outcomes. Osteoporosis, a prevalent health issue linked to aging, is characterized by a reduction in bone strength and an increased risk of fragility fractures. In Turkey, as in many parts of the world, the prevalence of osteoporosis among individuals aged 50 and older remains a significant concern. The National Osteoporosis Foundation recommends bone mineral density (BMD) measurements for women aged 65 and older and men aged 70 and older to reduce this risk. Furthermore, individuals with clinical risk factors, as well as postmenopausal women and men over 50, should also be evaluated.

Bone mineral density measurement is a crucial method for determining the risk of fragility fractures. Low bone density increases the likelihood of such fractures. Techniques like DXA scans provide insights into bone health, while laboratory tests, including those measuring vitamin D, calcium, and phosphorus levels, as well as biomarkers of bone turnover, play a complementary role. The aging population presents significant challenges, including an increase in age-related diseases and chronic morbidities. Bone health is notably impacted by aging, with both women and men experiencing increased bone loss and imbalances in bone formation.

In conclusion, the early diagnosis and management of osteoporosis are critical to reducing fracture risk. Evaluations tailored to individuals' health conditions provide essential information for preventing and treating osteoporosis, contributing to healthier aging. Therefore, it is essential for both individuals and healthcare professionals to be aware of osteoporosis. Research into new strategies for treating osteoporosis and other age-related diseases is accelerating. These innovative approaches aim to improve the quality of life for individuals and minimize the health issues associated with aging.

REFERENCES

- Ağar, A. (2020). Yaşlılarda ortaya çıkan fizyolojik değişiklikler. Ordu Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Çalışmaları Dergisi, 3(3), 347-354.
- Atalay, E. (2015). Osteoporoz ve egzersiz. Spor Hekimliği Dergisi, 50(4), 139-149.
- Aydın, T. (2019). Osteoporozda Medikal Tedavi ve Yeni Seçenekler. Klinik Tıp Aile Hekimliği, 11(3), 108-113.
- Bonnet, N., Bourgoin, L., Biver, E., Douni, E., & Ferrari, S. (2023). RANKL inhibition improves muscle strength and insulin sensitivity and restores bone mass. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 129(8), 3214-3223.
- Bouxsein, M. L. (2005). Determinants of skeletal fragility. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology, 19(6), 897-911.
- Coll, P. P., Phu, S., Hajjar, S. H., Kirk, B., Duque, G., & Taxel, P. (2021). The prevention of osteoporosis and sarcopenia in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 69(5), 1388-1398.
- Collado, M., Blasco, M. A., & Serrano, M. (2007). Cellular senescence in cancer and aging. *Cell*, 130(2), 223-233.
- Cooper, C., Fielding, R., Visser, M., Van Loon, L., Rolland, Y., Orwoll, E., . . . Epstein, S. (2013). Tools in the assessment of sarcopenia. *Calcified tissue international*, 93, 201-210.
- Cosman, F., de Beur, S. J., LeBoff, M., Lewiecki, E., Tanner, B., Randall, S., & Lindsay, R. (2014). Clinician's guide to prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. *Oste*oporosis international, 25, 2359-2381.
- Cruz-Jentoft, A. J., Baeyens, J. P., Bauer, J. M., Boirie, Y., Cederholm, T., Landi, F., . . . Schneider, S. M. (2010). Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age and ageing, 39(4), 412-423.
- Ebeling, P. R., Nguyen, H. H., Aleksova, J., Vincent, A. J., Wong, P., & Milat, F. (2022). Secondary osteoporosis. *Endocrine Reviews*, 43(2), 240-313.
- Eriksen, E. F. (1986). Normal and pathological remodeling of human trabecular bone: three dimensional reconstruction of the remodeling sequence in normals and in metabolic bone disease. *Endocrine Reviews*, 7(4), 379-408.
- Erzeybek, M. S. (2012). Yaşlılarda farklı egzersiz yaklaşımlarının yaşlanmayı geciktirici etkilerinin karşılaştırmalı olarak incelenmesi. Marmara Universitesi (Turkey),
- Farr, J. N., Drake, M. T., Amin, S., Melton III, L. J., McCready, L. K., & Khosla, S. (2014). In vivo assessment of bone quality in postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 29(4), 787-795.
- Farr, J. N., & Khosla, S. (2019). Cellular senescence in bone. Bone, 121, 121-133.
- Öz,S. H., & Çömlekçi, E. (2023). Erişim engelleri ve kültüre duyarlı bakım. In İ. Tufan (Ed.), *Türkiye ikinci yaşlılık profili araştırması*. Ankara: Nobel Akademik Yayıncılık.

- Howe, T. E., Rochester, L., Neil, F., Skelton, D. A., & Ballinger, C. (2011). Exercise for improving balance in older people. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*(11).
- Kanis, J. A., Johnell, O., Odén, A., Johansson, H., & McCloskey, E. (2008). FRAX[™] and the assessment of fracture probability in men and women from the UK. *Osteoporosis international*, *19*, 385-397.
- Khandelwal, S., & Lane, N. E. (2023). Osteoporosis: review of etiology, mechanisms, and approach to management in the aging population. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America*, 52(2), 259-275.
- Khosla, S., Farr, J. N., & Monroe, D. G. (2022). Cellular senescence and the skeleton: pathophysiology and therapeutic implications. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *132*(3).
- Kontis, V., Bennett, J. E., Mathers, C. D., Li, G., Foreman, K., & Ezzati, M. (2017). Future life expectancy in 35 industrialised countries: projections with a Bayesian model ensemble. *The Lancet*, 389(10076), 1323-1335.
- Lai, S.-W., Liao, K.-F., Liao, C.-C., Muo, C.-H., Liu, C.-S., & Sung, F.-C. (2010). Polypharmacy correlates with increased risk for hip fracture in the elderly: a population-based study. *Medicine*, 89(5), 295-299.
- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2013). The hallmarks of aging. *Cell*, 153(6), 1194-1217.
- Nalla, R., Kruzic, J., Kinney, J., Balooch, M., Ager Iii, J., & Ritchie, R. (2006). Role of microstructure in the aging-related deterioration of the toughness of human cortical bone. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 26(8), 1251-1260.
- Niccoli, T., & Partridge, L. (2012). Ageing as a risk factor for disease. *Current biology*, 22(17), 741-752.
- Nicks, K. M., Amin, S., Atkinson, E. J., Riggs, B. L., Melton III, L. J., & Khosla, S. (2012). Relationship of age to bone microstructure independent of areal bone mineral density. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 27(3), 637-644.
- Nuti, R., Brandi, M. L., Checchia, G., Di Munno, O., Dominguez, L., Falaschi, P., ... Michieli, R. (2019). Guidelines for the management of osteoporosis and fragility fractures. *Internal and emergency medicine*, 14, 85-102.
- Oeppen, J., & Vaupel, J. W. (2002). Broken limits to life expectancy. In (Vol. 296, pp. 1029-1031): American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Okuyan Birimoğlu, C., & Bilgili, N. (2017). Effect of Tai Chi Chuan on fear of falling balance and physical self-perception in elderly: A randomised controlled trial.
- Reid, I. R., Horne, A. M., Mihov, B., Stewart, A., Garratt, E., Bastin, S., & Gamble, G. D. (2020). Effects of zoledronate on cancer, cardiac events, and mortality in osteopenic older women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 35(1), 20-27.
- Riggs, B. L., Melton III, L. J., Robb, R. A., Camp, J. J., Atkinson, E. J., Peterson, J. M., ... Khosla, S. (2004). Population-based study of age and sex differences in bone volumetric density, size, geometry, and structure at different skeletal sites. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 19(12), 1945-1954.

- Rubin, C. D. (2005). Emerging concepts in osteoporosis and bone strength. Current medical research and opinion, 21(7), 1049-1056.
- Seeman, E. (2013). Age-and menopause-related bone loss compromise cortical and trabecular microstructure. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences* and Medical Sciences, 68(10), 1218-1225.
- Sherrington, C., Fairhall, N. J., Wallbank, G. K., Tiedemann, A., Michaleff, Z. A., Howard, K., . . . Lamb, S. E. (2019). Exercise for preventing falls in older people living in the community. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*(1).
- Sindel, D., & Gula, G. (2015). Assessment of Bone Mineral Density in Osteoporosis. *Turk Osteoporoz Dergisi, 21*(1).
- Söyleme, R. (2020). 65 yaş ve üzeri Tip 2 diyabetli bireylerde sarkopeni sıklığının saptanması ve sarkopeni risk faktörlerinin tanımlanması.
- Steiniche, T., & Eriksen, E. F. (1999). Age-related changes in bone remodeling. In Osteoporosis in men (pp. 299-312): Elsevier.
- Tanıl, V., Çetinkaya, Y., Sayer, V., Avşar, D., & İskit, Y. (2014). Düşme riskinin değerlendirilmesi. Sağlık Akademisyenleri Dergisi, 1(1), 21-26.
- Tu, K. N., Lie, J. D., Wan, C. K. V., Cameron, M., Austel, A. G., Nguyen, J. K., . . . Hyun, D. (2018). Osteoporosis: a review of treatment options. *Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 43(2), 92.
- Tuzun, S., Eskiyurt, N., Akarirmak, U., Saridogan, M., Senocak, M., Johansson, H., ... Society, T. O. (2012). Incidence of hip fracture and prevalence of osteoporosis in Turkey: the FRACTURK study. *Osteoporosis international*, 23, 949-955.
- Van den Bergh, J. P., Van Geel, T. A., Lems, W. F., & Geusens, P. P. (2010). Assessment of individual fracture risk: FRAX and beyond. *Current osteoporosis reports*, 8, 131-137.
- Van Staa, T., Laan, R., Barton, I., Cohen, S., Reid, D. M., & Cooper, C. (2003). Bone density threshold and other predictors of vertebral fracture in patients receiving oral glucocorticoid therapy. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 48(11), 3224-3229.
- Youkhana, S., Dean, C. M., Wolff, M., Sherrington, C., & Tiedemann, A. (2016). Yogabased exercise improves balance and mobility in people aged 60 and over: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Age and ageing*, *45*(1), 21-29.
- Zebaze, R. M., Ghasem-Zadeh, A., Bohte, A., Iuliano-Burns, S., Mirams, M., Price, R. I., . . . Seeman, E. (2010). Intracortical remodelling and porosity in the distal radius and post-mortem femurs of women: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet*, 375(9727), 1729-1736.



Bone Fractures Non-Union and Novel Therapeutic Strategies

Damla Aykora¹

¹ Öğretim Görevlisi Bitlis Eren Üniversitesi Sağlık Hizmetleri MYO ORCID: 0000-0002-6094-4754

BONE FRACTURES AND HEALING PROCESS

Bones have a hierarchical structure required to bear mechanical loading and stand against fractures. Numerous substitutes of bones provide mechanical stability and have plasticity to avoid bone damage. Even so, bone fractures are widely seen, and bone healing is such a challenging issue (Fazzalari, 2011). There are several reasons for bone fractures, such as surgeries, tumors, osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, and various pathologies (Munmun & Witt-Enderby, 2021; Tanrıkulu & Gönen, 2017). Bone fractures affect all individuals including mostly elderly people worldwide. High-intensity energy traumas correspond to 85% of bone fractures in young adults, mostly during sports activities. Bone repair widely could be achieved by surgical intervention, but the post-surgical healing, bone regeneration, and load-bearing capacity do not heal as it is before (Naveiro et al., 2023).

Bone regeneration requires a complex collaboration of mechanisms, classified into three phases; inflammatory, repair, and remodeling (Elhawary et al., 2021). The inflammatory phase begins immediately after the fracture of a bone, and due to the tear of surrounding vessels blood influx to the fracture site causes a hematoma. The inflammatory cells accumulated in the hematoma, release cytokines which trigger the inflammatory cascade beginning. includes inflammatory cytokines to the fracture site. Initially, polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN) reach the area, following monocytes and macrophages infiltrating the fracture site (Kovtun et al., 2018). These macrophages transform into the M1 phenotype and start to release pro-inflammatory cytokines. The adaptive immune response begins with the arrival of lymphocytes. During this, the already presented PMNs and macrophages start to clear the apoptotic cells and residues which is a sign of the ending of the inflammatory phase (Mountziaris & Mikos, 2008). Through the end of the inflammatory phase, the release of inflammatory cytokines flow to the site decreases. Additionally, immune cells begin to leave the tissue. Macrophages polarized into M2 phenotype and begin to release anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13. The communication of bone-derived mesenchymal stem cells and immune cells stimulates angiogenesis and osteogenesis (Frade et al., 2023). BMP/TGF- β /SMAD signaling pathway activation is the starter of osteogenesis, while repair and remodeling stages are ready to act (Chen et al., 2012). Osteoblasts the major cells of bone structure begin to differentiate by P38/MAPK signaling. This cascade leads to alkaline phosphates (ALP) and osteocalcin expression. During these processes, cytoplasmic calcium increase has a key role in callus formation. The increase of calcium stimulates the gene expressions of critical growth factors

such as insulin-like growth factor (IGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), transforming growth factor beta (TGF β), bone morphogenic proteins (BMP2, and BMP4). These factors are the major markers of bone growth and regeneration (Hutchings et al., 2020).

The repair phase of bone fractures comprises bony and hard callus formation. The callus formation consists of two main ossification stages (Bigham-Sadegh & Oryan, 2014). Intramembranous ossification initially begins in the periosteum. The already presented mesenchymal stromal stem cells differentiate into osteoprogenitor cells and form the hard callus. Endochondral ossification takes action in the endosteum and bone marrow. Here, bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into chondrocytes and release the cartilaginous matrix. The chondrocytes after hypertrophic differentiation, mineralize the surrounding matrix to form the cartilaginous callus. Following the apoptosis of the chondrocytes, osteoblasts invade the area. The cartilaginous matrix is formed into the bone matrix by osteoblasts. During endochondral ossification, the bony callus turns into a hard callus (Galea et al., 2020).

Following callus formation, the last phase of beno regeneration begins. The remodeling phase is the renewal of the damaged bone tissue. The balance between the osteoblasts and osteoclasts is provided. Lamellar bone deposition and resorption at the end from the repaired bone tissue (Maruyama et al., 2020; Wildemann et al., 2021).

NON-UNION OF BONE FRACTURES

The ideal conditions for bone regeneration where the above-mentioned healing phases are provided, maintain the complete regeneration of the bone fracture. However, in some cases, bone healing is not wholly complete, and the union of the fracture site and host bone is not always improved. This type of non-healing is called non-union. There are several reasons for non-union fractures including biological and mechanical conditions. Non-union fractures cause increased pain, elongated immobilization, disabilities, and psycho-social insufficiency (Wildemann et al., 2021). Due to developmental surgical methods, stabilization techniques, and material fixation, the gold standard method for non-union fracture healing is autograft application. Autograft is now the widely used method in large or non-union bone defects. However this method has such drawbacks, pain, hematoma, or decreased load-bearing ability (Buza & Einhorn, 2016) (Schmidt vd., 2021, Haeusner vd., 2023). Bone allografts are alternatives to autografts but may cause unexpected immune responses and high costs (Muller vd., 2013). Over the past decade, synthetic biomaterials have gained attraction in

the healing of bone fractures non-union. However, these materials cannot maintain mechanical stability. So metallic alloys are suggested to improve loadbearing capacity (Matassi vd., 2013). Due to the promising fixation of bone fragments and mechanical stability, metallic alloys are unnatural and cannot adapt to physiological conditions (Fu vd., 2011). Overall, there are still urgently needed techniques and substitutes in bone tissue engineering to overcome these challenges.

NOVEL THERAPIES FOR NON-UNION BONE FRACTURES

In recent years, based on biomaterials technology, several biological approaches have been evaluated for robust non-union bone regeneration with promising outcomes. There are multiple strategies comprised of mesenchymal stromal cell (MSCs) therapy, BMP, and VEGF treatment. The pre-osteoblastic MSCs can maintain bone regeneration during the healing process. Novel studies based on animal experiments claimed that MSCs therapy offers promising results in non-union bone fractures (Schlundt et al., 2018). MSCs could be applied in different ways such as intravenous, locally or through a composite biomaterial. MSCs act as osteoblast precursors in the fracture site and facilitate bone healing. One of another promising approaches that has gained attract recently is the BMP administration. BMPs are mostly applied via biomaterials. The BMP family members BMP7 and BMP2 are FDA-approved agents for bone fracture treatments (Whitty et al., 2022).

Angiogenesis is an indispensable factor for bone regeneration due to the increased need for nutritional supply during regeneration. Thus, stimulating the angiogenetic factors is essential. VEGF is a well-known vessel formation stimulating factor and providing VEGF activation is important in bone regeneration. In experimental studies, direct application or controlled release of VEGF enhanced the union of critical-sized bone fractures (Hu & Olsen, 2016; Keramaris et al., 2008; Menger et al., 2022).

Nanotechnology also offers promising advantages in bone healing and nonunion bone fracture regeneration. Polymer-based technologies with threedimensional printing approaches have great attention in tissue engineering applications (Aykora & Uzun, 2024). Due to numerous therapeutic approaches non-union bone fractures still have a challenge in orthopedics. There is still an urgent need for the development of efficient therapies to foster bone regeneration and fill large bone gaps.

REFERENCES

- Aykora, D., & Uzun, M. (2024). Bone tissue engineering for osteointegration: Where are we now? *Polymer Bulletin*, 81(10), 8595–8605. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00289-024-05153-9
- Bigham-Sadegh, A., & Oryan, A. (2014). Basic concepts regarding fracture healing and the current options and future directions in managing bone fractures. *International Wound Journal*, *12*(3), 238. https://doi.org/10.1111/IWJ.12231
- Buza, J. A., & Einhorn, T. (2016). Bone healing in 2016. *Clinical Cases in Mineral and Bone Metabolism*, *13*(2), 101. https://doi.org/10.11138/CCMBM/2016.13.2.101
- Chen, G., Deng, C., & Li, Y. P. (2012). TGF-β and BMP Signaling in Osteoblast Differentiation and Bone Formation. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 8(2), 272. https://doi.org/10.7150/IJBS.2929
- Elhawary, H., Baradaran, A., Abi-Rafeh, J., Vorstenbosch, J., Xu, L., & Efanov, J. I. (2021). Bone Healing and Inflammation: Principles of Fracture and Repair. Seminars in Plastic Surgery, 35(3), 198. https://doi.org/10.1055/S-0041-1732334
- Fazzalari, N. L. (2011). Bone Fracture and bone fracture repair. Osteoporosis International, 22(6), 2003–2006. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00198-011-1611-4/METRICS
- Frade, B. B., Dias, R. B., Piperni, S. G., & Bonfim, D. C. (2023). The role of macrophages in fracture healing: a narrative review of the recent updates and therapeutic perspectives. *Stem Cell Investigation*, 10, 4. https://doi.org/10.21037/SCI-2022-038
- Galea, G. L., Zein, M. R., Allen, S., & Francis-West, P. (2020). Making and shaping endochondral and intramembranous bones. *Developmental Dynamics*, 250(3), 414. https://doi.org/10.1002/DVDY.278
- Hu, K., & Olsen, B. R. (2016). The roles of vascular endothelial growth factor in bone repair and regeneration. *Bone*, *91*, 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BONE.2016.06.013
- Hutchings, G., Moncrieff, L., Dompe, C., Janowicz, K., Sibiak, R., Bryja, A., Jankowski, M., Mozdziak, P., Bukowska, D., Antosik, P., Shibli, J. A., Dyszkiewicz-Konwińska, M., Bruska, M., Kempisty, B., & Piotrowska-Kempisty, H. (2020). Bone Regeneration, Reconstruction and Use of Osteogenic Cells; from Basic Knowledge, Animal Models to Clinical Trials. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(1), 139. https://doi.org/10.3390/JCM9010139
- Keramaris, N. C., Calori, G. M., Nikolaou, V. S., Schemitsch, E. H., & Giannoudis, P. V. (2008). Fracture vascularity and bone healing: A systematic review of the role of VEGF. *Injury*, 39(SUPPL.2), S45–S57. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-1383(08)70015-9

- Kovtun, A., Messerer, D. A. C., Scharffetter-Kochanek, K., Huber-Lang, M., & Ignatius, A. (2018). Neutrophils in Tissue Trauma of the Skin, Bone, and Lung: Two Sides of the Same Coin. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2018, 8173983. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8173983
- Maruyama, M., Rhee, C., Utsunomiya, T., Zhang, N., Ueno, M., Yao, Z., & Goodman,
 S. B. (2020). Modulation of the Inflammatory Response and Bone Healing.
 Frontiers in *Endocrinology*, 11, 386.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/FENDO.2020.00386/BIBTEX
- Menger, M. M., Laschke, M. W., Nussler, A. K., Menger, M. D., & Histing, T. (2022). The vascularization paradox of non-union formation. *Angiogenesis 2022 25:3*, 25(3), 279–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10456-022-09832-X
- Mountziaris, P. M., & Mikos, A. G. (2008). Modulation of the Inflammatory Response for Enhanced Bone Tissue Regeneration. *Tissue Engineering. Part B, Reviews*, 14(2), 179. https://doi.org/10.1089/TEN.TEB.2008.0038
- Munmun, F., & Witt-Enderby, P. A. (2021). Melatonin effects on bone: Implications for use as a therapy for managing bone loss. *Journal of Pineal Research*, 71(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/JPI.12749
- Naveiro, J. M., Gracia, L., Roces, J., Albareda, J., & Puértolas, S. (2023). Three-Dimensional Computational Model Simulating the Initial Callus Growth during Fracture Healing in Long Bones: Application to Different Fracture Types. *Bioengineering (Basel, Switzerland)*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOENGINEE-RING10020190
- Schlundt, C., Bucher, C. H., Tsitsilonis, S., Schell, H., Duda, G. N., & Schmidt-Bleek, K. (2018). Clinical and Research Approaches to Treat Non-union Fracture. *Current Osteoporosis Reports*, 16(2), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11914-018-0432-1
- Tanrıkulu, S., & Gönen, E. (2017). Kırık iyileşmesi. *TOTBİD Dergisi*, *16*(6), 455–475. https://doi.org/10.14292/TOTBID.DERGISI.2017.62
- Whitty, C., Pernstich, C., Marris, C., McCaskie, A., Jones, M., & Henson, F. (2022). Sustained delivery of the bone morphogenetic proteins BMP-2 and BMP-7 for cartilage repair and regeneration in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Open*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OCARTO.2022.100240
- Wildemann, B., Ignatius, A., Leung, F., Taitsman, L. A., Smith, R. M., Pesántez, R., Stoddart, M. J., Richards, R. G., & Jupiter, J. B. (2021). Non-union bone fractures. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers* 2021 7:1, 7(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-021-00289-8



Protective Effects of Juglone on Rat Testis Exposed to Electric Field

Nurgül Şenol¹

¹ Prof. Dr., Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, The University of the Süleyman Demirel, Isparta, Turkey, Orcid ID: 0000-0002-3090-9835

1. Introduction

Electrical events in the environment affect non-living and living things (e.g. electrical devices) is doing. Effect on non-living and living things Electrical Fields; Electric field, Magnetic field, and Electromagnetic field it is divided into three. These Electric Fields; when electrical energy is produced, the energy from transmission lines or cables or when shipped by air or when deployed or in electrical appliances are formed when used. Use of electrical energy; in our modern life Since it is an integral part of fields are everywhere around us. Humans have high exposure to various artificial electric fields in our modern society. There has been a relationship between exposure to electric fields are generated by the clinical devices used in medical therapies during treatment, and electric fields cure different pains. In addition, electric fields commence behavior, humoral, or cellular responses [1].

An electromagnetic field (EM field or EMF) is a physical field that electrically charged objects produced. The behavior of charged objects near the field is affected by EMFs. The EMF is indefinitely expanded through space, determining electromagnetic interaction. One of the four fundamental natural forces is EMF, the others are weak interaction, strong interaction, and gravitation. One can regard the EMF combined magnetic and electric fields. Modern electrical devices and power lines are increasingly used adversely affecting public health, and encouraging to pay remarkable attention to chronic exposure to EMF. spermatogenesis is adversely affected by exposure to EMF by the Leydig and Sertoli cells. 50 Hz magnetic fields cytostatically and cytotoxically change the mice's differentiating spermatogonia. There is little information on the impact of EMF on the seminiferous tubules' boundary tissue cytoarchitecture, with some crucial functions, including transport and mechanical support of nutrients to sperm and spermatozoa discharge by keeping pressure on the tubules [2, 3, 4].

Antioxidants potentially could prevent excess ROS formation and enable the repair of cellular damage. Juglone (5-hydroxyl-1,4-naphthoquinone) is a phenolic compound found in walnuts. A variety of benefits have been attributed to juglone including anti-inflammatory, anticancer, antiplatelet, antioxidant, vasodilator, neuroprotective, and antineoplastic properties. Free oxygen radicals, such as hydroxyl radicals and superoxide anions are directly scavenged by Juglone. Endogenous antioxidant enzymes can be influenced indirectly by Luteolin protecting cells against the expression of proteins involved in apoptosis and oxidative damage. There is a partial relationship between the juglone's protective

role and inflammatory cytokines' inhibition. Juglone safely protects against cellular toxicity [5, 6, 7, 8, 9].

Few reports are related to the impact of EF radiation and the juglone's antioxidant activity regarding the testicular tissue. Both the efficacy of juglone administration for the decrease of harmful effects and the potential adverse effects of EF on testis tissues were studied.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Experimental Groups and Animals

This study was on young Wistar-Albino rats (n = 24, 250-300 g). Süleyman Demirel University Experimental Animals Research Unit (decision numbered 21438139-267) submitted the ethical permission. We kept all animals in the Experimental Animal Laboratory under standard conditions during the experiment. We randomly divided rats into three groups as EF + Juglone (EF + JUG), EF, and Control. We applied a 21 h/day electric field to the EF + JUG and EF groups for 30 days. gavage method was used to give a juglone (JUG) antioxidant substance, plus the application of an electric field to the EF + JUG group. We formed the experimental groups as follows. The first group is the control group containing rats without electric field gavage and exposure (8 rats). The second group is the EF group which is the electric field exposure group (8 rats). The third group is the EF + JUG group containing 8 rats exposed to 1 mL 300 ppm antioxidant juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4naphthoquinone) and an electric field based on the gavage method.

2.2. Creation of EF

The methodology which Anderson et al. used was followed for the AC 50 Hz which was used in the study [9]. We performed the experiment at Süleyman Demirel University Experimental Animals Research Unit. Electronics and Communication Engineering faculty members at Süleyman Demirel University took the power measurement, and IEEE standards were adopted

Basic parallel plate exposure setup limitations and design are described in [10]. Cell phones and other devices affecting the environment were not included in the room. On the other hand, a control group was placed in a similar room, but far away from the electric field. Measured data of electric field (V/m) were obtained for both exposed and control groups.

We cared for and fed the Groups under the same environmental conditions. We kept rats in an environment with humidity of 55–60%, at a fixed temperature

of 20 ± 2 °C, and with a 12/12 h light/dark cycle. We used a homogeneous and uniform electric field.

The 1×0.5 m surface is completely smoothed. A fully conductive plate is placed horizontally and shaped using a 50 Hz, 5000 V AC power transformer to ensure a sufficiently smooth surface, the ends of which are pressed into the center of the plate without piercing the plate and connected to bolts made of stainless steel.

The plate dimensions were chosen to be large enough to give a sufficiently uniform electric field. The cage volume was $40 \times 50 \times 20$ cm³ (W × L × H). The selected panel was very large with respect to the studied subject as compared to the used and studied materials. sufficiently smooth electric field lines can be provided with the plates of this dimension. If the area between the plates is fairly smooth, the corner effects will be ignored.

We have used the term "Smooth" for the noiseless situation. All types of parallel plate setups used in the present study have a major problem known as the corner effect. There are moderately straight electric field lines in the central region of the plates bending at the corners.

Therefore, we chose relatively large plates chosen relative to the test area, with physically rounded plates' corners. such experiments should not have curved electric field lines. For this reason, it was necessary to be sure that there were no bent electric field lines. We used the instrumentation and measurement methodology during the experimental period to monitor this "smoothness"[11]. We calculated the cage sizes for the longevity and health of the animals. The cages were 50 cm wide, with the glass or plastic irrigation apparatus not to disturb the homogeneous lines of the electric field. We cleaned the cages every day and monitored the humidity and temperature of the environment not to disturb the applied electric field's homogeneity.

2.3. Histopathological Examinations

We fixed dissected right testes in formalin solution 10% for 14 days. Then, we dehydrated the tissues with graded alcohols and cleared them using xylene (Sigma-Aldrich). We then impregnated the samples with paraffin (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). We cut the sections transversely with a rotary microtome for stereology at 20 μ m and for immunohistochemical and histopathological examination at 7 μ m. We stained the sections for histopathological and stereological analyses with eosin and hematoxylin (H & E) [12]. We passed the prepared materials quickly passed through distilled water through xylol and

alcohol series and closed them with entellan. We performed the histopathological observation in the prepared materials examined with a light microscope (Leica DM 500, Wetzler, Germany)

3. Results

The control group seemed to have normal seminiferous epithelium, Leydig cells, interstitial connective tissue, and seminiferous tubules. There were vacuoles, areas without separation, and spermatogonia of spermatogenic cells from the wall of the tubule in the EF group's seminiferous tubules. However, we detected a few necrotic seminiferous tubules. In addition, the seminiferous tubules had an irregular shape and the seminiferous tubules separated occasionally from each other. Damage was observed in Leydig cells and the interstitial area in the EF group. The EF+juglone group had more regular interstitial areas. The EF + juglone group had anomalies, but fewer than those of the EF group. Spermatogenic cells were found to be separated from the tubule wall related to the epithelium disruption. In absence of spermatogonia, some vacuoles had irregularly shaped seminiferous tubules and regions.

Groups	Damage severity
EF	+++
EF + Juglone	++
Control	-

Table 1. Damage severity of groups in testis tissue



Figure 1 a. Decrease in the number of spermatogenic cells and separation of these cells from the tubule wall, EF group, H&E, X 40; **b.** Degeneration and edema in the interstitial region, EF group, H&E, X 40; **c.** Normal seminiferous tubules and normal interstitial region, Control group, H&E, X 40; **d.** Separation and mild damage to the seminiferous tubules, near-normal spermatogenic cells, EF + Juglone group, H&E, X 40.

4. Discussion

Increasing cases of male infertility are due to lifestyle and environmental factors. Electric emission and electromagnetic radiation with different frequencies biologically and genetically affecting humans result from fast technological advancement. Devices such as power lines, cell phones, and monitors lead to electromagnetic radiation as a main source of exposure. Different studies find that radiation on the male reproductive system's physiological factors such as perm parameters (viability, morphology, and motility), genomic instability, and metabolism leads to detrimental consequences. Since one cannot rule out the nonthermal and thermal interaction of nonionizing radiations with biological tissues, reactive oxygen species generation is emphasized in most studies. Redox equilibrium is altered by the oxidative stress disrupting normal functioning and morphology of sperms and declining total antioxidant capacity [13].

Over the past decades, public attention has been attracted to a possible relationship between man-made electric field and their undesirable health effects.

The aim of this study was to investigate the histopathological effects of intermittent (8 hours on/16 hours off) exposure to the electric field with horizontal low frequency on the rat testis. The exposed group was continually exposed to a 50 Hz horizontal electric field for 8 hours/day in the experiment. Several histological alterations, such as the seminiferous epithelium's necrosis, focal tubular atrophy, and degeneration were found in the exposed group's testes, but not in the control group's ones [1]. In this study, we obtained similar results in the EF group.

Khaki et al. [2] reported that the percentage of apoptotic cells was reduced after administrating extract of Ocimum basilicum (1.5 g/kg body weight) compared to the control group. Percentage of the apoptotic cells significantly increased exposure to 50 Hz of EMF. Administration of 50 Hz of EMF with extract of O. basilicum (1.5 g/kg body weight), significantly decreased the percentage of apoptotic cells from 18.12 ± 1.05 to 10.05 ± 0.01 in spermatogonia, and primary spermatocytes, from 20.11 ± 0.05 to 9.05 ± 0.05 , and vein congestion from 8 ± 0.03 to 0.5 ± 0.01 . These results show that O. basilicum protected against apoptosis caused by EMF. The negative impacts of the electric field were found to slightly decrease in the EF+juglone group due to the antioxidant activity of juglans in this study.

They randomly divided Wistar albino rats into four groups: EMF luteolin, control, and EMF + luteolin. The EMF group reduced the number of primary spermatocytes, Leydig cells, and spermatids to the control group. The EMF + luteolin group had a significantly higher number of primary spermatocytes, Leydig cells, and spermatids than the EMF group. Sperm morphology was also affected by the EMF. Repeated exposure of rat testis to 900 MHz EMF changed testicular tissue and the deleterious effects of EMF were significantly reduced by the antioxidant, luteolin[14]. We found similar results in the groups.

They divided adult male albino rats into six groups: rosemary group (receiving 5 mg/kg b.wt rosemary extract), control group, EMF (4 h) group (exposed to the magnetic field (50 Hz and 5.4 kV per meter) for 4 h), EMF (2 h) + rosemary group (receiving extract and magnetic field for 2 h), EMF (2 h) group (exposed to the magnetic field (5.4 kV and 50 Hz per meter) for 2 h), and EMF (4 h) + rosemary group (extract and magnetic field for 4 h). Their results showed the effect of rosemary leaves' ethanolic extract on pathogenic bacteria. Histological results found the inhibiting effect of the rosemary extract on the electromagnetic fields' destructive effect on testicular tissue. This research finds several useful effects of rosemary's ethanolic extract in supporting individuals ecologically contaminated with EMF [15]. In our study, juglone produced similar effects.

Exposure to electric fields causes edema, bleeding, interstitial fibrosis, the proliferation of Leydig cells, basal membrane thickening, seminiferous tubule degeneration, vascular congestion, testicular tissue tubular necrosis, and atrophy [16]. As a result, the spermatogenic epithelial layer desquamated in seminiferous tubules [17], increasing the process of destruction in cells producing steroids and changing the status of the histohaematic barrier [18]. Our results are consistent with the above-mentioned study's results: reduction of epithelial thickness, partial breaks, and basal lamina of the seminiferous tubule, interstitial area congestion and edema, a reducing interstitial connective tissue, seminiferous tubule epithelium vacuolization in the EF exposed group. In addition, serious damage in testicular tissue was observed. Morphometric examination showed the diameter of the seminiferous tubule, tunica albuginea thickness, and decreasing Levdig cell count. The present study finds serious damage to EF in testicular tissue. On the contrary, Juglone was found to provide partial protection against this damage. The use of a higher Juglone dose may be more protective against testicular damage caused by the EF. Also, our findings show the similarity of the Juglone group's morphology to that of the control group.

The study revealed apparent structural alterations in the testes, such as significantly decreasing the diameter of seminiferous tubules and the germinal epithelium's height, seminiferous tubules' irregular shape, germ cells disorganization, immature germ cells desquamations, giant multinucleated cells formation, and significantly expanding interstitium due to application of MR in utero. The transmission electron microscopy showed irregularities of the basement membrane in seminiferous tubules, the cytoplasm vacuolation, and organelles adversely affected in Sertoli cells, Leydig cells, germ cells, endothelial and peritubular cells. The adjacent Sertoli cells had often incomplete tight junctions, and experimental animals had more necrotizing germ cells than the controls. MR-exposed animals showed increasing germ cell necrotizations proved using a Fluoro-Jade C method, and the decline of the proliferation of germ cells was confirmed using the analysis of proliferating cell nuclear antigen. Their results showed the adverse effect of prenatal exposure to MR on postnatal testicular growth among rats [19]. Regions without spermatogonia and separation of spermatogenic cells from the tubule wall were found in the EF group's seminiferous tubules but few necrotic seminiferous tubules were found in our study.

They randomly divided 32 male Wistar Albino rats into four groups each with eight animals such as EF, EF + RES, RES, and control. The testes' histopathological examination showed a decrease of germ cells in the

seminiferous epithelium with interstitial tissue's vascular and edema congestion. The immunohistochemical examination increased the number of apoptotic cells. RES partially improved histopathological, immunohistochemical, and biochemical, findings in the EF + RES group. These results clearly showed damage in rat testis through EF. The damage caused by EF can be improved by RES [20]. We obtained similar results in this study.

To study the non-time-varying electric field's effect due to direct current transmission lines on testosterone synthesis, we continually exposed male ICR mice (24 h/d) to 56.3 ± 1.4 kV/m static electric field. Results showed no significant change in testicular oxidative stress indicators and serum testosterone level on the 7th day after ceasing the exposure of 28 d and on the 3rd day of exposure, The mitochondrial structure in Leydig cells could be damaged by testicular oxidative stress, reducing the cholesterol transport rate from the cytoplasm to mitochondria [21]. In this study, the damage was observed in the interstitial area and Leydig cells in the EF group. In the EF+juglone group, the interstitial area was found to be more regular.

The effect of multiple or single exposures to EMF's different doses from mobile phones on the hippocampus and testis structure in adult albino Wistar rats was studied. Spermatogenic cells had vacuolations with some abnormalities of sperm structure. There were intercellular vacuolations in the Testis, significantly decreasing seminiferous and tubules germinal epithelium thickness and significantly increasing the mean area percent of caspase-3 reaction and collagen fibers. semen analysis showed several sperm abnormalities [22]. The present showed vacuoles, regions without separation, and spermatogonia of spermatogenic cells from the tubule wall in the EF group's seminiferous tubules but detected few necrotic seminiferous tubules.

The study aimed to investigate whether the effects of a nanosecond pulsed electric field, without thermal effects, change the gene expression and molecular processes of Leydig TM3 cells permanently. We exposed the cells to an average electric field (an electric field of 14 kV/cm, 60 ns pulse width, and 80 quasi-rectangular shape pulses). We recorded the putative disturbances for 24 h. Exposure to the nanosecond pulsed electric field caused a 70% reduction in cell adhesion, a loss of microvilli, and an increase in cell diameter by 19%. the phosphatidylserine nonapoptotic externalization was found in some cells with pores in the plasma membrane. Based on the Microarray's transcriptome analysis, the gene expression involved in DNA repair, cell proliferation, oxidative phosphorylation, and the plasma membrane proteins overexpression was negatively transiently affected. It is concluded that the TM3 cells' physiology and

gene expression are affected by transiently nanosecond pulsed electric field, with cellular responses' noticeable heterogeneity[23]. This study found damage in Leydig cells and the interstitial area in the EF group. the EF+juglone group had more regular interstitial areas.

5. Conclusions

We think in the research that EF reduces sperm count and motility affecting gonadal functions. The results will contribute to both engineering and medicine fields and also contribute to this anomaly treatment. In the engineering field, electrical equipment and cables could be used healthily at workplaces and homes. They will also help determine the limits of exposure set in different countries. Due to the failure of the Juglone dose used in this study to give a complete protective effect on all testicular damage parameters as an antioxidant, using higher doses of Juglone in further studies is believed to be more protective against EF damage.

References

- Erpek, S., Bilgin, M. D., Dikicioglu, E., & Karul, A. (2007). The effects of low frequency electric field in rat testis. *Revue de médecine vétérinaire*, 158(4), 206-212.
- Khaki, A., Fathiazad, F., Nouri, M., & Khaki, A. A. (2011). Effect of Ocimum basilicum on apoptosis in testis of rats after exposure to electromagnetic field. Afr J Pharm Pharmacol, 5(12), 1534-1537.
- Baharara, J., Amini, E., Salek-Abdollahi, F., Nikdel, N., & Asadi-Samani, M. (2015). Protective effect of date palm pollen (Phoenix dactylifera) on sperm parameters and sexual hormones in male NMRI mice exposed to low frequency electromagnetic field (50 Hz). Journal of HerbMed Pharmacology, 4(3), 75-80.
- 4. Gholami, M., Ahmadi, S. A. Y., Abaszadeh, A., & Khaki, A. (2017). Protective effects of melatonin and ghrelin on spermatogenesis: A narrative review of the literature. International Journal of Reproductive Biomedicine, 15(5), 265.
- 5. Ahmad, T., & Suzuki, Y. J. (2019). Juglone in oxidative stress and cell signaling. Antioxidants, 8(4), 91.
- Zoua, V. D. P., Tamafo Fouegue, A. D., Mama, D. B., Ghogomu, J. N., & Abdoul Ntieche, R. (2022). Ability of B12N12 fullerene like nano-cage for sensing and improving the antioxidant activity of juglone and its derivative: Density functional theory investigation. International Journal of Quantum Chemistry, 122(4), e26843.
- Şenol, N., & Şahin, M. (2023). Protective Effect of Juglone (5-Hydroxy-1, 4naphthoquinone) against Iron-and Zinc-Induced Liver and Kidney Damage. Applied Sciences, 13(4), 2203.
- El-Sheikh, M., Mesalam, A., Khalil, A. A. K., Idrees, M., Ahn, M. J., Mesalam, A. A., & Kong, I. K. (2023). Downregulation of PI3K/AKT/mTOR Pathway in Juglone-Treated Bovine Oocytes. Antioxidants, 12(1), 114.
- Şenol, N., Kaya, E., Coşkun, Ö., Aslankoç, R., & Çömlekçi, S. (2023). Evaluation of the Effects of a 50 Hz Electric Field on Brain Tissue by Immunohistochemical Method, and on Blood Tissue by Biochemical, Physiological and Comet Method. Applied Sciences, 13(5), 3276.
- 10. Miller, C.J. The measurements of electric fields in live line Working. IEEE Trans. Power Appar. Syst. 1967, PAS-86, 493–498.
- Takuma, T.; Kawamoto, T.; Sunaga, Y. Analysis of calibration arrangements for AC field strength meters. IEEE Trans. Power Appar. Syst. 1985, PAS-104, 489–496.
- Bancroft, J.D. I.; Steven, A.; Turner, D.R. Theory and Practice of Histological Techniques; Churchill Livingstone: New York, NY, USA; Edinburg, UK, 1996; pp. 126–129.
- Saliev, T., Begimbetova, D., Masoud, A. R., & Matkarimov, B. (2019). Biological effects of non-ionizing electromagnetic fields: Two sides of a coin. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, 141, 25-36.
- Yahyazadeh, A., & Altunkaynak, B. Z. (2019). Protective effects of luteolin on rat testis following exposure to 900 MHz electromagnetic field. Biotechnic & Histochemistry, 94(4), 298-307.
- Gazwi, H. S., Mahmoud, M. E., & Hamed, M. M. (2020). Antimicrobial activity of rosemary leaf extracts and efficacy of ethanol extract against testicular damage caused by 50-Hz electromagnetic field in albino rats. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 27, 15798-15805.
- Erpek, S., Bilgin, M. D., Dikicioğlu, E., & Karul, A. (2007). The effects of low frequency electric field in rat testis. Revue De Medecine Veterinaire, 158, 206– 212.
- Lokhmatova, S. A., & Pastukhova, I. R. (1993). Morphologic and histoenzymologic analysis of effect of electrical fields at 17 kHz on testis and testis appendages in mice. Aerospace and Environmental Medicine, 27, 50–54.
- Lokhmatova, S. A. (1993). An ultrastructural analysis of the testes in mice subjected to long-term exposure to a 17-kHz electrical field. Radiobiologiia, 33, 342–346.
- Andrašková, S., Holovská, K., Ševčíková, Z., Andrejčáková, Z., Tóth, Š., Martončíková, M., Almášiová, V. (2022). The potential adverse effect of 2.45 GHz microwave radiation on the testes of prenatally exposed peripubertal male rats.
- Aslankoc, R., Gumral, N., Saygin, M., Senol, N., Asci, H., Cankara, F. N., & Comlekci, S. (2018). The impact of electric fields on testis physiopathology, sperm parameters and DNA integrity—The role of resveratrol. Andrologia, 50(4), e12971.
- Di, G., Xiang, J., Dong, L., & Wu, J. (2021). Testosterone synthesis in testicular Leydig cells after long-term exposure to a static electric field (SEF). Toxicology, 458, 152836.
- El-Kafoury, B., Hamam, G. G., & Ezzat, S. F. (2019). Effect of Exposure to Different Doses of Cell Phone-Electromagnetic Waves on the Hippocampus and Testis of Adult Albino Rats: A Histological Study. Egyptian journal of histology, 42(4), 956-973.
- Kasprzycka, W., Trębińska-Stryjewska, A., Lewandowski, R. B., Stępińska, M., Osuchowska, P. N., Dobrzyńska, M., ... & Trafny, E. A. (2021). Nanosecond Pulsed Electric Field Only Transiently Affects the Cellular and Molecular Processes of Leydig Cells. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 22(20), 11236.



A Beginner's Guide to Bioinformatics: Multiomics Data and Biological Databases for Drug Discovery

Selahattin Alperen Uysal¹ & Burçin Kaymaz²

¹ MD, PhDc., Ege Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Medical Biology, ORCID: 0000-0003-3777-6411 ²Assoc Prof., Ege Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Medical Biology, ORCID: 0000-0003-1832-1454 Multi-omics data is critical in drug discovery since it provides a comprehensive un-derstanding of complex biological systems and aids in the identification of therapeutic targets. Researchers can analyze genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolom-ics, as well as other molecular levels, and combine multi-omics data (Li, Yin, Zhao, & Sun, 2021; Nassar, Raddassi, & Wu, 2021). This approach gives rise to a more complete and understanding signature of how diseases work and how drugs can affect or cure them.

One of the best-gained accelerations about multi-omics data is that information from differing -omics fields can be used together or combined. This integration leads research-ers to find new or possible biomarkers, predict how well a drug can cure, determine types of cancer, and classify patients to get personalized treatment (Nassar et al., 2021). For instance, multi-omics data has been used in the field of personalized medicine to predict how drugs will work and to build up treatment strategies, especially for patients suffering from breast cancer (Khan & Shedole, 2022). By evaluating personal gene expression profiles and molecular signatures, researchers can find new or potentially therapy-specific drug targets for better treatments (Shrestha et al., 2021).

Using the obtained multi-omics data has also led to drug discovery via identifying new or candidate therapeutic targets. The Connectivity Map is an example of a web-based platform that presents options for using multiomics data for drug discovery and development. The Connectivity Map resource has enhanced drug discovery by identifying links between small molecules, diseases, and drugs by analyzing gene expression profiles of cells treated with bioactive small molecules or therapeutic agents (Lamb et al., 2006). In precision medicine, treatments are tailored to patients' molecular profiles; thus, multi-omics data is instrumental in drug discovery. The obtained data can help researchers understand disease mechanisms more clearly, find biomarkers, and develop targeted therapies with lower side effects (Shrestha et al., 2021).

Machine learning and deep learning technologies can be used to for medical prediction using multiomics data. Deep learning is a machine-learning process that has received considerable attention in a variety of fields. It is distinguished by its capacity to extract high-level abstractions from data automatically, allowing it to discover complex and nonintuitive links inside datasets (B. Wen et al., 2020). Multi-omics data combined with deep learning algorithms can predict drug combination effects and design novel biomedical nanoparticles (Gao et al., 2022).

Databases	URL	Data Type	Reference
STRING-db	https://string-db.org/	Protein-Protein Interac- tions	(Szklarczyk et al., 2023)
Reactome	https://reactome.org/	Pathways and Reactions in Human Biology	(Milacic et al., 2024)
KEGG	https://www.genome.jp/kegg/	Pathways, Genomic In- formation	(Kanehisa, Furu- michi, Sato, Kawas- hima, & Ishiguro- Watanabe, 2023)
BioGRID	https://thebiogrid.org/	Protein and Genetic In- teractions	(Oughtred et al., 2021)
IntAct	https://www.ebi.ac.uk/intact/	Protein Interactions	(del Toro et al., 2022)
neXtProt	https://www.nextprot.org/	Human Protein-centric Information	(Zahn-Zabal et al., 2019)
DrugBank	https://www.drugbank.ca/	Drug and Drug Target Information	(Knox et al., 2024)
ChEMBL	https://www.ebi.ac.uk/chembl/	Bioactive Molecule In- formation	(Davies et al., 2015; Jupp et al., 2014; Mendez et al., 2019)
STITCH	http://stitch.embl.de/	Chemical-Protein Inte- raction Networks	(Szklarczyk et al., 2016)
PubChem	https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/	Chemical Molecules and Compounds	(Kim et al., 2023)
BindingDB	https://www.bindingdb.org/bind/in- dex.jsp	Protein-Ligand Binding Affinities	(Gilson et al., 2016)
TTD	https://idrblab.net/ttd/	Drug-Target Informa- tion	(Y. Zhou et al., 2024)

Table 1. Commonly used databases to integrate different data types

The integration of multi-omics data is crucial for the development of new drugs; this gives researchers the ability to examine intricate biological systems from various angles, identify therapeutic targets, forecast drug responses, and develop novel drugs. Drug discovery and development could advance even more by incorporating machine-deep learning algorithms and multi-omics data (Gao et al., 2022). Researchers can accelerate the development of new drugs and enhance patient outcomes with the power of multi-omics data.

Graph databases have also been used to integrate heterogeneous biological data (Yoon, Kim, & Kim, 2017). The use of graph databases allows the analysis of complex biological relations, which in turn presents researchers with a powerful tool for data integration and analysis. Besides, in addition to facilitating data integration, biological databases also aid in the prediction of drug-target interactions (DTIs). Online biological databases such as KEGG, DrugBank, ChEMBL, and STITCH store and maintain information related to known drugs and drug-target interactions, providing valuable data for computational methodologies to predict DTIs (Nair, 2018).

Data-driven drug development relies on biological databases for drug, target, and interaction information (Kadowaki, Wheelock, Hattori, Goto, & Kanehisa, 2006). These databases contain a wealth of biological data for drug discovery and development research. Drug targets and pathways are important features of biological databases. The Therapeutic Target Database (TTD) is an example of a database that provides drug, target, and drug-targeted pathway information. Researchers need this information to understand drug mechanisms and therapeutic uses; however, some databases may not cover all clinical trial drugs and drug-targeted pathways (Yang et al., 2016).

Biological databases are not limited to drug-target interactions but cover a wide range of research topics. For instance, the comprehensive peptide research database Peptipedia supports machine learning techniques that demonstrate how biological databases can be used to assist a wide range of research approaches and sectors (Quiroz et al., 2021). It's crucial to remember that integrating biological databases is indeed difficult since data redundancy, duplication, and the necessity for tools specifically for validation have all been noted as critical problems (Kaisar, El-Attar, Abdelkader, & Elmashad, 2022). To ensure their dependability and value in data-driven drug development, researchers always attempt to improve the quality and security of biological databases. They are also essential for data-driven drug development because they offer useful details on medicines, targets, and their relationships with each other (Kadowaki et al., 2006). These databases serve diverse research approaches and domains by facilitating data integration, analysis, and prediction of drug-target interactions. However, to guarantee the dependability and correctness of the data produced by these databases, issues with database integration and validation need to be resolved.

Navigating Biological Databases

In order to utilize biological data for scientific study, those who are new to the field need to acquire a solid understanding of fundamental concepts and information related to databases, including different types of databases and the methods for accessing them.

The NCBI reference sequences (RefSeq) database is considered a crucial resource composed of a collection of non-repetitive sequences that include genomes, transcripts, and proteins. The dataset encompasses a diverse array of organisms and offers thorough and current information regarding sequence characteristics. The fact that the data in RefSeq records comes from numerous sources improves its accuracy and dependability (Pruitt, Tatusova, & Maglott, 2007).

Another significant resource is the Universal Protein Knowledgebase (UniProt) which serves as a centralized repository for protein sequences and comprehensive functional annotations. The integration of the Swiss-Prot and TrEMBL databases results in the creation of a comprehensive and extensively annotated knowledge base for protein sequences. UniProt additionally provides non-redundant sequence databases to facilitate efficient searching and offers a range of query interfaces to enhance accessibility to the data (Apweiler, 2004).

The European Nucleotide Archive (ENA) is a notable database and responsible for the collection and curation of nucleic acid sequences and associated data, which are essential components of the enduring scientific knowledge base (Cochrane et al., 2012). The archive provides a comprehensive data repository that facilitates the integration of diverse nucleotide sequences. ENA also intends to implement Compressed Reference-oriented Alignment Map (CRAM) data compression technology to improve the efficiency of data storage and retrieval processes. Besides, the RT-qPCR Primer Database, GenBank, and the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) Gene Database are important biological data sources in addition to the databases mentioned above (Antonaros et al., 2019; Forsman et al., 2010). Those provide specialized information and tools to support diverse research objectives, including primer design and DNA sequence analysis.

Biological databases are of paramount importance in the fields of bioinformatics and scientific inquiry. These platforms offer researchers the opportunity to access a vast amount of biological data, enabling the processes of data mining, analysis, and discovery. Researchers are strongly urged to actively participate in the sharing of data and make use of these available resources in order to further their research endeavors and make valuable contributions to the existing body of knowledge within their respective fields.

Ensuring Data Quality and Relevance

Bioinformatics is mostly about analyzing and making sense of big biological datasets, like gene expression data, protein interaction networks, and whole genome sequencing data, but not just those. Several processes have been suggested and put into place to improve the accuracy and reliability of the information; thus, the analyzed biological data should be accurate and useful.

To ensure the accuracy and relevance of data, interoperability is essential. Interoperability technology and reward mechanisms help the bioscience community create an open culture of "data commoning" (Sansone et al., 2012). Integrating data is crucial in bioinformatics research. Data from different sources and at different levels of detail can provide valuable insights and aid information extractio. However, advanced data fusion methods must be studied and developed to ensure the accuracy and reliability of insights from combined data sources (West & Ali, 2016).

Along with data quality, bioinformatics researchers must also consider biological data relevance. Bioinformatics methods are more reliable when there are replicates of accurate experimental data. However, extensive experimental data is sometimes unavailable, making simulated data essential for methodology development and evaluation. Computational bioinformatics approaches aim to create models that better represent biological processes than experimental methods. This is done to prepare for massive biological data (Sandve & Greiff, 2022).

Bioinformatics research ensures the quality and relevance of biological data by establishing protocols for data documentation and sharing, facilitating system compatibility, advancing data integration techniques, and using empirical and simulated data for method refinement and evaluation.

Data- base	Key features	Data type	URL	Reference
name				
GenBank	Sequenced nucleo- tides, annotations, and references	Genomics	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gen- bank/	(Benson et al., 2012)
RefSeq	Curated annotati- ons, standardized identifiers, and links to other data- bases	Genomics, transcripto- mics	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ref- seq/	(Brister, Ako- adjei, Bao, & Blinkova, 2015; O'Leary et al., 2016; Tatusova et al., 2016)
UniP- rotKB	Curated annotati- ons, standardized identifiers, and links to other data- bases	Proteomics	https://www.uniprot.org/help/unip- rotkb	(Apweiler, 2004)
Protein Data Bank, PDB	Atomic coordina- tes, annotations, and references	Structural biology	https://www.rcsb.org/	(Burley et al., 2023)
KEGG	Graphical maps of pathways, links to other databases, and tools for data analysis	Genomics, transcripto- mics, prote- omics, me- tabolomics	https://www.genome.jp/kegg/	(Kanehisa et al., 2023)
GO	Standardized voca- bulary for descri- bing gene function	Genomics	https://geneontology.org/	(Ashburner et al., 2000)
Ensembl	Genes, transcripts, regulatory ele- ments, and other genomic features	Genomics, transcripto- mics	https://www.ensembl.org/in- dex.html	(Martin et al., 2023)
NCBI Taxo- nomy	Scientific names, taxonomic ranks, and links to other databases	Genomics	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/taxo- nomy	(Schoch et al., 2020)
Arra- yExpress	Graphical maps of pathways, links to other databases, and tools for data	Transcrip- tomics	https://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/	(Parkinson et al., 2011)

	analysis			
Gene Expres- sion Om- nibus	Graphical maps of pathways, links to other databases, and tools for data analysis	Transcrip- tomics	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/	(Barrett et al., 2012)
Human Protein Atlas (HPA)	Protein expression data, protein struc- ture data, and other proteomic infor- mation	Proteomics	https://www.proteinatlas.org/	(Uhlen et al., 2010)
miRBase	MicroRNA data, microRNA expres- sion data, and other microRNA infor- mation	Transcrip- tomics	https://mirbase.org/	(Kozomara, Birgaoanu, & Griffiths-Jones, 2019)
InterPro	Protein domain and functional site annotations, links to other databases, and tools for data analysis	Proteomics	https://www.ebi.ac.uk/interpro/	(Blum et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2014)
NextProt	Protein sequences, annotations, and references, links to other databases, and tools for data analysis	Proteomics	https://www.nextprot.org/	(Zahn-Zabal et al., 2019)
OMIM	Human gene and genetic disorder in- formation, links to other databases, and tools for data analysis	Genomics	https://omim.org/	(Amberger, Bocchini, Scott, & Hamosh, 2019)
ClinVar (Clinical Variant)	Human genetic va- riant and phe- notype informa- tion, links to other databases, and to- ols for data analy- sis	Genomics	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/clin- var/	(Landrum et al., 2014)

Table 2. Commonly used biological databases. From Data to Insights

The process of gaining entry to biological databases and retrieving biological data holds significant importance for researchers. Multiple databases are accessible that offer maintained and non-duplicated collections of genomes, transcripts, and proteins. The NCBI Reference Sequences (RefSeq) database is a highly utilized and widely used database (Pruitt et al., 2007). The collection contains sequences from prokaryotic, eukaryotic, and viral genomes. The RefSeq records provide a complete picture of the sequence and its characteristics by combining data from multiple sources. The database contains coding areas, conserved domains, tRNAs, and variations.

UniProt stores protein sequences and functional annotations. The Swiss-Prot, TrEMBL, and PIR protein databases are combined to create a comprehensive and thoroughly annotated protein sequence knowledge base. UniProt's non-redundant sequence databases simplify searches. The databases are available online or in various file formats (The UniProt Consortium, 2007).

The European Nucleotide Archive (ENA) is a major repository for nucleic acid sequences and related data (Cochrane et al., 2012). The permanent scientific archive relies on ENA to collect, maintain, and present enormous sequencing data. With a programmable interface for accessing and managing integrated data, the system centralizes data.

Researchers have the opportunity to utilize web-based interfaces or tools that facilitate the retrieval of data from remote database servers (A. Moftah, M. Maatuk, & White, 2018). Users can efficiently and accurately search for biological entities using these technologies.

Biological databases are crucial to biological research since they provide easy access to a wealth of information (Bader, 2006). These tools play an important role in enabling the processes of data mining, analysis, and the identification of novel therapeutic approaches for genetic disorders (Villalba & Matte, 2021).

RefSeq, UniProt, and ENA provide carefully curated sequences and annotations without redundancy. Web-based interfaces, tools, and R packages allow scholars to study the obtained data. The utilization of databases and technologies plays a significant role in the progression of biological research and the acquisition of novel insights within the discipline. Based on the statistical programming language R, the Bioconductor project provides a diverse set of interoperable packages for high-throughput genetic and bioinformatics analysis (Huber et al., 2015). The process of preparing biological data for analysis in bioinformatics investigations includes multiple phases aimed at ensuring data quality and reducing complexity. Managing missing data is important in research since this can occur for a number of reasons, such as a mistake in an experiment or an unexpected response from a gene (Yi & Latch, 2022).

In addition, to effectively handle the issue of missing data, it is imperative to accurately account for the presence of heterogeneity in gene expression research. It is important to be integrated into preprocessing techniques for biological data to enhance its informational value. To obtain normalized data that accurately represents metabolite concentrations, various data preparation techniques, including centering, scaling, and transformations, are implemented (Van Den Berg, Hoefsloot, Westerhuis, Smilde, & Van Der Werf, 2006). The aforementioned clean data can thereafter be utilized as input for subsequent investigations.

In the realm of bioinformatics studies, the process of readying biological data for analysis encompasses several key tasks, namely the handling of missing data, the consideration of heterogeneity, and the assurance of data quality through the implementation of preprocessing and sample preparation methodologies. The steps mentioned are very important for making sure that biological data analysis is accurate, worthy, and reliable (Fowler, San Lucas, & Scheet, 2019).



Figure 1. Multiomics data usage steps for drug discovery

Integrating Multiomics Data

Integrating multi-omics data stands for putting together different types of biological data, making sense of how they are connected, and making data presentation easier. This procedure is critical for acquiring a full understanding of complex biological systems and deriving useful insights from the enormous gene and protein lists generated by high-throughput genomic research (Huang, Sherman, & Lempicki, 2009). However, analyzing and visualizing multi-set crossings, which are critical for comprehending complicated relations, can be difficult and inefficient. To overcome this, researchers developed theoretical frameworks and methods for quickly computing the statistical distributions and accurate probabilities of multi-set intersections. Scalable approaches and software packages were put in service for visualizing multi-set intersections, and the statistics were also associated with them (M. Wang, Zhao, & Zhang, 2015). Additionally, bioinformatics assistance and packages such as DAVID and ToppGene Suite are accessible and provide tools for gene list enrichment analysis, functional annotation, and candidate gene prioritization (J. Chen, Bardes, Aronow, & Jegga, 2009; Huang et al., 2009).

Visualization is critical in the analysis and comprehension of omics-scale data because it allows for the creation of clear and integrated representations that reveal biological insights (Gehlenborg et al., 2010). Multiomics data integration provides a variety of applications in biomedical research, including tailored complicated disease therapy and drug and drug target discovery. However, suitable models and databases that can handle the heterogeneity of the data and allow for quick retrieval of essential information are required for the integration and analysis of multiomics data (Thapa & Ali, 2021). In general, putting together multi-omics data means combining, analyzing, and displaying different types of biological data to fully understand complex biological systems and comprehend important highlights.



Figure 2. Biological data integration steps

Target and Biomarker Identification

Finding drug targets and biomarkers is an important step in the process of making new drugs and personalized medicine. The powerful methods of proteomics and metabolomics are used in these processes. Proteomics, which is the large-scale study of proteins, has been widely used to reveal possible drug targets. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics is a practical tool in this area by making it possible to find and measure thousands of proteins in complicated samples, which in turn leads the scientists to understand more about how proteins interact with each other, how organelles are organized, and how proteins behave (Aebersold & Mann, 2003). By searching the proteome, researchers can discover proteins that are dysregulated in various diseases that can be utilized as drug targets.

On the other hand, metabolomics studies how metabolites behave in biological processes and has become a useful tool for discovering biomarkers (Johnson, Ivanisevic, & Siuzdak, 2016). Metabolomic analyses can uncover small changes and differences in biological pathways, triggering them to explain how different physiological states and diseases work. By comparing the metabolomic profiles of healthy people and patients, researchers can find specific metabolites that are linked to diseases and may be used as biomarkers for diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment reactions. Both proteomics and metabolomics deal with high-tech tools and computer-based methods. Mass spectrometry is widely used in proteomics since it is necessary to identify and measure proteins. New developments in informatics and analytical tools have made it more efficiently possible to analyze the obtained data via metabolomic analyses. In both areas, computational integration of different sources of knowledge is also important since it is easier to comprehend complex data and encounter possible drug targets (X. Wang, Yang, Sun, & Zhang, 2012).

Overall, proteomics and metabolomics are useful tools for discovering new drug targets and biomarkers that are in progress. Proteomics shows how proteins become out of balance in diseases, while metabolomics shows how metabolic processes vary in diseases. By using these methods together, researchers can learn more about how diseases work, and combining multi-omics data builds up different types of biological data, figuring out how they are related and how the data are linked together. This process is essential for understanding complex biological systems and getting useful information from large lists of genes and proteins from high-throughput genomic experiments. If the multiomics data are combined, the biological themes and relations can be understood more deeply. It is hard and not scalable to analyze and show multi-set linkages, which are important for understanding complex connections. To overcome this, researchers have come up with theoretical frameworks and methods for quickly figuring out the statistical distributions and accurate probabilities of multi-set intersections (M. Wang et al., 2015).

Molecular Design and Virtual Drug Screening

Drug development approaches include the use of molecular drug docking and virtual drug screening. While molecular drug docking is used to anticipate the binding affinity and orientation of a small molecule drug candidate with its target protein, virtual drug screening uses computer approaches to find prospective drug candidates from huge chemical libraries. AutoDock4 is a popular program for virtual drug screening and molecular docking that takes into account the receptor's limited flexibility. It has undergone thorough testing and validation, including cross-docking studies employing flexible sidechains and redocking experiments (Morris et al., 2009).

Finding prospective therapeutic candidates with high binding affinity to the target protein is the aim of virtual drug screening. Several methods, like pharmacophore-based docking and machine learning-based classification models, can be used to accomplish this. Pharmacophore models can improve the precision and dependability of molecular docking-based virtual screening (Dong, Deng, & Xiao, 2011). The prediction accuracy of active chemicals in docking conformations can be improved by machine learning techniques (Berishvili, Voronkov, Radchenko, & Palyulin, 2018). Molecular drug docking is the process of figuring out how and where a small molecule drug candidate will bind to its target protein. This can be done by utilizing different docking techniques, such as AutoDock (Rauf, Zubair, & Azhar, 2015). Covalent docking is another important part of molecular drug docking. It involves creating a covalent link between the drug candidate and the target protein (Scholz, Knorr, Hamacher, & Schmidt, 2015).

Molecular drug docking and virtual drug screening are crucial methods for developing new drugs. To determine possible drug candidates and forecast their affinities for binding with target proteins, computational approaches are used. They can be more accurate and reliable with the help of pharmacophore-based docking and machine learning-based categorization models, among other things. These methods have been used in many aspects of drug discovery and development, which has sped up and made drug development more affordable.

The studies of molecular design can be categorized into three primary domains, which serve as focal points for novice researchers. The three primary stages in the drug discovery process include target identification and validation, lead compound identification, and lead compound optimization. By utilizing multisomics data, it is possible to gain insights into the involvement of specific molecules or genes in the pathogenesis of diseases (Anzenbacher & Zanger, 2012). The comprehension of the arrangement and operation of specific molecules enables the development of lead compounds capable of engaging with said molecules (Grant, 2009). The optimization of lead compounds aims to enhance their efficacy, minimize toxicity, and improve their pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties (Singh, 2006). An additional advantage of multiomics data lies in its potential to offer insights into the metabolic processes of compounds (Ma, O. Kiesewetter, Lang, Gu, & Chen, 2010).

Various tools are employed by researchers to identify drug targets through the analysis of multiomics data. Despite the continuous growth in the number of available tools, it is imperative for researchers interested in investigating drug discovery and development using multi-omics data to familiarize themselves with the commonly used open-source tools. Table 3 provides a summary of widely recognized tools that play a significant role in the process of drug target identification.

The identification of lead compounds in the field of drug discovery is a critical stage that necessitates the utilization of a range of tools and techniques to screen libraries of compounds and determine potential chemical indicators or initial targets for drug development efforts. Various techniques and procedures have been utilized to achieve this objective, encompassing whole-organism phenotype screening, in vitro model technology, pharmacophore modeling, high-throughput screening (HTS) assays, virtual screening, and structure-based approaches. The primary objective of these tools is to enhance the probability of identifying lead compounds that exhibit success, minimize the rates of drug attrition, and expedite the overall drug discovery process (Lin, 2022).

The process of identifying lead compounds in drug discovery consists of the application of a wide range of tools and technologies. These include wholeorganism phenotype screening, pharmacophore modeling, high-throughput screening assays, virtual screening, structure-based approaches, metabolite identification, and toxicology assays. The mentioned tools collectively aim to enhance the efficiency and rate of success in identifying lead compounds, thereby ultimately facilitating the acceleration of the drug discovery process.

New researchers may encounter a term regarding ADMET analysis. The term in question refers to a fundamental aspect of the drug discovery procedure, which centers on comprehending the Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, Excretion, and Toxicity characteristics of a prospective drug compound. The significance of conducting this testing cannot be overstated, as the efficacy of a compound against a specific target alone does not guarantee success in subsequent phases of drug development due to the potential negative impact of inadequate ADMET properties (Pantaleão, Fernandes, Gonçalves, Maltarollo, & Honorio, 2022).

ADMET analysis refers to a set of procedures that examine the absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and toxicity of a substance. Each letter in the acronym represents one of these processes (Muscifa, Sumaryada, Ambarsari, & Wahyudi, 2022).

The process of absorption refers to the uptake of drugs or molecules into the tissues and cells from the bloodstream. Insufficient absorption of a drug can impede its ability to attain a therapeutically effective concentration within the target tissue (Patel, Kumar, Rawal, Thaker, & Pandya, 2020). The utilization of in vitro and in vivo analysis yields valuable insights into this particular process.

Distribution is a crucial aspect that requires assessment in the drug discovery process through the utilization of multiomics data. This procedure explains the mechanisms by which a drug diffuses throughout the various compartments of the body and ultimately reaches its intended site of action (Penner, Xu, & Prakash, 2012). To achieve therapeutic efficacy, a drug needs to reach a sufficiently elevated concentration at its intended site within the body, while conversely minimizing its accumulation in non-target tissues to mitigate potential adverse reactions. The utilization of animal studies and nuclear medicine methodologies is of significant importance for this analysis.

Every molecule that enters the human body will undergo metabolism at some point. Therefore, acquiring knowledge regarding the metabolic pathways of a drug is of utmost significance (Amado, Woodley, Cristiano, & O'Neill, 2022. The metabolism of drugs occurs predominantly through enzymatic processes in the hepatic system. The comprehension of a drug's metabolism facilitates the anticipation of its potential interactions with other pharmaceutical substances. Both in vitro and in vivo studies offer valuable insights into the metabolic aspects of ADMET analysis as well as the in silico studies (Zhang et al., 2022).

The removal of drugs from the human body is ultimately determined by the process of excretion. The human body possesses mechanisms that prevent the accumulation of chemicals, drugs, and foreign inorganic/organic substances within its tissues. The elimination of drugs or their metabolites from the body typically occurs via renal excretion (urine) or fecal excretion (stool). Animal

studies are conducted to ascertain the primary pathway of excretion and the halflife of a drug (Luo et al., 2010).

Toxicity testing is the final step in the ADMET analysis. Toxicity testing is critical given that the lower the toxicity, the less harm to the patients. A drug must be safe at its therapeutic dose, and understanding toxicity is critical for calculating the therapeutic index (the toxic dose to effective dose ratio). Toxicity is assessed using in vitro and in vivo tests, as well as in silico methods such as QSAR (Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship) modeling (Strikwold et al., 2017)

Cate- gory	Tool	Description	For more information	Referen- ces
Geno- mics	NCBI BLAST	Aligns sequences to find regions of si- milarity, identif- ying gene variati- ons related to disea- ses.	https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi	(Boratyn et al., 2012)
Geno- mics	Ensembl Genome Browser	Enables users ac- cess to genomic data and annotati- ons, which are helpful in locating genetic targets.	https://www.ensembl.org	(McLa- ren et al., 2016)
Transc- riptomics	Cufflinks	Utilizes the RNA- Seq data analysis to discover novel ge- nes and compre- hend gene expres- sion levels, frequ- ently in relation to various diseases or therapies.	https://cole-trapnell- lab.github.io/cufflinks	(Trapnell et al., 2013)
Transc- riptomics	DESeq2	A statistical pac- kage for determi- ning differential expression in digi- tal gene expression data using a model based on the nega- tive binomial distri- bution.	https://bioconductor.org/packages/de- vel/bioc/manuals/DESeq2/man/DE- Seq2.pdf	(Love, Huber, & Anders, 2014)
Metabo- lomics	MetaboA- nalyst	A comprehensive	https://www.metaboanalyst.ca/	(Pang,

	including pathway analysis and bio- marker identifica- tion.		Li, & Xia, 2020)
ChEMBL	A database of bio- active drug-like small molecules; it includes compound bioactivity data against drug tar- gets.	https://www.ebi.ac.uk/chembl/	(Davies et al., 2015; Mendez et al., 2019)
DrugBank	Provides detailed drug data, including chemical, pharma- cological, and phar- maceutical data with comprehen- sive drug target in- formation.	https://drugbank.com/	(Knox et al., 2024)
Human Protein At- las	Contains informa- tion on protein expression across various tissues and organs in the hu- man body, which is useful for identif- ying potential tar- gets.	https://www.proteinatlas.org/	(Uhlen et al., 2010)
	ChEMBL DrugBank Human Protein At- las	analysis and bio- marker identifica- tion.ChEMBLA database of bio- active drug-like small molecules; it includes compound bioactivity data against drug tar- gets.DrugBankProvides detailed drug data, including chemical, pharma- cological, and phar- maceutical data with comprehen- sive drug target in- formation.HumanContains informa- tion on protein expression across various tissues and organs in the hu- man body, which is useful for identif- ying potential tar- gets.B. The tools commonly used for mutable	analysis and bio- marker identifica- tion. A database of bio- active drug-like small molecules; it includes compound bioactivity data against drug tar- gets. https://www.ebi.ac.uk/chembl/ DrugBank Provides detailed drug data, including chemical, pharma- cological, and phar- maceutical data with comprehen- sive drug target in- formation. https://drugbank.com/ Human Contains informa- tion on protein expression across various tissues and organs in the hu- las https://www.proteinatlas.org/ But Human A component used for multionnics data associated drug target identification

The process of drug target validation holds significant importance in guaranteeing the effectiveness and safety of prospective pharmaceuticals. Initially, it is crucial to identify the direct involvement of the target in the disease process (Finan et al., 2017). This involves determining the link between the target and the disease, which can be accomplished through a range of experimental and computational techniques. Moreover, it is critical to demonstrate the impact of target modification on disease biomarkers and endpoints, as this constitutes a crucial facet of target validation (Kremmidiotis & Lavranos, 2005). This step entails demonstrating the effect of modifying the target on the disease, thereby demonstrating the target's relevance in the disease process.

Drug targets must be thoroughly investigated, the relationship between the target and the disease must be established, the effects of target perturbation on disease biomarkers and endpoints must be shown, and sophisticated experimental technology platforms must be used. The successful development of safe and effective medications depends on following these procedures (X.-D. Zhou et al., 2022).

The process of structure-based drug design (SBDD) involves various essential stages, which encompass the retrieval and preparation of protein structures, the preparation of a library of ligands, docking, and the structural modification of the most promising compound to facilitate the design of novel compounds (Ibrahim et al., 2020). The utilization of SBDD methods, such as molecular docking simulations and de novo drug design, plays a crucial role in contemporary medicinal chemistry. These methods facilitate the expedited and cost-effective identification of potential lead compounds, surpassing the capabilities of conventional approaches (Batool, Ahmad, & Choi, 2019). Moreover, the determination of ligand-binding sites on the protein surface plays a pivotal role in structure-based drug design (Evteev, Ereshchenko, & Ivanenkov, 2023).

The SBDD pipeline incorporates a range of computational and experimental methodologies, such as docking algorithms, homology modeling, and X-ray crystallography, with the aim of facilitating the logical development of potential drug candidates (Aggarwal & Koes, 2020). In addition, the procedure encompasses the assessment of the desired framework and the essential inquiries to contemplate when selecting an approach for the discovery and evaluation of drug leads (Anderson, 2003).

Furthermore, the application of Structure-Based Drug Design (SBDD) has been utilized to effectively target and combat specific therapeutic requirements. For instance, it has been employed in the creation of inhibitors for the main protease of the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), thereby emphasizing its pivotal contribution in tackling evolving health crises (Nandi, Kumar, & Saxena, 2024). The utilization of this technique has also been observed in the development of pharmaceuticals for neurological disorders, highlighting its adaptability in tackling various medical conditions (Aarthy, Panwar, Selvaraj, & Singh, 2017).

The utilization of computational methods, machine learning, and deep learning to integrate and analyze intricate biological and chemical data has led to the emergence of virtual screening for drug discovery with multi-omics data. This approach shows great potential in the field. The significance of virtual screening in modern drug discovery is underscored by the potential of multi-omics data in identifying therapeutic targets, addressing biomedical objectives, and advancing precision medicine.

The utilization of multiomics data in virtual screening for drug discovery has emerged as a crucial technique in the field of pharmacogenomics. This approach has gained significance, particularly in light of the growing number of pharmaceutical targets resulting from the sequencing of the human genome (Bissantz, Folkers, & Rognan, 2000). The use of multiomics data in early stages of drug discovery projects has been highlighted as a promising approach (Prasasty & Istyastono, 2019). In addition, the utilization of deep learning-based techniques for integrating multiomics data has demonstrated promise in the field of biomedicine, particularly in the domain of drug discovery (Y. Wen et al., 2023).

Virtual screening, particularly molecular docking, has been recognized as a valuable tool for the identification of bioactive compounds in the context of drug discovery, complementing high throughput screening (HTS) (Rudrapal & Chetia, 2020). Furthermore, computer-assisted virtual screening has been recognized for reducing the cost and time required for drug discovery, with in silico approaches becoming more efficient and cost-effective (Zucca, Scutera, & Savoia, 2013). Furthermore, by predicting molecular properties, machine-learning algorithms have shown promising results in virtual screening for automated drug discovery (Korotcov, Tkachenko, Russo, & Ekins, 2017).

Challenges



Figure 3. Challenges of Multi-omics Data Usage

By giving researchers access to a wealth of knowledge on pharmaceuticals, drug targets, and drug activities, biological databases serve a critical role in drug discovery and development (Wishart et al., 2008). However, leveraging these databases comes with several difficulties. The enormous amount of data included in these databases presents one of the key difficulties. It may be challenging for researchers to sort through and extract pertinent facts from this volume of data. Additionally, it is difficult to stay up to speed on the most recent information because the material in these databases is always being updated and increased.

The integration of various datasets from multiple sources is another issue. Biological databases contain genomic, proteomics, and chemical data. Integrating numerous data sources and finding trends can be difficult. Chem2Bio2RDF, which links data from systems chemistry, biology, and chemogenomics, is one way that this problem has been partly solved (B. Chen et al., 2010).

Furthermore, it is essential to guarantee the reliability and correctness of the data in biological databases. Even though the data has been curated and validated, mistakes and inconsistencies might still happen. To assure the data's accuracy, researchers must critically assess it and cross-reference it with information from other trustworthy sources.

The usability and accessibility of these databases provide another difficulty. Although many biological databases are readily accessible, using them efficiently and extracting the necessary information may necessitate specific knowledge and abilities. To enable effective data retrieval and analysis, user-friendly interfaces and strong search features are crucial (Wishart et al., 2008).

Biological databases offer significant knowledge for drug discovery and development, but there are still several difficulties that researchers must overcome. The integration of many types of data, the volume and complexity of the data, its quality and dependability, and the database's accessibility and usefulness are a few of these. These issues must be resolved to fully utilize biological databases in advancing drug research and development.

Biological databases and bioinformatics are essential tools in drug discovery's fast-changing, data-driven world. This overview informs beginners on how to navigate this evolving landscape and use multi-omics data for drug development.

Our journey has aimed to guide how to simplify the complexity, from the basics of biological databases to the art of retrieving data and putting it all together. This review tends to enable beginners to navigate the multi-omics world. Target identification, biomarker discovery, and chemical screening have been facilitated for beginners. Integration barriers and emphasized ethical problems in this emerging industry have been pointed out with beginner-friendly solutions. This review provides insights into the trends and breakthroughs that will build up bioinformatics in drug discovery as technology advances. Interdisciplinary collaboration is the foundation of scientific advancement, and this review encourages all researchers, regardless of their field, to embrace it. This trip strengthens the biological-computational interface, advancing medication development and improving patient care.

REFERENCES

- A. Moftah, R., M. Maatuk, A., & White, R. (2018). Performance Evaluation of Structured and Semi-Structured Bioinformatics Tools: A Comparative Study. *International Journal of Software Engineering & Applications*, 9(5), 27–42. https://doi.org/10.5121/ijsea.2018.9503
- Aarthy, M., Panwar, U., Selvaraj, C., & Singh, S. K. (2017). Advantages of Structure-Based Drug Design Approaches in Neurological Disorders. *Current Neurop*harmacology, 15(8). https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X15666170102145257
- Aebersold, R., & Mann, M. (2003). Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. *Nature*, 422(6928), 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01511
- Aggarwal, R., & Koes, D. R. (2020, March 3). Learning RMSD to Improve Protein-Ligand Scoring and Pose Selection. Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.26434/chemrxiv.11910870.v2
- Amado, P. S. M., Woodley, C., Cristiano, M. L. S., & O'Neill, P. M. (2022). Recent Advances of DprE1 Inhibitors against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: Computational Analysis of Physicochemical and ADMET Properties. ACS Omega, 7(45), 40659–40681. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.2c05307
- Amberger, J. S., Bocchini, C. A., Scott, A. F., & Hamosh, A. (2019). OMIM.org: Leveraging knowledge across phenotype–gene relationships. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D1038–D1043. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1151
- Anderson, A. C. (2003). The Process of Structure-Based Drug Design. Chemistry & Biology, 10(9), 787–797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2003.09.002
- Antonaros, F., Olivucci, G., Cicchini, E., Ramacieri, G., Pelleri, M. C., Vitale, L., ... Caracausi, M. (2019). *MTHFR* C677T polymorphism analysis: A simple, effective restriction enzyme-based method improving previous protocols. *Molecular Genetics & Genomic Medicine*, 7(5), e628. https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.628
- Anzenbacher, P., & Zanger, U. M. (Eds.). (2012). Front Matter. In *Metabolism of Drugs* and Other Xenobiotics (1st ed.). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527630905.fmatter
- Apweiler, R. (2004). UniProt: The Universal Protein knowledgebase. Nucleic Acids Research, 32(90001), 115D – 119. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkh131
- Ashburner, M., Ball, C. A., Blake, J. A., Botstein, D., Butler, H., Cherry, J. M., ... Sherlock, G. (2000). Gene Ontology: Tool for the unification of biology. *Nature Genetics*, 25(1), 25–29. https://doi.org/10.1038/75556
- Bader, G. D. (2006). Pathguide: A Pathway Resource List. Nucleic Acids Research, 34(90001), D504–D506. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkj126
- Barrett, T., Wilhite, S. E., Ledoux, P., Evangelista, C., Kim, I. F., Tomashevsky, M., ... Soboleva, A. (2012). NCBI GEO: Archive for functional genomics data sets—

update. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(D1), D991–D995. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1193

- Batool, M., Ahmad, B., & Choi, S. (2019). A Structure-Based Drug Discovery Paradigm. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 20(11), 2783. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20112783
- Benson, D. A., Cavanaugh, M., Clark, K., Karsch-Mizrachi, I., Lipman, D. J., Ostell, J., & Sayers, E. W. (2012). GenBank. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(D1), D36–D42. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1195
- Berishvili, V. P., Voronkov, A. E., Radchenko, E. V., & Palyulin, V. A. (2018). Machine Learning Classification Models to Improve the Docking-based Screening: A Case of PI3K-Tankyrase Inhibitors. *Molecular Informatics*, 37(11), 1800030. https://doi.org/10.1002/minf.201800030
- Bissantz, C., Folkers, G., & Rognan, D. (2000). Protein-Based Virtual Screening of Chemical Databases. 1. Evaluation of Different Docking/Scoring Combinations. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 43(25), 4759–4767. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm0010441
- Blum, M., Chang, H.-Y., Chuguransky, S., Grego, T., Kandasaamy, S., Mitchell, A., ... Finn, R. D. (2021). The InterPro protein families and domains database: 20 years on. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(D1), D344–D354. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa977
- Boratyn, G. M., Schäffer, A. A., Agarwala, R., Altschul, S. F., Lipman, D. J., & Madden, T. L. (2012). Domain enhanced lookup time accelerated BLAST. *Biology Direct*, 7(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6150-7-12
- Brister, J. R., Ako-adjei, D., Bao, Y., & Blinkova, O. (2015). NCBI Viral Genomes Resource. Nucleic Acids Research, 43(D1), D571–D577. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku1207
- Burley, S. K., Bhikadiya, C., Bi, C., Bittrich, S., Chao, H., Chen, L., ... Zardecki, C. (2023). RCSB Protein Data Bank (RCSB.org): Delivery of experimentally-determined PDB structures alongside one million computed structure models of proteins from artificial intelligence/machine learning. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 51(D1), D488–D508. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac1077
- Chen, B., Dong, X., Jiao, D., Wang, H., Zhu, Q., Ding, Y., & Wild, D. J. (2010). Chem2Bio2RDF: A semantic framework for linking and data mining chemogenomic and systems chemical biology data. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 11(1), 255. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-11-255
- Chen, J., Bardes, E. E., Aronow, B. J., & Jegga, A. G. (2009). ToppGene Suite for gene list enrichment analysis and candidate gene prioritization. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37(Web Server), W305–W311. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkp427

- Cochrane, G., Alako, B., Amid, C., Bower, L., Cerdeño-Tárraga, A., Cleland, I., ... Zalunin, V. (2012). Facing growth in the European Nucleotide Archive. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(D1), D30–D35. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1175
- Davies, M., Nowotka, M., Papadatos, G., Dedman, N., Gaulton, A., Atkinson, F., ... Overington, J. P. (2015). ChEMBL web services: Streamlining access to drug discovery data and utilities. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 43(W1), W612–W620. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv352
- del Toro, N., Shrivastava, A., Ragueneau, E., Meldal, B., Combe, C., Barrera, E., ... Hermjakob, H. (2022). The IntAct database: Efficient access to fine-grained molecular interaction data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *50*(D1), D648–D653. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab1006
- Dong, G., Deng, X. J., & Xiao, J. H. (2011). On the Integration of Pharmacophore Model and Molecular Docking Method. *Journal of Algorithms & Computational Technology*, 5(1), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1260/1748-3018.5.1.129
- Evteev, S. A., Ereshchenko, A. V., & Ivanenkov, Y. A. (2023). SiteRadar: Utilizing Graph Machine Learning for Precise Mapping of Protein–Ligand-Binding Sites. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 63(4), 1124–1132. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jcim.2c01413
- Finan, C., Gaulton, A., Kruger, F. A., Lumbers, R. T., Shah, T., Engmann, J., ... Casas, J. P. (2017). The druggable genome and support for target identification and validation in drug development. *Science Translational Medicine*, 9(383), eaag1166. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aag1166
- Forsman, Z. H., Concepcion, G. T., Haverkort, R. D., Shaw, R. W., Maragos, J. E., & Toonen, R. J. (2010). Ecomorph or Endangered Coral? DNA and Microstructure Reveal Hawaiian Species Complexes: Montipora dilatata/flabellata/turgescens & M. patula/verrilli. *PLoS ONE*, 5(12), e15021. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015021
- Fowler, J., San Lucas, F. A., & Scheet, P. (2019). System for Quality-Assured Data Analysis: Flexible, reproducible scientific workflows. *Genetic Epidemiology*, 43(2), 227–237. https://doi.org/10.1002/gepi.22178
- Gao, B., Huang, Y., Peng, C., Lin, B., Liao, Y., Bian, C., ... Shi, Q. (2022). High-Throughput Prediction and Design of Novel Conopeptides for Biomedical Research and Development. *BioDesign Research*, 2022, 9895270. https://doi.org/10.34133/2022/9895270
- Gehlenborg, N., O'Donoghue, S. I., Baliga, N. S., Goesmann, A., Hibbs, M. A., Kitano, H., ... Gavin, A.-C. (2010). Visualization of omics data for systems biology. *Nature Methods*, 7(S3), S56–S68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1436
- Gilson, M. K., Liu, T., Baitaluk, M., Nicola, G., Hwang, L., & Chong, J. (2016). BindingDB in 2015: A public database for medicinal chemistry, computational chemistry and systems pharmacology. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), D1045– D1053. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1072

- Grant, M. (2009). Protein Structure Prediction in Structure-Based Ligand Design and Virtual Screening. Combinatorial Chemistry & High Throughput Screening, 12(10), 940–960. https://doi.org/10.2174/138620709789824718
- Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T., & Lempicki, R. A. (2009). Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nature Protocols*, 4(1), 44–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.211
- Huber, W., Carey, V. J., Gentleman, R., Anders, S., Carlson, M., Carvalho, B. S., ... Morgan, M. (2015). Orchestrating high-throughput genomic analysis with Bioconductor. *Nature Methods*, 12(2), 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3252
- Johnson, C. H., Ivanisevic, J., & Siuzdak, G. (2016). Metabolomics: Beyond biomarkers and towards mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 17(7), 451– 459. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.25
- Jones, P., Binns, D., Chang, H.-Y., Fraser, M., Li, W., McAnulla, C., ... Hunter, S. (2014). InterProScan 5: Genome-scale protein function classification. *Bioinformatics*, 30(9), 1236–1240. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu031
- Jupp, S., Malone, J., Bolleman, J., Brandizi, M., Davies, M., Garcia, L., ... Jenkinson, A. M. (2014). The EBI RDF platform: Linked open data for the life sciences. *Bioinformatics*, 30(9), 1338–1339. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btt765
- Kadowaki, T., Wheelock, C. E., Hattori, M., Goto, S., & Kanehisa, M. (2006). Structureactivity relationships and pathway analysis of biological degradation processes. *Journal of Pesticide Science*, 31(3), 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1584/jpestics.31.273
- Kaisar, M., El-Attar, N., Abdelkader, W., & Elmashad, S. (2022). Perspectives review and Challenges in Biological Databases Integration. *Alfarama Journal of Basic* & *Applied Sciences*, 0(0), 0–0. https://doi.org/10.21608/ajbas.2022.105632.1078
- Kanehisa, M., Furumichi, M., Sato, Y., Kawashima, M., & Ishiguro-Watanabe, M. (2023). KEGG for taxonomy-based analysis of pathways and genomes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 51(D1), D587–D592. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac963
- Khan, D., & Shedole, S. (2022). Leveraging Deep Learning Techniques and Integrated Omics Data for Tailored Treatment of Breast Cancer. *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, 12(5), 674. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm12050674
- Kim, S., Chen, J., Cheng, T., Gindulyte, A., He, J., He, S., ... Bolton, E. E. (2023). PubChem 2023 update. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 51(D1), D1373–D1380. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac956
- Knox, C., Wilson, M., Klinger, C. M., Franklin, M., Oler, E., Wilson, A., ... Wishart, D.
 S. (2024). DrugBank 6.0: The DrugBank Knowledgebase for 2024. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 52(D1), D1265–D1275. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkad976

- Korotcov, A., Tkachenko, V., Russo, D. P., & Ekins, S. (2017). Comparison of Deep Learning With Multiple Machine Learning Methods and Metrics Using Diverse Drug Discovery Data Sets. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 14(12), 4462–4475. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.7b00578
- Kozomara, A., Birgaoanu, M., & Griffiths-Jones, S. (2019). miRBase: From microRNA sequences to function. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D155–D162. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1141
- Kremmidiotis, G., & Lavranos, T. C. (2005). Discovery and validation of drug targets for tumour angiogenesis. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, 9(2), 211– 215. https://doi.org/10.1517/14728222.9.2.211
- Lamb, J., Crawford, E. D., Peck, D., Modell, J. W., Blat, I. C., Wrobel, M. J., ... Golub, T. R. (2006). The Connectivity Map: Using Gene-Expression Signatures to Connect Small Molecules, Genes, and Disease. *Science*, 313(5795), 1929– 1935. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1132939
- Landrum, M. J., Lee, J. M., Riley, G. R., Jang, W., Rubinstein, W. S., Church, D. M., & Maglott, D. R. (2014). ClinVar: Public archive of relationships among sequence variation and human phenotype. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(D1), D980–D985. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1113
- Li, P., Yin, L., Zhao, B., & Sun, Y. (2021). Virtual Screening of Drug Proteins Based on Imbalance Data Mining. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2021, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5585990
- Lin, W.-J. (2022). The Dawn of a New Era in Drug Discovery? Drug Screening and the Increasing Biological Complexity of Testing Models. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 35(1), 5–6. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.1c00331
- Love, M. I., Huber, W., & Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biology*, 15(12), 550. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- Luo, G., Johnson, S., Hsueh, M.-M., Zheng, J., Cai, H., Xin, B., ... Harper, T. W. (2010). In Silico Prediction of Biliary Excretion of Drugs in Rats Based on Physicochemical Properties. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 38(3), 422–430. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.108.026260
- Ma, Y., O. Kiesewetter, D., Lang, L., Gu, D., & Chen, X. (2010). Applications of LC-MS in PET Radioligand Development and Metabolic Elucidation. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 11(6), 483–493. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920010791636167
- Martin, F. J., Amode, M. R., Aneja, A., Austine-Orimoloye, O., Azov, A. G., Barnes, I., ... Flicek, P. (2023). Ensembl 2023. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 51(D1), D933– D941. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac958

- McLaren, W., Gil, L., Hunt, S. E., Riat, H. S., Ritchie, G. R. S., Thormann, A., ... Cunningham, F. (2016). The Ensembl Variant Effect Predictor. *Genome Biology*, 17(1), 122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-016-0974-4
- Mendez, D., Gaulton, A., Bento, A. P., Chambers, J., De Veij, M., Félix, E., ... Leach, A. R. (2019). ChEMBL: Towards direct deposition of bioassay data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D930–D940. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1075
- Milacic, M., Beavers, D., Conley, P., Gong, C., Gillespie, M., Griss, J., ... D'Eustachio, P. (2024). The Reactome Pathway Knowledgebase 2024. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 52(D1), D672–D678. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkad1025
- Morris, G. M., Huey, R., Lindstrom, W., Sanner, M. F., Belew, R. K., Goodsell, D. S., & Olson, A. J. (2009). AutoDock4 and AutoDockTools4: Automated docking with selective receptor flexibility. *Journal of Computational Chemistry*, 30(16), 2785–2791. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcc.21256
- Muscifa, Z. S., Sumaryada, T., Ambarsari, L., & Wahyudi, S. T. (2022). Potential Indonesian Natural Compound as antiviral for COVID-19 targeting the RdRp: In silico Study. *Molekul*, *17*(3), 436. https://doi.org/10.20884/1.jm.2022.17.3.7017
- Nair, S. M. (2018). A Survey on Drug-Target Interaction Prediction Methods Analysis of Prediction Mechanisms for Drug Target Discovery. *International Journal for Research in Applied Science and Engineering Technology*, 6(3), 363–368. https://doi.org/10.22214/ijraset.2018.3057
- Nandi, S., Kumar, M., & Saxena, A. K. (2024). QSAR of SARS-CoV-2 Main Protease Inhibitors Utilizing Theoretical MolecularDescriptors. *Letters in Drug Design* & *Discovery*, 21(1), 116–132. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570180820666221214151614
- Nassar, S. F., Raddassi, K., & Wu, T. (2021). Single-Cell Multiomics Analysis for Drug Discovery. *Metabolites*, 11(11), 729. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo11110729
- O'Leary, N. A., Wright, M. W., Brister, J. R., Ciufo, S., Haddad, D., McVeigh, R., ... Pruitt, K. D. (2016). Reference sequence (RefSeq) database at NCBI: Current status, taxonomic expansion, and functional annotation. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), D733–D745. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1189
- Oughtred, R., Rust, J., Chang, C., Breitkreutz, B., Stark, C., Willems, A., ... Tyers, M. (2021). The BioGRID database: A comprehensive biomedical resource of curated protein, genetic, and chemical interactions. *Protein Science*, 30(1), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.3978
- Pang, Z., Chong, J., Li, S., & Xia, J. (2020). MetaboAnalystR 3.0: Toward an Optimized Workflow for Global Metabolomics. *Metabolites*, 10(5), 186. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo10050186
- Pantaleão, S. Q., Fernandes, P. O., Gonçalves, J. E., Maltarollo, V. G., & Honorio, K. M. (2022). Recent Advances in the Prediction of Pharmacokinetics Properties

in Drug Design Studies: A Review. *ChemMedChem*, 17(1), e202100542. https://doi.org/10.1002/cmdc.202100542

- Parkinson, H., Sarkans, U., Kolesnikov, N., Abeygunawardena, N., Burdett, T., Dylag, M., ... Brazma, A. (2011). ArrayExpress update—An archive of microarray and high-throughput sequencing-based functional genomics experiments. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39(Database), D1002–D1004. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq1040
- Patel, C. N., Kumar, S. P., Rawal, R. M., Thaker, M. B., & Pandya, H. A. (2020). Development of cardiotoxicity model using ligand-centric and receptor-centric descriptors. *Toxicology Research and Application*, *4*, 2397847320971259. https://doi.org/10.1177/2397847320971259
- Penner, N., Xu, L., & Prakash, C. (2012). Radiolabeled Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion Studies in Drug Development: Why, When, and How? *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 25(3), 513–531. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx300050f
- Prasasty, V. D., & Istyastono, E. P. (2019). Data of small peptides in SMILES and threedimensional formats for virtual screening campaigns. *Data in Brief*, 27, 104607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2019.104607
- Pruitt, K. D., Tatusova, T., & Maglott, D. R. (2007). NCBI reference sequences (Ref-Seq): A curated non-redundant sequence database of genomes, transcripts and proteins. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 35(Database), D61–D65. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkl842
- Quiroz, C., Saavedra, Y. B., Armijo-Galdames, B., Amado-Hinojosa, J., Olivera-Nappa, Á., Sanchez-Daza, A., & Medina-Ortiz, D. (2021). Peptipedia: A user-friendly web application and a comprehensive database for peptide research supported by Machine Learning approach. *Database*, 2021, baab055. https://doi.org/10.1093/database/baab055
- Rauf, Mohd. A., Zubair, S., & Azhar, A. (2015). Ligand docking and binding site analysis with pymol and autodock/vina. *International Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 4(2), 168–177. https://doi.org/10.14419/ijbas.v4i2.4123
- Rudrapal, M., & Chetia, D. (2020). Virtual Screening, Molecular Docking and QSAR Studies in Drug Discovery and Development Programme. *Journal of Drug Delivery* and *Therapeutics*, 10(4), 225–233. https://doi.org/10.22270/jddt.v10i4.4218
- Sandve, G. K., & Greiff, V. (2022). Access to ground truth at unconstrained size makes simulated data as indispensable as experimental data for bioinformatics methods development and benchmarking. *Bioinformatics*, 38(21), 4994–4996. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btac612
- Sansone, S.-A., Rocca-Serra, P., Field, D., Maguire, E., Taylor, C., Hofmann, O., ... Hide, W. (2012). Toward interoperable bioscience data. *Nature Genetics*, 44(2), 121–126. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.1054

- Schoch, C. L., Ciufo, S., Domrachev, M., Hotton, C. L., Kannan, S., Khovanskaya, R., ... Karsch-Mizrachi, I. (2020). NCBI Taxonomy: A comprehensive update on curation, resources and tools. *Database*, 2020, baaa062. https://doi.org/10.1093/database/baaa062
- Scholz, C., Knorr, S., Hamacher, K., & Schmidt, B. (2015). DOCKTITE—A Highly Versatile Step-by-Step Workflow for Covalent Docking and Virtual Screening in the Molecular Operating Environment. *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 55(2), 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1021/ci500681r
- Shrestha, R., Llaurado Fernandez, M., Dawson, A., Hoenisch, J., Volik, S., Lin, Y.-Y., ... Carey, M. S. (2021). Multiomics Characterization of Low-Grade Serous Ovarian Carcinoma Identifies Potential Biomarkers of MEK Inhibitor Sensitivity and Therapeutic Vulnerability. *Cancer Research*, 81(7), 1681–1694. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-2222
- Singh, S. (2006). Preclinical Pharmacokinetics: An Approach Towards Safer and Efficacious Drugs. Current Drug Metabolism, 7(2), 165–182. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920006775541552
- Strikwold, M., Spenkelink, B., De Haan, L. H. J., Woutersen, R. A., Punt, A., & Rietjens, I. M. C. M. (2017). Integrating in vitro data and physiologically based kinetic (PBK) modelling to assess the in vivo potential developmental toxicity of a series of phenols. *Archives of Toxicology*, 91(5), 2119–2133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-016-1881-x
- Szklarczyk, D., Kirsch, R., Koutrouli, M., Nastou, K., Mehryary, F., Hachilif, R., ... von Mering, C. (2023). The STRING database in 2023: Protein–protein association networks and functional enrichment analyses for any sequenced genome of interest. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 51(D1), D638–D646. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac1000
- Szklarczyk, D., Santos, A., von Mering, C., Jensen, L. J., Bork, P., & Kuhn, M. (2016). STITCH 5: Augmenting protein–chemical interaction networks with tissue and affinity data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), D380–D384. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1277
- Tatusova, T., DiCuccio, M., Badretdin, A., Chetvernin, V., Nawrocki, E. P., Zaslavsky, L., ... Ostell, J. (2016). NCBI prokaryotic genome annotation pipeline. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(14), 6614–6624. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw569
- Thapa, I., & Ali, H. (2021). A Multiomics Graph Database System for Biological Data Integration and Cancer Informatics. *Journal of Computational Biology*, 28(2), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1089/cmb.2020.0231
- The UniProt Consortium. (2007). The Universal Protein Resource (UniProt). *Nucleic Acids Research*, *36*(Database), D190–D195. <u>https://doi.org/1</u> 0.1093/nar/gkm895
- Trapnell, C., Hendrickson, D. G., Sauvageau, M., Goff, L., Rinn, J. L., & Pachter, L. (2013). Differential analysis of gene regulation at transcript resolution with

RNA-seq. *Nature Biotechnology*, *31*(1), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2450

- Uhlen, M., Oksvold, P., Fagerberg, L., Lundberg, E., Jonasson, K., Forsberg, M., ... Ponten, F. (2010). Towards a knowledge-based Human Protein Atlas. *Nature Biotechnology*, 28(12), 1248–1250. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1210-1248
- Van Den Berg, R. A., Hoefsloot, H. C., Westerhuis, J. A., Smilde, A. K., & Van Der Werf, M. J. (2006). Centering, scaling, and transformations: Improving the biological information content of metabolomics data. *BMC Genomics*, 7(1), 142. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-7-142
- Villalba, G. C., & Matte, U. (2021). Fantastic databases and where to find them: Web applications for researchers in a rush. *Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 44(2), e20200203. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4685-gmb-2020-0203
- Wang, M., Zhao, Y., & Zhang, B. (2015). Efficient Test and Visualization of Multi-Set Intersections. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 16923. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16923
- Wang, X., Yang, B., Sun, H., & Zhang, A. (2012). Pattern Recognition Approaches and Computational Systems Tools for Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography– Mass Spectrometry-Based Comprehensive Metabolomic Profiling and Pathways Analysis of Biological Data Sets. *Analytical Chemistry*, 84(1), 428– 439. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac202828r
- Wen, B., Zeng, W., Liao, Y., Shi, Z., Savage, S. R., Jiang, W., & Zhang, B. (2020). Deep Learning in Proteomics. *PROTEOMICS*, 20(21–22), 1900335. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.201900335
- Wen, Y., Zheng, L., Leng, D., Dai, C., Lu, J., Zhang, Z., ... Bo, X. (2023). Deep Learning-Based Multiomics Data Integration Methods for Biomedical Application. *Advanced Intelligent Systems*, 5(5), 2200247. https://doi.org/10.1002/aisy.202200247
- West, S., & Ali, H. (2016). On the Impact of Granularity in Extracting Knowledge from Bioinformatics Data: *Proceedings of the 9th International Joint Conference on Biomedical Engineering Systems and Technologies*, 92–103. Rome, Italy: SCI-TEPRESS - Science and and Technology Publications. https://doi.org/10.5220/0005778700920103
- Wishart, D. S., Knox, C., Guo, A. C., Cheng, D., Shrivastava, S., Tzur, D., ... Hassanali, M. (2008). DrugBank: A knowledgebase for drugs, drug actions and drug targets. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 36(suppl_1), D901–D906. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm958
- Yang, H., Qin, C., Li, Y. H., Tao, L., Zhou, J., Yu, C. Y., ... Chen, Y. Z. (2016). Therapeutic target database update 2016: Enriched resource for bench to clinical drug target and targeted pathway information. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), D1069–D1074. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1230

- Yi, X., & Latch, E. K. (2022). Nonrandom missing data can bias Principal Component Analysis inference of population genetic structure. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 22(2), 602–611. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13498
- Yoon, B.-H., Kim, S.-K., & Kim, S.-Y. (2017). Use of Graph Database for the Integration of Heterogeneous Biological Data. *Genomics & Informatics*, 15(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.5808/GI.2017.15.1.19
- Zahn-Zabal, M., Michel, P.-A., Gateau, A., Nikitin, F., Schaeffer, M., Audot, E., ... Lane, L. (2019). The neXtProt knowledgebase in 2020: Data, tools and usability improvements. *Nucleic Acids Research*, gkz995. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz995
- Zhang, S., Yan, Z., Huang, Y., Liu, L., He, D., Wang, W., ... Wang, H. (2022). HelixADMET: A robust and endpoint extensible ADMET system incorporating self-supervised knowledge transfer. *Bioinformatics*, 38(13), 3444–3453. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btac342
- Zhou, X.-D., Qu, Y.-W., Wang, L., Jia, F.-H., Chen, P., Wang, Y.-P., & Liu, H.-F. (2022). Identification of potential hub genes of gastric cancer. *Medicine*, 101(41), e30741. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000030741
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, Y., Zhao, D., Yu, X., Shen, X., Zhou, Y., ... Zhu, F. (2024). TTD: *Therapeutic Target Database* describing target druggability information. Nucleic Acids Research, 52(D1), D1465–D1477. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkad751
- Zucca, M., Scutera, S., & Savoia, D. (2013). New Chemotherapeutic Strategies Against Malaria, Leishmaniasis and Trypanosomiases. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 20(4), 502–526. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867311320040003



The Role of the Hypothalamus in the Regulation of Food Intake

Hatice Solak¹

¹ Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Kütahya Health Science University, Kütahya, Turkey, ORCID: 0000-0002-3554-3051

Introduction

Nutrition and metabolic events are of great importance for the survival of living organisms (Mayer 1953). Regulation of food intake constitutes one of the most complex regulation mechanisms in the organism (Valassi 2008). The most important neural centres regulating the amount of food to be taken into the body and appetite are located in the brain. The brain is the known coordinator of feeding behaviour and the hypothalamus is the part of the central nervous system where feeding-related processes are controlled (Mayer 1953).

The paraventricular nucleus (PVN), ventromedial nucleus (VMN), dorsomedial nucleus (DMN), arcuate nucleus (ARC) and lateral hypothalamic area (LHA) in the hypothalamus play a role in the regulation of food intake (Conn 2010; Meister 2007). The ARC is the energy nucleus of the hypothalamus involved in the regulation of food intake and energy metabolism and in the perception and evaluation of energy signals. ARC-derived neurone groups are called orexigenic (increasing food intake) and anorexigenic (decreasing food intake). There are many orexigenic and anorexigenic molecules involved in energy balance and central and peripheral control of nutrition. Orexigenic peptides are neuropeptide Y (NPY), agouti related peptide (AgRP), ghrelin, orexin A and B, melanin concentrating hormone (MCH). Anorexigenic peptides are leptin, cocaine amphetamine-related peptide (CART), cholecystokinin (CCS), glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) (Valassi et al. 2008).

The LHA acts as a hunger centre. The LHA is the feeding centre containing glucose-sensitive neurons evoked through hypoglycaemia and plays an important role in hypoglycaemia-induced hyperphagia. LHA lesions cause hypophagia and weight loss. VMN is known as the satiety centre (Guyton & Hall 2013). It has been identified as an important target region for leptin, which plays a role on the hypothalamus to inhibit food intake. Lesions in the VMN or paraventricular nucleus (PVN) lead to hyperphagia and obesity syndromes. These centres have neuronal connections with each other as well as with other regions of the brain. Stimuli transmitted from the periphery via the nucleus tractus soliterius (NTS) can be delivered directly to their centres. These areas are also associated with developed cortical neurons (Kandel 2000).

Ventromedial Nucleus (VMN)

Neurons of the ventromedial nucleus (VMN), which regulates feeding, are located in the dorsomedial aspect of the nucleus and this area is reciprocally associated with the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus. Neurons of the VMN are sensitive to glucose and some respond by increasing glucose (Conn 2010). VMN is mainly known as the satiety centre (Guyton & Hall 2013). It has been identified as an important target region for leptin, which plays a role on the hypothalamus to inhibit food intake. Lesions in the VMN or paraventricular nucleus (PVN) lead to hyperphagia and obesity syndromes (Satoh et al. 1997).

Hyperglycaemia, which occurs with the completion of eating behaviour, is believed to inhibit the feeding centre while activating the VMN (Mayer and Thoma 1967). Electrical stimulation of this area causes a feeling of satiety, leading to the rejection of even most appetising foods (aphagia). Destruction of this area in humans and animals causes gluttony and excessive weight gain. It has been reported that when VMNs are stimulated by food intake, they induce a feeling of satiety and stop food intake through α -adrenergic receptors and obesity develops following weight gain in their lesions (Morley 1987).

Paraventricular Nucleus (PVN)

The paraventricular nucleus (PVN) is adjacent to the upper part of the 3rd ventricle in the anterior hypothalamus and is located dorsal to the medial area of the hypothalamus (Conn MP 2010). The PVN is the main site of corticotropinreleasing hormone (CRH) and thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) secretion. It contains numerous neuronal pathways involved in energy balance that converge in the PVN. The PVN receives nutrient signals from NPY/AgRP and POMC/CART neurons in the ARC. POMC-derived α -melanocyte stimulating hormone (α -MSH) and the appetite-stimulating peptides or exins and galaninine have large projections from NPY neurons. Thus, the PVN plays an important role in the integration of nutritional signals in the thyroid and hypothalamic-pituitary axis. The PVN projects to many regions in the brainstem, such as the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS), which receives vagal nerve messages from the gastrointestinal tract (Ruggiero et al. 1990). The most effective hormone whose production and secretion increases in anorexigenic neurones under the effect of leptin is α - MSH. The extensions of these neurons reach the PVN in the hypothalamus and by stimulation of the α -MSH receptor melanocortin 4 receptor (MC4R), food intake decreases while energy expenditure increases (Abizaid 2008). Lesions in the PVN lead to hyperphagia and obesity syndromes (Satoh et al., 1997).
Dorsomedial Nucleus (DMN)

The dorsomedial nucleus was identified in the hypothalamus in 1963 by Bernardis et al. through electrophysiological lesion studies. DMN has extensive connections with other medial hypothalamic nuclei and lateral hypothalamus. This nucleus functions to integrate and process information. It is important in the regulation of food intake by circadian rhythm. The DMN receives signals from the SCN, which regulates circadian rhythm in the hypothalamus (Saper et al. 2005). Dorsomedial nucleus lesions have been shown to cause hypophagia (under-eating) and decreased body weight (Jeong et al., 2017).

Arcuate Nucleus (ARC)

The arcuate nucleus (ARC) is located adjacent to the 3rd ventricle and above the median eminence. The ARC is the energy nucleus of the hypothalamus involved in the regulation of food intake and energy metabolism and in the perception and evaluation of energy signals (Van et al., 2014). ARC-derived neurone groups are called orexigenic (increasing food intake) and anorexigenic (decreasing food intake). The ARC contains a population of neurones expressing NPY, AgRP and proopiomelanocortin (POMC), a precursor of α -melanin stimulating hormone known to suppress appetite (Valassi et al. 2008). Of these, NPY/AgRP neurones are orexigenic, whereas POMC/CART neurones are anorexigenic.

Stimulation of POMC neurones decreases food intake and increases energy expenditure. Activation of NPY-AgRP neurons increases food intake and decreases energy expenditure. These neurons are major targets for the effects of various appetite-regulating hormones such as leptin, insulin, cholecystokinin (CCK) and ghrelin (Guyton & Hall 2013). In the hypothalamus, NPY/AgRP neurones are suppressed by the hormone leptin, whereas POMC/CART neurones are positively stimulated. NPY/AgRP and POMC/CART neurones project from the ARC to other regions of the hypothalamus such as PVN, DMN, VMN and LHA (Ahima et al. 2000).

Anoreksijenik peptide	Source Area	Orexigenic peptide	Source Area
α-Melanocyte Stimulating Hormone (α-MSH)	PVN	Neuropeptide Y	ARC
Leptin	ARC	Agouti-Related Pro- tein	ARC, PVN
Cholecystokinin	PVN	Melanin-Concentra- ting Hormone	LHA
Seratonin	ARC	Orexin Neurons A ve B	LHA
Kolesistokinin (CCK)	PVN	Ghrelin	ARC
Cocaine And Ampheta- mine-Regulating Transc- ript	ARC	Galanin	ARC, PVN
Pro-Opiomelanocortin (POMC)	ARC		

Table 1. Feeding-regulating peptides in the brain

AGRP, agouti-related protein; ARC, arcuate nucleus; CART, cocaine and amphetamineregulating transcript; CCK, cholecystokinin; CRH, corticotropin-releasing hormone; GALP, galanin-like peptide; GHRH, growth hormone-releasing hormone; LH, lateral hypothalamus; MCH, melanin-concentrating hormone; NPY, neuropeptide Y; NTS, nucleus tractus solitarius; Pe, periventricular nucleus; POMC, pro-opiomelanocortin; PYY, peptide YY; PVN, paraventricular nucleus; SCN, suprachiasmatic nucleus; SON, supraoptic (Shioda ve ark. 2008).

Lateral Hypothalamic Area (LHA)

The lateral nuclei of the hypothalamus serve as the hunger centre (Guyton & Hall 2013). The LHA is the feeding centre containing glucose-sensitive neurons evoked through hypoglycaemia and plays an important role in hypoglycaemia-evoked hyperphagia (Bernardis et al. 1996). The lateral hypothalamic area (LHA) is a subcortical brain region that exerts control over motivated behaviour, feeding and energy balance across species. Recent single-cell sequencing studies have identified at least 30 different LHA neuron types. Some of these affect certain aspects of energy homeostasis; however, the functions of many LHA cell types remain unclear (Rossi 2023). LHA and VMN are mutually related in the regulation of food intake and energy metabolism. In addition to the regulation of food intake, LHA and VMN control frequent inter-meal eating behaviour and the

adjustment of the number of meals and meal size in food intake (Meguid et al. 1997).

LHA cells project directly to the autonomic and motor systems of the cerebral cortex, spinal cord (Funahashi et al. 2003) and brainstem. LHA neurons have two distinct groups of neuronal cells containing hypocreatine/orexin and MCH that regulate feeding behaviour. In the human brain and rodents, MCH and orexins are found in the perifornical area, LHA and zona incerta. Neurochemical peptides have received more attention with the discovery of leptin, which projects along neurons in the ARC and VMN, leading to food intake and body weight-reducing effects. Leptin directly affected cytosolic Ca+2 concentration in a simple neuron isolated from the ARC, VMN and LHA. Leptin inhibits glucose-sensitive ARC and LHA neurones and stimulates glucose-sensitive VMN neurones by increasing leptin receptors in these cells. Increased MCH mRNA levels increase food intake when leptin levels fall rapidly in the fasting state and during administration of MCH. Increased intracerebroventricular or central administration of peptides such as CART in the LHA decreases food intake (Rossi 2022).

Preproorexin mRNA is localised in the hypothalamus, especially in the lateral and posterior hypothalamic areas. Orexins cause protein kinase- C-mediated Ca+2 entry in the LHA, stimulated by Ca+2 decrease in spinal neurons, Ca+2 increases in A10 dopaminergic neurons (Smarta and Jerman 2002). Ventral tegmental area (VTA) dopamine cells innervate through ghrelin-sensitive orexin neurons in the LHA and ghrelin directly increases DA release (Abizaid 2009). Changes in neuroendocrine mediators in the gastrointestinal tract and peripheral areas affecting fat stores play a role in the regulation of food intake. Vagal fibres from the gastrointestinal tract combine with projections through the NTS and LHA and exert a combined effect on food intake. A drop in blood glucose level may signal the onset of food intake. The LHA contains glucose-sensitive neurons that are activated via glucopenia, and thus, in a short time, favourably regulate feeding and energy expenditure. Some or all of the orexin neurones may be glucose-sensitive neurones or may receive stimulus projections from glucosesensitive neurones (Subramanian and Ravichandran 2022).

LHA and VMN are also the reward-punishment centre in the brain (Guyton & Hall 2013). The reward mechanism in the brain is mediated by the DA receptor D2R. D2R deficiency in the striatum is associated with decreased metabolic activation in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) orbitofrontal cortex (OFC). OFC plays

a role in food recognition and impulse control. When the OFC is dysfunctional, it is unable to control dominant impulses, leading to aggressive behaviour in food craving. In humans, the level of DA in the dorsal striatum is decreased in relation to the pleasure derived from eating pleasant foods. A low number of D2Rs in the striatum causes hyperphagia. D2R receptor deficiency reduces the sensitivity of the feeling of satisfaction occurring in the nucleus accumbens and as a result, obese individuals consume more food to cope with the lack of DA signals (Volkow et al. 2011).



Fig. 1. Chart showing the interrelationship between the various appetite-regulating neuropeptides and their main sites of origin and action. The superior part of the diagram shows the relative position of the hypothalamic nuclei involved in the regulation of appetite, as seen in the coronal part of the hypothalamus. The bottom part shows the peripheral organs and the neuropeptides secreted by them. The solid lines indicate an excitatory effect and the dotted line indicates the inhibitory effect of the peripheral neuropeptide on the hypothalamic nuclei/neuropeptides. Experimental studies have shown that lesions in the medial part of the hypothalamus are associated with a hyperphagia, whereas lesions in the lateral part of the hypothalamic Area: DMH - Dorsomedial hypothalamus: VMH - VMH: Ventromedial Hypothalamus: ARC - Arcuate Nucleus: NTS - Tractus Solitarius Nucleus: ?? - Unknown origin of the neuropeptide Bombesin. (Arora 2006)

Orexigenic Molecules

Neuropeptide Y (NPY)

NPY is a neurotransmitter containing 36 amino acids and produced in the central nervous system which was first discovered in the pig brain by Tatemoto and Mutt in 1982. NPY is located in the hippocampus, amygdala, ARC, PVN, SCN, median eminence (ME), VMN, and LHA regions of the hypothalamus which are located in the part of the hypothalamus adjacent to the 3rd ventricle. In the ARC, NPY neurons project to the PVN and LHA regions of the hypothalamus (Williams et al. 2000). NPY functions in many signalling pathways via G protein-coupled receptors. NPY has six G-protein coupled receptors; Y1, Y2, Y3, Y4, Y5 and Y6. All these receptors bind to G protein and inhibit adenylyl cyclase. NPY1 and NPY5 receptors are associated with appetite stimulation. Whereas NPY2 and NPY4 receptors lead to appetite suppression. Y5 receptors, to which NPY binds to stimulate food intake, are found at higher levels in the LHA compared to other areas (Williams et al. 2000). NPY is a potent orexigenic peptide that stimulates food intake. Chronic administration of NPY in experimental animals leads to obesity with hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia (Conn 2010).

Agouti Related Peptide (AgRP)

AgRP is a 132 amino acid orexigenic peptide involved in the regulation of nutrition and body weight. AgRP is released exclusively from the ARC of the hypothalamus in the brain and all AgRP-producing neurones are co-secreted with NPY. PVN, DMN and LHA project to various hypothalamic areas. In the hypothalamus, AgRP has an important function in the ARC in food intake and food-seeking behaviour. Leptin inhibits the release of AgRP. AgRP is an effective antagonist of MC-3 and MC-4 receptors of melanocortin receptors involved in energy balance control and affects food intake. Increased amount of AgRP has been shown to cause obesity (Arora 2006).

Ghrelin

Ghrelin is a 28 amino acid orexigenic peptide released from the gastric enteroendocrine (Lee et al 2002), which has been primarily identified as an endogenous ligand for the growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHSR). Ghrelin is released from a number of neurones in the hypothalamus located between the LHA, ARC, VMN, DMN and PVN. This region in the hypothalamus is intertwined with extensions from the SCN. Ghrelin is also synthesised from placenta, kidney, heart, thyroid and leyding cells. It plays a remarkable role in GH-released and orexigenic effects, prolactin secretion under the control of

adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), glucose and lipid metabolism, gastric motility, acid secretion, cardiac function, sleep and reproduction (Valassi et al. 2008). The hormone ghrelin has been shown to be a major regulator of feeding behaviour in both humans and some rodents. It exerts its appetitive effect via NPY and AgRP in the ARC in the hypothalamus. The level of ghrelin in plasma increased during fasting and decreased during postprandial periods. Therefore, ghrelin is shown as an appetite-increasing or food intake triggering hormone. As in other physiological effects of ghrelin, it uses GHSRs in its appetite-enhancing effect. The hormone realises this appetite-increasing effect through the NPY molecule in the hypothalamus. GHSR is located in the hypothalamus-pituitary unit, especially on NPY and GHRH neurons. The effect of ghrelin is mediated by inhibition of POMC neurons and enhancement of NPY/AGRP pathways in a manner opposite to leptin (Yanagi et al. 2018).

Orexin A and B

In 1998, two precursor peptides of orexin, orexin A (OXA) and orexin B (OXB), were identified. These two small peptides of 33 and 28 amino acids in length, orexin A and B, also called hypocretin 1 and 2, originate from the same precursor protein called preproorexin (Arora 2006). The effects of orexins are mediated by G protein-coupled receptors called OX1R and OX2R. In fasted rats, OXA increases the coupling of orexin receptors in the hypothalamus with Gq, Gs and Go proteins, while decreasing their coupling with Gi (Karteris et al. 2005). OXA elicits many prominent orexigenic effects by combining with OXB. PFA, LHA and DMN neurones are also expressed in the hypothalamic area including the NTS and projections adjacent to the hypothalamic nucleus. These receptors are specifically expressed in neurons localised around the LHA. Preproorexin is most abundant in the lateral and posterior hypothalamus. In starvation, amounts of orexin preproorexin increases the Α and B mRNA. Intracerebroventricular injection of orexin-A or its administration to LHA results in a rapid increase in food intake (Willams et al. 2000). Preproorexin-expressing neurons in the LHA have projections in a wide area from the cortex to the upper part of the spinal cord. These projections involve the hypothalamus and other structures in the regulation of feeding. ARC and NTS are some of these areas. The NTS receives vagal afferent stimuli from the intestine and transmits them to the LHA (Cai et al. 2002). The interrelationship of the LHA with many different parts of the brain is shown to be the place where information about eating behaviour is collected. Therefore, destruction of LHA neurons in mammals results in hypophagia, indicating that the neuronal pathways that provide the balance of eating behaviour are disrupted. The observation of orexin nerve

endings in the ARC and PVN in the hypothalamus suggests that the regulation of eating behaviour also occurs in these regions. Apart from the hypothalamus, orexin nerve endings are observed in the medial structures of the thalamus in the cerebral cortex, circumventricular organs (subfornical organ and area postrema), limbic system (hippocampus, amygdala, septum, indusium griseum) and brainstem (LC and raphe nucleus). In addition, 30% of orexin neurons are activated by insulin-induced hypoglycaemia, indicating that plasma glucose level affects the activity of orexin neurons (Williams et al. 2000). Orexin peptides and their receptors may play a role in various regulatory systems including neuroendocrine, temperature control and cardiovascular, as well as regulation of energy homeostasis and nutrient intake (Subramanian and Ravichandran 2022).

Melanin-Concentrating Hormone (MCH)

MCH is a cyclic neuropeptide containing 19 amino acids. The cell bodies of MCH-containing neurons arise mainly from the LHA and zona incerta, known as the feeding center. There are two types of receptors for MCH signals in the brain, called G protein-coupled melanin-concentrating hormone 1 receptor (MCH-1R) and melanin-concentrating hormone 2 receptor (MCH-2R). These receptors project widely, especially in the brain regions hippocampus, amygdala and cerebral cortex (Arora 2006). With the infusion of MCH in rats, significant hyperphagia begins and body weight increases. MCH-damaged rats (knockout) are resistant to diet-induced obesity due to increased energy expenditure and locomotive activation. In Ob/Ob leptin-deficient mice, MCH mRNA levels were increased and food intake was increased. Administration of leptin reduces MCH expression and thus food intake decreases (Valassi et al. 2008).

Anorexigenic Molecules

Leptin

Discovered in 1994 by Friedman and colleagues, leptin is a 16 kDa polypeptide hormone (Zhang et al. 1994). Initially thought to be synthesised from white adipose tissue, it has now been found to be synthesised from placenta, skeletal muscle, stomach, mammalian epithelial cells and anterior pituitary. The main role of leptin in the body is to regulate food intake and energy metabolism and prevent the development of obesity through a negative "feedback" effect on the brain (especially the hypothalamus). In addition, regulation of metabolism and body weight maintenance (Robert et al. 2011), sexual development and reproduction, regulation of gastrointestinal functions, sympathetic nervous system activation have been found to have very important roles. Leptin is found in circulation in proportion to body fat mass and passes to the central nervous

system in proportion to plasma levels. Leptin receptors are divided into two groups as long receptors (OB-Rb) and short receptors (OB-Ra). OB-Rb is mostly located in the ARC, PVN, DMN and LHA of the hypothalamus and has an important role in feeding (Arora 2006).

When the amount of adipose tissue increases, adipocytes increase leptin production, leptin travels to the brain, crosses the blood-brain barrier by facilitated diffusion and binds to OB-R at various sites in the hypothalamus, particularly in the POMC neurons of the ARC and PVN. Stimulation of OB-R in these hypothalamic nuclei initiates several effects that reduce fat storage. Leptin regulates energy intake or expenditure by binding to its specific receptors in the hypothalamus to alter the expression of several neuropeptides that regulate neuroendocrine function. Leptin directly affects two important neurones in the ARC. It affects the anorexigenic CART/POMC neuropeptides that decrease food intake and the orexigenic NPY/AgRP neuropeptides that increase food intake.

Leptin suppresses CART/POMC neurons in starvation and re-enhances NPY/AgRP expression. Leptin may also regulate short-term energy intake and modulation of meal size according to changes in energy balance. With a negative energy balance, low leptin signalling inhibits the action of POMC/CART neurons and increases NPY/AgRP release, activating the anabolic cycle and inhibiting the catabolic cycle, with a decrease in energy expenditure and an increase in meal size. Genetic absence of leptin or leptin receptor is associated with hyperphagia and many types of obesity (Valassi 2008). Leptin may also reduce food intake by coupling with NA projections in the brain. An inverse relationship emerges between leptin activity and NA. Increased leptin decreases NA activity to suppress eating behaviour, whereas in the absence of leptin, increased NA release results in increased food intake.

Proopiomelanocortin (POMC)

POMC is the precursor of several molecules including α -MSH, the main regulator of energy balance. The anorexigenic effect of melanocortin is mediated by two receptors, MC3R and MC4R, which are abundant in the brain and especially in the ARC. These receptors are found in the DMN, LHA and ARC of the hypothalamus. More than 5% increase in body weight due to involuntary overeating behaviour in rats has been observed to increase POMC expression. The key role of the melanocortinergic system as a mediator of anorexigenic signalling makes the use of agonist or antagonist molecules promising for the treatment of eating disorders. Due to the long-term anorexigenic effects of these molecules, MC4R analogues are suitable candidates as antiobesity drugs (Arora 2006).

Cocaine Amphetamine Related Peptide (CART)

CART is a relatively new neuropeptide consisting of 102 amino acids with anorexigenic effect (Arora 2006). CART peptides are localised in specific areas of the hypothalamus, including the PVN, DMN, ARC, LHA and perifornical regions. CART mRNA in the PVN is controlled by neurones containing vasopressin and corticotropin-releasing factor. ICV dose-dependent administration of CART was found to markedly reduce food intake (Valassi et al. 2008). In the ARC, CART neurones are almost completely co-localised with POMC neurones. In starved animals, there is a decrease in CART mRNA in the ARC (Arora et al. 2006).

Cholecystokinin (CCK)

Cholecystokinin (CCK) is an important endogenous peptide found in the gastrointestinal tract and brain (Arora 2006). Cholecystokinin plays an important role in many physiological functions such as pancreatic secretion and stimulation, gallbladder contraction, intestinal motility, memory enhancement and inhibition of gastric motility. CCK receptors are G-protein coupled receptors. CCK has a direct effect on food intake through activation of CCK-A receptors on vagal afferent neurones. Furthermore, endogenous CCK reduces the meal size in the intake of different types of food. Indeed, intravenous infusion of CCK-33 reduced the size of a single food meal as well as the degree of hunger after a meal in humans (Valassi 2008).

Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1)

GLP-1 is another gut hormone released in response to food intake. It suppresses glucagon secretion and delays gastric emptying, while increasing the stimulation of glucose-induced insulin synthesis and secretion (Arora 2006). Furthermore, glucagon infusion decreases food intake and body weight in rats. Preproglucagon gene synthesis is restricted to NTS, neurons in the brain stem nucleus and pancreatic α -cells, and intestinal L-cells. Recent studies have shown a significant dose-dependent decrease in the amount of GLP-1 in both lean and obese subjects at desired caloric intake. Intravenous infusion of exendin-4, a long-acting GLP agonist, reduced fasting and postprandial glucose levels in healthy volunteers, as well as a 21% reduction in daily food intake. It is commercially available as a combination therapy to improve glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus treated with known oral antidiabetic drugs (Valassi et al. 2008).

References

1.Mayer J. (1953). Glucostatic mechanism of regulation of food intake. The New England journal of medicine, 249(1), 13–16.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM195307022490104

- Valassi, E., Scacchi, M., & Cavagnini, F. (2008). Neuroendocrine control of food intake. Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases: NMCD, 18(2), 158– 168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2007.06.004
- 3. Conn MP., Freeman ME. Neuroendocrinology in Physiology and Medicine. Humana Press. Inc. 2010. Totowa, New Jersey, p:344-349
- 4. Meister B. (2007). Neurotransmitters in key neurons of the hypothalamus that regulate feeding behavior and body weight. Physiology & behavior, 92(1-2), 263–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.05.021
- Guyton & Hall. TıbbiFizyolojiKitabı. Editör: Yeğen BÇ, Nobel Tıp Kitabevi, 2013, 12. Baskı, İstanbul, s: 843-851
- Kandel ER, Schwartz JH, Jessell TM. Principles of Neural Science. New York, McGraw -Hill; 2000.
- Satoh, N., Ogawa, Y., Katsuura, G., Tsuji, T., Masuzaki, H., Hiraoka, J., Okazaki, T., Tamaki, M., Hayase, M., Yoshimasa, Y., Nishi, S., Hosoda, K., & Nakao, K. (1997). Pathophysiological significance of the obese gene product, leptin, in ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH)-lesioned rats: evidence for loss of its satiety effect in VMH-lesioned rats. Endocrinology, 138(3), 947–954. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.138.3.4989
- Mayer, J., & Thomas, D. W. (1967). Regulation of food intake and obesity. Science (New York, N.Y.), 156(3773), 328–337. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.156.3773.328
- Morley, JE. (1987). Neuropeptide regulation of appetite and weight. Endocrine Reviews. 1987.3, 256-287
- Ruggiero, D. A., Giuliano, R., Anwar, M., Stornetta, R., & Reis, D. J. (1990). Anatomical substrates of cholinergic-autonomic regulation in the rat. The Journal of comparative neurology, 292(1), 1–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902920102
- Jeong, J. H., Lee, D. K., & Jo, Y. H. (2017). Cholinergic neurons in the dorsomedial hypothalamus regulate food intake. Molecular metabolism, 6(3), 306–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2017.01.001
- Saper, C. B., Lu, J., Chou, T. C., & Gooley, J. (2005). The hypothalamic integrator for circadian rhythms. Trends in neurosciences, 28(3), 152–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2004.12.009

- Van Swieten, M. M., Pandit, R., Adan, R. A., & van der Plasse, G. (2014). The neuroanatomical function of leptin in the hypothalamus. Journal of chemical neuroanatomy, 61-62, 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2014.05.004
- Ahima, R. S., Saper, C. B., Flier, J. S., & Elmquist, J. K. (2000). Leptin regulation of neuroendocrine systems. Frontiers in neuroendocrinology, 21(3), 263–307. https://doi.org/10.1006/frne.2000.0197
- Shioda, S., Takenoya, F., Yagi, M., Wang, L., Hori, Y., & Kageyama, H. (2008). Neural networks of several novel neuropeptides involved in feeding regulation. Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif.), 24(9), 848–853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2008.06.016
- 16. Rossi M. A. (2023). Control of energy homeostasis by the lateral hypothalamic area. Trends in neurosciences, 46(9), 738–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2023.05.010
- Meguid, M. M., Yang, Z. J., & Laviano, A. (1997). Meal size and number: relationship to dopamine levels in the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus. The American journal of physiology, 272(6 Pt 2), R1925–R1930. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1997.272.6.R1925
- Funahashi, H., Yamada, S., Kageyama, H., Takenoya, F., Guan, J. L., & Shioda, S. (2003). Co-existence of leptin- and orexin-receptors in feeding-regulating neurons in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus-a triple labeling study. Peptides, 24(5), 687–694. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0196-9781(03)00130-x
- Smart, D., & Jerman, J. (2002). The physiology and pharmacology of the orexins. Pharmacology & therapeutics, 94(1-2), 51–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0163-7258(02)00171-7
- 20. Abizaid, A., & Horvath, T. L. (2008). Brain circuits regulating energy homeostasis. Regulatory peptides, 149(1-3), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2007.10.006
- Subramanian, S., & Ravichandran, M. (2022). Orexin receptors: Targets and applications. Fundamental & clinical pharmacology, 36(1), 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcp.12723
- Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., & Baler, R. D. (2011). Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. Trends in cognitive sciences, 15(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2010.11.001
- 23. Arora, S., & Anubhuti (2006). Role of neuropeptides in appetite regulation and obesity--a review. Neuropeptides, 40(6), 375–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2006.07.001
- 24. Williams, G., Harrold, J. A., & Cutler, D. J. (2000). The hypothalamus and the regulation of energy homeostasis: lifting the lid on a black box. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 59(3), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0029665100000434

- 25. Lee, H. M., Wang, G., Englander, E. W., Kojima, M., & Greeley, G. H., Jr (2002). Ghrelin, a new gastrointestinal endocrine peptide that stimulates insulin secretion: enteric distribution, ontogeny, influence of endocrine, and dietary manipulations. Endocrinology, 143(1), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.143.1.8602
- 26. Yanagi, S., Sato, T., Kangawa, K., & Nakazato, M. (2018). The Homeostatic Force of Ghrelin. Cell metabolism, 27(4), 786–804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.02.008
- Karteris, E., Machado, R. J., Chen, J., Zervou, S., Hillhouse, E. W., & Randeva, H. S. (2005). Food deprivation differentially modulates orexin receptor expression and signaling in rat hypothalamus and adrenal cortex. American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism, 288(6), E1089–E1100. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00351.2004
- Cai, X. J., Liu, X. H., Evans, M., Clapham, J. C., Wilson, S., Arch, J. R., Morris, R., & Williams, G. (2002). Orexins and feeding: special occasions or everyday occurrence? Regulatory peptides, 104(1-3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-0115(01)00343-3
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., & Friedman, J. M. (1994). Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. Nature, 372(6505), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1038/372425a0
- Denver, R. J., Bonett, R. M., & Boorse, G. C. (2011). Evolution of leptin structure and function. Neuroendocrinology, 94(1), 21–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/0</u> 00328435



Animal Models of Alzheimer's Disease for Experimental Research

Raviye Özen Koca¹ & Z. Işık Solak Görmüş²

 ¹ MD,PhD, Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Medicine,
² MD,PhD, Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Medicine

Introduction

With the increase in the elderly population in the world, there is also an increase in age-related diseases. One of the most common of these diseases is Alzheimer's disease (AD). AD is characterized by memory impairment in daily life functions. According to epidemiologic studies, the number of patients is expected to be over 100 million in 2050. The most prominent feature of the disease at diagnosis is a decrease in cognitive capacity. In addition, behavioral disorders, difficulties in early diagnosis and treatment, classical misinformation, care and caregiver burden and cost, treatment difficulties and cost affect all countries of the world. Early and accurate diagnosis of AD has become mandatory in our aging society. Experimental animal models have been very useful in understanding physiopathological mechanisms in neurodegenerative diseases. AD animal models in the field of learning-memory have helped to understand how the damaged brain functions. Experimental Alzheimer's models are frequently used to develop treatment strategies. In this chapter, experimental AD models, how these models are applied and their contribution to the elucidation of physiopathological mechanisms are described.

Alzheimer's Disease

AD was first described as a type of dementia by German psychiatrist Alois Alzheimer in 1906. A middle-aged female patient with memory and progressive loss of cognitive abilities was followed up for 5 years. After her death, an autopsy showed neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques in the neocortex and hippocampus. After this case was reported, the term AD was coined as a form of early dementia (Kandel et al. 2013).

AD is defined as premature ageing of the brain. It usually starts in middle age and progresses rapidly, leading to excessive loss of mental power similar to that of very old age. These patients usually require continuous care within a few years after the onset of the disease (Guyton and Hall 2013).

Epidemiological studies indicate that AD is not due to a single factor. Neuronal and central vascular disorders due to aging play a very important role in development of the disease. In addition, head traumas, viral infections and metabolic lesions increase the risk of AD. In some cases, genetic predisposition has a significant contribution (Uzbay 2003).

AD is considered as a form of progressive and irreversible dementia. It is characterised by progressive memory impairment and decreased cognitive performance. Noncognitive symptoms such as depression, aggression and psychosis may also accompany AD. Early degeneration of cholinergic system nicotinic neurons, amyloid plaque deposition, neurofibrillary tangles, neuroinflammation and white matter loss are observed in brain tissue (Lecanu et al. 2013).

Physiopathology of Alzheimer's Disease

AD is known to affect a large number of people worldwide. It is characterized by progressive memory loss at cognitive level. The formation of extracellular amyloid plaques and amyloid angiopathy in the brain by amyloid beta (A β) peptides represents an important step in pathogenesis of the disease (Ștefănescu et al. 2019).

AD is a neurodegenerative disorder and causes cognitive decline and behavioural changes. In older adults, it is the most common cause of dementia. AD is characterised by the A β plaques in the cerebrum and the assembly of neurofibrillary tangles (NFT). A β deposition leads to formation of NFT and consequent neurodegeneration. A β plaques and tau protein tangles in the brain results in the death of brain cells and shrinkage of brain tissue. There is no definitive aetiology for AD, but it appears to be linked to various factors such as genetics, environment and lifestyle. Although no definitive cure has been found, some treatments have been proven to help manage symptoms and improve patients' quality of life (Ivraghi et al. 2023).

The pathophysiology of AD is multifactorial. AD is characterized by macroscopic and microscopic structural changes and dysfunction of the neuronal axis in the brain. Macroscopically, AD is associated with brain atrophy with enlargement of the lateral ventricle. At the microscopic level, AD has been associated with plaques, synaptic degeneration, and neuron loss, especially in the hippocampus and temporal cortex. The disease begins with A β plaque production triggered by risk factors. It continues with NFT formation due to hyperphosphorylation of tau protein (Trillo et al. 2013).

Causes of $A\beta$ peptide overaccumulation in the pathogenesis of AD:

1) All known mutations linked to AD increase A β peptide production.

2) Patients with trisomy 21 may show neurologic features of AD in middle age with APP gene mutation.

3) Patients with abnormal genes controlling the production of apolipoprotein E (Apo E) have rapid amyloid deposition and this greatly increases the risk of AD.

4) Transgenic mice producing human APP show learning and memory impairments due to the accumulation of amyloid plaques.

5) The formation of anti-amyloid antibodies in humans with AD may alleviate the disease process (Guyton and Hall 2013).

The pathophysiology of AD is multifactorial. AD is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by macroscopic and microscopic structural changes and dysfunction of the neuronal axis in the brain. Macroscopically, AD is associated with brain atrophy with enlargement of the lateral ventricle. At the microscopic level, AD has been associated with plaques, synaptic degeneration, and neuron loss, especially in the hippocampus and temporal cortex. The disease begins with A β plaque production triggered by risk factors. It continues with NFT formation due to hyperphosphorylation of tau protein (Trillo et al. 2013).

The clinical features of AD are memory impairment, impaired language function, visual and spatial disturbances. Motor and sensory abnormalities, gait disturbances and seizures are not seen until the late stages of the disease. In AD, there is also a loss of neurons in the part of the limbic pathway that manages memory processes. This loss of memory function is devastating. AD is a progressive and fatal disease. AD causes inability to perform daily activities and behavioral disorders in the late stages of the disease (Guyton ve Hall 2013).

Drug development for AD has not been very successful. Drug manufacturers have focused on the loss of cholinergic neurotranmission. Tacrine was introduced in the early 1990s and has shown some effect in clinical trials. However, its therapeutic use caused liver toxicity. Later, tacrine was replaced by asthylcholinetransferase inhibitors such as rivastigmine, galantamine, donepezil, which provide controversial therapeutic benefits without liver toxicity. The N-methyl-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist memantine has been of little benefit in the treatment of AD. Drugs such as the A β plaque formation inhibitor tramiprozate, the γ -secretase modulator tarenflurbil, the antihistamine latrepirdin and more recently the monoclonal antibodies bapinuzumab and solanezumab have been tested in clinical trials. These compounds have been reported to show significant efficacy in transgenic AD models (Lecanu et al. 2013).

Experimental Animal Models of Alzheimer's Disease

Experimental animal models are experimental constructs performed on one species to investigate a phenomenon occurring in another species and help to identify treatments for a disease (Kumar et al. 2013). Animal models should reflect a phenotype as similar as possible to the disease and contribute

significantly to the development of treatment options (Lecanu and Papadapoulos 2013).

Effective modeling strategies are needed to better understand the underlying mechanisms in AD. Most clinical trials and research towards better treatment of AD fail due to the inability of the animal models investigated to accurately imitation the actual AD pathology. Most current AD models have been developed based on mutations found in familial form of AD, which accounts for less than 5% of AD incidence. Furthermore, research faces further challenges due to the complexities found in the aetiology of sporadic AD, which accounts for 95% of total AD (Ulaganathan & Pitchaimani 2023).

Over the last 20 years, AD transgenic models based on the known genetic origin of familial form of AD have contributed significantly to our understanding of molecular mechanisms involved in the onset and progression of AD. These models have been widely used in the development of AD treatment. In many clinical trials, it has been reported that the flaws in new treatment modalities are that use of AD genetic models does not accurately reflect characteristics of AD in humans. Non transgenic animal models should be used for the sporadic form, which reflects 95% of AD (Lecanu and Papadapoulos 2013).

Although a wide variety of animal models have been developed to imitation some specific features of AD pathology, none of these animal models fully represent the cognitive and memory impairment or biochemical and histopathological abnormalities behold in AD patients. Therefore, the development of an ideal AD model is vital to fully understand the pathology of the disease (Van Groen 2005).

AD animal models have been very useful in understanding psychological and physiological basis. Animal models about learning and memory have helped to understand how damaged and normal brain functioning occurs (Table 1) (Narwal et al. 2012).

Rats have a wide range of behavioral traits and can be well characterized behaviorally. They also have fine and precise motor coordination. Rats show little stress and are skilled in maze tests. AD models provide more accurate results in evaluating cognitive outcomes at the behavioral level (Do Carmo 2013).

Table 1: Animal models of Alzheimer's disease for experimental research

Animal models of Alzheimer's disease for experimental research			
I. Transgenic ani-	Transgenic models of Aβ accumulation		
mal models			
	Transgenic models of Tau protein		
II. Non-transge-	Aβ peptide-associated AD model		
nic animal models	Tau protein-associated model of AD		
	Experimental model of aluminum toxicity		
	Experimental model of AD induced by ovariectomy		
	Experimental models of AD due to loss of cholinergic function		
	Experimental AD model induced by intracerebroventricular in-		
	jection of streptozotocin		
	Experimental model of AD induced by bilateral carotid artery		
	Experimental AD model induced by sodium azide		

Transgenic animal models

Several transgenic mouse models have been established to study AD physiopathology via overexpression of presenilins and amyloid precursor protein (APP). Even none of the transgenic AD models accurately replicate the human condition, the unique to study similar pathological processes in living animals has provided valuable insights into disease mechanisms and the possibility to test therapeutic approaches. Experimental AD models have a role in understanding the relationship between A β and tau pathologies as well as the role of soluble A β oligomers in disease pathogenesis. Data from various AD models show that the onset of A β deposits are related to the level of soluble A β 1-42 peptide. In AD transgenic models, A β 1-42 has been reported to effect early neuronal death as well as synaptic impairments. Studies in transgenic AD animal models indicate that synaptic changes precede neuronal deficits, in line with the hypothesis that synaptic impairment is one of the earliest occurrences in AD pathogenesis. In addition, transgenic AD models also support that A β may interact with tau to

accelerate NFT formation. Transgenic AD models may allow the development of the evaluation of potential therapeutic targets (Schaeffer et al. 2011)

Several mouse transgenic models carry a mutated human tau gene that develops neurofibrillary degeneration. Tau overproduction leads to tau hyperphosphorylation and development of NFT as reported in AD. Behavioral analyses and maze tests have highlighted impairments in sensorimotor and reflex responses, as well as progressive cognitive decline in spatial navigation. These impairments are associated with progressive accumulation of NFT, insoluble tau complexes and axonal damage extending to spinal cord and brainstem. The rat AD model about progressive NFT in the cortex contains unmutated human truncated tau protein. Cortical neurofibrillary degeneration is observed in 9 months rats (Do Carmo, 2013).

The AD animal model, the 3 \times Tg-AD mouse, has many of the features observed in AD pathology. It also shows cognitive changes in memory and learning tasks. 3 \times Tg-AD is better able to show amyloid β (A β) and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT), two hallmarks of AD. Therefore, 3 \times Tg-AD is widely used in AD pathogenesis research and new drug development of AD (Tian et al. 2023).

Rats more closely resemble humans than mice physiologically, genetically and morphologically. Their large body and brain size facilitate drug administration, microdialysis, cerebrospinal fluid sampling, in vivo electrophysiology, neurosurgery and brain imaging procedures. Regarding AD modeling, similar to humans, rats contain 6 isoforms of tau protein. There is also good similarity between human and rat Apo E aminoacid sequences (73.9% with Apo E4, 73.5% Apo E3). Rats have more precise motor coordination and exhibit rich behavioral traits compared to mice. Rats are more skilled in Morris water maze experiments. AD rat models provide more accurate assessments of cognitive outcomes. Importantly, some transgenic rat models have been reported to show features that more closely resemble human diseases compared to mice carrying the same transgenes (Do Carmo 2013).

Non-transgenic animal models

Aβ peptide-associated AD model

Transgenic animal models are invaluable for investigating mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of AD. But overproduction of AD-related genes can lead to errors in interpreting findings from these studies. Presenilin 1 (PS1) and APP overproduction may affect memory, synaptic function and CNS development. To bran the specific effects of $A\beta$ from the other effects of overproduced APP and PS1, disease models in which $A\beta$ alone is responsible are used. Synthetically produced $A\beta$ oligomers are injected directly into hippocampus and ventricles of animals to model acute $A\beta$ model. The infusion is ensured through cannulas in order to ensure direct delivery of $A\beta$ to site of administration and to avoid problems with blood brain barrier. $A\beta$ can be effective in impairment of associative and reference memory. $A\beta$ is generally considered to be a peptide with a direct role in memory disorders. Another advantage of using an acute $A\beta$ rat model compared to developing a transgenic animal model is the lower cost. However, the disadvantages of using the $A\beta$ infusion model are;

I. These features of AD, senile plaques, NFT and neuronal loss, cannot be reproduced;

II. A β preparation and interleaved trial efficacy tests require very careful methodological standardization;

III. It does not allow testing of treatment protocol on disease progression;

IV. Since the animals were cannulated beforehand, it may cause problems in behavioral studies (cannulas may fall off, multiple injections may cause stress in the animal, it may become difficult to follow the animals over time) (Puzzo et al. 2014).

The intrahippocampal injection of A β 1–42 typify one of the most useful animal AD models. A β 1-42 is often used to create an AD experimental model. A β peptide is solubilised and incubated at 37°C for 72 hours to form fibrillar structures. A β peptide is injected bilaterally (2.2 nmol/10 µl) into the hippocampus in the AD model (Figure 1) (Ozen Koca et al. 2023).



Figure 1. $A\beta$ peptide-associated AD model and intrahippocampal injection of $A\beta$ 1–42 (Ozen Koca et al. 2023).

Tau protein-associated model of AD

Extracellular soluble tau has been discovered in high amounts in cerebrospinal fluid in both healthy individuals and AD patients, and effect of tau oligomers on synaptic function has been tested. Similar to A β , tau oligomers impair long-term potentiation (LTP). The effects of tau oligomer infusion into the dorsal hippocampus on memory were also investigated. Consistent with the LTP results, oligomeric tau infusion impaired memory in mice. Several studies have shown that acute exposure models can be used as an alternative to investigate AD pathogenesis and drug administration (Puzzo et al. 2014).

Experimental model of aluminum toxicity

Aluminum (Al) toxicity results from disruption of the metal homeostasis such as calcium (Ca), magnesium and iron, resulting in formation of ROS. Al significantly inhibits functions of mitochondrial complex I- III-IV, severely limiting the amount of ATP produced through oxidative phosphorylation. Al toxicity usually manifests as a Ca²⁺-mediated excitotoxicity. Interestingly, apoptosis plays an important role in neuronal loss in Al-induced excitotoxicity. Al-ATP causes excitotoxicity induced by glutamate hyperstimulation by potentiating the activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors, thereby elevating neuronal tau levels and forming NFT. Studies have shown that oral administration of Al for 90 days (50 mg/kg) in rats results in cognitive impairment and slowed locomotor activity. It also increased catalase and decreased glutathione, acetylcholine (ACh). Increased neuronal loss was shown histopathologically (Chavan et al. 2023).

Experimental model of AD induced by ovariectomy

In studies, the decrease in estrogen and progesterone in menopause was found to be a significant risk factor for the development of AD in women (Green et al. 2004). It has been shown that the age at which AD disease is observed is earlier in women who enter early menopause and in women with low estrogen levels after menopause (Schupf et al. 2008). This suggests that the decrease in the amount of estrogen after menopause may lead to AD. Phosphorylated tau protein and $A\beta$ peptide, two important biochemical markers of Alzheimer's disease, were found to be inversely correlated with estrogen levels. It was shown that the estrogen level in the cerebrospinal fluid of AD patients was lower than in controls of the same age (Schonknecht et al. 2001).

In this AD model, female rats are ovariectomised to reduce estrogen. Ovarectomy is defined as the surgical removal of the ovaries. While the reduction of endogenous estrogen by this method markedly increased the A β level in rodent brains, it was observed that this hormone decreased A β accumulation in the AD mouse model (Petanceska et al. 2000). Consistent with this finding, various cell culture studies have revealed that estrogen reduces A β production by increasing non-amyloidogenic cleavage of APP by α secretase (Vincent et al. 2000).

Experimental model of AD due to loss of cholinergic function

There is a positive correlation between neuronal damage in the acetylcholine and cholinergic system and dementia and AD. Degeneration of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons occurs in the early stages of AD and is closely associated with cognitive function deficits. In the light of this information, we tried to apply models in which acute or chronic cholinergic damage was induced in the brains of experimental animals by various methods to mimic the symptoms of AD, especially cognitive function deficits. Acute electrocoagulation of cholinergic neurons, fimbria/fornix cross-cutting, administration of nonspecific excitotoxins or cholinergic system-specific toxins such as cholinotoxin significantly reduced cholinergic activity and mimicked the cholinergic system-related symptoms of AD. Chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of quinolic acid into the lateral ventricle in rats results in many neurodegenerative disease symptoms, including the symptoms of AD related to cholinergic damage. In models based on cholinergic dysfunction, senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles observed in AD patients do not occur (Uzbay 2003).

AD model induced by intracerebroventricular injection of streptozotocin

Streptozotocin (STZ) is an alkylating agent that resembles some properties of nitrosoureas. Lannert and Hoyer developed the STZ animal model in 1998. Neuroinflammation of brain was identified as the main risk factors in STZ-induced AD rat model. Through the production of cytotoxic products and related pro-inflammatory mediators during neuroinflammation, these free radicals also contribute to neuronal loss. According to reports, AChE activity increased and ACh decreased in the brains of STZ-induced rats. In a previous study, STZ (2 mg/kg) was induced in rats for 3-4 months. This caused a decrease in α -secretase activities and an increase in cerebral A β -42, β -secretase and COX-2 (Chavan et al. 2023).

Experimental model of AD induced by bilateral carotid artery

Although this model was initially proposed for vascular dementia, it was thought to be suitable for FH with slowly developing cerebral blood flow reduction. In this model, chronic cerebral hypoperfusion is induced by ligation of both carotid arteries with or without a subclavian artery. More impairment in spatial memory was observed in older rats than in younger rats when performed with the subclavian artery. It was observed that spatial memory impairments could be prevented by reperfusion 1-2 weeks after occlusion and hippocampal neurons could be saved, but no reversal was observed after 3 weeks. When this model was established in aged rats (10 months old), extracellular A β accumulation was observed in the cortex after 10 weeks. This finding suggested that decreased cerebral blood flow may contribute to A β formation. Although there is no significant difference between young and old in terms of memory impairment in this model, neuronal damage occurs later in young people (Weinstock 2004).

Experimental AD model induced by sodium azide

Sodium azide (NaN3) administration has been shown to cause mitochondrial dysfunction and inhibit cytochrome oxidase (Chavan et al. 2023). Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration in AD are associated with dysfunction in the mitochondrial electron system, especially cytochrome oxidase. When sodium azide, a selective cytochrome oxidase inhibitor, was administered to rats with the help of an osmotic mini pump, it was shown that spatial memory was impaired (Weinstock 2004).

Sodium azide administered to rats intraperitoneally at a single dose per day (5 mg/kg) for 14 days caused a decrease in learning-memory due to mitochondrial dysfunction, ROS and antioxidant imbalance which may be due to decreased antioxidant levels. Histopathological neuronal loss has been shown. Since its first discovery, cytochrome oxidase has been known to have an important role in mitochondrial function and aerobic energy metabolism in AD patients. Decreased cytochrome oxidase activity in the mitochondrial electron transport chain has been identified as the main deleterious effect of sodium azide (Chavan et al. 2023).

Conclusion

AD is becoming an important health problem with increase in elderly population. Fort his reason, studies for AD diagnosis and treatment need to be improved. In humans, experimental animal models are helpful in elucidating the pathophysiology of AD and discovering new treatment options. In the experimental models of AD, various therapeutic agents can be tested for the treatment of cognitive impairment through various learning and memory tests. In conclusion, more studies in animal models using new techniques may lead to the development of effective treatment strategies for AD, for which there is no definitive cure.

References

- Chavan, R.S., Supalkar, K.V., Sadar, S.S., Vyawahare, N.S. (2023) Animal models of Alzheimer's disease: An originof innovativetreatments and insight to the disease's etiology. *Brain Res*, Sep 1;1814:148449. Doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2023.148449.
- Chu L. W. (2012). Alzheimer's disease: early diagnosis and treatment. Hong Kong medical journal = Xianggang yi xue za zhi, 18(3), 228–237.
- Do Carmo, S., & Cuello, A. C. (2013). Modeling Alzheimer's disease in transgenic rats. *Molecular neurodegeneration*, 8, 37. Doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-8-37
- Green, P. S., Bales, K., Paul, S., & Bu, G. (2005). Estrogen therapy fails to alter amyloid deposition in the PDAPP model of Alzheimer's disease. *Endocrinology*, 146(6), 2774–2781. Doi: 10.1210/en.2004-1433
- Guyton, A.C., Hall, J.E. (2013) Guyton ve Hall Medical Physiology (12. Edition). Saunders Elsevier, p: 727-8.
- Ivraghi, M. S., Zamanian, M. Y., Gupta, R., Achmad, H., Alsaab, H. O., Hjazi, A., Romero-Parra, R. M., Alwaily, E. R., Hussien, B. M., & Hakimizadeh, E. (2023). Neuroprotective effects of gemfibrozil in neurological disorders: Focus on inflammation and molecular mechanisms. *CNS neuroscience & therapeutics*, Doi: 10.1111/cns.14473.
- Kandel, E.R., Schwartz, J.H., Jessell, T.M. (2013) The Aging Brain. In: Principles of Neural Science (5th Edition). The McGraw-Hill Companies, p:1334-46.
- Kumar, M. H., & Gupta, Y. K. (2002). Antioxidant property of Celastrus paniculatus willd.: a possible mechanism in enhancing cognition. *Phytomedicine: international journal of phytotherapy and phytopharmacology*, 9(4), 302–311. Doi: 10.1078/0944-7113-00136
- Lecanu, L., & Papadopoulos, V. (2013). Modeling Alzheimer's disease with non-transgenic rat models. *Alzheimer's research & therapy*, 5(3), 17. Doi: 10.1186/alzrt171
- Narwal, S., Sainia, D.R., Kumaria, K., Narwalb, S., Singhb, G., Negi, S.R., Sarina, R.V. (2012) Behavior & pharmacological animal models for the evaluation of learning & memory condition. *Indo Global Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 2(2): 121-129
- Ozen Koca, R., Gormus, Z. I. S., Solak, H., Koc, A., Kılınc, İ., İyisoy, M. S., & Kutlu, S. (2023). How does neurokinin 3 receptor agonism affect pathological and cognitive impairments in an Alzheimer's disease-like rat model? *Amino acids*, 55(4), 481–498. Doi: 10.1007/s00726-023-03241-0
- Paxinos, G., &Watson, C. (2009) The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. San Diego: Academic Press.

- Petanceska, S. S., Nagy, V., Frail, D., & Gandy, S. (2000). Ovariectomy and 17betaestradiol modulate the levels of Alzheimer's amyloid beta peptides in brain. *Experimental gerontology*, 35(9-10), 1317–1325. Doi: 10.1016/s0531-5565(00)00157-1
- Puzzo, D., Lee, L., Palmeri, A., Calabrese, G., & Arancio, O. (2014). Behavioral assays with mouse models of Alzheimer's disease: practical considerations and guidelines. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 88(4), 450–467. Doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2014.01.011
- Schaeffer, E. L., Figueiro, M., & Gattaz, W. F. (2011). Insights into Alzheimer disease pathogenesis from studies in transgenic animal models. *Clinics (Sao Paulo, Brazil)*, 66 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), 45–54. Doi: 10.1590/s1807-59322011001300006
- Schönknecht, P., Pantel, J., Klinga, K., Jensen, M., Hartmann, T., Salbach, B., & Schröder, J. (2001). Reduced cerebrospinal fluid estradiol levels are associated with increased beta-amyloid levels in female patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience letters*, 307(2), 122–124. Doi: 10.1016/s0304-3940(01)01896-1
- Schupf, N., Lee, J. H., Wei, M., Pang, D., Chace, C., Cheng, R., Zigman, W. B., Tycko, B., & Silverman, W. (2008). Estrogen receptor-alpha variants increase risk of Alzheimer's disease in women with Down syndrome. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 25(5), 476–482. Doi: 10.1159/000126495
- Ştefănescu, R., Stanciu, G. D., Luca, A., Caba, I. C., Tamba, B. I., & Mihai, C. T. (2019). Contributions of Mass Spectrometry to the Identification of Low Molecular Weight Molecules Able to Reduce the Toxicity of Amyloid-β Peptide to Cell Cultures and Transgenic Mouse Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 24(6), 1167. Doi: 10.3390/molecules24061167
- Tian, S., Ye, T., & Cheng, X. (2023). The behavioral, pathological and therapeutic features of the triple transgenic Alzheimer's disease (3 × Tg-AD) mouse model strain. *Experimental neurology*, 368, 114505. Doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2023.114505
- Trillo, L., Das, D., Hsieh, W., Medina, B., Moghadam, S., Lin, B., Dang, V., Sanchez, M. M., De Miguel, Z., Ashford, J. W., & Salehi, A. (2013). Ascending monoaminergic systems alterations in Alzheimer's disease. translating basic science into clinical care. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews*, 37(8), 1363–1379. Doi: /10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.05.008
- Ulaganathan, S., & Pitchaimani, A. (2023). Spontaneous and familial models of Alzheimer's disease: Challenges and advances in preclinical research. *Life sciences*, 328, 121918. Doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2023.121918
- Uzbay, İ.T. (2003) Experimental animal models used in studies on Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia Journal*, 1: 5-14.

- Weinstock, M., & Shoham, S. (2004). Rat models of dementia based on reductions in regional glucose metabolism, cerebral blood flow and cytochrome oxidase activity. *Journal of neural transmission (Vienna, Austria : 1996)*, 111(3), 347– 366. Doi: 10.1007/s00702-003-0058-y
- van Groen, T., & Kadish, I. (2005). Transgenic AD model mice, effects of potential anti-AD treatments on inflammation and pathology. *Brain research. Brain research reviews*, 48(2), 370–378. Doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.12.026
- Vincent, B., & Smith, J. D. (2000). Effect of estradiol on neuronal Swedish-mutated beta-amyloid precursor protein metabolism: reversal by astrocytic cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 271(1), 82–85. Doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2000.2581



Physiological Effects of Dopamine

Gonul Gurol Ciftci¹

¹ Prof. Dr. Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Halic University, Eyüpsultan, İstanbul

Dopamine (Figure 1), a monoamine neurotransmitter effective in regulating hemodynamic imbalances and consisting of a catechol ringand ethylamine group, exhibits inotropic, chronotropic, and vasopressor effects depending on the dose (Eisenhofer et al., 1997, Deerfield, 2017, Pfizer, 2021; Elsevier, 2024, Tesoro et al., 2023). Indications include bradycardia, cardiac arrest, cardiopulmonary resuscitation, heart failure, shock, and hypotension. Pheochromocytoma, ventricular fibrillation, and ventricular tachycardia are contraindications (Elsevier, 2024).



Dopamine (DP)

Figure 1. Chemical structure of dopamine (Tesoro et al., 2021).

While most dopamine is from tyrosine, some are synthesized from al., 2019). phenylalanine (Klein et Following the conversion of tyrosinetolevodopa(L-DOPA) via the tyrosine hydroxylase enzyme, the synthesized dopamine is transported from the cytosol to synaptic vesicles by a vesicular monoaminetransporter(VMAT2) and stored there until it is released into the synapticcleft (Figure 2). The acidic environment of the synaptic vesicle lumen also stabilizes dopamine by preventing its oxidation (Guillot and Miller, 2009; Klein et al., 2019, Xu and Yang, 2022). Cytosolic dopamine is degradedbycatechol-o-methyltransferase(COMT) or monoamine oxidase(MAO) in neurons or glial cells to form homovanillic acid (HVA) or oxidized to form metabolites (DOPAL and DOPAC) and hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) (Xu and Yang, 2022).



Figure 2. Dopamine synthesis (Xu and Yang, 2022).

Dopamine neurotransmission is of two types: phasic and tonic (Figure 3). Dopamine phasic transmission is triggered by action potentials reaching the dopaminergic neuron synapse, which causes a rapid and transient dopamine release in the synaptic gapdue to synchronized burst firing. Tonic transmission occurs with slow and irregular firing in neurons without presynaptic action potentials and is regulated by the activity of other neurons and neurotransmitter reuptake or degradation (Klein et al., 2019). This pacemaker feature mediates the constant preservation of the basal activities of dopaminergic neurons. The determining factor here is thevariety of stimuli consisting of internal and external factors. For example, tonic neurotransmission is observed if there are fast phasic stimuli. However, if there is a reward-related event, there is phasic firing (Jabir et al., 2021).



Figure 3. Dopamine phasic/tonic transmissions (Kelin et al., 2019).

Findings from animal studies suggest that in healthy animals, dopaminergic neurons are maintained in a hyperpolarized state by GABAmediated inhibitory inputs from the ventral pallidum, the vSub of the hippocampus regulates that tonic firing via excitatory projections to the NAc, and that this inhibits the ventral pallidum, releasing dopaminergic neurons from inhibition and resulting in tonic neurotransmission in dopaminergic neurons that is effective in generating spike activity. Glutamatergic inputs originating from various areas are held responsible for phasic neurotransmission (Grace et al., 2007).

When dopamine is mentioned, it is the neuromodulatory function that comes to mind due to its relationship with Parkinson's, schizophrenia, attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder, Huntington's disease, addiction, and cognitive disorders (Klein et al., 2019, Lauretani et al., 2022; Lauretani et al. 2024). Dopamine is produced in other regions of the brain, such as the substantia nigral, ventral tegmental area, and hypothalamus (Latif et al., 2021). The dopaminergic cell group shown in Figure 4, excluding the retina, was determined by tyrosine hydroxylase immunohistochemistry. However, it should be noted that more cells than shown in the tyrosine hydroxylase stained area are located in regions adjacent to the hypothalamus and basal forebrain (Björklund and Dunnett, 2007).



Figure 4. Arrows showing the distribution of dopamine neuron cell groups in the developing (a) and adult (b) rodent brains (Björklund and Dunnett, 2007). Ige, lateral ganglionic eminence; mge, medial ganglionic eminence; p1–p3, prosomeres 1–3.

Dopamine receptors are divided into two main groups: the D1-like receptor class and the D2-like receptor class. These are then divided into subtypes. While the D1 and D5 subtypes represent D1, the D2,D3,and D4 receptor subtypes resemble D2 (Neve, K., 2009). Dopamine binding to the D1 receptor has three signaling mechanisms: G protein-dependent cell signaling, receptor desensitization, and receptor phosphorylation. In receptor desensitization, phosphorylation of the C-terminal tail and intracellular loops occurs by G proteincoupled receptor kinases(GRK) and protein kinase A(PKA) (Figure 5).β-arrestin binding to the phosphorylated receptor mediates desensitization, internalization, and potentially additional intracellular signaling events produced by activating ERK1/2 and Src protein kinases (Jones-Tabah et al., 2021). The 5q31-q34 gene encodes the D1 receptor, while the genes encoding the D2 and D4 receptors are located on chromosome 11. The gene encoding the D3 receptor is on chromosome 3, and the D5 receptor is on chromosome 4 (Meyers et al., 2022).



Figure 5. D1 receptor cell signaling scheme (Jones-Tabah et al., 2021).

Dopamine binds to D2, D3, and D4 receptors via G i / G o, activating potassium channels and inhibiting calcium channels and adenylyl cyclase. In addition, it can affect other cellular second messenger cascades. In general, activation of D2 receptors counteracts the effects of D1 receptor activation (James et al., 2024).

Recent studies have revealed the functions of dopamine receptors. To name a few, D3, D4, and D5 are shown to be related to cognition, while D2, D3, and D4 are related to sleep, D1 and D2 are linked to memory, and all dopamine receptors are functional with attention (Mishra et al., 2018; Meyers et al., 2022). While the distribution of D1, D2, and D4 receptors is high in the cortex regarding arousal and mood, D2 and D3 receptors come to the fore in prolactin secretion in the ventral hypothalamus and anterior pituitary (James et al., 2024).

Dopamine receptors are all G protein-coupled receptors(GPCRs). Dopaminergic neurons are mainly located in the ventraltegmental area(VTA), the substantia nigra pars compacta(SNc) of the midbrain, and the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus. Therefore, dopaminergic neurons project to many regions in the diencephalon and telencephalon. Dopaminergic pathways have been described as the mesocortical pathway from dopaminergic neurons in the VTA to the cortex, the mesolimbic pathway from the VTA to the nucleus accumbens, the nigrostriatal pathway from the substantia nigra to the striatum, and the tuberoinfundibular pathway from the hypothalamic nuclei(arcuate nucleus and periventricular nucleus) to the pituitary gland (Figure 6) (Latif et al., 2021, Xu and Yang et al, 2022). While the nigrostrial system is active in motor control, the mesolimbic and mesocortical systems play a role in behavioral and cognitive effects. Endocrine control is related to the tubero-pituitary system. D1 receptors, which are abundant in the limbic system, thalamus, hypothalamus, and striatum, are actually in areas that receive dopaminergic innervation. In addition to these, D2 receptors are also located in glutamatergic, GABAergic, and cholinergic nerve terminals. D3 receptors are not found in the striatum but in the limbic system (De Mei et al., 2009; James et al., 2024).



Figure 6. Pathways involved in the dopaminergic system (Xu and Yang et al., 2022).

There is a need for more detailed analysis and investigation of dysfunctions in dopaminergic pathways or receptor levels and related pathophysiological processes to contribute to the early diagnosis and treatment of diseases such as schizophrenia, Alzheimer's, and Parkinson's.

REFERENCES

- Björklund, A., & Dunnett, S. B. (2007). Dopamine neuron systems in the brain: an update. Trends in neurosciences, 30(5), 194-202.
- De Mei C., Ramos M., Iitaka C., Borrelli E.: Getting specialized: presynaptic and postsynaptic dopamine D 2 receptors. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 2009; 9: pp. 53-58.
- Dopamine hydrochloride and 5% dextrose injection package insert. Deerfield, IL: Baxter Healthcare Corporation; 2017 Jul.
- Dopamine hydrochloride in dextrose injection package insert. Lake Forest, IL: Pfizer, Inc; 2021 Apr.
- Drug Monograph, Drug Information Provided by Elsevier Drug Information; 2024.
- Eisenhofer, G., Åneman, A., Friberg, P., Hooper, D., Fåndriks, L., Lonroth, H., ... & Mezey, E. (1997). Substantial production of dopamine in the human gastrointestinal tract. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 82(11), 3864-3871.
- Grace, A. A., Floresco, S. B., Goto, Y., & Lodge, D. J. (2007). Regulation of firing of dopaminergic neurons and control of goal-directed behaviors. Trends in neurosciences, 30(5), 220-227.
- Jabir, P. K., Cheriyan, S., Korath, P., & Goothy, S. S. K. (2023). Oligonucleotide based therapeutic strategies for tackling schizophrenia-A systematic review. Asian Journal of Medical Sciences, 14(10), 293-299.
- James M. Ritter DPhil Frcp Honfbphs Fmedsci, Rod Flower LLD DSc Honfbphs Fmedsci FRS, Graeme Henderson, FRSB, Honfbphs, Yoon Kong Loke MBBS MD FRCP Fbphs, David Macewan FRSB Fbphs SFHEA, Emma Robinson Fbphs And James Fullerton MA Mbchb Mrcp Fhea (2024) Other transmitters and modulators. Rang & Dale's Pharmacology, 39, 524-538.e2
- Jones-Tabah, J., Mohammad, H., Paulus, E. G., Clarke, P. B., & Hébert, T. E. (2021). The signaling and pharmacology of the dopamine D1 receptor. Front Cell Neurosci 15.
- Klein, M. O., Battagello, D. S., Cardoso, A. R., Hauser, D. N., Bittencourt, J. C., & Correa, R. G. (2019). Dopamine: functions, signaling, and association with neuro-logical diseases. Cellular and molecular neurobiology, 39(1), 31-59.
- Latif, S., Jahangeer, M., Razia, D. M., Ashiq, M., Ghaffar, A., Akram, M., ... & Ansari, M. A. (2021). Dopamine in Parkinson's disease. Clinica chimica acta, 522, 114-126.
- Lauretani, F., Testa, C., Salvi, M., Zucchini, I., Lorenzi, B., Tagliaferri, S., ... & Maggio, M. (2022). Reward System Dysfunction and the Motoric-Cognitive Risk Syndrome in Older Persons. Biomedicines, 10(4), 808.

- Lauretani, F., Giallauria, F., Testa, C., Zinni, C., Lorenzi, B., Zucchini, I., ... & Maggio, M. G. (2024). Dopamine Pharmacodynamics: New Insights. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 25(10), 5293.
- Meyers J.L, Roseann E. Peterson R.E, Bigdeli T.B, Fanous A, Lin B, Seydhafkan S, Pincus M.R. (2022). Molecular Genetics of Neuropsychiatric Disorders: Current Research and Perspectives. Henry's Clinical Diagnosis and Management by Laboratory Methods, Chapter 73, 1452-1467.e3.
- Mishra A., Singh S., Shukla S.: Physiological and functional basis of dopamine receptors and their role in neurogenesis: possible implication for Parkinson's disease. J Exp Neurosci 2018; 12: 1179069518779829
- Tesoro, C., Cembalo, G., Guerrieri, A., Bianco, G., Acquavia, M. A., Di Capua, A., ... & Ciriello, R. (2023). A Critical Overview of Enzyme-Based Electrochemical Biosensors for L-Dopa Detection in Biological Samples. Chemosensors, 11(10), 523.
- Xu, H., & Yang, F. (2022). The interplay of dopamine metabolism abnormalities and mitochondrial defects in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Translational psychiatry, 12(1), 464.


The Elemental Changes in Anxiety Disorder and Depression

Z. Işık Solak Görmüş¹ & Dr. Raviye Özen Koca²

¹ MD,PhD, Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Medicine

² MD,PhD, Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Medicine

Introduction

The physiopathology of depression involves biological, ecological, psychological and genetic factors. In recent times, many studies have been conducted aiming to explore roles of trace elements in neuropsychiatric disorders. The deficiencies or excessive amounts of trace elements may be associated with the onset and progression of symptoms of anxiety and depression.

The minerals play a multifaceted role in the biological system, from regulating metabolic reactions to acting as nutrients, cofactors and antioxidants. Several studies have shown that changes in mineral levels in the body are linked to the aetiology and pathophysiology of many neuropsychiatric disorders, including depression (Şahin et al. 2020).

Several studies have shown that changes in mineral levels in the body are linked to the aetiology and the pathophysiology of many psychiatric disorders, including depression (Şahin et al. 2020). The aim of this section is to summarize the relationship between trace elements and depression/anxiety, the possible physiopathological mechanisms underlying the relationship between trace elements and the progression of anxiety/depression and the concentrations of determined trace elements. For this purpose, 8 elements including aluminium (Al), calcium (Ca), copper (Cu), manganese (Mn), magnesium (Mg), iron (Fe), selenium (Se), zinc (Zn) were evaluated (Figure 1).

DepressionandAnxiety Disorder

Depression and anxiety disorders are recognised as one of the diseases that contribute most to non-fatal health losses worldwide. Approximately 24.6 million people are reported to be living with this disorder (World Health Organisation, 2017). In addition to pharmacological agents, cognitive and behavioural therapies are known to be effective treatment method in treatment anxiety disorders (Luong et al. 2020).

Trace elements are essential for proper human body function. They are necessary for basic processes such as cell division, differentiation and synthesis of proteins. Therefore, a lack of these trace elements can lead to serious health problems. Recently, studies have shown that trace elements are especially involved in depression and anxiety (Młyniec et al. 2014).

Living organisations require essential elements at appropriate levels. These essential elements are crucial in various physiological processes. Excess or lack of them leads to several pathological conditions, including psychiatric diseases. Researchers state that trace elements play an essential role in anxiety and may be prognostic indicator of this disease similarly a tool for successful treatment (Islam et al. 2013). Evidence exists that dietary deficiencies in certain elements lead to development of anxiety-like behaviours. Młyniec et al. 2017).

Trace elements are substances found in small amounts in the organism. They are mainly required for vital functions. The main trace elements in humans are fluorine, cobalt, Cu, Mn, molybdenum, Fe, iodine, Zn and suspiciously Se, boron and vanadium. Disruption ofcertain neurophysiological processes due to deficiency oftraceelements can negatively affect psychological and mental processes. Scientific studies have shown that trace element deficiency can cause diseases such as depression (Zn, Cr, Se, Fe, Co, I), dementia (B, Zn, Fe, Mn, Co, V) and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (Fe). Chronic exposure to certaintraceelements (Mn, Cr, V, Co, Fe, Cu) may cause depression, anxiety and cognitive dysfunction (Janka 2019).

Different facets of the association between the elements and either depression or anxiety, e.g. the amount of an item in the diet or the serum level of an item and depression or anxiety-like symptoms, are important. The relationship between the amount of an element in the diet or the level of an element in serum and depression or anxiety-like symptomatology is important. In addition, many elements such as selenium, manganese, copper iodine and vanadium influence the physiopathology of depression or anxiety. These elements may affect enzymes as co-factors in the underlying mechanism (Młyniec et al. 2015).

Strong evidence exists to suggest that a deficiency of trace element may lead to development of depressive and anxiogenic behaviour. Supplement drugs may enhance the therapeutic effect of antidepressants and anxiolytics. The elements Zn, Mg, lithium, Fe, Ca and chromium play a role in depression and anxiety disorder. It has been demonstrated that various types of anxiety and depression may respond to treatment at several receptors and the underlying underlying mechanisms may be different. It has been observed that low-dose antidepressant administration supplemented with elemental supplements is effective in the treatment of anxiety and depression. Side effects observed in the treatments of different types of depression and anxiety can be reduced by elemental supplementation (Młyniec et al. 2014).



Figure 1. Effect of elements in depression and anxiety disorder

Aluminium (Al)

Patients who are exposed to high Al levels can accumulate it both in their plasma and in their brain. Al entry into CNS is facilitated by transferrin. Neurotoxic effects occur at high plasma Al levels. Al accumulation in the brain has been linked to various cognitive impairments. In additional, this metal may disrupt hippocampal Ca signalling pathways. Neurotoxic effects of Al affects cholinergic neurones and may impair the functions of the cells (Baj et al. 2023).

Oxidative stress caused by aluminium has been found to be associated with various mental illnesses. This association is attributed to certain brain regions that are sensitive to oxidative stress (Tsaluchidu et al. 2008). Reduction of aluminium-induced neurotoxicity can be achieved by the use of lithium potent antioxidants (Haridevamuthu et al. 2023).

Calcium (Ca)

Ca is the mineral most present in the human body. Most calcium is found in bones and a small amount in serum. This mineral has an important role in several physiological processes such as nerve conduction, muscle contraction, intracellular signalling, neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity. Ca overload can result in various neurodegenerative diseases. Conversely, Ca deficiency can cause calcification in the cerebellum, cerebral cortex as well as basal ganglia, leading to extrapyramidal symptoms (Baj et al. 2023). Ca plays an important role in the control of the mechanisms underlying emotional disorders. Ca is involved in the synthesis and release of neurotransmitters and receptor sensitisation. It is important in neuronal memory of neural stimulation (Paul 2001). Disruption of Ca and signalling pathways may be a factor in psychiatric disorders such as depression or bipolar (Berridge 2014).

Copper (Cu)

Copper (Cu) is third most prevalent transition element in the human body. Its greatest concentrations are found in the liver and brain. Cu play important roles in various physiological processes. One important function of copper is to maintain the balance of Fe levels in body by participation in proper Fe homeostasis. Cu is crucial for effective neural signal transmission. Cu is also essential for brain function and mood regulation. Cu has a role in the synthesis of norepinephrine and dopamine (Baj et al. 2023).

The role of copper in depression is complex. studies suggest that copper plays an important role in the normal development of the nervous system (Scheiber et al. 2014). Some studies have not observed a significant difference in serum copper concentrations between depressed and control groups (Styczeń et al. 2017). In contrast, depressed patients in different studies showed elevated copper levels (ni et al. 2018). Discordant results may be due to different characteristics of patients or differences in measurement methods.

Zinc (Zn)

Zn is one of the most important essential elements in living organisms. Zn plays a regulatory role in transcriptional and structural functions similarly enzymatic proteins. Daily requirement depends on gender and age. Men require 11 mg and women require 8-9 mg. Major sources of Zn element include red meat and whole grains, as well as oysters. Zn is essential for development and function of many tissues, including brain regions. Deficiency of Zn element is linked to many diseases, including psychiatric diseases such as depression-anxiety disorder. Zn has been found to produce both anxiolytic-like and antidepressant effects. Acute administration of Znhydroaspartate at doses of 32.5 and 16.25 mg/kg increased the percentage of entry into open arms of the elevated plus maze in rats. In different studies, 7-day administration of Zn at doses of 15 and 20mg/kg significantly increased the number of open-arm entries and time spent in open arms of elevated plus maze test. Another Zn salt, namely Zn chloride, at doses of 20 and 30 mg/kg showed an anxiolytic-like effect (Młyniec et al. 2017).

Copper (Cu)

Cu is a crucial component of several enzymes involved in the generation of neurotransmitters, such as tyrosine hydroxylase and dopamine hydroxylase. Around 80-95% of the copper in plasma is bound to ceruloplasmin, a Cu binding protein that helps transport copper in the blood. Cu can disrupt synaptic transmission by binding to GABA, NMDA receptors and voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels. It has been shown that Cu concentrations and metabolic imbalances play a role in various neurodegenerative diseases such as different encephalopathies, Alzheimer's and Wilson's disease (WD) (Baj et al. 2023).

Increased disinhibition and irritability, cognitive impairment, anxiety disorder and depression are common psychiatric characteristics in the patients with WD, an autosomal recessive disorder of Cu metabolism. Cu homeostasis is disrupted due to mutations in the ATP7B gene, which encodes the Cu-transporting P-type ATPase. Reduced biliary excretion and impaired ceruloplasmin formation increase copper levels and trigger oxidative stress, free radical production and mitochondrial dysfunction. WD are common and well-documented psychiatric symptoms such as depression and anxiety. As Dening and Berrios showed, 51% of patients with copper overload were considered to exhibit pathological features, while 20% had seen psychiatrist before a formal diagnosis of WD was made. Psychiatric and behavioral abnormalities are the first symptoms in two-thirds of WD cases and occur in 30-100% of patients. Therefore, the role of Cu in anxietyrelated disorders is remarkable (Młyniec et al. 2017).

Iron (Fe)

Fe is a essential element for organisms and is involved in various physiological processes. In human body, it is a major component of haemoglobin, which is particularly important for the storage and delivery of O₂. Fe is also necessary for myoglobin, which acts as a protein in muscles. It also plays an important role in the synthesis of catalase, peroxidase and cytochromes in cellular features. Fe is a constituent of many proteins involved in DNA synthesis. It contributes to cell proliferation, development and growth throughout body. Fe homeostasis is essential for mitochondrial functioning and ATP production in the regulation of energy needs of cells. Fe is a trace element most abundant in central nervous system. Fe is implicated in the synthesis of neurotransmitters such as serotonin and dopamine, synaptic plasticity and myelin sheath for better nerve conduction. Fe homeostasis is important for maintaining cognitive functions and supporting neurophysiological processes. In older individuals, Fe accumulation in brain may lead to cognitive and motor dysfunctions. Fe deficiency or excessive

intake related to damage in monoamine levels or potential for neuronal damage due to cellular toxicity (Baj et al. 2023).

Manganese (Mn)

Mn is an essential element that plays an significant role in regulation of the lipid and glucose metabolism, similarly the synthesis and activation of various enzymes. Mn plays a majör role in the antioxidant defence, energy production, immunity and neuronal activity. In the CNS, areas such as caudate nucleus, putamen and globus pallidus have high manganese concentrations. Mn toxicity can lead to oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis. Imbalances in Mn levels can cause neurodegenerative disorders. High Mn element levels can result in symptoms similar to Parkinson disease, including motor, cognitive and emotional impairments. Excess Mn in the body has been associated with neurotoxicity (Baj et al. 2023).

Mn is an important element found usually in liver, kidneys, bones, pyruvate carboxylase, arginase and mitochondrial SOD. Mn deficiency seldom develops in human population, but its toxic effects are known to come into being in certain occupational settings. Miners and welders are exposed to high Mn through inhalation of manganese-containing dust. The oral route is less efficient in delivering Mn due to weak absorption from the gastrointestinal system. Being exposed to over amounts of Mn can lead to poisoning and is associated with a several of symptoms related to psychiatric and motor functions. The clinical picture of manganese neurotoxicity in adults is known as manganism and consists of a set of symptoms that resemble Parkinson disease. Tremors, rigidity, masked face, bradykinesia, anormal posture and altered behavior. Mn exposure has been shown to lead to accumulation of compound in some brain areas, components of basal ganglia (Młyniec et al. 2017).

Magnesium (Mg)

Most total body Mg is contained in muscles and bones. Mg acts as a cofactor for different enzymes. Mg is involved in various physiological functions in the body. These functions include muscle contraction and neuromuscular conduction. Mg is also necessary for glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation. It also helps prevent overstimulation of neurons by controlling their N-methyl-Daspartate receptors. It is also required for the maintenance of protein structures, DNA and RNA, mitochondria, immunological functions and bone mineralisation. Mg is involved in the proper transport of ions through cell membranes. Neurologically, Mg deficiency leads to an increased risk of migraine, stroke and seizures. In severe cases of hypermagnesaemia, it can cause neuromuscular dysfunction, bradycardia and atrial fibrillation (Baj et al. 2023). Mg+2 may help antidepressants inhibit arteriolar vasoconstriction (Fidan et al. 2022).

Mg is the fourth most abundant trace element in the body and the second most abundant intracellular cation. The adult body contains approximately 24 g of Mg, of which about 50% is found in bones. The rest is found in the intracellular space of soft tissues. Only 1% of total body Mg is found in blood. Intracellular Mg is needed too much biochemical reactions, many of which require energy production. It plays a major role in protein and nucleic acid synthesis. It is essential in maintaining K, Ca and Na homeostasis. Mg is necessary for proper nerve and muscle function, normal heart rhythm and bone formation. Dietary Mg is essentially absorbed in small intestine and excreted via kidneys. The recommended daily allowance is 300 mg (Erikson 2003). Plasma Mg levels in healthy adults range from 0.7 to 1 mmol/L (1.5–2 mEq/L; 17–24 mg/L) (Młyniec et al. 2017).

There is also ample evidence for the role of Mg in the pathophysiology and treatment of neurological diseases (migraine, pain, traumatic brain injury, cerebral ischemia, stroke) and psychiatric diseases (depression, psychoses, hyperactivity, and autism in children). addiction as well as anxiety) (Vink and Nechifor, 2011). Magnesium (Mg) plays an important role in the etiology, progression and treatment of depression. Magnesium acts as a cofactor in many enzymes involved in brain function and mood regulation (Serefko et al. 2013). Studies have emphasized the relevance of magnesium supplementation to the limbic system, suggesting a role in the development and course of depression (Wang et al.2018). Impaired Mg levels can lead to disorders such as depression, schizophrenia, anxiety and eating disorders (Botturi et al.2020).

Likewise, the relationship between Mg intake and anxiety in humans is uncertain. A recent large, cross-sectional, population-based sample of women found no association between Mg intake and anxiety. However, rodent studies indicate an association between dietary magnesium reduction and the emergence of anxiety-related behaviors and suggest that a Mg-deficient diet is useful at a preclinical level as a model of anxiety (Młyniec et al. 2017).

In studies on Mg and anxiety, magnesium lactate, oxide or sulphate have generally been used. However, more studies are needed to compare the antianxiety effects of different types of Mg. Because it is still unclear which type of Mg is best for anxiety or depression. In order to benefit from the natural anxiolytic functions of Mg, it is recommended to consume Mg-rich foods such as green leafy vegetables, avocado, dark chocolate (Fidan et al. 2022).

Selenium (Se)

Se is an essential trace mineral that plays a majorrole in physiological processes. Maintaining adequate Se levels is important for general physiological mechanisms. Low levels of Se have been associated with several health problems, cognitive decline and immune function. Se is an important constituent of selenoproteins, which are essential to physiological functions such as antioxidant defence, immune system, DNA synthesis and thyroid metabolism. Sufficient Se prevents oxidative damage and supports cognitive functions. Excessive Se ingestion may cause some neurological problems (Baj et al. 2023).

Low serum selenium concentrations have been observed in depressed patients compared to healthy people. Deficient selenium levels may be a risk factor for anxiety and decreased cognitive function due to antioxidant pathways and decreased enzyme activity (Islam et al. 2018). It has also been observed that pregnant and postpartum women with low selenium intake have a higher risk of experiencing postnatal depression (Jin et al. 2020).

Zinc (Zn)

Zn is the world's second most plentiful essential element in the human body. It plays crucial roles in several physiological processes, among which protein composition and regulation of gene expression, RNA and DNA synthesis. Zn is required for cell metabolism and development. Zn serves as a cofactor for numerous enzymes. In the central nervous system, Zn is most abundant in the hippocampus and the olfactory bulb and is found mainly in the synaptic vesicles of glutaminergic neurones. Zn-containing neurones are highly concentrated in the forebrain. Zinc can inhibit glutamate oscillation and effect GABA receptors involved in neurotransmission. Zn levels are very important for neurogenesis in adults. Zinc serves as a cocofactor in the central nervous system, which can cause neuronal damage, neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, cognitive dysfunctions, anxiety and depression (Baj et al. 2023).

Zinc deficits can lead to a variety of conditions, including neuropsychiatric disorders such as anxiety and depression. Preclinical studies have shown that zinc deficiency has a significant effect on anxiogenic behavior. In studies, two weeks of zinc deprivation caused anxiety-like behavior as measured by open field testing in rats. It was observed that the frequency of crossing the line decreased similarly the time spent on grooming decreased. Moreover, the time spent in open arms of the plus maze test was observed to be reduced in zinc-deficient mice. According to the authors, a possible explanation for the behavior observed after 2 weeks of a low zinc diet is based on hyperactivity of HPA axis. Their study

found significantly higher levels of corticosterone in zinc-deficient rats (Młyniec et al. 2017).

Conclusion

Depression and anxiety disorders are related to essential elements in the body. The combination of antidepressant treatment and elemental supplementation has shown positive effects in patients with depression and anxiety. Deficiencies of some elements can lead progression symptoms of depression and anxiety, while excessive accumulation of others has been shown to adversely affect the prognosis of the disease. Further studies are needed to understand the role otrace elements pathophysiology of depression and anxiety.

References

- Baj, J., Bargieł, J., Cabaj, J., Skierkowski, B., Hunek, G., Portincasa, P., Flieger, J., & Smoleń, A. (2023). Trace Elements Levels in Major Depressive Disorder-Evaluation of Potential Threats and Possible Therapeutic Approaches. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 24(20), 15071. Doi: 10.3390/ijms242015071
- Berridge M. J. (2014). Calcium signalling and psychiatric disease: bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. *Cell and tissue research*, 357(2), 477–492. Doi:10.1007/s00441-014-1806-z
- Botturi, A.; Ciappolino, V.; Delvecchio, G.; Boscutti, A.; Viscardi, B.; Brambilla, P. (2020). The Role and the Effect of Magnesium in Mental Disorders: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients*, 12, 1661.
- Erikson, K. M., & Aschner, M. (2003). Manganese neurotoxicity and glutamate-GABA interaction. Neurochemistry international, 43(4-5), 475–480. Doi: 10.1016/s0197-0186(03)00037-8
- Fidan, E., Gormus, Z. I. S., Kilinc, İ., İyisoy, M. S., & Gormus, N. (2022). Effects of Combined Sertraline and Magnesium in Rat Atrium. *Biological trace element research*, 200(2), 652–660. Doi: 10.1007/s12011-021-02669-3
- Haridevamuthu, B., Raj, D., Kesavan, D., Muthuraman, S., Kumar, R. S., Mahboob, S., Al-Ghanim, K. A., Almutairi, B. O., Arokiyaraj, S., Gopinath, P., & Arockiaraj, J. (2023). Trihydroxy piperlongumine protects aluminium induced neuro-toxicity in zebrafish: Behavioral and biochemical approach. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Toxicology & pharmacology : CBP*, 268, 109600. Doi: 10.1016/j.cbpc.2023.109600
- Islam, M. R., Islam, M. R., Shalahuddin Qusar, M. M. A., Islam, M. S., Kabir, M. H., Mustafizur Rahman, G. K. M., Islam, M. S., & Hasnat, A. (2018). Alterations of serum macro-minerals and trace elements are associated with major depressive disorder: a case-control study. *BMC psychiatry*, 18(1), 94. Doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1685-z
- Janka Z., (2019). Nyomozás a nyomelemek mentális világában [Tracing trace elements in mental functions]. *Ideggyogyaszati szemle*, 72(11-12), 367–379. Doi:10.18071/isz.72.0367
- Jin, Y., Coad, J., Pond, R., Kim, N., & Brough, L. (2020). Selenium intake and status of postpartum women and postnatal depression during the first year after childbirth in New Zealand - Mother and Infant Nutrition Investigation (MINI) study. Journal of trace elements in medicine and biology : organ of the Society for Minerals and Trace Elements (GMS), 61, 126503. Advance online publication. Doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2020.126503
- Luong, H. K., Drummond, S. P. A., & Norton, P. J. (2020). Elements of the therapeutic relationship in CBT for anxiety disorders: A systematic review. *Journal of anxi*ety disorders, 76, 102322. Doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102322

- Młyniec, K., Gaweł, M., Doboszewska, U., Starowicz, G., Pytka, K., Davies, C. L., & Budziszewska, B. (2015). Essential elements in depression and anxiety. Part II. *Pharmacological reports : PR*, 67(2), 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharep.2014.09.009
- Młyniec, K., Davies, C. L., de Agüero Sánchez, I. G., Pytka, K., Budziszewska, B., & Nowak, G. (2014). Essential elements in depression and anxiety. Part I. *Pharmacological reports : PR*, 66(4), 534–544. Doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2014.03.001
- Młyniec, K., Gaweł, M., Doboszewska, U., Starowicz, G., & Nowak, G. (2017). The Role of Elements in Anxiety. Vitamins and hormones, 103, 295–326. Doi: 10.1016/bs.vh.2016.09.002
- Ni, M., You, Y., Chen, J., & Zhang, L. (2018). Copper in depressive disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Psychiatry research*, 267, 506–515. Doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.05.049
- Paul I. A. (2001). Antidepressant activity and calcium signaling cascades. *Human psychopharmacology*, 16(1), 71–80. Doi:10.1002/hup.186
- Scheiber, I. F., Mercer, J. F., & Dringen, R. (2014). Metabolism and functions of copper in brain. *Progress in neurobiology*, 116, 33–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.01.002
- Serefko, A., Szopa, A., Wla 'z, P., Nowak, G., Radziwo 'n-Zaleska, M., Skalski, M., Poleszak, E. (2013) Magnesium in depression. *Pharmacol Rep.* 2013, 65, 547– 554.
- Styczeń, K., Sowa-Kućma, M., Siwek, M., Dudek, D., Reczyński, W., Szewczyk, B., Misztak, P., Topór-Mądry, R., Opoka, W., & Nowak, G. (2017). The serum zinc concentration as a potential biological marker in patients with major depressive disorder. *Metabolic brain disease*, 32(1), 97–103. Doi:10.1007/s11011-016-9888-9
- Tsaluchidu, S., Cocchi, M., Tonello, L., & Puri, B. K. (2008). Fatty acids and oxidative stress in psychiatric disorders. *BMC psychiatry*, 8 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), S5. Doi:10.1186/1471-244X-8-S1-S5
- Wang, J.; Um, P.; Dickerman, B.A.; Liu, J. Zinc, Magnesium, Selenium and Depression: A Review of the Evidence, Potential Mechanisms and Implications. Nutrients 2018, 10, 584.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2017). Depressive Disorder (Depression). Available online: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression (accessed on 11 December 2023).



Diabetes and Probiotics

Elif Ebru Alkan¹

¹ Van Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi, Eğitim Fakültesi, Temel Eğitim Bölümü ORCID: 0000-0003-1980-3383

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is a chronic metabolic disorder marked by elevated blood glucose levels, leading to severe complications such as neuropathy, nephropathy, and cardiovascular diseases, significantly affecting the quality of life. According to the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) 2021 data, there are 537 million people living with diabetes globally, with 6.7 million deaths attributed to diabetes in 2021. The prevalence of diabetes is also on the rise in our country. Numerous studies have established links between the microbiota and various diseases, including cardiovascular diseases, certain cancers, respiratory illnesses, diabetes. (Hou et al., 2022). Research has shown that patients with diabetes or insulin resistance have different gut microbiota compositions compared to healthy individuals (Wu et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021). Understanding the connection between microbiota diversity and insulin resistance, along with the mechanisms involved, is crucial for comprehending the development of diabetes and insulin resistance. Based on these findings, intentional modifications to the gut microbiota may offer a potential therapeutic approach for preventing diabetes or regulating blood sugar levels (Tao et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020).

TYPES of DIABETES

Diabetes is classified into four main types: Type 1, Type 2, gestational diabetes (GDM), and other specific types. Type 1 diabetes, also known as juvenile diabetes, primarily arises from genetic factors that trigger the autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β -cells, leading to insulin deficiency and elevated blood glucose levels. Type 1 diabetes accounts for about 5-10% of all diabetes cases. Its etiology involves autoimmunity, genetic predisposition, and environmental factors. This form of diabetes is progressive, characterized by recurring ketosis episodes and hyperglycemia (Tanaka et al., 2000).

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus is the most prevalent form of diabetes, typically occurring in adults. It is characterized by insulin resistance due to a decrease in insulin receptor numbers or reduced insulin effectiveness at the post-receptor level in target cells. Insulin resistance and insulin secretion dysfunction are prominent features of Type 2 diabetes, which constitutes about 90-95% of all diabetes cases. Key mechanisms in the pathogenesis of Type 2 diabetes include decreased insulin transcription, β -cell mass reduction leading to insulin deficiency, impaired pulsatile insulin secretion, glucose toxicity, lipotoxicity from prolonged elevated free fatty acids, and receptor defects in peripheral tissues (ADA, 2013b).

Gestational diabetes is a form of diabetes that first appears during pregnancy. It results from increased insulin resistance and insulin deficiency or a combination of both. High-risk groups for gestational diabetes include obese women, those with a history of glucose intolerance, older women, women with a family history of diabetes, women from ethnic groups at high risk for Type 2 diabetes, and pregnant women with high fasting or random blood glucose levels (Almind et al., 2001).

MICROBIOTA

Gut bacteria perform various essential functions, including food fermentation, protection against pathogens, stimulation of immune responses, and vitamin production. Human microbial colonization begins at birth and progresses over approximately three years until the microbiota reaches its adult composition. An average 70 kg human colon contains about 10¹³ bacteria (Sender et al., 2016). The number and diversity of these bacteria change in disease states, and the disruption of microbiota balance is linked to various diseases. The gut microbiota generally consists of six phyla: Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria, and Verrucomicrobia. Fungi such as Candida, Saccharomyces, Malassezia, and Cladosporium are also present in the gut microbiota. Besides bacteria and fungi, the gut microbiota includes viruses, phages, and archaea, primarily M. smithii (Hou et al., 2022). Factors such as birth mode, antibiotic and drug use, aging, dietary habits, and consumption of prebiotics and probiotics influence the diversity and composition of the gut microbiome. Maintaining the diversity and balance of the gut microbiota is crucial for enhancing human health.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DIABETES, PROBIOTICS and MICROBIOTA

Alterations in the diversity or structure of the gut microbiota can impact metabolic activities, leading to metabolic disorders such as obesity and diabetes. Large-scale metagenomic studies in China and Europe have documented gut microbial dysbiosis in obese and Type 2 diabetic patients (10,11). These studies commonly found a decrease in butyrate-producing bacteria along with an increase in opportunistic pathogens (10,11,12). Dietary influences on bacterial flora show that excessive intake of nutrients like saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids or insufficient consumption of oligosaccharides and phytochemicals can alter bacterial metabolic activity. Consequently, the number of Bifidobacterium, beneficial for the host microbiota, decreases while Firmicutes increase. In diabetic individuals, there is a reduction in butyrate-producing bacteria (Roseburia intestinalis and F. Prausnitzii) and an increase in Lactobacillus

gasseri, Streptococcus mutans, Escherichia coli (E. rectale), and some Clostridium species. Roseburia, Eubacterium hallii, and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii reduce insulin resistance, whereas L. gasseri, S. mutans, and E. coli increase insulin resistance, thus raising the risk of diabetes (6). One of the most significant contributions of bacteria in the gut microbiota to the human body is the production of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs). SCFAs are produced by the fermentation of non-digestible carbohydrates by the gut microbiota. These acids include butyrate, acetate, and propionate (Morisson and Preston, 2016). SCFAs regulate insulin sensitivity, systemic inflammation, glucose, and lipid homeostasis.

Probiotics are extremely important microorganisms for our health. Prebiotics are defined as substrates selectively utilized by host microorganisms that confer health benefits. Additionally, the use of probiotics has been shown to reduce oxidative stress and increase antioxidant capacity (Kayacan et al., 2022).

DISCUSSION and CONCLUSION

Studies in the literature have shown that diabetes is related to the gut microbiota. Alterations in the gut microbiota have also been observed in individuals with impaired glucose tolerance and combined glucose intolerance, linked to insulin resistance (Wu et al., 2020). The abundance of butyrate-producing bacteria, such as SCFAs in the gut microbiota, is reduced in the presence of insulin resistance and diabetes (Zhao et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021). Diets rich in probiotics and fiber have shown beneficial effects in T2DM patients by reducing HbA1c, fasting blood glucose, and insulin resistance (Zhao et al., 2018; Tao et al., 2020). As seen in these studies, further research on diabetes and probiotics should be conducted, and advancements in this area should be incorporated into future diabetes treatments.

REFERENCES

- Hou, K., Wu, Z. X., Chen, X. Y., Wang, J. Q., Zhang, D., Xiao, C., Zhu, D., Koya, J. B., Wei, L., Li, J., & Chen, Z. S. (2022). Microbiota in health and diseases. In Signal transduction and targeted therapy (Vol. 7, Issue 1, p. 135). NLM (Medline). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-00974-4
- Wu, H., Tremaroli, V., Schmidt, C., Lundqvist, A., Olsson, L. M., Krämer, M., Gummesson, A., Perkins, R., Bergström, G., & Bäckhed, F. (2020). The Gut Microbiota in Prediabetes and Diabetes: A Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study. Cell Metabolism, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.06.011 32(3), 379-390.e3.
- Chen, Z., Radjabzadeh, D., Chen, L., Kurilshikov, A., Kavousi, M., Ahmadizar, F., Ikram, M. A., Uitterlinden, A. G., Zhernakova, A., Fu, J., Kraaij, R., & Voortman, T. (2021). Association of Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes with Gut Microbial Diversity: A Microbiome-Wide Analysis from Population Studies. JAMA Network Open, https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.18811 4(7).
- Tao, Y. W., Gu, Y. L., Mao, X. Q., Zhang, L., & Pei, Y. F. (2020). Effects of probiotics on type II diabetes mellitus: A meta-analysis. In Journal of Translational Medicine (Vol. 18, Issue 1). BioMed Central. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-020-02213-2
- Wang, B., Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Dai, T., Qin, Z., Zhou, F., & Zhang, L. (2022). Alterations in microbiota of patients with COVID-19: potential mechanisms and therapeutic interventions. In Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy (Vol. 7, Issue 1). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022 00986-0
- Tanaka, S., Kobayashi, T., Momotsu, T., 2000. A novel subtype of type 1 diabetes mellitus. N. Engl. J. Med., 342: 1835-1837.
- American Diabetes Association (ADA), 2013b. Standards of medical care in diabetes. Diabetes Care, 36: 11-66.
- Almind, K., Doria, A., Kahn, C. R., 2001. Putting the genes for type II diabetes on the map. Nat. Med., 7: 277-279.
- Sender, R., Fuchs, S., & Milo, R. (2016). Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. PLoS Biology, 14(8)
- DeGruttola AK, Low D, Mizoguchi A, Mizogu chi E. Current understanding of dysbiosis in disease in human and animal models. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2016;22:1137.
- Tilg H, Moschen AR. Microbiota and diabetes: an evolving relationship. Gut. 2014;63:1513–21.
- Vallianou NG, Stratigou T, Tsagarakis S. Micro biome and diabetes: Where are we now?. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018;146:111-118.

- Munoz-Garach A, Diaz-Perdigones C, Tinahones FJ. Gut microbiota and type 2 diabetes mellitus. En docrinología y nutrición. 2016;63(10):560-568.
- Morrison, D. J., & Preston, T. (2016). Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism. In Gut Microbes (Vol. 7, Issue 3, pp. 189–200). Taylor https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2015.1134082 and Francis Inc.
- Kayacan Y, Kola AZ, Guandalini S, Yazar H, Söğüt MÜ. (2022). The Use of Probiotics Combined with Exercise Affects Thiol/Disulfide Homeostasis, an Oxidative Stress Parameter. Nutrients. 2022 Aug 29;14(17):3555. doi: 10.3390/nu14173555. PMID: 36079815; PMCID: PMC9460532.
- Zhao, L., Zhang, F., Ding, X., Wu, G., Lam, Y. Y., Wang, X., Fu, H., Xue, X., Lu, C., Ma, J., Yu, L., Xu, C., Ren, Z., Xu, Y., Xu, S., Shen, H., Zhu, X., Shi, Y., Shen, Q., ... Zhang, † Chenhong. (2018). Gut bacteria selectively promoted by dietary fibers alleviate type 2 diabetes. http://science.sciencemag.org/



Colon Cancer and Gut Microbiota

Elif Ebru Alkan¹

¹ Van Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi, Eğitim Fakültesi, Temel Eğitim Bölümü ORCID: 0000-0003-1980-3383

Gut Microbiota

The significance of the microbiota for human health is increasingly recognized with new research. Numerous diseases, including cardiovascular diseases, cancer, respiratory illnesses, diabetes, inflammatory bowel diseases, neurological disorders, chronic kidney diseases, and liver diseases, have been linked to the microbiota (Hou et al., 2022). The gut microbiota plays a vital role in nutrition, physiology, metabolism, and immunology. Interest in studies examining the effects of gut microbiota on health is growing. Microbial dysbiosis, characterized by a reduction in beneficial bacteria and an increase in harmful bacteria, has been linked to obesity, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and gastrointestinal diseases in both animal models and human studies (McCabe et al., 2015; Altuntas and Batman, 2017). The gut microbiota, which contains the highest number of microorganisms and is considered the most crucial for human health, serves functions such as food fermentation, pathogen protection, immune response stimulation, and vitamin production. An average 70 kg human colon harbors approximately 10¹³ bacteria (Sender et al., 2016). The gut microbiota primarily comprises six phyla: Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria, and Verrucomicrobia. Some fungi found in the gut microbiota include Candida, Saccharomyces, Malassezia, and Cladosporium. In addition to bacteria and fungi, the gut microbiota also includes viruses, phages, and archaea, notably M. smithii (Hou et al., 2022). One of the most significant contributions of gut bacteria to human health is the production of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs). SCFAs, such as butyrate, acetate, and propionate, are produced through the fermentation of indigestible carbohydrates by the gut microbiota (Morisson and Preston, 2016). Besides being a vital nutrient for enterocytes, SCFAs regulate insulin sensitivity, systemic inflammation, and glucose and lipid homeostasis.

Colon Cancer

Cancer, a leading cause of death, results from the uncontrolled proliferation of cells mutated by environmental and genetic factors. It manifests in various forms depending on the affected tissue and organ, one of which is colorectal cancer. Cancer cells proliferate without the need for external signals and are less susceptible to apoptosis signals compared to normal cells. These highly mutative and unstable cells can divide indefinitely and induce angiogenesis to facilitate their nourishment and dissemination, leading to metastasis and proliferation in other tissues (Alberts et al., 2007). Colon cancer (CC) develops from the transformation of normal colon epithelium into adenomatous polyps. CC typically begins as a polyp in the intestinal mucosa, but it can also start as a benign lesion known as an adenoma, which has the potential to become malignant (Granados-Romero et al., 2017). Over 1 million new colorectal cancer (CRC) cases are diagnosed worldwide each year, making it the third most common cancer and the fourth leading cause of cancer deaths globally (Terzic et al., 2010). The majority of CRC cases are linked to environmental factors rather than inherited genetic changes. Risk factors include environmental and dietary mutagens, specific gut commensals and pathogens, and chronic intestinal inflammation preceding tumor development (Das et al., 2007; Terzic et al., 2010; Jasperson et al., 2010). Genetic abnormalities, involving the activation of several oncogenes and the loss of two or more tumor suppressor genes, are sufficient for cancer development (Langdon, 2004). The incidence of colorectal cancer increases sharply with age, with approximately 90% of new cases occurring in adults over 50. Furthermore, individuals over 65 have a threefold higher risk of developing CRC, with incidence and mortality rates higher in women than in men in this age group (White et al., 2018). It is estimated that about 35% of the risk factors for colorectal cancer are hereditary (Granados-Romero et al., 2017).

Microbiota and Colon Cancer

The role of individual variations in gut flora and genetic traits in the pathogenesis of colon diseases is increasingly recognized. It is understood that the colonization of the colon by beneficial bacteria can prevent potential diseases. Various studies support the notion that the gut microbiota plays a role in cancer etiology. Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the role of microbial imbalance in carcinogenesis. Some researchers suggest that gut microbiota dysbiosis induces chronic pro-inflammatory responses and epithelial cell changes, ultimately leading to cancer. The Driver-Passenger hypothesis is one such model. According to this hypothesis, native gut bacteria (Drivers) cause DNA damage in epithelial cells, contributing to the initiation of cancer. In later stages, ongoing carcinogenesis affects the surrounding microenvironment, promoting the growth of opportunistic microorganisms (Passengers). This model posits that disease progression induces changes in the microenvironment, replacing the microbiota with agents that have a competitive advantage in the tumor microenvironment and support tumor expansion. In this paradigm, both drivers and passengers have distinct temporal correlations with CRC and can represent specific roles in etiology (Saus et al., 2019).

Recent studies have shown alterations in the gut microbiota in colon cancer, suggesting that the gut microbiota may play a significant role in the initiation and progression of this malignancy (Saus et al., 2019). The gut microbiota helps maintain mucosal homeostasis and epithelial barrier function. In a healthy state,

the gut barrier effectively compartmentalizes bacteria in the lumen. However, impairments in gut barrier function can lead to "leaky gut," associated with various gastrointestinal disorders and diseases, including irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), celiac disease, and colon cancer (Altveş et al., 2020).

Microbiota and Cancer Tumor progression and invasion are influenced by inflammation and anti-tumor immune responses. Approximately 15% of cancer cases are associated with infectious agents or infection-related inflammation (Hou et al., 2022). The disruption of the intestinal barrier and subsequent direct contact between the microbiota and hematopoietic cells can initiate an inflammatory process in carcinogenesis (Altveş et al., 2020). IL-18 has a protective effect on the mucosa, and dysbiosis resulting from the absence of IL-18 production in mice can lead to colon cancer development upon chemical induction (Altveş et al., 2020). It is suggested that probiotics may enhance the effectiveness of immunotherapy in cancer patients, with the effect varying depending on the bacteria (Lee et al., 2021).

Discussion and Conclusion

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer globally and the third leading cause of cancer-related deaths. CRC is a multifactorial disease resulting from the transformation of normal colon epithelium into adenomatous polyps. Traditional treatments for colon cancer include chemotherapy, radiation, and surgical procedures. Studies have identified various microbiome alterations in CRC patients. The microbiome is often enriched with pro-inflammatory opportunistic pathogens and microorganisms associated with metabolic issues, while butyrate-producing bacteria are deficient. Streptococcus gallolyticus, E. faecalis, Fusobacterium nucleatum, Escherichia coli, and B. fragilis are more prevalent, whereas genera such as Roseburia, Clostridium, Faecalibacterium, and Bifidobacterium are typically reduced in CRC patients compared to healthy individuals (Saus et al., 2019). Recent research has shown that the microbiota can influence the response to chemotherapy and immunotherapy through myeloidderived cells in the tumor microenvironment. The microbiota is now being considered a new organ, and its effects on cancer are being increasingly studied. Understanding the role of the microbiota in carcinogenesis may enhance its integration into cancer treatment in the future.

REFERENCES

- Hou, K., Wu, Z. X., Chen, X. Y., Wang, J. Q., Zhang, D., Xiao, C., Zhu, D., Koya, J. B., Wei, L., Li, J., & Chen, Z. S. (2022). Microbiota in health and diseases. In Signal transduction and targeted therapy (Vol. 7, Issue 1, p. 135). NLM (Medline). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-022-00974-4
- McCabe, L., Britton, R.A., Parameswaran, N. (2015). Prebiotic and probiotic regulation of bone health: role of the intestine and its microbiome. Curr Osteoporos Rep, 13(6),363-371.
- Altuntaş, Y., Batman, A. (2017). Mikrobiyota ve Metabolik Sendrom. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars,45(3),286-296.
- Sender, R., Fuchs, S., & Milo, R. (2016). Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. PLoS Biology, 14(8).
- Morrison, D. J., & Preston, T. (2016). Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism. In Gut Microbes (Vol. 7, Issue 3, pp. 189–200). Taylor https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2015.1134082 and Francis Inc.
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P (2007) Molecular Biology of the Cell. 5. Baskı, Garland Science, New York
- Granados-Romero JJ, Valderrama-Treviño AI, Contreras-Flores EH, Barrera-Mera B, Enríquez MH, et al. Colorectal cancer: a review. Int J Res Med Sci. 2017;5(11):4667.
- Terzic, J., Grivennikov, S., Karin, E., Karin, M. (2010). Inflammation and Colon Cancer. Gastroenterology. 138: 2101–2114.
- Das, D., Arber, N., Jankowski, J. A. (2007). Chemoprevention of Colorectal Cancer. Digestion. 76: 51–67.
- Jasperson, K. W., Tuohy, T.M., Neklason, D. W., Burt, R.W. (2010). Hereditary and Familial Colon Cancer. Gastroenterology. 138: 2044–2058.
- White A, Ironmonger L, Steele RJC, Ormiston-Smith N, Crawford C, et al. A review of sex-related differences in colorectal cancer incidence, screening uptake, routes to diagnosis, cancer stage and survival in the UK. BMC Cancer. 2018;18(1): 906
- Saus E, Iraola-Guzmán S, Willis JR, Brunet-Vega A, Gabaldón T. Microbiome and colorectal cancer: Roles in carcinogenesis and clinical potential. Mol Aspects Med. 2019; 69:93-106.
- Altveş S, Yildiz HK, Vural HC. Interaction of the microbiota with the human body in health and diseases. Biosci Microbiota, Food Heal. 2020;39(2):23-32.
- Lee SA, Wang Y, Liu F, Riordan SM, Liu L, et al. Escherichia coli K12 Upregulates Programmed Cell Death Ligand 1 (PD-L1) Expression in Gamma Interferon-

Sensitized Intestinal Epithelial Cells via the NF- κ B Pathway. Infect Immun. 2021;89(1): e00618-20



Histopathological Evaluation of Some Heavy Metals Impact on Rat Cerebrum and Cerebellum Tissues

Nurgül Şenol¹

¹ Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, The University of the Süleyman Demirel, Isparta, Turkey, Orcid ID: 0000-0002-3090-9835

Introduction

Most of the animal and neurotoxic effects of heavy metals and peripheral nervous system indicated major involvement of blood vessels. However, little is known of its mechanism of neurotoxic action as well as the comparative evaluation of the morphological lesions after identical exposure in developing and adult brain (Murthy et al. 1987). Iron is an essential mineral in humans and plays a crucial role in vital biochemical activities, such as oxygen sensing and transport, electron transfer and catalysis (Kozan et al. 2008).

Heavy metals are naturally occurring metal that is present in food, soil and water. It is relased in to the environment from both natural and man-made sources. Chronic exposure to heavy metal-contaminated water and food causes cancer of skin, liver, lung and bladder. Heavy metal is also said to exert its toxicity through oxidative stress by generating reactive oxygen species. Free radicals have been detected in some cell treated with heavy metal. Treament with heavy metal has been shown to induce of hydroxyl radical formation in brain (Zalups and Ahmad 2003; Bridges and Zalups 2005; Bashir et al. 2006).

Heavy metals are the most important source of anorganic pollution in freshwater. Heavy metals are transported by rock pieces transported with erosion, dust transported by wing, volcanic activities, forest fires and plant cover to the water. Chemical pollutants involved to aquatic environment via atmosphere. Because these elements which are in atmosphere get to the water with the rain and wind and has an impact on the aquatic systems (Lee et al. 2007; Sönmez and Akkuş 2009).

Heavy metals left intensively to the environment cause different healthy problems on people by entering the food chain heavy metals. The food chain far reaching people through heavy metals in humans also causes a number of diseases and even death. Our aim is to provide determinig effect of in tissues especially in central nervous system as a result of consuming cause foods included heavy metals and water. Because of this study, the male rat specific ppm-level heavy metals (Fe and Zn) effects on brain tissue damages created recursively, and to reduce the effects of antioxidants (Juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone) were determined as the histological and immunohistochemical applications.

Materials and Methods

The damage of heavy metals, iron and zinc formed in the rats brain tissue and juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone) antioxidant activities in preventing these damages were explored with histological and immunohistochemical

methods in this study. Five groups were constituded by using 35 adult male Wistar-Albino sexual rats. First group was control group (1 ml. water), second was given iron (0.3 ml. stock solution from Fe/600 ppm. + 0.7 ml.water), third was given Zinc (0.2 ml. stock solution of Zn/ 400 ppm+ 0.8 ml. water), fourth was given Fe (0.3 ml. stock solution from Fe/600 ppm. + 0.7 ml.water) +Antioxidant Juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone), fifth was given Zn (0.2 ml. stock solution of Zn/ 400 ppm) + Antioxidant Juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4naphthoquinone) which was given to the method of rat Gavage. Hematoxylineosin (H&E) staining was applied to determine the histological sides of the damages of heavy metals in cerebrum and cerebellum tissues and effects of given juglone (5-hydroxy-1,4-naphthoquinone) for reducing these damages. Tissues were observed with light microscopic (Leica DM 500) examinations. Besides, immunohistochemical TUNNEL method was applied to determine DNA damages in cell (Bancroft et al. 2008) . All methods were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. The manuscript follows the recommendations in the ARRIVE guidelines (Kilkenny et al. 2010).

Results

It was observed that the number of ischemic neurons and vascular dilatation were more density in Fe group. Density of damage in brain tissue of Fe group was higher than in the control group (Figure1-4) but in the other groups were no significant difference with control group (p<0.05). Vacuolization in neurons were identificated at Fe group. Number of apoptotic cells were observed in each group. Density of damage in cerebrum of Fe and Fe+Juglone groups were higher than in the control group. Apoptotic cells were increased Fe groups (Figure 4). Apoptotic cells number was decreased in the group consisting of juglone. There was little damage and less apoptotic cells in treated Zn group.

Number of apoptotic cells and purkinje cells were observed in each group. Density of damage in cerebellum of Fe and Fe+Juglone groups were higher than in the control group but in the other groups were no significant difference with control group (p<0.05) (Figure 5-10). Degeneration and reduction in the number of purkinje cells were determined in Fe and Fe+Juglone groups. Apoptotic cells were increased Fe groups.Degeneration in Fe+Juglone group was decreased according to the Fe group because of protective effect of the juglone.



Fig. 1: Fe Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 2: Fe Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 3: Fe Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 4: Fe Group, TUNEL, X 40



Fig. 5: Fe Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 7: Zn Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 6: Fe+Juglone Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 8: Zn+Juglone Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 9: Control Group, Masson trichrome, X 40



Fig. 10: Fe Group, TUNEL, X 40

Discussion

Various heavy metals such as cadmium, copper, mercury, iron and zinc are well documented to stimulate, tissue metallothionein. Metallothionein (MT) is found in various animal tissues, including the brain, and functions as a scavenger of heavy metals as well as a survey for essential metals (Yasutake et al. 2004).

In spite of exposure to mercury vapor for 3 months, no pathological change was determined in the brains of either MT-null or wild type mice, suggesting a low mercury toxicity of the present dose schedule. The presence of mercury could be detected histochemically in the brains of grains were observed in the cytoplasm of nerve cells and occasional glial cells throughout the brain of both strains, though non-exposed control tissues indicated no mercury grains. It was not observed differences in the distribution and intensity of mercury deposits between the brains of MT-null and wild type mice exposed to mercury (Yasutake et al. 2004). It was reported that mercury deposition at cerebrum and cerebellum cells were observed in rats which exposed to mercury 10 weeks (Warfvinge 1995).

Nehru et al. (1997) were investigated when the weight of the cerebrum and cerebellum was taken separately, a significant rise in the cerebellar weight was seen in the Pb-treated group, and it resulted in a important increase in its rate to brain weight. Following combined application of Pb and Se a substantial improvement in the cerebrum weight and brain weight was declared. Histologically, the transverse section of cortex of group I (control) animals indicated a well-organized cortical layer. The cells were uniform and showed no vacuoles. In the Pb-treated animals, however, the layers were almost absent, and the neurons were diffuse in the cross-section. There were spaces and autophagic vacuoles with debris seen in many places. Pb and Se treated animals, the autophagic vacuoles were present. The pyramidal cells were reduces in size. In this study, it was observed that the number of ischemic neurons and vascular dilatation were more density in Fe group. Density of damage in brain tissue of Fe group was higher than in the control group but in the other groups were no significant difference with control group.

In the central nervous system signs of silver were identicated after higher doses of silver lactate. The sediment was confined to lysosomes of motor neurons in the pontine nuclei and in the spinal cord, but glial cells were also found to contain silver. Neuropathic changes were seen in the myelin sheaths of cauda equina axons (Danscher 1991).

Histochemical changes in several neurons in the central nervous system and spinal ganglia could be detected after about 14 days of exposure to mercury chloride. By investigation light microscopy, the reaction products were seen as black grains in the neuronal somata. In many cases the grains were localized to special regioni juxtanuclearly, but more even distributions were also found (Danscher and Schroder 1979).

Total number of Purkinje cells in iron and iron+nicardipine groups were significantly lower than control animals (p<0.005). However, when the iron and iron+nicardipine groups were compared, purkinje cell loss was higher in the iron group (p<0.05) (Kozan et al. 2008). Similar results were obtained in this study.

The administration of cadmium (100 ppm) in drinking water to growing rats from 21 days of life for 120 days consistantly induced lesions in the cerebellar cortex. Purkinje cells at places were found to be disintegrated with pyknotic nuclei, eosinophilic cytoplasm and resolution of cellular membranes. The blood vessels, however, appeared normal. The leptomeninges and deep cerebellar nuclei were splitted up (Murthy et al. 1987).

Similar results were observed cerebellum tissues. Density of damage in cerebellum of Fe and Fe+Juglone groups were higher than in the control group but in the other groups were no significant difference with control group (p<0.05). Degeneration and reduction in the number of purkinje cells were determined in Fe and Fe+Juglone groups.

Arsenic dose-dependent histopathological changes observed in brain. The section from brain show more frequent nuclear pyknosis. A significant increase in caspase-3 activity was determined at 10.5 and 12.6 mg/kg sodium arsenite in brain (Bashir et al. 2006). In this study, apoptotic cells number was higher Fe groups than other groups.

Fe/600 ppm.doses heavy metals have created a toxic effect on the cerebrum and cerebellum tissues. The damage associated with the Zn and Zn+Juglone was determined to be less significant than the damage by Fe and Fe+Juglone groups. Degeneration in cerebrum and cerebellum tissues were decreased with antioxidant effects of juglone.

Authors' contribution

NŞ and MŞ conceived and planned the study. NŞ drafted and revised the manuscript. NŞ collected the data. NŞ and MŞ analyzed the data. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript for submission.

Data availability statement

All the research data related to this manuscript will be available upon reasonable request to the corresponding authors.

Declaration of conflicting interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Ethical approval

The ethical approval of the study was obtained from the Süleyman Demirel University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee Chairman Turkey (21438139-338).

Funding

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: This research was funded by Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (Project number: 214O699).

Supplemental material

Supplemental material for this article is available online.

References

- Bancroft JD, Stevens A, Turner DR. 2008. Theory and practice of histological techniques, Churchill Livingstone, London, 427.
- Bashir S, Sharma Y, Irshand M, Dutta Gupta S, Dogra TD. 2006. Arsenic-induced cell death in liver and brain of experimental rats. *Basic Clinical Pharm Toxicol*. 98(1): 38-43.
- Bridges CC, Zalups RK. 2005. Molecular and ionic mimicry and the transport of toxic metals. *Rev Toxicol Appl Pharm*. 204(3): 274-308.
- Danscher G, Schroder HD. 1979. Histochemical demonstration of mercury induced changes in rats neurons. *Histochem*. 60(1): 1-7.
- Danscher G. 1981. Light and electron microscopic localization of silver in biological tissue. *Histochem*. 71(2): 177-186.
- Kilkenny C., Browne WJ, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG. 2010. Improving bioscience research reporting: the ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. *Journal of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapeutics*, 1(2): 94-99.
- Kozan R, Bostancı MÖ, Sefil F, Bağırcı F. 2008. The protective effect of nicardipine on ıron-induced purkinje cell loss in rat cerebellum: A stereological study. *Furat Med J.* 13(3): 167-170.
- Lee MY, Kuan YH, Chen HY, Chen TY, Chen ST, Huang CC, Yang IP, Hsu YS, Wu TS, Lee EJ. 2007. Intravenous administration of melatonin reduces the intracerebral cellular inflammatory response following transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. *J Pineal Res.* 42(3): 297 – 309.
- Murthy RC, Saxena DK, Sunderaraman V, Chandra SV. 1987. Cadmium induced ultrastructural changes in the cerebellum of weaned and adult rats. *Ind Health*. 25: 159-162.
- Nehru B, Dua R, Iyer A. 1997. Effect of selenium on lead-induced alterations in rat brain. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 57(3): 251-258.
- Sönmez MF, Akkuş D. 2009. Effects of melatonin and vitamin c on damage and expression of endothelial nos in cerebellum of chronic alcoholic rats. *J Health Sciences*. 18(2): 62-71.
- Warfvinge K. 1995. Mercury distribution in the mouse brain after mercury vapour exposure. *Int J Exp Path*. 76(1): 29-35.
- Yasutake A, Sawada M, Shimada A, Satoh M, Tohyama C. 2004. Mercury accumulation and its distribution to metallothionein in mouse brain after sub-chronic pulse exposure to mercury vapor. *Arch Toxicol.* 78(9): 489-495.
- Zalups R, Ahmad S. 2003.Molecular handling of cadmium in transporting epithelia. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 186(3): 163-188.



Hypothalamic Regulation of Food Intake and The Impact of Asprosin on Appetite and Consumption

Faruk Dişli¹

¹ Bingöl University Faculty of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Bingöl, TÜRKİYE ORCID: 0000-0002-0531-2746
INTRODUCTION

Adipose tissue not only serves as an energy reservoir but also functions as an endocrine organ. The substances synthesized and secreted by adipose tissue as intercellular signaling proteins are referred to as adipokines. Adipokines exert autocrine, paracrine, and endocrine effects on various organs (Kajimura et al. 2017). To date, approximately 20 members of the adipokine family have been identified. A recent addition to the adipokine group is asprosin (Romere et al. 2016). Asprosin is released in nanomolar levels into circulation from white adipose tissue cells during periods of fasting. This 140-amino acid polypeptide has been shown to perform two major functions. The first is that asprosin, upon being released into the bloodstream, reaches the liver, where it stimulates hepatic cells, promoting the rapid release of glucose into the bloodstream (Romere et al. 2016; Greenhill 2016). The second significant role of asprosin is its ability to cross the blood-brain barrier and exert direct effects on the hypothalamus (Duerrschmid et al. 2017). Asprosin has been found to stimulate AgRP/NPY neurons in the hypothalamus, which are responsible for regulating the hunger center, thereby increasing appetite and food intake (Duerrschmid et al. 2017; Lisa et al. 2018).

Hypothalamus

The hypothalamus is a structure weighing approximately 4 grams, located inferior to the thalamus in the brain and forming the base of the third ventricle. It is composed of a network of nuclei, each of which plays a distinct physiological role within the central nervous system (CNS) (Arıncı and Elhan 2001). As one of the most crucial components of the CNS, the hypothalamus is involved in regulating a wide variety of functions. Due to its central location in the brain, it is connected to several other brain regions, including the brainstem, limbic system, amygdala, pituitary gland, and cerebral cortex, facilitating its integration within the broader neural network of the body (Kandel et al. 2000).

Functions of the Hypothalamus and Its Relation to Food Intake

The hypothalamus is the primary center responsible for regulating homeostasis, which refers to the stability of the internal environment of the body. Several of the hypothalamic nuclei are involved in regulating long-term energy balance, glucose utilization, sodium and water balance, body temperature, sleep/wake cycles, and blood pressure. In this context, the hypothalamus serves as a bridge connecting the central nervous system (CNS), the endocrine system, and the autonomic nervous system (ANS) (Hall 2017).

The hypothalamus also plays a critical role in controlling feeding behavior. The lateral hypothalamic nuclei function to stimulate hunger, while the ventromedial hypothalamic nuclei serve as a center for satiety. Various neurons and peptides in these regions of the hypothalamus contribute to the generation of feelings of hunger and fullness (Shahid and Singh 2019). The arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus is responsible for regulating food intake and energy expenditure in response to signals from peripheral hormones such as leptin and ghrelin.

Within the arcuate nucleus, two types of neurons are involved in controlling food intake. These include pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons and neurons that produce Agouti-related protein (AGRP) along with Neuropeptide Y (NPY). POMC neurons are involved in generating the sensation of satiety and inhibiting food intake by producing α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH) and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART), which also increase energy expenditure. On the other hand, AGRP/NPY neurons contribute to the sensation of hunger and the reduction of energy expenditure through the secretion of their respective peptides. These effects are mediated by the activation and inhibition of melanocortin receptors (MCR-4) located in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Control of food intake and energy expenditure in the arcuate nucleus (https://www.vanderbilt.edu/vicb/discovery_archives/controlling_energy_balance.html).

Asprosin and Its Effects on Food Intake

Asprosin was serendipitously discovered in 2016 by American scientists led by Romero et al., during their investigation of two distinct patients diagnosed with Neonatal Progeroid Syndrome (NPS) (Romere et al. 2016). NPS is a rare genetic disorder that is primarily characterized by the presence of abnormally low levels of adipose tissue throughout the body, which distinguishes it from other conditions related to premature aging (O'Neill et al. 2007). Patients suffering from NPS often present with insulin resistance and exhibit a tendency to consume excessive amounts of food, conditions that are thought to be associated with the underlying metabolic abnormalities characteristic of the syndrome (Shagun et al. 2015). The discovery of asprosin occurred when Romero and his colleagues identified an anomaly that was distinctly different from other known presentations of NPS in these two patients. Upon further investigation, it was found that this anomaly was linked to a previously unidentified peptide hormone. Since asprosin is released specifically from white adipose tissue, it was named after the Greek word "aspros," meaning white, in reference to its tissue origin.

Asprosin is a peptide hormone consisting of 140 amino acids and is encoded by the last two exons of the FBN1 gene. Exon 65 codes for 11 amino acids, while exon 66 encodes 129 amino acids, together forming the full-length hormone. Research has shown that white adipose tissue exhibits the highest expression of the FBN1 gene, supporting the conclusion that asprosin is secreted predominantly by this type of adipose tissue (Romere et al. 2016; Greenhill 2016). This discovery has contributed significantly to the understanding of how white adipose tissue can influence metabolic processes, especially in the context of conditions like NPS, where both abnormal fat distribution and metabolic dysregulation are central features. Furthermore, the identification of asprosin has opened new avenues of research into the role of adipose tissue-derived hormones in regulating glucose metabolism and overall energy homeostasis.



Figure 2. Human FBN1 gene expression profile (Romere et al. 2016).

After being released from white adipose tissue into the bloodstream, asprosin travels to its target organs, including the liver and hypothalamus. As a peptide hormone, asprosin exerts its effects by binding to a receptor on the surface of target cells, which is coupled to a heterotrimeric guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-binding protein (G protein). This binding event triggers a signaling cascade, primarily through the activation of the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) - protein kinase A (PKA) pathway (Romere et al. 2016; Duerrschmid et al. 2017).

Upon binding to the G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) on the cell membrane, asprosin activates the enzyme adenylate cyclase. This enzyme catalyzes the conversion of a small amount of cytoplasmic adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into cAMP. The subsequent increase in cAMP levels activates protein kinase A (PKA), which then phosphorylates specific target proteins within the cell. This phosphorylation event sets off a series of biochemical reactions that culminate in the cellular response associated with asprosin's hormonal effects. These processes are integral to the regulation of key physiological functions, such as glucose metabolism and energy homeostasis, as illustrated in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Mechanism of action of asprosin (2).

It has been well-established that, after being released into the bloodstream, asprosin is capable of crossing the blood-brain barrier and exerting direct effects on the hypothalamus. Research has demonstrated that asprosin activates orexigenic neurons, including those that produce Neuropeptide Y (NPY) and Agouti-related protein (AGRP), located in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus, via the cAMP signaling pathway (Duerrschmid et al. 2017). The activation of these neurons leads to the release of substances that promote an increase in appetite and food consumption.

In addition to stimulating orexigenic neurons, asprosin has been found to inhibit pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons, which play a crucial role in inducing satiety. This inhibition appears to occur indirectly through the activation of AGRP neurons. Upon activation, AGRP neurons inhibit POMC neuron activity through GABA receptors, thereby preventing the generation of the satiety signal (Duerrschmid et al. 2017).

The activation of NPY-AGRP neurons is known to increase food intake while simultaneously reducing energy expenditure (Ilnytska and Argyropoulos 2008). In an effort to understand the role of asprosin in regulating energy consumption, Clemens Duerrschmid and colleagues conducted a study in which they infused asprosin and monitored oxygen consumption as a measure of energy expenditure. However, no statistically significant correlation was found between asprosin administration and oxygen consumption (Duerrschmid et al. 2017). It is worth noting that oxygen consumption alone may not provide a definitive indication of energy expenditure, and thus, the precise interaction between asprosin and overall energy balance remains inconclusive.



Figure 4. Effects of Asprosin on Food Intake (Duerrschmid et al. 2017). (https://journals.plos.org/plosbiology/article/figure?id=10.1371/journal.pbio.2006188.g001)

REFERENCES

Arıncı K, Elhan A. Anatomi, Ankara, Güneş Kitabevi, 2001.

- Control of food intake by the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus, https://journals.plos.org/plosbiology/article/figure?id=10.1371/journal.pbio.2006188.g001 11 Eylül 2019
- Controlling Energy Balance, https://www.vanderbilt.edu/vicb/discovery_archives/controlling energy balance.html 29 Ağustos 2019
- Duerrschmid C, He Y, Wang C, Li C, Bournat JC, Romere C, Saha PK, Lee ME, Phillips KJ, Jain M, Jia P, Zhao Z, Farias M, Wu Q, Milewicz DM, Sutton VR, Moore DD, Butte NF, Krashes MJ, Xu Y, Chopra AR. Asprosin is a centrally acting orexigenic hormone. Nature medicine 2017,23(12):1444.
- Greenhill C. Asprosin—new hormone involved in hepatic glucose release. Nature Reviews Endocrinology 2016,12(6):312-3.
- Hall JE. Tıbbi Fizyoloji, 13. baskı. Güneş Tıp Kitabevleri, 2017.
- Ilnytska O, Argyropoulos G. The role of the Agouti-Related Protein in energy balance regulation. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* 2008,65(17):2721-31.
- Kajimura S. Advances in the understanding of adipose tissue biology. Nature Reviews Endocrinology 2017,13(2):69.
- Kandel E, Schwartz J, Jessell T. Principles of Neural Science., Forth. baskı. USA, McGraw-Hill Companies, 2000.
- Lisa R, Zachary B, Knight A. A spotlight on appetite. Neuron Spotlight 2018,97(4):739-41.
- O'Neill B, Simha V, Kotha V, Garg A. Body fat distribution and metabolic variables in patients with neonatal progeroid syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 2007,143a(13):1421-30.
- Romere C, Duerrschmid C, Bournat J, Constable P, Jain M, Xia F, Saha PK, Solar MD, Zhu B, York B, Sarkar P, Rendon DA, Gaber MW, LeMaire SA, Coselli JS, Milewicz DM, Sutton VR, Butte NF, Moore DD, Chopra AR. Asprosin, a fasting-induced glucogenic protein hormone. Cell 2016,165(3):566-79.
- Shagun B, Lubaina P, Frank S. Lipodystrophy: Syndrome of severe insulin resistance. Postgraduate Medicine 2015,127(5):511-6.
- Shahid Z, Singh G. Physiology, Hypothalamus. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL)2019.



Comparative Analysis of Antinuclear Antibody Detection: Advantages and Limitations of ELISA and IFA Methods

Faruk Dişli¹ & Sedat Yıldız²

¹ Bingöl University Faculty of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Bingöl, TÜRKİYE Orcid: 0000-0002-0531-2746

² İnönü University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Malatya, TÜRKİYE Orcıd: 0000-0002-7872-790X

Introduction

As long as the immune system functions properly, it defends the body against a wide range of foreign antigens without mounting a response against the individual's own antigens (1). While a healthy organism has developed various mechanisms to protect its antigenic structures from its immune system, tolerance to self-antigens may sometimes be lost (2,3). Some immune cells fail to recognize certain structures of their own tissues and mistakenly perceive them as foreign antigens, leading the immune system to attack the individual's own cells and tissues. These molecules that develop against self-antigens are referred to as autoantibodies. There are several subclasses of autoantibodies, and they are named according to the regions they affect (4,5).

What is Antinuclear Antibody

Antinuclear antibodies (ANA) target nuclear components, including DNA, RNA, histones, and centromeres, resulting in cellular damage and functional disruption. ANA is among the most frequently detected autoantibodies, with positivity observed in approximately 55-95% of autoimmune diseases, including Sjögren's syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus (6). Distinct from other autoantibodies, ANA's ability to infiltrate cells and interact with genetic material, such as DNA within the cell nucleus, thereby inducing genetic damage, renders it particularly hazardous. Moreover, the cellular attack provokes an inflammatory response, which may culminate in irreversible damage to vital organs and tissues, particularly the kidneys, heart, and joints.

The term "antinuclear antibodies" (ANA) was initially introduced to describe autoantibodies targeting nuclear components. However, it has since been broadened to encompass autoantibodies directed against cellular structures beyond the nucleus, including those within the cytoplasm, due to the advent of the indirect immunofluorescence (IIF) technique, which detects all autoantibodies present in the cell (7). While ANA is found at low levels (5-15%) in healthy individuals, its prevalence has been progressively increasing (8). Additionally, its occurrence is significantly higher in individuals with autoimmune diseases (6). These autoantibodies are not only pivotal in the pathogenesis of autoimmune conditions but also serve a critical role in their diagnosis and management. Therefore, the detection of ANA with high sensitivity and specificity is essential. Common methodologies for ANA detection include techniques such as Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) and Immunofluorescence (IIF).

ANA ELISA Test

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) is a widely used and versatile analytical technique in medicine, known for its ability to measure multiple samples simultaneously within a short timeframe. This assay is both highly specific and sensitive. ELISA operates based on the antigen-antibody interaction and can yield either qualitative or quantitative results (9). The technique can be employed to detect antibodies against an antigen or vice versa. To identify the presence of an antibody, the corresponding antigen is immobilized on a 96-well ELISA plate, and the sample to be tested is applied. If the sample contains specific antibodies against the antigen, they will bind to the antigen. Following this, an enzyme-conjugated anti-IgG antibody is introduced to bind to the antigenbound antibodies. In the final step, a substrate is added, allowing the enzyme to catalyze a color-producing reaction, converting the results into a detectable signal (Figure 1). The results are then determined by measuring the intensity of the color change.



Figure 1. Steps and schematic representation of the ANA ELISA method

Several ELISA assays for the detection of antinuclear antibodies (ANA) have been developed and validated (10,11). Consequently, ELISA has become the most widely used method, not only for routine screening but also for the specific detection of ANA. Furthermore, due to the strong correlation between ANA levels and disease activity, it is commonly employed to monitor disease progression.

ELISA can be utilized to detect total ANA, extractable nuclear antigens (ENA), and specific ANA antibodies, such as anti-dsDNA and anti-La antibodies. Commercially available kits typically use either tissue extracts containing various nuclear components or molecules synthesized via recombinant technology. For total ANA detection, cell nuclei are often used (12), while for ENA, antigens such as calf or rabbit thymus extracts are preferred (13). In the measurement of anti-dsDNA, purified calf thymus DNA is commonly employed (14).

Studies comparing the performance of the ELISA test with the indirect immunofluorescence (IF-ANA) test have shown that the agreement on ANA positivity ranges from 87% to 95% (15). Sensitivity across different commercial ELISA kits has been reported to vary between 69% and 98%, while specificity ranges from 81% to 98% (16).

IF-ANA Technique

The indirect immunofluorescence antinuclear antibody (IF-ANA) test was developed by George Friou in 1957 (186) and has since become widely used for the diagnosis of autoimmune diseases, including BDH (17). IF-ANA detects the presence of ANA in the patient's blood, where it binds to reactive test cells (substrates), forming distinct fluorescence patterns that are associated with specific autoimmune conditions. Initially, various cell types, such as chicken erythrocytes, rat liver, rat kidney, and HeLa cells, were used as substrates (16). However, in 1975, the introduction of HEp-2 cells significantly enhanced the sensitivity of the test (18). HEp-2 cells, derived from a laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma, are now commercially available pre-coated on glass slides. Today, HEp-2 cell substrates are predominantly used worldwide for the IF-ANA test (18).



Figure 2. Visual explanation of the IFA measurement method (19)

The fluorescence patterns observed in the indirect immunofluorescence antinuclear antibody (IFA-ANA) test can provide valuable insights into the specificity of ANA, as these patterns reflect the characteristic nuclear localization of the target antigens. Common fluorescence patterns detected by IFA include homogeneous, granular, peripheral, and nucleolar patterns (Figure 2). For example, peripheral ANA is associated with the presence of anti-dsDNA antibodies and is typically indicative of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), while granular ANA suggests the presence of antibodies against extractable nuclear antigens (ENA), such as Ro, La, and Sm (17). However, due to the complex topological features within these patterns, technical expertise is required for their accurate interpretation (20, 21). Additionally, since the entire cell is utilized in IFA-ANA, antibodies targeting cytoplasmic, mitotic, and nuclear molecules can also be detected. This broad reactivity may cause confusion in terminology and create challenges when using ANA positivity as a diagnostic and classificatory criterion for autoimmune diseases (22).

ANA positivity is a critical factor in the diagnosis of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), with indirect immunofluorescence (IFA) generally regarded as the 'gold standard' for serological testing. However, while IFA-ANA is often considered the gold standard, it may not always yield the expected intensity. The performance of IFA can vary depending on several factors, including the specific test kit used, the conditions of cell fixation, the cellular concentration of antigens, and the specificity of anti-IgG reagents (22). Another issue with IFA is the initial dilution of the serum used for testing. Since even normal sera can result in ANA positivity at low dilutions, the standard starting dilution for routine testing is typically 1:40 or 1:80 (23, 24). Higher dilutions may also be used for initial screening, although this may reduce the frequency of positive results in patient samples. Consequently, the definition of positive and negative results in IFA tests is influenced by the dilution factor of the serum used for the initial dilution (25). The choice of dilution should aim to minimize the number of positive results in the control population while maximizing positivity in individuals with the disease.

IFA is inherently a visual test and is observer-dependent. Specifically, for sera with low antibody titers, determining positivity may vary between observers, leading to reduced sensitivity. Digital imaging and computer-based methods have been proposed to address this limitation; however, inter-analyzer variability in results persists (26).

Beyond observer-dependence, the IFA-ANA test presents other challenges. One such challenge is the difficulty in establishing a clear threshold for positivity. Additionally, the frequency of positive results in healthy individuals can be problematic. Depending on the test kit used, ANA positivity can be observed in 20-30% of individuals without autoimmune disease (22). The underlying reasons for this high rate of ANA positivity in healthy individuals remain unclear. However, it is hypothesized that false positive results may arise from the cross-linking of antibodies to fixed (and denatured) nuclear molecules (27).

Depending on the test kit used and the demographic characteristics of the population being studied, IFA-ANA results can range from 5% to 20%. This variability can result in elevated ANA positivity rates in healthy individuals and unexpectedly low positivity rates in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Seronegativity in these cases may be due to the insufficient sensitivity of certain test kits or the inherent limitations of IFA in detecting specific antibodies, such as anti-Ro60 antibodies (28). These issues have led to the development of alternative assays, such as ELISA, which offer more reliable detection of ANAs, greater sensitivity, require less specialized personnel, and provide improved cost-efficiency.

Conclusion

In conclusion, both IFA and ELISA are widely used methods for ANA measurement, each with its own advantages and disadvantages. IFA is considered the gold standard due to its ability to provide detailed fluorescence patterns that can offer insights into the specificity of ANA, but it is observer-dependent, subject to variability in interpretation, and has a relatively lower sensitivity, especially in cases with low antibody titers. On the other hand, ELISA is highly specific and sensitive, capable of providing quantitative results and is less dependent on observer skill. However, ELISA may lack the ability to capture the full range of fluorescence patterns seen in IFA and may require careful calibration for accurate results. Overall, ELISA is more suitable for routine screening and quantification, while IFA remains a valuable tool for detecting specific patterns and in-depth analysis of ANA. Both methods complement each other, with their use depending on the clinical context and diagnostic needs.

References

- Chaplin, David D. "Overview of the immune response." Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 125.2 (2010): S3-S23.
- Ludwig, Ralf J., et al. "Mechanisms of autoantibody-induced pathology." Frontiers in immunology 8 (2017): 603.
- 3. Ma, Wen-Tao, et al. "Development of autoantibodies precedes clinical manifestations of autoimmune diseases: a comprehensive review." Journal of autoimmunity 83 (2017): 95-112.
- von Mühlen, Carlos A., and Eng M. Tan. "Autoantibodies in the diagnosis of systemicrheumatic diseases." Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism. Vol. 24. No. 5. WB Saunders, 1995.
- 5. Elkon, Keith, and Paolo Casali. "Nature and functions of autoantibodies." Nature clinical practice Rheumatology 4.9 (2008): 491-498.
- 6. Baleva, Marta, et al. "Diagnostic significance of the titer of antinuclear antibodies." In clinical immunology (2017): 83-99.
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. New England journal of medicine. 2020;382(8):727-33.
- Dinse GE, Parks CG, Weinberg CR, Co CA, Wilkerson J, Zeldin DC, et al. Increasing prevalence of antinuclear antibodies in the United States. Arthritis Rheumatology. 2022;74(12):2032-41.
- 9. Walker JM, Crowther J. The ELISA guidebook. Series Springer Protocols Methods in Molecular Biology. 516: Springer; 2009.
- Gniewek RA, Stites DP, McHugh TM, Hilton JF, Nakagawa M. Comparison of antinuclear antibody testing methods: immunofluorescence assay versus enzyme immunoassay. Clinical Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology. 1997;4(2):185-8.
- Fritzler MJ, Wiik A, Tan EM, Smolen JS, McDougal JS, Chan EK, et al. A critical evaluation of enzyme immunoassay kits for detection of antinuclear autoantibodies of defined specificities. III. Comparative performance characteristics of academic and manufacturers' laboratories. The Journal of rheumatology. 2003;30(11):2374-81.
- 12. Jitsukawa T, Nakajima S, Usui J, Watanabe H. Detection of anti-nuclear antibodies from patients with systemic rheumatic diseases by elisa using hep-2 cell nuclei. Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis. 1991;5(1):49-53.
- Infantino M, Carbone T, Brusca I, Alessio M-G, Previtali G, Platzgummer S, et al. Current technologies for anti-ENA antibody detection: State-of-the-art of diagnostic immunoassays. Journal of Immunological Methods. 2022;507:113297.

- Sheth KV, Alkaff MA, Bahabri SA, El Ramahi KM, Al-Sedairy S, Al-Dalaan AA. Evaluation of anti-ds DNA antibody measurement by using commercial kits for use in a clinical laboratory. Annals of Saudi medicine. 1995;15(4):327-32.
- Jaskowski TD, Schroder C, Martins TB, Mouritsen CL, Litwin CM, Hill HR. Screening for antinuclear antibodies by enzyme immunoassay. American journal of clinical pathology. 1996;105(4):468-73.
- Kumar Y, Bhatia A, Minz RW. Antinuclear antibodies and their detection methods in diagnosis of connective tissue diseases: a journey revisited. Diagnostic pathology. 2009;4:1-10.
- Kavanaugh A, Tomar R, Reveille J, Solomon DH, Homburger HA. Guidelines for clinical use of the antinuclear antibody test and tests for specific autoantibodies to nuclear antigens. Archives of pathology laboratory medicine. 2000;124(1):71-81.
- 18. Lightfoote MM, Chirmule N, Homburger HA, Kavanaugh A, Nakamura RM, Papisch W, et al. Quality Assurance of Laboratory Tests for Autoantibodies to Nuclear Antigens:(1) Indirect Fluorescence Assay for Microscopy and (2) Microtiter Enzyme Immunoassay Methods; Approved Guideline–. Quality Assurance. 2006;26(13).
- Noureldine, Hussein A., et al. "The effect of the BNT162b2 vaccine on antinuclear antibody and antiphospholipid antibody levels." Immunologic Research 70.6 (2022): 800-810.
- Chan E, Damoiseaux J, de Melo Cruvinel W, Carballo O, Conrad K, Francescantonio P, et al. Report on the second International Consensus on ANA Pattern (ICAP) workshop in Dresden 2015. Lupus. 2016;25(8):797-804.
- Damoiseaux J, von Mühlen CA, Garcia-De La Torre I, Carballo OG, de Melo Cruvinel W, Francescantonio PLC, et al. International consensus on ANA patterns (ICAP): the bumpy road towards a consensus on reporting ANA results. Autoimmunity Highlights. 2016;7:1-8.
- 22. Pisetsky DS. Antinuclear antibody testing—misunderstood or misbegotten? Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2017;13(8):495-502.
- Russell A, Johnston C. Relative value of commercial kits for ANA testing. Clinical experimental rheumatology. 2003;21(4):477-80.
- González DA, de León AC, Varela AR, García MG, de Sequera Rahola M, Pérez MdCR, et al. Autoantibody detection with indirect immunofluorescence on HEp-2 cells: starting serum dilutions for systemic rheumatic diseases. Immunology letters. 2011;140(1-2):30-5.
- 25. Abeles AM, Gomez-Ramirez M, Abeles M, Honiden S. Antinuclear antibody testing: discordance between commercial laboratories. Clinical rheumatology. 2016;35:1713-8.

- 26. Hahm D, Anderer U. Establishment of HEp-2 cell preparation for automated analysis of ANA fluorescence pattern. Cytometry A. 2006;69(3):178-81.
- Conrad K, Röber N, Andrade LE, Mahler M. The clinical relevance of anti-DFS70 autoantibodies. Clinical reviews in allergy immunology. 2017;52:202-16.
- Peene I, Van Ael W, Vandenbossche M, Vervaet T, Veys E, De Keyser F. Sensitivity of the HEp-2000 substrate for the detection of anti-SSA/Ro60 antibodies. Clinical rheumatology. 2000;19:291-5.



Exercise During Pregnancy

Fatma Başar¹

¹ Prof. Dr., Kutahya Health Sciences University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Nursing, Kutahya, Turkey, Orcid number: 0000-0003-4288-9111

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, the increasing interest of women in various exercise programs has led to the continuation of these activities during pregnancy, and even an increase in the desire to exercise especially for aesthetic reasons during this period. Evidence that physically active women have easier births dates back to ancient times. Aristotle stated that difficult births were due to a sedentary (passive) lifestyle. It is written in the holy book that Hebrew slaves had easier births than other women. While exercise recommendations at the beginning of the twentieth century were limited to walking in the fresh air, the first foundations of more active exercise programs were laid in the 1930s. Vaugh's squatting exercises to strengthen the perineal muscles (around the vagina), Read's breathing techniques, and Lamaze's psychoprophylactic birth methods are examples from this period. Between 1940 and 1960, exercise programs were limited to the above recommendations and walks in the open air. However, today, more and more women want to participate in various exercise programs such as running, aerobic running, yoga, pilates during pregnancy or continue the sports they do.

The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists states that physical activity is generally low-risk during pregnancy and is beneficial for many women. However, exercise programs should be designed considering the specific needs of each pregnant woman and the condition of the fetus. Therefore, it is important for women to have a thorough clinical evaluation for possible contraindications before starting any exercise program. Women with uncomplicated pregnancies should be encouraged to continue aerobic and endurance exercise before, during, and after pregnancy. Healthcare professionals should carefully consider these conditions before making physical activity recommendations for women with medical or obstetric conditions. Although bed rest is often recommended, this is often unnecessary and it may be more appropriate to remain active. These approaches are essential for the health of both mother and baby. Regular physical activity provides a number of important benefits during pregnancy. These activities contribute to maintaining physical fitness, helping with weight management, reducing the risk of gestational diabetes, especially in obese women, and improving overall psychological well-being. Physical activity includes all types of bodily movements resulting from the movement of skeletal muscles and supports heart and lung health at every stage of life, reducing the risk of obesity and related health problems. Women who have adopted a healthy lifestyle should be encouraged to continue exercising, eating well and not smoking during pregnancy. For women who do not have healthy habits, the prepregnancy period and the period should be seen as the perfect time to adopt such healthy behaviors. Exercise consists of planned, structured and repetitive physical movements with the aim of improving certain physical fitness components and is considered an essential element of a healthy lifestyle. "In 2018, the United States Department of Health and Human Services published physical activity guidelines recommending that healthy pregnant and postpartum women engage in at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic activity per week . These activities include brisk walking. Additionally, the World Health Organization and the American College of Sports Medicine have made similar recommendations, citing evidence that exercise provides indisputable benefits for adults and that these benefits outweigh any potential risks. According to ACOG (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists), exercise should be encouraged throughout pregnancy.

The Effects of Exercise on Pregnancy and Labor

It has been emphasized that maternal, fetal and neonatal adverse outcomes are reduced in women who engage in physical activity during pregnancy and that maternal and child health are positively affected. Although it has been reported that physical activity during pregnancy does not provide weight control, it has been found to reduce the risk of gestational diabetes and hypertension, alleviate symptoms of low back pain and depression, improve women's mental health and improve quality of life. Barakat et al. found that exercise during pregnancy decreased cesarean section rates. Although there are studies indicating that exercise during pregnancy shortens the duration of trauma and reduces obstetric interventions, there are also studies indicating that exercise does not affect the duration of trauma. According to the study conducted by Ünver et al. in Malatya, it was observed that quality of life scores increased as exercise habits increased during pregnancy.

Maternal Effects of Exercise

Many women are restricted in their mobility and participation in routine activities during pregnancy, but studies have shown that a daily exercise program can reduce the risk of miscarriage by 40%. American researchers, James Clapp and colleagues have observed that moderate exercise, such as cycling and walking, protects against gestational hypertension when performed throughout pregnancy. Exercise has also been shown to prevent the onset of early labor and premature rupture of membranes and to help shorten the duration of labor. Reduced risk of pre-eclampsia has been reported with physical activity before or during pregnancy. Another study found that vigorous activity before pregnancy and light to moderate or vigorous exercise during pregnancy reduced the risk of

gestational diabetes and abnormal glucose tolerance. Exercise during pregnancy was found to reduce the likelihood of cesarean delivery.

In their randomized controlled study, Garshasbi and Zadeh found a statistically significant decrease in low back pain in the pregnant group who were exercised compared to the other group. It is emphasized that exercise programs initiated before pregnancy may reduce the likelihood of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) and may also delay the need for insulin or reduce the amount of insulin in GDM that occurs during pregnancy. In addition, pelvic floor muscle exercises from conservative treatment methods are recommended as the most appropriate treatment method for women with urinary incontinence during pregnancy. Bø and Haakstad reported that there was no significant difference in the incidence of urinary and fecal incontinence in the exercise group and the control group.

Effects of Exercise on the Fetus

Epidemiological studies have shown that there is a very strong relationship between intrauterine growth and developmental delay in the babies of women who do strenuous physical activity and who are undernourished, that mothers who constantly stand and work in strenuous jobs may give birth earlier and that these babies are small for gestational age. According to Artal and O'Toole, in one study, there was no difference between the birth weights of babies in pregnant women who do vigorous exercise and those who live a sedentary life, while in other studies, there was an increase in birth weight in the group that exercised.

Ghodsi and Asltoghiri found in their study that there was no significant difference in the birth weights of babies in the groups that exercised and did not exercise. Problems that may occur in the fetus due to exercise are hypoxemia, fetal heart rate changes and hypothermia. During exercise, the amount of blood flowing to working muscles and organs increases, unlike other organs. Fetal heart rate may vary depending on the intensity, duration and type of exercise. There may be an increase of 10-30 beats/minute in fetal heart rate during exercise. Fetal heart rate returns to normal within 5-20 minutes after exercise. This increase does not harm the fetus. Fetal heart rate deceleration or bradycardia has been reported at a rate of 8.9% in pregnant women who exercise, and it has been stated that it does not have a prolonged effect on the fetus. Szymanski and Satin stated in their study that there is no relationship between the maximum heart rate of the pregnant woman and fetal bradycardia. Uterine blood flow may decrease by 20-60% during exercise. However, it returns to normal within 20 minutes after exercise. The increase in hematocrit and the oxygen carrying capacity of the blood in the

pregnant woman compensate for fetal blood flow. While some studies in the literature indicate that exercise has very little effect on fetal blood flow, some studies indicate that it does not affect it at all. Another possible risk is that exercise may cause fetal distress. Some studies in the literature indicate that moderate-intensity exercise does not have harmful effects on fetal heart rate. In a meta-analysis study, no significant difference was found in terms of fetal respiratory distress syndrome in the exercise group compared to the control groups.

Scope of Exercise in Pregnancy

The scope of the exercise program to be prepared by taking into account the changes that occur during pregnancy should generally be as follows.

- Proper posture (posture) training,

- Teaching appropriate body mechanics,

- Strengthening arms for postpartum child care,

- Strengthening the legs to carry the increased body weight,
- Exercise and training to prevent edema, varicose veins and cramps,
- Exercise and training for pelvic floor muscle control,
- Strengthening of the abdominal muscles,

- Aerobic exercise program for the maintenance of cardiovascular (cardiovascular) endurance,

- Strengthening the muscles to be used during labor,

The type, intensity and duration of exercise during pregnancy should be well regulated to prevent potential hazards to the mother and fetus. In addition, the gestational week is also used as a criterion for adjusting the type and dose of exercise. Swimming and walking are among the safe exercises recommended during pregnancy.

Women who exercised before becoming pregnant can continue their exercise program. However, the ideal time for non-exercising pregnant women to start exercising is the second trimester. Many women think that the best time to exercise is the second trimester. This is because discomforts such as nausea, vomiting and fatigue, which are common in the first trimester, disappear at the end of the first trimester. Women who were previously sedentary should start an aerobic exercise program 3 times a week for 15 minutes. Gradually, the frequency

and duration of exercise should be increased to 4 days a week for 30 minutes. Duration and intensity of exercise are important in pregnancy. Because both intensity and duration decrease the blood flow to the uterus and increase both maternal temperature and fetal temperature. The duration of exercise should be 15 minutes in each session for beginners. After the second trimester, it should be increased by 1-2 minutes per week. The maximum duration of exercise should be 30 minutes.

Strength exercises during pregnancy should be of moderate intensity and should be repeated several times to create muscle fatigue. To prevent hypotension, the Valsalva maneuver (holding breath) should be avoided and exercises should not be performed in the supine position. If diastasis recti develops, abdominal exercises should not be performed.

Contraindications to Exercise in Pregnancy

- Cervical insufficiency
- 2nd and 3rd trimester vaginal bleeding that does not go away
- Placenta previa after 26 weeks
- Premature rupture of membranes
- Severe pregnancy-induced hypertension
- Cardiovascular disease
- History of recurrent spontaneous abortion or risk or history of preterm birth
- Thrombophlebitis or pulmonary embolism
- Multiple pregnancies at risk for premature birth
- Restrictive lung disease

Pregnant women should seek medical attention if they experience the following signs and symptoms during exercise

- Bloody discharge from the vagina,
- -Rupture of membranes
- Sudden swelling of the face or hands or ankles

- Persistent, severe headache or changes in vision or both, unexplained faintness or dizziness.

- Swelling, redness and pain in the leg

- Increased heart rate and blood pressure, extreme fatigue, tachycardia and chest pain after exercise

- Contractions lasting more than 6-8 hours may indicate preterm labor

- Unexpected abdominal pain

- Insufficient weight gain (less than one kilogram per month in the last two trimesters)

- Decrease or disappearance of fetal movements

- Shortness of breath

CONCLUSION

Although pregnancy is not a disease, healthy pregnant women should be encouraged to participate in and maintain physical activities. Exercise performed at the appropriate gestational week, at the appropriate exercise type, intensity and duration positively affects the health and development of the baby as well as maternal health. In a normal pregnancy, a woman can continue to exercise if she has previously participated in exercise programs. Pregnant women who exercise should have regular pregnancy follow-ups. In addition, according to the results of many studies, it is pleasing that although most of the exercise programs applied exceeded the level recommended by ACOG, no adverse effects on fetal and maternal findings were found. Pregnant women should receive counseling from health professionals about exercises. Pregnant women should participate in exercises within a program prepared jointly by health professionals, dieticians and sports specialists. The level of knowledge and behavior of pregnant women should be increased by organizing educational seminars and exercise programs on pregnancy exercises.

In summary, it should be kept in mind that every pregnancy is different and every woman's health condition is special. Therefore, women who want to exercise regularly during pregnancy should create an exercise plan within a program under the supervision of physicians and midwives. Therefore, women who want to exercise regularly during pregnancy should develop an exercise plan under the supervision of physicians and midwives. Midwives and nurses should explain to pregnant women who will apply the exercise program that they should apply to the nearest health institution in case of a health problem and warn them to control their heart rate during exercise. Midwives and nurses should be well aware of the benefits of regular exercise during pregnancy for the mother and fetus and should be able to use their knowledge well to include pregnant women in the exercise program.

REFERENCES

- ACOG Committee on obstetric practice, committee opinion, (2002). Exercise during pregnancy and the postpartum period, Number: 267.
- Akbayrak, T., Kaya, S. (2008). Gebelik ve egzersiz, Ankara: Klasmat Matbaacılık. API,
- Artal, R., O'Toole, M. (2012). Guidelines of the american college of obstetrician and gynecologist for exercise during pregnancy and postpartum period. Available at: www. bjsm.bmj.com.
- Balsak, D, Yıldırım, Y, Avcı, M.E, Töz, E, Gültekin, E, Kayhan K, Yorgun S, Tınar Ç, Ege bölgesinde yaşayan gebe kadınların gebelik egzersizleri hakkındaki bilgi ve davranışlarının incelenmesi, Trakya Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi, 2007, 24(3), 200-204
- Barakat, R, Cordero, Y, Coteron, J, Luaces, M, Montejo, R, Exercise during pregnancy improves maternal glucose screen at 24-28 weeks: a randomized controlled trial, British Journal of Sports Medicine, 2012, 46, 656–661.
- Belachew DZ, Melese T, Negese K, Abebe GF, Kassa ZY. Antenatal phy sical exercise level and its associated factors among pregnant women in Hawassa city, Sidama Region, Ethiopia. PLOS ONE. 2023;18(4). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0280220
- Deierlein, A.L, Siega-Riz, A.M, Evenson, K.R. Physical activity during pregnancy and the risk of hyperglycemia, Journal of Women's Health, 2012, 21, 769-775.
- Dipla K, Zafeiridis A, Mintziori G, Boutou AK, Goulis DG, Hackney AC. Exercise as a Therapeutic Intervention in Gestational Diabetes Mel litus. Endocrines. 2021;2(2):65. doi:10.3390/endocrines2020007
- Eker, C. & Çuvadar, A. (2024). Effects of Regular Exercise During Pregnancy on Maternal Health, Fetal Health and Birth Management. In: Bilgili, N. & Bilgili, A. (eds.), Academic Research and Evaluations in Health Sciences. Özgür Publications.
- Exercise During Pregnancy. Published 2022. Accessed December 3, 2023. https://www.acog.org/womens-health/faqs/exercise-during-pregnancy
- <u>Giles C, Johnston R, Kubler J, Spathis J, Beetham K. The effects of ae robic and resistance exercise on blood pressure in uncomplicated and at risk pregnancies: A</u> <u>systematic review and meta-analysis. Womens Health. 2023;19.</u> doi:10.1177/17455057231183573
- Goławski K, Wojtyła C. Impact of Physical Activity of Pregnant Women on Obstetric Outcomes. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022;19(19). doi:10.3390/ijerph191912541
- Göker A, Yanıkkerem E, Topsakal Ö(2021). Gebelerin Fiziksel Aktivite Düzeyleri ve Yaşam Kalitelerinin İncelenmesi, CBU-SBED, 8(2): 315-322.
- Harmsworth M, Savona-Ventura C, Mahmood T. High-intensity exercise during pregnancy – A position paper by the European Board and College of Obstetrics and

Gynaecology (EBCOG). Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2023;285:56-58. doi:10.1016/j.ejogrb.2023.03.038

- Herzberger V, Bäz E, Kunze M, Markfeld-Erol F, Juhasz-Böss I. Exercise During Pregnancy: Effects on Birth Weight and on the Risks of Gestatio nal Diabetes and Preterm Delivery. Dtsch Ärztebl Int. 2022;119(46):793. doi:10.3238/arztebl.m2022.0305
- Igwesi-Chidobe CN, Okechi PC, Emmanuel GN, Ozumba BC. Commu nity-based nonpharmacological interventions for pregnant women with gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. BMC Womens Health. 2022;22:482. doi:10.1186/s12905-022-02038-9
- Kasoha M, Hamza A, Leube A, et al. Physical Activity and the Impact of Continued Exercise on Health-Related Quality of Life Prior to and during Pregnancy: A German Cohort Study. Healthcare. 2023;11(15). doi:10.3390/healthcare11152143
- Mota P, Bø K. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 804: Physical Activity and Exercise During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period. Obstet Gyne col. 2021;137(2):376. doi:10.1097/AOG.00000000004267
- O., Ünal, O., Şen, C. (2005). Gebelikte beslenme, kilo alımı ve egzersiz. Perinatoloji Dergisi 13:2 s.71-79.
- Pelliccia A, Sharma S, Gati S, et al; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2020 ESC Guidelines on sports cardiology and exercise in patients with cardiovascular dis ease. Eur Heart J. 2021;42:17-96. Erratum in: Eur Heart J. 2021;42:548-9.
- Physical activity and exercise during pregnancy and the postpartum period. Committee Opinion No. 650. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Minerva Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2015;126:e135–42. 9. 10.
- Ramakrishnan U, Grant F, Goldenberg T, Zongrone A, Martorell R. Ef fect of women's nutrition before and during early pregnancy on mater nal and infant outcomes: a systematic review. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2012;26 Suppl 1:285-301. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2012.01281.x
- Rooney, B.L, Schauberger C.W, Mathiason, M.A, Impact of perinatal weight change on long-term obesity and obesity-related illnesses, Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2005, 106, 1349-56.
- Taşçı Duran E. Atay E. İmer B. (2013). Gebelikte Egzersiz Uygulamaları: Neden? Nasıl? Uluslararası Hakemli Akademik Spor Sağlık Ve Tıp Bilimleri Dergisi Ocak-Şubat-Mart 2013 Sayı: 06 Cilt: 3:63-74.
- Ünver H, Aylaz R. Gebelerde Fiziksel Egzersizin Yaşam Kalitesi Üzerine Etkisi. Türkiye Klin Jinekoloji Obstet Derg. 2017;27(2):71-78.
- Zhou T, Lin Y, Xu F, Ma X, Wang N, Ding Y. Factors influencing physical inactivity status among chinese pregnant women: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2022;22:2310. doi:10.1186/s12889-022-14757-7



Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus: The Secret of Twin Siblings and Potential Treatment Avenues

Cagatay Han Turkseven¹

¹ Dr., Mersin University Medicine of Faculty, Department of Biophys-ics, Mersin, Turkey. ORCID: 0000-0002-0584-0661

1. Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) and diabetes mellitus (DM) are two of the most common diseases in the elderly, and their prevalence is expected to continue to rise worldwide in response to an aging population. AD is a leading cause of dementia, affecting approximately 10% of individuals aged 65 years and older. Currently, there are approximately 50 million people worldwide with Alzheimer's disease or other forms of dementia, and it is estimated that this number will reach approximately 152 million by 2050. Diabetes is a metabolic disorder that affects over 400 million patients, with more than 90% of them having type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D). Studies have shown that AD and DM are not independent diseases; instead, they are often closely interconnected at the clinical and pathophysiological levels (1). DM is a chronic condition characterized by absolute or relative insulin deficiency. This condition leads to chronic hyperglycemia (high blood sugar), resulting in insufficient pancreatic beta-cell function and, therefore, inadequate insulin production (type 1 diabetes, T1D) or the development of insulin resistance and subsequent loss of beta-cell function (type 2 diabetes, T2D) (2, 3). Examination of diagnoses shows that AD is the most common cause of dementia in individuals with T2DM, accounting for approximately 91% of all cases (4). Although the exact mechanisms of insulin resistance in this metabolic disorder are not fully understood, obesity and age are recognized as major risk factors (5, 6). Recent epidemiological studies suggest a higher risk of developing AD in individuals with diabetes than in healthy individuals (7). AD is a chronic neurodegenerative disease characterized by the loss of cholinergic neurons, cerebrovascular inflammation, and accumulation of amyloid-beta (A β) plaques in cerebral blood vessels and brain parenchyma. The most prominent neuropathological changes in AD are dense senile amyloid plaques in the hippocampus and the cortex. The $A\beta$ peptide is the main component of senile plaques and has numerous toxic effects on neurons, astrocytes, glial cells, and the brain endothelium. Recent research has shed light on oxidative stress and neuroinflammatory pathways (8). In line with this, the studies indicate a close association between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes mellitus through common factors such as chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, vascular damage, impaired insulin signaling, and shared pathogenic mechanisms (9-18). The convergence of Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus has sparked immense interest among researchers and clinicians, leading to a wealth of studies aimed at unraveling the underlying connection between the two conditions. Furthermore, studies have shown that the presence of Diabetes Mellitus can exacerbate the progression of Alzheimer's

Disease, resulting in more severe cognitive impairment and accelerated neurodegeneration. These findings have underscored the need to explore the shared pathophysiological mechanisms that underpin the relationship between these two seemingly distinct diseases. Given the interaction of insulin signaling with Alzheimer's disease (AD) or cognitive impairments and the increasing evidence of shared pathophysiological findings between AD and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), there is significant interest in exploring the potential benefits of approved antidiabetic drugs for the treatment of AD (19). The research data have shown improvements in the cognitive functions of patients administered antidiabetic drugs such as intranasal insulin, metformin, thiazolidinediones, and incretins (20). Numerous clinical studies have evaluated the effects of antidiabetic drugs on the pathological markers of AD have been conducted, and animal studies have demonstrated positive effects in various areas, including tau protein pathology, β-amyloid accumulation, neurogenesis, oxidative stress, synaptic function, cognitive function, and neuroinflammation (21-35). Findings from clinical trials conducted specifically on AD patients, taking advantage of the understanding of the relationship between AD and insulin resistance, support the development of AD therapeutics and suggest that antidiabetic drugs may be a neuroprotective treatment approach for AD (20). In this comprehensive review, we will explore the shared pathophysiological mechanisms, the impact of insulin resistance on Alzheimer's Disease, the role of amyloid β and oxidative stress, potential treatment avenues including antidiabetic drugs and lifestyle interventions, current research and clinical trials, as well as future perspectives and challenges. By the end of this article, you will have a deeper understanding of the intricate relationship between these two conditions and the potential treatment avenues that could revolutionize the way we approach Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus.

2. The Link Between Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus

The link between Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus has been a subject of intense scientific investigation in recent years. This association has sparked curiosity and led researchers to explore the underlying biological mechanisms that may connect these two seemingly unrelated conditions. As a result of this direction, there are some common risk factors for AD and T2D, including high cholesterol levels, cellular degeneration, beta-amyloid accumulation, oxidative stress, inflammation, cardiovascular problems, metabolic syndrome, glycogen synthase kinase 3, τ protein phosphorylation, apolipoprotein E4, and apoptosis (36-39). Furthermore, reports have shown that insulin plays a significant role in neurological functions, and that a deficiency in

insulin or reduced sensitivity of insulin receptors may lead to decreased acetylcholine levels. This suggests a possible biochemical connection between AD and T2D (36, 39, 40). These relationships may be due to uncontrolled elevation of blood sugar directly impacting neurodegenerative changes in the brain or may have originated from other health issues associated with diabetes or the effects of excessive insulin (41-43). Hyperinsulinemia accompanying type 2 diabetes may serve as a link between AD and DM because it can influence the accumulation of amyloid-beta peptide in the brain by competing with the enzyme that breaks down insulin. Receptors for advanced glycation end products have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetes. These receptors can be found in cells associated with neurofibrillary tangles and may function as cell surface receptors for amyloid-beta peptide. Another significant factor is the presence of excess adipose tissue in the body, which can increase inflammation through cytokines that lead to the production of adipocytes critical for metabolism and insulin resistance. Adiponectin, leptin, resistin, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and interleukin 6 (IL-6) are associated with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia and may directly or indirectly influence AD risk (44). This is because oxidative stress in AD, caused by the accumulation of $A\beta$ plaques, activates microglia and astrocytes to create proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and interleukins (ILs), which can have proapoptotic and synaptotoxic effects on neurons (45). Insulin resistance and AD lead to activation of molecular markers such as nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), increased cytokine release, and elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS). This leads to an increase in amyloid-beta (A β) accumulation and hyperphosphorylation of the tau protein. Additionally, insulin resistance reduces the levels of insulin-degrading enzyme (IDE), an enzyme that breaks down insulin, leading to problems in the clearance of amyloid β . Higher levels of amyloid β can lead to a decrease in insulin receptor expression, further increasing insulin resistance and creating a vicious cycle (46). In light of this information, AD can be considered as a metabolic disease in the brain caused by insulin resistance, leading to the proposed term "type 3 DM." Type 3 diabetes primarily refers to a condition in which brain cells do not respond to insulin, resulting in disruption of synaptic function, metabolism, and immune response, among other areas (47).

3. Shared Pathophysiological Mechanisms

Several pathophysiological mechanisms are common between Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus, which might explain the increased risk of developing AD among individuals with DM. These mechanisms span from

insulin resistance, glucose metabolism dysregulation, chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction. Understanding these connections sheds light on the intricate relationship between metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders.

3.1. Insulin Resistance and Glucose Metabolism

The brain, like other organs in the body, is insulin-sensitive, and insulin signaling regulates energy metabolism, cell survival, and neuroplasticity. Insulin's neuroprotective effects not only support neuronal growth and survival but are also vital for cognitive processes such as learning and memory. Recent evidence suggests that insulin regulates the concentration of neurotransmitters such as acetylcholine, norepinephrine, and epinephrine, which play crucial roles in memory formation. Additionally, insulin supports neuronal plasticity and cholinergic functions essential for learning, memory, and myelin maintenance. However, disruptions in insulin signaling have emerged as a significant factor linking Alzheimer's disease (AD) and diabetes mellitus (DM) (48). Impaired insulin signaling is a common denominator between AD and DM. In AD, insulin resistance is not confined to systemic levels but also occurs in the brain, impairing neuronal function, synaptic plasticity, and memory formation, thereby exacerbating cognitive decline (48-52). Alterations in molecules involved in the insulin signaling pathway are thought to contribute to the pathogenesis of AD (52). Insulin receptors (IRs), with their tyrosine kinase activity, regulate biological processes such as cell growth, protein synthesis, and glucose transport (52). In addition to peripheral tissues, IRs are present in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex, playing crucial roles in learning and memory. Insulin can cross into the brain from circulation or be endogenously produced (52). By binding to IRs, insulin triggers autophosphorylation and activates insulin receptor substrates (IRS-1 and IRS-2), leading to the activation of signaling pathways such as phosphoinositide 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT) (53). The PI3K/AKT pathway regulates critical processes, including protein synthesis, cell survival, energy metabolism, and amyloid-beta (A β) clearance. It also activates signaling cascades like the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), associated with synaptic plasticity and memory formation (54). The PI3K-AKT pathway supports mechanisms that promote neuronal growth and survival while suppressing apoptosis (52). This pathway also regulates the activity of glycogen synthase kinase-3β (GSK-3β), which can influence tau expression. Hyperactivation of GSK-3 β may lead to tau hyperphosphorylation, a key process in the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) in AD pathology (48). Inhibition of GSK-3β prevents tau hyperphosphorylation. Dysregulation of this pathway can exacerbate AD pathology by promoting abnormal tau phosphorylation (52). Furthermore, the PI3K-AKT cascade modulates GABAergic transmission, which plays a critical role in learning and memory processes (55). Alterations in the mTOR signaling pathway can downregulate insulin receptors, exacerbating insulin resistance, and contributing to AD pathogenesis under hyperinsulinemic conditions (56). Data from animal and cell culture models reveal insulin's effects on both the production and degradation of A β (52). Insulin can elevate extracellular A β levels by modulating γ -secretase activity or increasing A β release from neurons. Insulin-degrading enzyme (IDE), which plays a vital role in A β degradation, may be competitively inhibited by insulin, reducing A β breakdown (57-59). Moreover, reduced IDE levels and activity have been reported in hyperinsulinemic animals. A β has also been shown to interfere with insulin signaling. Aß peptides may inhibit insulin binding and receptor autophosphorylation, directly impairing insulin's effects (52). Recent studies suggest that $A\beta$ can induce insulin resistance by downregulating insulin receptors (60). The impact of insulin resistance on AD pathophysiology has been studied in various animal models. Diet-induced insulin resistance has been shown to increase A β production, enhance γ -secretase activity, and reduce IDE activity in AD transgenic mice (61). Factors like excessive caloric intake can lead to metabolic changes such as obesity, hyperglycemia, and hyperlipidemia, which independently contribute to AD pathology (52). Postmortem analyses of AD brains reveal significant reductions in the expression of insulin and insulin signaling molecules (e.g., IR, IRS-1, IRS-2) (62, 63). These findings suggest impaired insulin signaling in AD brains, though it remains unclear whether this is a cause or consequence of neurodegeneration. Experimental models with intentionally disrupted insulin functions have demonstrated that AD neuropathologies, such as amyloid accumulation and hyperphosphorylated tau protein, can be induced. Furthermore, diabetes mellitus (DM) is thought to contribute to the relationship between AD and DM by altering the structure and function of cerebral blood vessels. DM has been shown to impair cerebral blood flow regulation, disrupt the blood-brain barrier (BBB), and reduce the brain's repair potential. Glycation, a process in which free glucose molecules nonenzymatically bind to proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids, accelerates under hyperglycemic conditions, leading to the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs). AGE accumulation causes tissue damage and disrupts cellular functions, while its receptor, RAGE (Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products), has been identified as a key pathway triggering inflammation and oxidative stress (48-52). Overactivation of RAGE plays a central role in the pathogenesis of chronic inflammatory and neurodegenerative diseases such as DM and AD. AGE-RAGE interactions can initiate vascular dysfunction and oxidative stress processes in AD. This increases BBB permeability and disrupts cerebral circulation, thereby accelerating amyloid-beta (A β) accumulation and neurodegeneration. A β , a major component of senile plaques (SP)—one of the histopathological markers of AD—induces damage to both neuronal and vascular structures. Vascular inflammation and oxidative stress mechanisms triggered via RAGE are also implicated in this process. RAGE is suggested to play a significant role in the vascular dysfunction effects of $A\beta$ and may serve as an alternative therapeutic target in AD (52). The interaction of RAGE with A β can further impair cerebral circulation by increasing the expression of inflammatory cytokines and endothelin-1. This process lies at the intersection of DM and AD pathophysiology, providing critical insights for identifying therapeutic targets for these diseases. In addition, one of DM's contributions to AD pathogenesis involves disturbances in energy metabolism. AGE accumulation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) impair ATP production, leading to neuronal dysfunction. Studies in diabetic animal models have demonstrated a decline in glycolytic capacity, which, together with reduced ATP production, negatively impacts synaptic activity. Dysregulation of glucose metabolism is another common feature. Chronic hyperglycemia in DM impairs glucose transport to the brain, reducing the availability of energy substrates for neurons. This metabolic dysfunction increases the risk of AD by causing brain energy deficits and neuronal damage (48, 49). Glucose transporter proteins (GLUT), particularly GLUT4 and GLUT8, are insulin-sensitive, and insulin signaling regulates their phosphorylation. However, in diabetic conditions, disruptions in insulin signaling inhibit glucose transport and utilization in the brain, accelerating cognitive decline. Apolipoprotein E (APOE) genotype is another significant factor in the relationship between DM and AD. In individuals carrying the APOE4 allele, reduced glucose metabolism has been observed in the posterior cingulate, precuneus, and lateral parietal regions. These metabolic abnormalities exacerbate neuronal damage in both AD and DM, triggering neurodegenerative processes (49). Considering the significant role of RAGEinduced vascular inflammation and oxidative stress in these pathways, the AGE-RAGE axis is proposed as a potential therapeutic target for both DM and AD. The reciprocal interactions between AGE accumulation and insulin signaling affecting energy metabolism, synaptic activity, and mitochondrial function-are crucial elements to consider in treatment strategies for DM and AD (52). The accumulation of A β plaques, a hallmark feature of AD, is exacerbated in individuals with DM. Mechanisms such as increased AGE production and oxidative stress contribute to enhanced A β deposition (48, 51, 64). Tau pathology, characterized by the formation of neurofibrillary tangles, is also associated with metabolic disruptions commonly observed in DM. Factors such as oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction further promote tau phosphorylation and aggregation (48, 65).

In this context, approaches aimed at optimizing glycemic control may not only slow the progression of AD but also alleviate the cognitive complications of DM. Therapeutic strategies targeting AGE accumulation and RAGE activation may play a critical role in reducing vascular inflammation and improving cerebral energy metabolism.

3.2. The Impact of Inflammation on Neural and Metabolic Processes

Both diseases are characterized by systemic and neuroinflammation, with increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and immune cell activation, promoting the pathological changes in both brain and peripheral tissues (65, 66). In DM, chronic hyperglycemia and insulin resistance lead to the persistent activation of inflammatory responses. Hyperglycemia increases the accumulation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and their receptors (RAGE), which in turn amplify inflammation and oxidative stress. The AGE-RAGE interaction enhances the release of proinflammatory cytokines and promotes the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), exacerbating both vascular and neuronal damage. Activation of the AGE-RAGE axis further reinforces the peripheral inflammation reflected in the central nervous system (51, 52). This process increases the release of cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , supporting systemic inflammation. These cytokines disrupt insulin signaling pathways by enhancing serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), thereby inhibiting glucose uptake. IL-1 β triggers β -cell apoptosis, while IL-6 strengthens inflammatory signaling pathways, further increasing systemic insulin resistance. TNF- α reduces insulin's effectiveness and increases free fatty acids, perpetuating the inflammatory cycle. These processes not only contribute to the chronic complications of DM but also serve as critical triggers for the pathogenesis of AD. Consequently, elevated proinflammatory cytokine levels in DM patients hyperactivate immune cells, causing damage in both peripheral tissues and the brain (65).

In AD, neuroinflammation is characterized by the activation of microglia and astrocytes. Overactivation of microglia promotes chronic neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in AD brains, while in DM, metabolic insult due to hyperglycemia primes microglia toward an exaggerated inflammatory response

(51). Activated microglia evoke significant alterations in both their morphology and functionality, and once activated, they react by taking on an amoeboid or bushy shape and show an enhanced capacity for chemotaxis, phagocytosis, and the release of a large number of bioactive compounds, including cytokines, chemokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and nitric oxide bioactive compounds. In neurodegenerative diseases, activated microglia play a major role in the modulation of chronic local inflammation, which becomes an important factor in modifying neuronal function leading to cell damage and death. Activation of the multifunctional protein complex nuclear factor-kappa B (NFkB), a major proinflammatory signaling system. (67). The brain is particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress and inflammation, exhibiting significant increases in the response to different initiators. Although previously primarily associated with cell damage and cell death, these altered states of neurons and glia also contribute to the damage observed during neurodegenerative diseases associated with inflammatory and oxidative stress processes. The occurrence and progression of neuroinflammation involve a complex interaction between various types of cells, including astrocytes, microglia, and neurons. While astrocytes and microglia are the major immune cells of the brain, neurons have been shown to generate local inflammatory mediators, such as the chemokine fractalkine (FKN or CX3CL1), essential for crosstalk between neurons and microglia. Microglia, in particular, are highly dynamic cells designed to react to cellular stress conditions. Hence, even in their resting or surveillance state, microglia continuously monitor the tissue and, in response to tissue disturbances, can adopt various morphological states to fulfill their typical functions. (68)

The activation of glial cells in response to $A\beta$ plaques and hyperphosphorylated tau protein triggers the release of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , leading to the chronicization of the inflammatory response. IL-1 β and TNF- α enhance β secretase (BACE1) activity, accelerating $A\beta$ production and suppressing microglial phagocytosis, thereby promoting $A\beta$ accumulation. This process results in impairments in synaptic plasticity and accelerates cognitive decline. When released by microglia, IL-1 β strengthens inflammatory cycles and disrupts synaptic function, inducing long-term depression (LTD) in hippocampal neurons (65). IL-6, primarily produced by activated astrocytes, sustains both central and peripheral inflammation. IL-6 has been shown to accumulate around amyloid plaques and stabilize their formation. Additionally, IL-6 promotes the activation of kinases such as GSK-3 β and CDK5, which support tau protein hyperphosphorylation, thereby disrupting microtubule stability. TNF- α and IL-1 β also increase the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), facilitating
the entry of peripheral inflammatory mediators into the central nervous system. This BBB disruption further exacerbates A β accumulation, intensifying the neuroinflammatory cycle and contributing to the progression of AD (48, 65).

The activation of macrophages and microglial cells provides a common foundation for the inflammatory processes in both DM and AD. The increase in inflammatory cytokines in DM serves as a trigger that accelerates the neurodegenerative processes of AD. For instance, elevated peripheral levels of cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α enhance microglial activation and support A β pathology. Additionally, hyperglycemia and insulin resistance disrupt energy metabolism, further aggravating the neuroinflammatory processes characteristic of AD. Excessive production of TNF- α and IL-1 β facilitates the transition of astrocytes into a reactive phenotype. These reactive astrocytes cause polarization loss in AQP4 (aquaporin 4) channels, disrupting the brain's glymphatic system and impairing A β clearance. Reduced efficiency of the glymphatic pathway plays a critical role in AD progression. Chemokines released by microglial cells can also exacerbate neuronal damage; for example, chemokines like CCL2 trigger the clustering of inflammatory cells around neurons, further worsening synaptic dysfunction (65).

The combination of neuroinflammation and systemic inflammation forms the shared mechanisms of AD and DM. In AD, IL-6 and TNF- α enhance glutamatemediated excitotoxicity in neurons, triggering oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction. In DM, these cytokines impair insulin production and signaling pathways, weakening energy metabolism. Additionally, AGE accumulation and RAGE activation create a feedback loop that further amplifies the inflammatory response (51, 52, 65).

The inflammatory link between DM and AD requires a deeper understanding of immune responses and the development of therapeutic targets. Achieving glycemic control in the early stages of DM and suppressing the AGE-RAGE axis can help regulate inflammatory processes in both diseases. Similarly, therapeutic approaches targeting cytokine-mediated pathways may play a critical role in reducing neuroinflammation. Treatments that prevent AGE accumulation and inhibit RAGE activation may not only slow the progression of AD but also alleviate the cognitive complications of DM. In this context, strategies targeting inflammation offer new hope for breaking the mutually reinforcing effects of AD and DM, providing promising avenues for the treatment of both conditions.

3.3. Oxidative Stress and Mitochondrial Dysfunction

Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction are interconnected processes that exacerbate cellular damage in both conditions. In these states, excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) production overwhelms the antioxidant defense system, leading to protein, lipid, and DNA damage. Mitochondrial dysfunction further amplifies this process by reducing ATP production and increasing ROS generation, creating a vicious cycle that promotes cellular and neuronal injury.

Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress are central mechanisms in the pathogenesis of both Alzheimer's disease (AD) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Mitochondria play a crucial role in cellular processes, including energy metabolism, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, and calcium homeostasis. However, in AD patients, imbalances in mitochondrial dynamics (fusion and fission), insufficient mitophagy, and increased ROS production accelerate synaptic dysfunction and neurodegeneration (69). Specifically, mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) damage contributes to reduced energy production and cellular dysfunction, leading to impaired synaptic plasticity and cognitive decline (70). Insulin resistance and hyperglycemia in T2DM are directly linked to the pathogenesis of AD. Impairments in insulin signaling promote glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β) activation, leading to tau hyperphosphorylation and amyloid-beta (A β) accumulation. Systemic inflammation and glucose metabolism disturbances in T2DM exacerbate neuroinflammation and mitochondrial dysfunction observed in AD (71, 72). The loss of insulin's neuroprotective effects restricts glucose uptake, resulting in energy imbalance and increased oxidative stress. These processes contribute to synaptic plasticity deficits and accelerate neurodegeneration in both diseases (70). Mitochondrial dysfunction, together with increased oxidative stress, activates cell death pathways, which are associated with reduced cerebral glucose metabolism in T2DM and neuronal damage in AD. In T2DM patients, reduced cerebral glucose metabolism exacerbates the cognitive complications of AD. Moreover, increased ROS production leads to damage to proteins, lipids, and DNA, further impairing mitochondrial functions (69). Hyperglycemia, in particular, disrupts oxidative phosphorylation processes, decreases mitochondrial biogenesis, and negatively impacts energy metabolism (72).

These findings highlight the reciprocal interaction of oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of AD and

T2DM. Strategies that support mitochondrial biogenesis, reduce oxidative stress through antioxidant therapies, and improve insulin sensitivity are considered potential therapeutic targets to slow disease progression. Lifestyle modifications, regular physical exercise, and multi-targeted pharmacological interventions are promising approaches for managing these processes (69, 70, 71, 72).

4. Conclusion

The growing body of evidence highlights the intricate relationship between Alzheimer's disease (AD) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), emphasizing shared pathophysiological mechanisms such as oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, insulin resistance, and chronic inflammation. These interconnected processes exacerbate neuronal injury, synaptic dysfunction, and cognitive decline, providing a foundation for understanding the overlap between metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders. Mitochondrial imbalances, including disrupted dynamics (fusion and fission), impaired mitophagy, and increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, emerge as key contributors to the progression of both conditions. Concurrently, insulin resistance and hyperglycemia disrupt energy metabolism, fueling oxidative stress and inflammatory cascades that amplify neurodegeneration in AD.

Given these findings, future research should prioritize integrative approaches targeting the shared molecular pathways of AD and T2DM. Strategies aimed at enhancing mitochondrial biogenesis, reducing oxidative stress, and restoring insulin sensitivity hold significant therapeutic potential. Lifestyle interventions, such as regular physical activity, dietary modifications, and glycemic control, may serve as accessible and cost-effective measures to mitigate the risk of AD in diabetic patients. In addition, pharmacological approaches, including repurposed antidiabetic drugs such as metformin, intranasal insulin, thiazolidinediones, and incretin-based therapies, have demonstrated promising results in both preclinical and clinical settings, improving cognitive functions and reducing pathological markers of AD.

Future perspectives should focus on advancing multi-targeted therapies that simultaneously address oxidative damage, mitochondrial dysfunction, and insulin resistance. Innovative research into personalized medicine approaches—considering genetic, metabolic, and lifestyle factors—could offer tailored treatments for individuals at risk of both conditions. The development of novel biomarkers to detect early-stage mitochondrial and metabolic dysfunction may also aid in timely diagnosis and intervention. Furthermore, long-term clinical

trials are needed to assess the efficacy and safety of combination therapies targeting these shared mechanisms.

In conclusion, understanding the complex interplay between AD and T2DM not only sheds light on the pathogenesis of these diseases but also opens new avenues for prevention and treatment. By bridging the gap between metabolic and neurodegenerative research, it may be possible to develop comprehensive strategies that slow disease progression, preserve cognitive function, and ultimately improve patient outcomes.

REFERENCES

- Yuan X, Yan F, Gao LH, Ma QH, Wang J. Hypericin as a potential drug for treating Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes with a view to drug repositioning. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2023 Nov;29(11):3307-3321. doi: 10.1111/cns.14260. Epub 2023 May 14.
- Rawshani, A., Rawshani, A., Franzén, S., Eliasson, B., Svensson, A. M., Miftaraj, M., McGuire, D. K., Sattar, N., Rosengren, A., & Gudbjörnsdottir, S. (2017). Mortality and Cardiovascular Disease in Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. The New England journal of medicine, 376(15), 1407–1418. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1608664
- Lu, J., Xie, G., Jia, W., & Jia, W. (2013). Metabolomics in human type 2 diabetes research. Frontiers of medicine, 7(1), 4–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11684-013-0248-4
- Luchsinger, J. A., Tang, M. X., Shea, S., & Mayeux, R. (2004). Hyperinsulinemia and risk of Alzheimer disease. Neurology, 63(7), 1187–1192. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000140292.04932.87
- Naseer, M. I., Bibi, F., Alqahtani, M. H., Chaudhary, A. G., Azhar, E. I., Kamal, M. A., & Yasir, M. (2014). Role of gut microbiota in obesity, type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. CNS & neurological disorders drug targets, 13(2), 305–311. https://doi.org/10.2174/18715273113126660147
- Chen, Y., Yu, Q., & Gong, C. X. (2019). Molecular Connection Between Diabetes and Dementia. Advances in experimental medicine and biology, 1128, 103–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3540-2_6
- Sun, Y., Ma, C., Sun, H., Wang, H., Peng, W., Zhou, Z., Wang, H., Pi, C., Shi, Y., & He, X. (2020). Metabolism: A Novel Shared Link between Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of diabetes research, 2020, 4981814. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4981814
- Turkseven, C.H. (2023), Non-Invasive Brain Stimulation Treatment Methods In Alzheimer's Disease, E. Şahna, H. Akgül, R. İrkin, Z. Selamoğlu, Academic Studies in Health Sciences, (p. 134-150), Ankara: Gece Kitaplığı. ISBN: 978-625-425-223-5.
- Fiore, V., Rosa, A., Falasca, P., Marci, M., Guastamacchia, E., Licchelli, B., Giagulli, V., Pergola, G., Poggi, A., Triggiani, V. (2019). Focus on the Correlations between Alzheimer's Disease and Type 2 Diabetes. Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders - Drug Targets. 19(5). https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530319666190311141855.
- Telagamsetty S. (2021). Type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer's disease. Int J Hom Sci. 5(4):241-245. DOI: 10.33545/26164485.2021.v5.i4d.479.
- Hamzé, R., Delangre, E., Tolu, S., Moreau, M., Janel, N., Bailbé, D., & Movassat, J. (2022). Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer's Disease: Shared Molecular

Mechanisms and Potential Common Therapeutic Targets. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232315287.

- Barbagallo, M., & Dominguez, L. (2014). Type 2 diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease.. World journal of diabetes, 5 6, 889-93 . https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v5.i6.889.
- Klimova, B., Kuča, K., & Marešová, P. (2018). Global View on Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus: Threats, Risks and Treatment Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus.. Current Alzheimer research, 15 14, 1277-1282 . https://doi.org/10.2174/1567205015666180925110222.
- Han, D., Byun, M., Yi, D., Lee, J., Byeon, G., Joung, H., Moon, S., Sohn, B., Lee, J., Kim, Y., Lee, Y., Sohn, C., & Lee, D. (2020). Diabetes mellitus, HBA1C, and in vivo Alzheimer's disease pathologies. Alzheimer's & Dementia, 16. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.044752.
- Pakdin, M., Toutounchian, S., Namazi, S., Arabpour, Z., Pouladi, A., Afsahi, S., Poudineh, M., Nasab, M., Yaghoobpoor, S., & Deravi, N. (2021). Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer Disease: A Review of the Potential Links.. Current diabetes reviews. https://doi.org/10.2174/1573399818666211105122545.
- Akter, K., Lanza, E., Martin, S., Myronyuk, N., Rua, M., & Raffa, R. (2011). Diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease: shared pathology and treatment?. British journal of clinical pharmacology, 71(3), 365-76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.2010.03830.x.
- Takeda S. (2012). Nihon shinkei seishin yakurigaku zasshi = Japanese journal of psychopharmacology, 32(5-6), 239–244.
- Loy, C., & Twigg, S. (2009). Growth factors, AGEing, and the diabetes link in Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Alzheimer's disease: JAD, 16(4), 823-31. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2009-0997.
- Femminella, G. D., Bencivenga, L., Petraglia, L., Visaggi, L., Gioia, L., Grieco, F. V., de Lucia, C., Komici, K., Corbi, G., Edison, P., Rengo, G., & Ferrara, N. (2017). Antidiabetic Drugs in Alzheimer's Disease: Mechanisms of Action and Future Perspectives. Journal of diabetes research, 2017, 7420796. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/7420796.
- Michailidis, M., Tata, D. A., Moraitou, D., Kavvadas, D., Karachrysafi, S., Papamitsou, T., Vareltzis, P., & Papaliagkas, V. (2022). Antidiabetic Drugs in the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. International journal of molecular sciences, 23(9), 4641. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23094641.
- Claxton, A., Baker, L. D., Wilkinson, C. W., Trittschuh, E. H., Chapman, D., Watson, G. S., Cholerton, B., Plymate, S. R., Arbuckle, M., & Craft, S. (2013). Sex and ApoE genotype differences in treatment response to two doses of intranasal insulin in adults with mild cognitive impairment or Alzheimer's disease. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 35(4), 789–797. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-122308.

- Claxton, A., Baker, L. D., Hanson, A., Trittschuh, E. H., Cholerton, B., Morgan, A., Callaghan, M., Arbuckle, M., Behl, C., & Craft, S. (2015). Long Acting Intranasal Insulin Detemir Improves Cognition for Adults with Mild Cognitive Impairment or Early-Stage Alzheimer's Disease Dementia. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 45(4), 1269–1270. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-159002.
- Reger, M. A., Watson, G. S., Green, P. S., Baker, L. D., Cholerton, B., Fishel, M. A., Plymate, S. R., Cherrier, M. M., Schellenberg, G. D., Frey, W. H., 2nd, & Craft, S. (2008). Intranasal insulin administration dose-dependently modulates verbal memory and plasma amyloid-beta in memory-impaired older adults. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 13(3), 323–331. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-2008-13309.
- Reger, M. A., Watson, G. S., Frey, W. H., 2nd, Baker, L. D., Cholerton, B., Keeling, M. L., Belongia, D. A., Fishel, M. A., Plymate, S. R., Schellenberg, G. D., Cherrier, M. M., & Craft, S. (2006). Effects of intranasal insulin on cognition in memory-impaired older adults: modulation by APOE genotype. Neurobiology of aging, 27(3), 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.03.016.
- Kickstein, E., Krauss, S., Thornhill, P., Rutschow, D., Zeller, R., Sharkey, J., Williamson, R., Fuchs, M., Köhler, A., Glossmann, H., Schneider, R., Sutherland, C., & Schweiger, S. (2010). Biguanide metformin acts on tau phosphorylation via mTOR/protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(50), 21830–21835. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0912793107.
- Ma, D. L., Chen, F. Q., Xu, W. J., Yue, W. Z., Yuan, G., & Yang, Y. (2015). Early intervention with glucagon-like peptide 1 analog liraglutide prevents tau hyperphosphorylation in diabetic db/db mice. Journal of neurochemistry, 135(2), 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13248.
- Infante-Garcia, C., Ramos-Rodriguez, J. J., Hierro-Bujalance, C., Ortegon, E., Pickett, E., Jackson, R., Hernandez-Pacho, F., Spires-Jones, T., & Garcia-Alloza, M. (2018). Antidiabetic Polypill Improves Central Pathology and Cognitive Impairment in a Mixed Model of Alzheimer's Disease and Type 2 Diabetes. Molecular neurobiology, 55(7), 6130–6144. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-017-0825-7.
- Ou, Z., Kong, X., Sun, X., He, X., Zhang, L., Gong, Z., Huang, J., Xu, B., Long, D., Li, J., Li, Q., Xu, L., & Xuan, A. (2018). Metformin treatment prevents amyloid plaque deposition and memory impairment in APP/PS1 mice. Brain, behavior, and immunity, 69, 351–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.12.009.
- Wang, J., Gallagher, D., DeVito, L. M., Cancino, G. I., Tsui, D., He, L., Keller, G. M., Frankland, P. W., Kaplan, D. R., & Miller, F. D. (2012). Metformin activates an atypical PKC-CBP pathway to promote neurogenesis and enhance spatial memory formation. Cell stem cell, 11(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.03.016.

- Hölscher C. (2014). The incretin hormones glucagonlike peptide 1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide are neuroprotective in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & dementia : the journal of the Alzheimer's Association, 10(1 Suppl), S47–S54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2013.12.009.
- Pathak, N. M., Pathak, V., Gault, V. A., McClean, S., Irwin, N., & Flatt, P. R. (2018). Novel dual incretin agonist peptide with antidiabetic and neuroprotective potential. Biochemical pharmacology, 155, 264–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2018.07.021.
- Batista, A. F., Forny-Germano, L., Clarke, J. R., Lyra E Silva, N. M., Brito-Moreira, J., Boehnke, S. E., Winterborn, A., Coe, B. C., Lablans, A., Vital, J. F., Marques, S. A., Martinez, A. M., Gralle, M., Holscher, C., Klein, W. L., Houzel, J. C., Ferreira, S. T., Munoz, D. P., & De Felice, F. G. (2018). The diabetes drug liraglutide reverses cognitive impairment in mice and attenuates insulin receptor and synaptic pathology in a non-human primate model of Alzheimer's disease. The Journal of pathology, 245(1), 85–100. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.5056.
- Bomfim, T. R., Forny-Germano, L., Sathler, L. B., Brito-Moreira, J., Houzel, J. C., Decker, H., Silverman, M. A., Kazi, H., Melo, H. M., McClean, P. L., Holscher, C., Arnold, S. E., Talbot, K., Klein, W. L., Munoz, D. P., Ferreira, S. T., & De Felice, F. G. (2012). An anti-diabetes agent protects the mouse brain from defective insulin signaling caused by Alzheimer's disease- associated Aβ oligomers. The Journal of clinical investigation, 122(4), 1339–1353. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57256.
- Fernandez-Martos, C. M., Atkinson, R. A. K., Chuah, M. I., King, A. E., & Vickers, J. C. (2016). Combination treatment with leptin and pioglitazone in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & dementia (New York, N. Y.), 3(1), 92–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2016.11.002.
- Heneka, M. T., Sastre, M., Dumitrescu-Ozimek, L., Hanke, A., Dewachter, I., Kuiperi, C., O'Banion, K., Klockgether, T., Van Leuven, F., & Landreth, G. E. (2005).
 Acute treatment with the PPARgamma agonist pioglitazone and ibuprofen reduces glial inflammation and Abeta1-42 levels in APPV717I transgenic mice. Brain : a journal of neurology, 128(Pt 6), 1442–1453. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh452.
- Ristow M. (2004). Neurodegenerative disorders associated with diabetes mellitus. Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany), 82(8), 510–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-004-0552-1.
- Haan M. N. (2006). Therapy Insight: type 2 diabetes mellitus and the risk of late-onset Alzheimer's disease. Nature clinical practice. Neurology, 2(3), 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpneuro0124.
- Kroner Z. (2009). The relationship between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes: Type 3 diabetes?. Alternative medicine review : a journal of clinical therapeutic, 14(4), 373–379.

- Qiu, W. Q., & Folstein, M. F. (2006). Insulin, insulin-degrading enzyme and amyloidbeta peptide in Alzheimer's disease: review and hypothesis. Neurobiology of aging, 27(2), 190–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.01.004.
- Li, L., & Hölscher, C. (2007). Common pathological processes in Alzheimer disease and type 2 diabetes: a review. Brain research reviews, 56(2), 384–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.09.001.
- Roberts, R. O., Knopman, D. S., Przybelski, S. A., Mielke, M. M., Kantarci, K., Preboske, G. M., Senjem, M. L., Pankratz, V. S., Geda, Y. E., Boeve, B. F., Ivnik, R. J., Rocca, W. A., Petersen, R. C., & Jack, C. R., Jr (2014). Association of type 2 diabetes with brain atrophy and cognitive impairment. Neurology, 82(13), 1132–1141. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000000269.
- Rönnemaa, E., Zethelius, B., Sundelöf, J., Sundström, J., Degerman-Gunnarsson, M., Berne, C., Lannfelt, L., & Kilander, L. (2008). Impaired insulin secretion increases the risk of Alzheimer disease. Neurology, 71(14), 1065–1071. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000310646.32212.3a.
- Xu, W. L., von Strauss, E., Qiu, C. X., Winblad, B., & Fratiglioni, L. (2009). Uncontrolled diabetes increases the risk of Alzheimer's disease: a population-based cohort study. Diabetologia, 52(6), 1031–1039. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-009-1323-x.
- Mayeux R, Stern Y. Epidemiology of Alzheimer disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012 Aug 1;2(8):a006239. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006239. PMID: 22908189; PMCID: PMC3405821.
- Turkseven, C.H. (2019). The Kynurenine Pathway In Alzheimer's Disease: The Alternation Of Nogo-A And Klotho Activities By Influencing N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor-Nitric Oxide Pathway. B. Siriken, A. Güler, T. Erküresin, Academic Studies In Health Sciences, (p. 25-50), Cetinje-Montenegro: Ivpe. ISBN: 978-9940-540-99-9.
- Wei, Z., Koya, J., & Reznik, S. E. (2021). Insulin Resistance Exacerbates Alzheimer Disease via Multiple Mechanisms. Frontiers in neuroscience, 15, 687157. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.687157.
- de la Monte, S. M., & Wands, J. R. (2008). Alzheimer's disease is type 3 diabetes-evidence reviewed. Journal of diabetes science and technology, 2(6), 1101–1113. https://doi.org/10.1177/193229680800200619.
- Sun, Y., Ma, C., Sun, H., Wang, H., Peng, W., Zhou, Z., Wang, H., Pi, C., Shi, Y., & He, X. (2020). Metabolism: A Novel Shared Link between Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of diabetes research, 2020, 4981814. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4981814.
- Wee, A. S., Nhu, T. D., Khaw, K. Y., Tang, K. S., & Yeong, K. Y. (2023). Linking Diabetes to Alzheimer's Disease: Potential Roles of Glucose Metabolism and Alpha-Glucosidase. Current neuropharmacology, 21(10), 2036–2048. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X21999221111102343.

- Caberlotto, L., Nguyen, T. P., Lauria, M., Priami, C., Rimondini, R., Maioli, S., Cedazo-Minguez, A., Sita, G., Morroni, F., Corsi, M., & Carboni, L. (2019). Cross-disease analysis of Alzheimer's disease and type-2 Diabetes highlights the role of autophagy in the pathophysiology of two highly comorbid diseases. Scientific reports, 9(1), 3965. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39828-5.
- Valente, T., Gella, A., Fernàndez-Busquets, X., Unzeta, M., & Durany, N. (2010). Immunohistochemical analysis of human brain suggests pathological synergism of Alzheimer's disease and diabetes mellitus. Neurobiology of disease, 37(1), 67– 76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2009.09.008.
- Takeda, S., Sato, N., Rakugi, H., & Morishita, R. (2011). Molecular mechanisms linking diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer disease: beta-amyloid peptide, insulin signaling, and neuronal function. Molecular bioSystems, 7(6), 1822–1827. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0mb00302f.
- Bharadwaj, P., Wijesekara, N., Liyanapathirana, M., Newsholme, P., Ittner, L., Fraser, P., & Verdile, G. (2017). The Link between Type 2 Diabetes and Neurodegeneration: Roles for Amyloid-β, Amylin, and Tau Proteins. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 59(2), 421–432. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-161192.
- Sweatt J.D. (2004). Mitogen-activated protein kinases in synaptic plasticity and memory. Current opinion in neurobiology, 14(3), 311-317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2004.04.001.
- Ma, X. H., Zhong, P., Gu, Z., Feng, J., & Yan, Z. (2003). Muscarinic potentiation of GABA(A) receptor currents is gated by insulin signaling in the prefrontal cortex. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 23(4), 1159–1168. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-04-01159.2003.
- Harrington, L. S., Findlay, G. M., & Lamb, R. F. (2005). Restraining PI3K: mTOR signalling goes back to the membrane. Trends in biochemical sciences, 30(1), 35– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2004.11.003.
- Gasparini, L., Gouras, G. K., Wang, R., Gross, R. S., Beal, M. F., Greengard, P., & Xu, H. (2001). Stimulation of beta-amyloid precursor protein trafficking by insulin reduces intraneuronal beta-amyloid and requires mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 21(8), 2561–2570. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-08-02561.2001.
- Gasparini, L., Netzer, W. J., Greengard, P., & Xu, H. (2002). Does insulin dysfunction play a role in Alzheimer's disease?. Trends in pharmacological sciences, 23(6), 288–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-6147(02)02037-0.
- Phiel, C. J., Wilson, C. A., Lee, V. M., & Klein, P. S. (2003). GSK-3alpha regulates production of Alzheimer's disease amyloid-beta peptides. Nature, 423(6938), 435–439. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01640.

- Zhao, W. Q., De Felice, F. G., Fernandez, S., Chen, H., Lambert, M. P., Quon, M. J., Krafft, G. A., & Klein, W. L. (2008). Amyloid beta oligomers induce impairment of neuronal insulin receptors. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 22(1), 246–260. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.06-7703com.
- Ho, L., Qin, W., Pompl, P. N., Xiang, Z., Wang, J., Zhao, Z., Peng, Y., Cambareri, G., Rocher, A., Mobbs, C. V., Hof, P. R., & Pasinetti, G. M. (2004). Diet-induced insulin resistance promotes amyloidosis in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 18(7), 902–904. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.03-0978fje.
- Freude, S., Hettich, M. M., Schumann, C., Stöhr, O., Koch, L., Köhler, C., Udelhoven, M., Leeser, U., Müller, M., Kubota, N., Kadowaki, T., Krone, W., Schröder, H., Brüning, J. C., & Schubert, M. (2009). Neuronal IGF-1 resistance reduces Abeta accumulation and protects against premature death in a model of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 23(10), 3315–3324. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.09-132043.
- Rivera, E. J., Goldin, A., Fulmer, N., Tavares, R., Wands, J. R., & de la Monte, S. M. (2005). Insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and function deteriorate with progression of Alzheimer's disease: link to brain reductions in acetylcholine. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 8(3), 247–268. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-2005-8304.
- Baskaran, A., Carvalho, A. F., Mansur, R. B., & McIntyre, R. S. (2014). Are major depressive disorder and diabetes mellitus amyloidogenic conditions?. CNS & neurological disorders drug targets, 13(10), 1667–1676. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871527313666141130204300.
- Doroszkiewicz, J., Mroczko, J., Winkel, I., & Mroczko, B. (2024). Metabolic and Immune System Dysregulation: Unraveling the Connections between Alzheimer's Disease, Diabetes, Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, and Rheumatoid Arthritis. Journal of clinical medicine, 13(17), 5057. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm13175057.
- Ye, X. W., Liu, M. N., Wang, X., Cheng, S. Q., Li, C. S., Bai, Y. Y., Yang, L. L., Wang, X. X., Wen, J., Xu, W. J., Zhang, S. Y., Xu, X. F., & Li, X. R. (2023). Exploring the common pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus via microarray data analysis. Frontiers in aging neuroscience, 15, 1071391. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2023.1071391.
- Woodburn, S. C., Bollinger, J. L., & Wohleb, E. S. (2021). The semantics of microglia activation: neuroinflammation, homeostasis, and stress. Journal of neuroinflammation, 18(1), 258. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-021-02309-6.

- Rekatsina, M., Paladini, A., Piroli, A., Zis, P., Pergolizzi, J. V., & Varrassi, G. (2020). Pathophysiology and Therapeutic Perspectives of Oxidative Stress and Neurodegenerative Diseases: A Narrative Review. Advances in therapy, 37(1), 113– 139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12325-019-01148-5.
- Misrani, A., Tabassum, S., & Yang, L. (2021). Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress in Alzheimer's Disease. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2021.617588.
- Moreira, P., Duarte, A., Santos, M., Rego, A., & Oliveira, C. (2009). An integrative view of the role of oxidative stress, mitochondria and insulin in Alzheimer's disease.. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 16 4, 741-61 . https://doi.org/10.3233/ JAD-2009-0972.
- Veselov, I., Vinogradova, D., Maltsev, A., Shevtsov, P., Spirkova, E., Bachurin, S., & Shevtsova, E. (2023). Mitochondria and Oxidative Stress as a Link between Alzheimer's Disease and Diabetes Mellitus. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 24. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms241914450.
- Potenza, M., Sgarra, L., Desantis, V., Nacci, C., & Montagnani, M. (2021). Diabetes and Alzheimer's Disease: Might Mitochondrial Dysfunction Help Deciphering the Common Path?. Antioxidants, 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox10081257.



The Role of Telomere Attrition in Neurodegenerative Disorders

Ayşe Feyda Nursal¹ & Sacide Pehlivan²

¹ Associate Professor, Department of Medical Genetics, Hitit University, Faculty of Medicine, Corum, Turkey Orcid: 0000-0001-7639-1122

² Professor Doctor, Department of Medical Biology, Istanbul University, Istanbul Medical Faculty, Istanbul, Turkey Orcid: 0000-0001-7639-1122

1. INTRODUCTION

Telomeres are repeatedly repeated nucleotide sequences at the ends of linear chromosomes. Because telomere attrition is increased in some conditions, it can be used as a biomarker to help determine the diagnosis and/or prognosis of these conditions (Vaiserman and Krasnienkov, 2020). A class of neurological conditions known as neurodegenerative diseases (NDs) are defined by the progressive loss of neurons or myelin sheaths, which results in cognitive and movement disability (Lamptey et al. 2022). Huntington's disease (HD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease (AD), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) are the most prevalent types of these diseases. It is not yet clear how telomere attrition is involved in the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative diseases. In this review, we will review what is now known about the biology of telomeres in AD and PD, two common neurodegenerative diseases.

2. NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

A class of diseases known as neurodegenerative diseases is defined by the progressive loss of neuronal structure and function in either the peripheral or central nervous systems (brain and spinal cord). These illnesses, which are frequently chronic and irreversible, cause mobility, cognitive function, and other neurological processes to gradually deteriorate (Tanaka et al. 2020).

2.1. Alzheimer's disease (AD)

AD is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by progressive memory loss, decreased reasoning ability, language problems, behavioral and personality disorders, and a persistent decline in cognitive functions (Soria Lopez et al. 2019). As the disease advances, individuals with AD may experience difficulty with activities of daily living and require full-time care. There are approximately 50 million people with dementia worldwide, and approximately two-thirds of them have AD (Gustavsson et al. 2023).

Etiology and Risk Factors: Although the precise etiology of AD is unknown, genetic and environmental risk factors are believed to be involved. The biggest risk factor is age. While the probability of having AD is 3% at the age of 65, this rate increases to over 30% at the age of 85 (Alzheimer's Association, 2019). Other risk factors for AD include family history of the disease, certain genetic mutations (e.g., in the genes encoding amyloid precursor protein and presenilin proteins), cardiovascular risk factors, traumatic brain injury, and certain lifestyle factors (e.g., physical inactivity, poor diet, smoking) (Sehar et al. 2022).

Pathology: AD is characterized by synapse loss and the subsequent atrophy of neurons throughout the cerebral cortex. The buildup of aberrant protein aggregates in the brain is one of the pathophysiological hallmarks of AD:

Beta-amyloid plaques: Beta-amyloid plaques are abnormal clumps or aggregates of beta-amyloid protein fragments that accumulate between neurons in the brain. Beta-amyloid is a naturally occurring protein that is typically broken down and eliminated in healthy brains, but in AD and certain other neurodegenerative disorders, it accumulates and forms plaques (Gustavsson et al. 2023). One of the defining characteristics of AD is the presence of these plaques, which are thought to play a role in the progressive loss of cognitive function that affected people experience. They can interfere with neuronal communication, disrupt cell function, and trigger inflammation, ultimately leading to cell death and the characteristic symptoms of AD, including memory loss, cognitive decline, and changes in behavior.

Tau protein tangles: Tau protein tangles, also known as neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs), are another hallmark feature of AD and several other neurodegenerative disorders, collectively known as tauopathies (Rawat et al. 2022). Tau is a protein normally found in the brain that helps stabilize microtubules, which are essential for the structure and function of neurons. In AD and related tauopathies, tau proteins become abnormally phosphorylated, causing them to detach from microtubules and aggregate into tangles inside neurons. These tangles disrupt the normal functioning of neurons, impairing their ability to transport essential molecules and maintain their structural integrity. As a result, neurons may become dysfunctional and eventually die (Mietelska-Porowska et al. 2014).

Diagnosis: Diagnosis of AD typically involves a comprehensive assessment of cognitive function, medical history, physical examination, and various diagnostic tests, including neuroimaging (e.g., MRI, CT scans) and cognitive assessments (Arvanitakis et al. 2019). A definitive diagnosis often requires a postmortem examination of brain tissue to identify characteristic pathological changes.

2.2. Parkinson's disease (PD)

PD is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that primarily affects movement (Ramesh and Arachchige, 2023). It is distinguished by the death of neurons in the brain that produce dopamine, especially in an area known as the substantia nigra. Dopamine is a neurotransmitter important in movement

coordination, and its deficiency causes the motor symptoms of PD (Ramesh and Arachchige, 2023).

Etiology: Although the precise origin of PD is unknown, a mix of lifestyle, environmental, and genetic variables are thought to be involved. Although most cases of PD are sporadic, meaning they occur without a clear familial inheritance pattern, genetic factors can play a role in some cases (Inamdar et al. 2007). Mutations in certain genes have been linked to familial forms of PD, which account for a small percentage of cases. Variations in some genes can affect various cellular processes, including protein aggregation, mitochondrial function, and protein degradation pathways, all of which are implicated in PD pathology.

There is evidence linking exposure to specific environmental contaminants and poisons to a higher incidence of PD (De Miranda et al. 2022). These include pesticides and herbicides, such as rotenone and paraquat, as well as industrial chemicals like solvents and heavy metals (e.g., manganese). Chronic exposure to these substances may contribute to the development of PD by damaging neurons and disrupting cellular processes involved in maintaining brain health.

PD is more common in older adults, with the risk increasing with age. While PD can occur at any age, it most commonly develops after the age of 60 (Reeve et al. 2017). Aging is associated with a decline in cellular function and an increased vulnerability to neurodegenerative processes, which may contribute to the development of PD.

Diagnosis: The diagnosis of PD is primarily based on clinical symptoms and neurological examination.

Treatment: Although there isn't a cure for PD, treatment attempts to reduce symptoms, enhance quality of life, and halt the disease's development. Physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, deep brain stimulation (DBS) surgery, and drugs that raise dopamine levels in the brain (such as levodopa and dopamine agonists) are among the possible treatment options (Church 2021).

3. TELOMERES

Telomeres are specialized structures located at the ends of chromosomes, which are the thread-like structures that contain DNA and associated proteins in the nucleus of a cell. They consist of repetitive nucleotide sequences and associated proteins (O'Sullivan and Karlseder, 2010). One of their primary functions is to protect the integrity of the chromosome by preventing the ends from fraying or sticking to each other, which could lead to genetic instability or the loss of genetic information. During each cell division, the DNA replication machinery

cannot fully replicate the ends of linear chromosomes. This phenomenon, known as the end-replication problem, results in the gradual shortening of telomeres with each cell division (O'Sullivan and Karlseder, 2010). Cells may eventually experience apoptosis (programmed cell death) or replicative senescence when their telomeres get critically short, which would essentially limit their ability to proliferate. This procedure serves as a safeguard against the growth of aging or damaged cells, which would otherwise lead to diseases or malfunctions (Childs et al. 2014).

3.1 Telomere attrition

Telomere attrition refers to the gradual shortening of telomeres over time. Telomeres naturally shorten with each cell division due to the end-replication problem, where the DNA polymerase enzyme cannot fully replicate the ends of linear chromosomes (Bonnell et al. 2021). This process occurs in most somatic cells throughout an individual's lifespan. As telomeres shorten, cells may eventually reach a critical threshold where they undergo cellular senescence or apoptosis. Several factors contribute to telomere attrition.

Oxidative Stress: Reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated during cellular metabolism can damage telomeric DNA and accelerate telomere shortening (Passos et al. 2007).

Chronic Inflammation: Inflammatory processes can trigger the production of cytokines and other molecules that contribute to telomere shortening (Lustig et al. 2017).

Poor Lifestyle Choices: Rapid telomere shortening has been associated with unhealthy lifestyle choices like smoking, binge drinking, eating poorly, and being sedentary (Latifovic et al. 2016).

Psychological Stress: Chronic stress can activate the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis and increase levels of cortisol, which may contribute to telomere shortening (Lin and Epel, 2022).

Genetic Factors: Certain genetic variations can influence telomere length and the rate of telomere shortening.

3.2 Telomere attrition in diseases

Telomeres play a crucial role in cellular aging and are associated with various age-related illnesses, including cancer, heart disease, and neurological conditions. Accelerated aging and a higher risk of age-related disorders have been linked to shorter telomeres (Gruber et al. 2021). Conversely, maintaining telomere length is thought to promote longevity and overall health. Several factors can

influence telomere length and dynamics, including genetics, environmental factors, lifestyle choices, and stress. For example, longer telomeres and less cellular aging have been linked to healthy lifestyle choices like consistent exercise, a balanced diet, enough sleep, and stress management (Galiè et al. 2020). On the other hand, telomere shortening may be accelerated by variables such as smoking, obesity, poor diet, lack of exercise, and chronic stress, which can also increase the risk of disease and cellular aging.

4. TELOMERES AND AD

Research on the relationship between telomeres and AD has garnered significant attention in recent years, as telomere biology is increasingly recognized as a potential contributor to AD pathogenesis and progression (Yu et al. 2023). Several lines of evidence suggest potential associations between telomeres and AD:

- Cellular senescence: Telomere shortening can lead to cellular senescence, a state of irreversible growth arrest associated with aging. Senescent cells accumulate in the aging brain and are implicated in neurodegenerative diseases, including AD (Martínez-Cué and Rueda N, 2020). Senescent cells secrete pro-inflammatory molecules and contribute to neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, and neuronal dysfunction, all of which are hallmarks of AD pathology.
- 2. Oxidative stress: Telomeres are susceptible to oxidative damage, and oxidative stress can accelerate telomere shortening. Oxidative stress is implicated in AD pathology, contributing to the accumulation of beta-amyloid plaques and tau tangles, synaptic dysfunction, and neuronal loss (Tönnies and Trushina, 2017). Telomerase has antioxidant properties and may help protect cells from oxidative damage.
- 3. Neuroinflammation: Telomere dysfunction can trigger an inflammatory response, characterized by the activation of microglia and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Hsiao et al. 2021). Chronic neuroinflammation is a prominent feature of AD and contributes to disease progression. Telomerase has been shown to modulate immune responses and may have anti-inflammatory effects in the brain.
- 4. Neurogenesis: Telomerase activity is critical for maintaining neural stem cell function and promoting neurogenesis, the process by which

new neurons are generated in the adult brain (Liu et al. 2018). Impaired neurogenesis is observed in AD and may contribute to cognitive decline and neuronal loss. Restoring telomerase activity or preserving telomere length could potentially enhance neurogenesis and mitigate AD-related pathology.

While these findings suggest a potential link between telomeres, telomerase, and AD, more research is needed to fully understand their role in disease pathogenesis and to explore the therapeutic potential of targeting telomere/telomerase pathways in AD treatment and prevention. Clinical studies investigating telomere dynamics and telomerase activity in individuals with AD, as well as preclinical research using animal models, are ongoing to further elucidate these mechanisms and identify novel therapeutic targets.

5. TELOMERES AND PD

Research on the relationship between telomeres and PD is still evolving, but there is growing interest in understanding how telomere biology may intersect with the pathogenesis and progression of PD. While the exact mechanisms linking telomeres to PD remain to be fully elucidated, several lines of evidence suggest potential associations:

1. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction: PD is characterized by the progressive degeneration of dopaminergic neurons, often attributed to oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction (Subramaniam and Chesselet, 2013). Telomeres are vulnerable to oxidative damage, and oxidative stress can accelerate telomere shortening. Thus, the oxidative stress observed in PD could potentially impact telomere integrity and contribute to disease progression.

2. Inflammation and immune dysregulation: Chronic inflammation and dysregulated immune responses are implicated in PD pathology (Tansey et al. 2022). Microglia can become activated, and pro-inflammatory cytokines can be released when telomere disruption sets off an inflammatory response. Moreover, telomerase has immunomodulatory effects and may influence the function of immune cells in the brain. Dysregulation of immune responses mediated by telomeres and telomerase could potentially contribute to neuroinflammation and neuronal damage in PD.

3. Cellular senescence: Telomere shortening can lead to cellular senescence, a state of irreversible growth arrest associated with aging. Senescent cells accumulate in the aging brain and secrete pro-inflammatory molecules, contributing to neuroinflammation and neuronal dysfunction. Senescenceassociated markers have been observed in the brains of individuals with PD, suggesting a potential role for cellular senescence in disease pathogenesis.

4. Genetic associations: Some studies have identified genetic variants associated with telomere length that may also influence susceptibility to PD. For example, certain single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in genes involved in telomere maintenance pathways have been linked to both telomere length and PD risk.

While these findings suggest potential links between telomeres and PD, further research is needed to fully elucidate the underlying mechanisms and determine the clinical relevance of telomere biology in PD. Longitudinal studies investigating telomere dynamics in individuals with PD, as well as preclinical research using animal models, are ongoing to better understand the role of telomeres in PD pathogenesis and identify potential therapeutic targets.

6. CONCLUSIONS

Overall, telomere shortening appears to be a common feature of neurodegenerative diseases and may contribute to disease pathogenesis and progression by exacerbating neuronal dysfunction, oxidative stress, inflammation, and DNA damage. Further research is needed to elucidate the specific mechanisms linking telomere shortening to each neurodegenerative disease and to explore the potential therapeutic implications of targeting telomere biology in these conditions.

REFERENCES

- 1. Vaiserman, A.M., Krasnienkov, D. Telomere Length as a Marker of Biological Age: State-of-the-Art, Open Issues, and Future Perspectives. *Front Genet*, 2020, 11, 630186.
- Lamptey, R.N.L., Chaulagain B., Trivedi R., Gothwal A., Layek B., Singh J. A Review of the Common Neurodegenerative Disorders: Current Therapeutic Approaches and the Potential Role of Nanotherapeutics. *Int J Mol Sci*, 2022, 23(3), 1851.
- Tanaka M., Toldi J., Vécsei L. Exploring the Etiological Links behind Neurodegenerative Diseases: Inflammatory Cytokines and Bioactive Kynurenines. Int J Mol Sci. 2020; 21(7):2431.
- 4. Soria Lopez J.A., González H.M., Léger G.C. Alzheimer's disease. *Handb Clin Neurol*, 2019, 167, 231-255.
- Gustavsson, A., Norton, N., Fast, T., Frölich, L., Georges, J., Holzapfel, D., Kirabali, T., Krolak-Salmon, P., Rossini, P.M., Ferretti, M.T., Lanman, L., Chadha, A.S., van der Flier, W.M. Global estimates on the number of persons across the Alzheimer's disease continuum. *Alzheimers Dement*, 2023,19(2), 658-670.
- 6. Association. Alzheimer's 2019 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's Dement*, 2019, 15(3), 321-387.
- 7. Sehar, U., Rawat, P., Reddy, A.P., Kopel, J., Reddy, P.H. Amyloid Beta in Aging and Alzheimer's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci*, 2022, 23(21), 12924.
- Rawat, P., Sehar, U., Bisht, J., Selman, A., Culberson, J., Reddy, P.H. Phosphorylated Tau in Alzheimer's Disease and Other Tauopathies. *Int J Mol Sci*, 2022, 23(21), 12841.
- Mietelska-Porowska, A., Wasik, U., Goras, M., Filipek, A., Niewiadomska G. Tau Protein Modifications and Interactions: Their Role in Function and Dysfunction. *Int J Mol Sci*, 2014, 15(3), 4671-4713.
- Arvanitakis, Z., Shah, R.C., Bennett, D.A. Diagnosis and Management of Dementia: A Review. JAMA, 2019, 322(16), 1589-1599.
- 11. Ramesh, S., Arachchige, A.S.P.M. Depletion of dopamine in Parkinson's disease and relevant therapeutic options: A review of the literature. *AIMS Neurosci*, 2023, 10(3), 200-231.
- 12. Inamdar, N.N., Arulmozhi, D.K., Tandon, A., Bodhankar, S.L. Parkinson's Disease: Genetics and Beyond. *Curr Neuropharmacol*, 2007, 5(2), 99-113.
- De Miranda, B.R., Goldman, S.M., Miller, G.W., Greenamyre, J.T., Dorsey, E.R. Preventing Parkinson's Disease: An Environmental Agenda. *J Parkinsons Dis*, 2022, 12(1), 45-68.

- 14. Reeve, A., Simcox, E., Turnbull, D. Ageing and Parkinson's disease: why is advancing age the biggest risk factor?. *Ageing Res Rev*, 2014, 14(100),19-30.
- 15. Church, F.C. Treatment Options for Motor and Non-Motor Symptoms of Parkinson's Disease. *Biomolecules*, 2021, 11(4), 612.
- 16. O'Sullivan, R.J., Karlseder, J. Telomeres: protecting chromosomes against genome instability.*Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 2010, 11(3), 171-181.
- Childs, B.G., Baker, D.J., Kirkland, J.L., Campisi, J., van Deursen, J.M. Senescence and apoptosis: dueling or complementary cell fates? *EMBO Rep*, 2014, 15(11), 1139-1153.
- 18. Bonnell, E., Pasquier, E., Wellinger, R.J. Telomere Replication: Solving Multiple End Replication Problems. *Front Cell Dev Biol*, 2021, 9, 668171.
- Passos, J.F., Saretzki, G., von Zglinicki, T. DNA damage in telomeres and mitochondria during cellular senescence: is there a connection?. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 2007, 35(22), 7505-7513.
- Lustig, A., Liu, H.B., Metter, E.J., An, Y., Swaby, M.A., Elango, P., Ferrucci, L., Hodes, R.J., Weng, N.P. Telomere Shortening, Inflammatory Cytokines, and Anti-Cytomegalovirus Antibody Follow Distinct Age-Associated Trajectories in Humans. *Front Immunol*, 2017, 8, 1027.
- Latifovic, L., Peacock, S.D., Massey, T.E., King, W.D. The Influence of Alcohol Consumption, Cigarette Smoking, and Physical Activity on Leukocyte Telomere Length. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 2016, 25(2), 374-80.
- 22. Lin, J., Epel, E. Stress and telomere shortening: Insights from cellular mechanisms. *Ageing Res Rev*, 2022, 73, 101507.
- Gruber, H.J., Semeraro, M.D., Renner, W., Herrmann, M. Telomeres and Age-Related Diseases. *Biomedicines*, 2021, 9(10), 1335.
- Galiè, S., Canudas S., Muralidharan, J.,García-Gavilán, J.F., Bulló, M., Salas-Salvadó, J. Impact of Nutrition on Telomere Health: Systematic Review of Observational Cohort Studies and Randomized Clinical Trials. *Adv Nutr*, 2020, 11(3), 576-601.
- Yu, X., Liu, M.M., Zheng, C.Y., Liu, Y.T., Wang, Z., Wang, Z.Y. Telomerase reverse transcriptase and neurodegenerative diseases. *Front Immunol*, 2023, 14, 1165632.
- Martínez-Cué, C., Rueda, N. Cellular Senescence in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 2020, 14, 16.
- 27. Tönnies, E., Trushina, E. Oxidative Stress, Synaptic Dysfunction, and Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 2017, 57(4), 1105-1121.
- Hsiao, C.B., Bedi H., Gomez, R., Khan, A., Meciszewski, T., Aalinkeel, R., Khoo, T.C., Sharikova, A.V., Khmaladze, A., Mahajan, S.D. Telomere Length

Shortening in Microglia: Implication for Accelerated Senescence and Neurocognitive Deficits in HIV. *Vaccines (Basel)*, 2021, 9(7), 721.

- 29. Liu, M.Y., Nemes, A.D., Zhou, Q.G. The Emerging Roles for Telomerase in the Central Nervous System. *Front Mol Neurosci*, 2018, 11, 160.
- 30. Subramaniam, S.R., Chesselet, M.F. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. *Prog Neurobiol*, 2013, 106-107, 17-32.
- Tansey, M.G., Wallings, R.L., Houser, M.C., Herrick, M.K., Keating, C.E., Joers, V. Inflammation and immune dysfunction in Parkinson disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2022, 22(11), 657-673.



Birth Preparation Training and Its Importance

Ebru Yıldırım¹

¹ Arş.Gör,Çankırı Karatekin Üniversitesi ,Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi, Ebelik Bölümü, Çankırı, Türkiye ORCID: 0000-0002-5571-6159

Introduction

The historical development of childbirth preparation trainings started in the 1930s and it is seen that it has been developed in terms of method and philosophy over the years (1). In the 1920s, Dick Read was the person who talked about natural birth, explaining birth as "Birth is a physiological event and is not painful in this respect." According to Dick Read, he argued that it was due to fear due to the unknown (2). One of the important names related to prenatal education is Lamaze. In the 1950s, Lamaze observed the behaviors of women in Russia during childbirth and established a connection with Pavlov's conditioning response in these movements. He developed the "painless birth" method in France. The method he found with this method includes relaxing exercises such as deep breathing, efflorescence, massage and focusing on another object to reduce the feeling of discomfort and pain during birth (3,4). American Doctor Robert Bradley conducted studies on relaxation techniques for labor in the 1950-60s (5). Sheila Kitzinger gave trainings to women in the 1960s about pregnancy and methods of explaining their emotional-physical thoughts about this period. The Kitzinger method is based on the philosophy of control and focus to respond to pain and adapt to contractions (2). The method developed by Robert A. Bradley to prepare the pregnant woman and her partner for normal and natural birth without unnecessary medical intervention or medication is the natural birth model with partner support. The role of the partner in this engine is coaching. In the Bradley method, the body-mind connection that increases pain acceptance and relaxation is emphasized. Hypnobirthing philosophy was initiated by Marie Mongan in 1990. Although she did not teach methods to cope with birth pain, she emphasized deep relaxation, hypnosis, visualization and the idea of no birth (6).

In Turkey, childbirth preparation classes started in private universities and organizations in the 1980s (1). With the circular in 2014, the Ministry of Health published a pregnant information class circular and aimed to standardize information and counseling services for pregnant women and to activate service delivery (7). With the circular, 128,589 pregnant women were trained in the last 3 months in 2014, 163,912 pregnant women in 2015 and 216,982 pregnant women in 2016 (1,8).

Content of Prenatal Education

In 2018, with the circular published by the Ministry of Health, the educational content of programs for prenatal education was standardized (9). In the prenatal education program in our country; organs of the reproductive system, the formation of pregnancy, physiological and psychological changes that occur

during pregnancy, common disorders and solutions during pregnancy, exercise during pregnancy, nutrition during pregnancy, smoking, alcohol and substance use during pregnancy, pregnancy follow-up, routine examinations, danger signs in pregnancy, risky pregnancies, non-pharmacological methods in coping with pain, postpartum process and its characteristics, physiological and changes in the mother at the end of labor, newborn care, postpartum family planning methods and father's education in preparation for birth are explained (9,10)

Methods Used in Childbirth Preparation Training

Various training methods were used in the prenatal period in line with the needs of families, institutional policies and resources (11).

- **One-on-One Education :** It is one of the most frequently used methods in the education of the expectant mother. In order to increase the effectiveness of the one-to-one education method, it is necessary to have educators who support the person in changing behavior and who can use priorities in client education. This method is used when discussing emotional and special needs (12-14).
- **Group Education Method:** In this method, the topics of preterm birth symptoms, family planning methods, management of diabetes process during pregnancy, family concept, preparation for birth and breastfeeding process are discussed in detail with pregnant women and their families and behavioral change is provided by increasing the level of knowledge of the group. Midwives and nurses are preferred as educators in this education to be given to pregnant women (12-14).
- Education Method with Visual Materials: Recently, there has been an increase in the use of visual materials in many trainings. The use of visual materials in the learning process and the widespread use of tools such as television, video and computer have been shown as the reasons for this increase. In this method, the presence of a knowledgeable and experienced midwife or nurse was emphasized as a prerequisite for answering the questions of the client and the audience and for the success of the education (12-14).
- Education Method through Computer and Internet: It is one of the health education methods. Most of the computer-aided education programs are used by health educators. Many people have information on the computer with special programs prepared on health and disease issues. Most of the computer programs are

prepared by organizing the materials for the needs of individuals and making them educational. It is emphasized that the reason why computer-based education has become widespread is due to the accessibility of information on websites with search engines. Pregnant women access the latest researches from websites and find answers to their questions (12). Apart from these advantages of computer and internet-assisted education in health education, there are also disadvantages due to the fact that the information on the internet is not legally controlled (11).

The Effects of Childbirth Preparation Training

Pregnancy is a period in which physiologic, psychological and social changes occur in women's life periods (15). With these changes, women have difficulty in adapting to pregnancy and experience fear due to the unknowns about birth. As labor approaches, the fear of birth increases (16). Prenatal education is an effective health education that facilitates adaptation to pregnancy, reduces the fear of childbirth in pregnant women and develops positive thoughts related to childbirth. Prenatal education reduces anxiety and stress that develops with fear during pregnancy, strengthens mother-fetus bonding during pregnancy, and provides guidance to help meet the need for care and support in education (17,18). When we look at the main objectives of childbirth preparation trainings; preparing the expectant mother and/or father cognitively, sensory and socially, providing them with information, basic knowledge and skills for the care of the pregnant woman and the baby, gaining self-confidence in care, supporting this development process of becoming a family and adapting to new roles by meeting these processes with a love-oriented approach with family integrity, eliminating the fear of childbirth that develops due to the influence of modern culture, and enabling the woman to cope with the birth process regardless of its form. Many studies have demonstrated the positive effects of pregnancy education/birth preparation education. It is known that in some countries, it is integrated into the health system and it is made compulsory to receive pregnant education. In Turkey, pregnant education is provided both in public hospitals within the scope of the goal of mother-friendly hospitals and in the private sector (19,20).

Conclusion

Professional health personnel (midwives and nurses) should prepare women with trainings including pregnancy, birth and postpartum processes. Midwives/nurses who take part in childbirth preparation trainings contribute to maintaining the health of mother and baby and increasing social support. It has been reported that women who are prepared for pregnancy, birth and postpartum processes with awareness increase their pregnancy satisfaction levels and selfconfidence, manage labor and actively participate in birth. Comprehensive care, education and counseling provided during pregnancy will facilitate women's adaptation to the physiological and psychological changes that occur during pregnancy.

REFERENCES

- 1.Buran G, Olgaç Z, Karaçam Z. Doğuma hazırlık sınıflarının kadınların doğum şekli, korkusu ve deneyimine etkisi: Sistematik derleme. *Life Sciences (NWSALS)* 2020, 15(4), 41-54.
- 2.Şeker S, Sevil Ü. Doğuma Hazırlık Sınıflarının Annenin Doğum Sonu Fonksiyonel Durumuna ve Bebeğini Algılamasına Etkisi. Okumuş H, editör. Doğuma Hazırlık Sınıfları ve Gebe Eğitimi İçin Güncel Bilgiler Özel Sayısı. 1. Baskı. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri Doğum-Kadın Sağlığı ve Hastalıkları Hemşireliği Özel Dergisi; 2015. p.1-9.
- 3.Sayıner, F. D., Özerdoğan, N. Giray, S., Özdemir, E., Savcı, A. (2009). Kadınların doğum şekli tercihlerini etkileyen faktörler. Pe- rinatoloji Dergisi, 17(3): 104-112.
- 4.Lamaze International. (2021). Lamaze learning modules http://www.lamaze.org/EducationCenter/LamazeLearningModules/tabid/887/Default.a spx
- 5.American Academy of Husband-Coached Childbirth. (2013). Course content. http://www.bradleymethod.com (12.10.2024).
- 6.Walker DS, Visger JM, Rossie D. Contemporary childbirth education models. Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health. 2009; 54: 469-476.
- 7.Çınar, F. (2019). Gebe Bilgilendirme Sınıfına Katılımın DoğUm Sonu Konfora Etkisi. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Ebelik Anabilim Dalı, Aydın.
- 8. Esencan YT, Karabulut Ö, Yıldırım DA, Abbasoğlu ED, Külek H, Şimşek Ç, Ünal KA, Küçükoğlu S, Ceylan Ş, Yavrutürk S, Kılıçcı Ç. Doğuma hazırlık eğitimi alan gebelerin doğum şekli, ilk emzirme zamanı ve ten tene temas tercihleri. Florence Nightingale Hemşirelik Dergisi 2018, 26 (1), 31-43.
- 9. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Gebe Okulu, Gebe Bilgilendirme Sınıfı, Doğuma Hazırlık ve Danışmanlık Merkezleri 02 Ekim 2018, sayı, 2018/23.
- 10.Uğuz Yasemin (2021).Doğuma Hazırlık Eğitimininin Doğum Şekli Ve Kadınların Doğuma İlişkin Görüşlerine Etkisi. Aydın Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Ebelik Anabilim dalı.
- 11.Eda Çetin(2013). Adölesan Gebelerde DoğUma Hazırlık EğİTiMiNiN DoğUm BeklentiSi Ve Stresle BaşA Çıkma DüzeyiNe EtkiSi .Haliç Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Anabilim Dalı.
- Bülbül G. Doğal doğum, anneliği keşfin başucu kitabı. Hayy kitap yayınevi, 2006, 1.baskı, İstanbul, s:19-195.
- Widmaier PE, Raff H, Strang TK. Vander insan fizyolojisi. Çeviri Editörü: Demirgören S. Güven bilimsel yayınevi, 2010, 10. Baskı, İzmir, s: 373-375.

- 14. Rathfisch G. Doğal Doğum Felsefesi Milyonlarca Yıldır Gerçekleşen Serüven, Nobel Matbaacılık, İstanbul, 2012; p:73-88.
- 15. González-Ochoa, R., Sánchez-Rodríguez, EN., Chavarría, A., Gutiérrez-Ospina, G and Romo-González, T. (2018). Evaluating Stress during Pregnancy: Do We Have the Right Conceptions and the Correct Tools to Assess It? *Journal of Pregnancy*. 4857065, 20 pages.
- 16. Körükçü, H.Ö., Wijma Doğum Beklentisi/Deneyimi Ölçeği A Versiyonunun Geçerlilik ve Güvenilirlik Çalışması. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Akdeniz Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Antalya, 2009.
- 17. Bolbol-Haghighi N, Masoumi SZ, Kazemi F. (2016). Effect of massage therapy on duration of labour: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research* 10(4):12-5.
- 18.Esencan, T. Y., Karabulut, Ö., Yıldırım, A. D., Abbasoğlu, D. E., Külek, H., Şimşek, Ç. Kılıçcı, Ç. (2018). Doğuma hazırlık eğitimi alan gebelerin doğum şekli, ilk emzirme zamanı ve ten tene temas tercihleri. *Florence Nightingale Hemşirelik Dergisi*, 26(1): 31-43.
- Sucu M ve ark. Doğuma Hazırlık Sınıflarının Doğum Korkusu, Doğum Tercihi Ve Doğuma Hazır Oluşluğa Etkisi, Türkiye Klinikleri Hemşirelik Bilimleri Dergisi, 2017 (9): 201 – 206.
- Gönenç. İM. ve ark. Antenatal Dönemde Verilen Gebe Eğitiminin Fetal Sağlık Kontrol Odağına Etkisinin İncelenmesi, Jinekoloji-Obstetrik ve Neonatoloji Tıp Dergisi, 2016, (13) 1:12 - 17).



Aristotle on the Anatomical Sciences

Hüseyin Avni Balcıoğlu²

² Prof. Dr. SBÜ Hamidiye Tıp Fakültesi, ORCID:0003-2291-0884

The long history of anatomical sciences can be divided into three distinct phases. The first phase, spanning approximately 800 years, is marked by Greek scientific achievements, which laid the foundation for anatomical knowledge. The Romans did not carry this tradition forward in a progressive manner. The second phase encompasses the medieval period, a time often seen as one of intellectual stagnation, it lasted more than 1000 years. True progress in learning was largely halted during those times, though it may not have been as bleak as traditionally portrayed. Finally, the third phase is the resurgence of original research, beginning in the sixteenth century and continuing through to the present day, marking the era of modern science with an uninterrupted legacy of discovery. Aristotle and Galen are two eminent figures and unquestionably the most important ones of the golden Greek era when it comes to the anatomical sciences. They two not only pioneered the line of scientific development during their time but also dominated the following centuries almost until the 17th century (Conti ve Paternostro, 2019; Colle 1944, Zagris, 2022).

Aristotle's approach, like Galen's, to nature was not driven by a pure love or fascination with it, nor did he observe it for its own intrinsic value. Instead, he engaged with it primarily as an intellectual pursuit. Consequently, his catalog of animal species is relatively limited, yet his keen interest lies in the structure and behavior of living organisms, which he explores with deep human relevance. His ability to shed light on these aspects is, in fact, quite remarkable. It is noteworthy that while Greek art captures the human form's superficial anatomy with extraordinary accuracy, the environment in which humans exist is given only a cursory or symbolic treatment (Aristotle, 2021).

One could encounter the central philosophical motives in his works as a passionate effort to understand the world and a strong desire to comprehend human beings. He posed fundamental questions dealing the nature of knowledge and its eventual foundations, inquiring into the very layers of ideas and the fundamental elements of the universe. Aristotle also explored the relationship between language, thought, and the items of them, delved into the connection between mind and body, and examined the individual's role in the population. Furthermore, he questioned the ultimate purpose of human life and to what ends it should be directed. These questions remain vibrant and relevant today, and Aristotle's answers continue to hold significant value and influence (Zagris, 2022, Peck 1983).

Though his contributions spanned various fields such as biology including the anatomical sciences, physics, chemistry, political theory, metaphysics, logic, history, ethics, rhetoric, psychology, aesthetics, and poetics, Aristotle pushed ahaed with his overarching aim: to unify knowledge and understand the world as a coherent whole (Humphreys 2024, Marroquín-Arroyave & Vespa 2023).

Aristotle authored several key works on anatomy, including History of Animals, Parts of Animals, and Generation of Animals, that would later lead him to be called the father of anatomical sciences. Even he also mentions two other biological texts in his writings, these have not survived to the present day. Forming part of a theoretical analysis of nature he investigated the fundamental questions of natural sciences to evaluate the detailed descriptions of hundreds of mammals in these texts (Blits 1999, Peck 1983).

Life

The most considerable reference to the life of Aristotle, is that of Diogenes Laertius in his breakthrough work Lives and Opinions of Eminent Philosophers, estimated to have been written around the second quarter of the 3rd century AD. The book is a good exception to his time, mostly citing the sources to particular details about Aristotle. Regarding his biographical information on Aristotle, his work is in several manners the major source of information. Aristotle was born in Stagira, a small coastal town in Chalcidice, a Greek colony on north of the Aegean sea, in 384 BC after 15 years of Socrates' death. His father Nicomachus served as the court physician to King Amyntas II of Macedonia and came from a long line of medical practitioners. Aristotle likely spent part of his childhood in the Macedonian palace in Pella, thereby forming lasting connections with the Macedonian monarchy that would influence his entire life. His mother Phaestis passed away at a young age of him and Aristotle migrated to Athens, nearly 500 kilometers from Stagira, at around 17 to pursue his studies. There, he became a disciple of Plato, remaining at the Academy for approximately two decades, before he left the city around the time Plato died. He may be forced to flee due to anti-Macedonian sentiment in Athens. The relationship between the Macedonians and the Athenians was marked by a mix of occasional peace and frequent conflict, yet the underlying tension was constant. Afterward, Aristotle lived in Assos, a city in Today's Canakkale of Turkiye, and later in Macedonia, where he tutored Alexander the Great, the son of King Philip. Aristotle's extensive references to the region around Mytilene suggest that he conducted many of his marine biology observations during this period. Eventually, at the age of 49, returned to Athens, where he founded his own school at the Lyceum, a public space outside the city's walls. It is said that Aristotle and his students were called "Peripatetic" derived from the Greek peripatos, meaning "walking" because they would engage in discussions while walking along a covered walkway. Aristotle's second stay in Athens, from 338 to 322 B.C., is regarded as the most productive period of his
life, during which he composed or completed many of his most important philosophical works. After the death of Alexander in 323 B.C., Aristotle faced charges of impiety in Athens, likely due to his perceived threat to the city's political and social stability. As a resident alien rather than a citizen, he chose to leave Athens to avoid standing trial. Aristotle spent his final year in Chalcis, at his mother's estate in the homeland of his mother, where he died of a stomach illness or a chronic intestinal condition (Blits 1999, Dunn 2016, Connell 2021, Düring 1957, Humphreys 2024).

During his lifetime, most of Aristotle's writings were not published. The works that were made public earned him some respect, but not the deep admiration he would later receive. It took several centuries before Aristotle came to be recognized as more than just a skilled disciple of Plato (Humphreys 2024).

Before Aristotle in Ancient Greece

Alcmaeon of Croton, who was born at least a hundred years before Aristotle, is thought to have been the first person to perform dissection, and perhaps even vivisection, of the human body for research purposes. He truely defined the optic nerve and sensory nerves, and claimed that brain is the center for intelligence. He made observations on the functional organization of the sensory organs. He also discerned the arteries from the veins. Alcmaeon's treatises have not survived in their original form. However, his findings and ideas are known primarily through citations and references by later authors, such as Aristotle, Hippocrates, and other ancient philosophers and medical writers. Alcmaeon made significant contributions to early anatomy and physiology, particularly regarding the brain and senses, but much of his work is preserved only in fragments or through the writings of later thinkers who built on his ideas (Debernardi 2010, Celesia 2012).

The oldest surviving text directly related to anatomical sciences is the Hippocratic Corpus, a collection of anonymous writings on medicine and surgery, representative of medical literature of the Classical Greek era, primarily composed in the last decades of the 4th century and first decades of 3rd century BC. The Hippocratic writings contain a wealth of anatomical knowledge. Notable works like On Joints and On Fractures, which address the treatment of dislocations and fractures, are particularly significant for presenting what emerges to be the first systematic comparison between the human skeleton and those of other vertebrates. In general, the Hippocratic Corpus demonstrates a comprehensive understanding of the skeleton, revealing the relationships between bones joints, ligaments, and superficial muscles (Blits 1999, King 2017). Hippocrates of Cos (460–375 B.C.), offered some of the earliest detailed descriptions of the heart and blood vessels. These are found in the Hippocratic Corpus, a collection of numerous medical writings attributed to Hippocrates, his contemporaries, and later physicians. Among the texts included is "the heart," one of the first known works in the history of Western medicine to describe the major blood vessels, the heart valves, and the pericardium. In Hippocratic Corpus it is assumes that the heart and caval veins are responsible for respiration, and that the inspired pneuma travels through the body to reach the heart. Similarly, Aristotle believes that the heart regulates breathing, with pneuma moving upward to the heart, which he identifies as the source of heat (Colle 1944, Dunn 2006, Blits 1999).

Anatomical Works Just after Aristotle in Ancient Greece

Herophilus and Erasistratus, both physicians, in the 3rd and 4th centuries B.C., practised systematic dissections even vivisections on human beings, in Alexandria. Herophilus (335-280 B.C.), in particular, studied the brain, the eyes and nerves, the ovaries, uterine tubes, the liver and pancreas. He also examined the human arterial pulse as a means of diagnosing various pathologies and introduced the use of experimental method to medicine. Also Erasistratus (305-250 B.C.) studied the human pulse, and the blood vessels and the functional anatomy of the human heart as well as its structure. Herophilos differentiated the cerebrum from the cerebellum, evaluated the internal surface of the cranium and its sutures. He described the brainstem and spinal cord as a single anatomical structure, and also he defined the concavity on the internal surface of the occipital bone, housing the posterior confluent of the dura mater sinuses, referred as torcular Herophili. Herophilus described arteries to have thicker walls than the veins through dissections of him on human cadavers. He certainly believed the pulse was associated with the heart beat (Reverón 2015, Bay ve Bay 2010, Conti 2019, Sallam 2010).

It was widely believed that the body housed a soul, which upon death became trapped within it. Human dissection was allowed for only a brief period of three or four decades during the era of Herophilus and Erasistratus. After that, it was banned and remained forbidden almost for two milleniums, with dissection not being revived until the 16th century (Reveron 2015).



Marble bust of Aristotle in Paris, Louvre Museum, photo: Ilya Shurygin

Anatomical Sights of Aristotle Through his Philosophy

Aristotle believed that the human heart had three ventricles, right, left, and middle, and accepted the right atrium as a venous dilatation, but a chamber of the heart, after his examinations. Aristotle assessed the right cavity connecting with the great vein and the lungs as the largest, the left cavity connecting with the lungs as the smallest, and the middle cavity connecting with the aorta and the lungs as intermediate. One could figure out that the middle cavity should be the left ventricule since it conncets with the aorta; the left cavity should be the left atrium since the left auricle lays laterally the left ventricle, and it connects with the lungs through the pulmonary veins. Aristotle identified the right cavity as the right ventricle, describing it as the largest chamber, located on the right side, and connecting both to the lungs through the pulmonary artery and to the caval veins. His statement that the caval veins adhere to the right ventricle suggests that he did not view the right atrium as a distinct chamber, but rather as a dilatation of the venous system. He saw the heart, as the natural seat of the heat, had the function of forming the blood. The heart has the fuction of being the centre of perceptual activity. Aristotle stated that the channels emanating from the eyes and

ears reach the vessels around the brain and from there the stimulus returns to the heart (Oleksowicz 2018, Praagh ve Praagh 1983).

Aristotle linked the senses to the classical elements: water to sight, air to hearing and smell, fire to taste and touch, which he regarded as analogous, to earth. The rationale behind this association is explained in various works by Aristotle. This doctrine of sensory associations with the elements was then applied to the spatial topography of the body, particularly in understanding the relationships between the sense organs, the brain, and the heart (Connell 2021).

In his treatise on the breath, Aristotle asserts that respiration serves the purpose of drawing air into the body to generate pneuma, the vital breath or spirit, which is the force that enables an animal to move and function. His mechanical explanation of respiration suggests that the air heated within the lungs is expelled by the cooler air from outside the body (internet encyclopedia of philosophy. https://iep.utm.edu/aristotle/#SSH3aii). He mentions his predecessors to misunderstand the functional anatomy of the lungs due to their lack of dissection experiences. Aristotle does not try to understand the reason why humans have lungs. He first classifies lungs within the broader category of features. Then he inquires why all members of that category possess them. He concludes that all creatures with lungs have them because they are land-dwellers that need to cool their blood with air, a rationale that applies to humans as part of this broader group. Aristotle then examines specific variations in lung structure that distinguish different forms within this category. The mammals have large, bloodfilled lungs, while reptiles and birds have smaller, drier lungs that are spongy and foam-like. Aristotle asserted the heart to be located above the lungs. This misconception may have arisen due to the collapse of the lungs during dissection. In some animal species, while lying on their back, the lungs could collapse posteriorly and laterally after the thoracic cavity is opened, leading to a mistaken impression of the heart's position relative to the lungs (Blits 1999, Oleksowicz 2018, Marroquín-Arroyave & Vespa 2023, Connell 2021).

Aristotle evaluated through his dissections that the main sensors are connected to the heart by means of the blood vessels. He claims that the channels of the eyes communicate with the veins around the brain. Furthermore, he asserted that the touch and the taste are connected to the heart (Oleksowicz 2018).

His On the Generation of Animals, composed of five books, is the first great compendium of developmental anatomy ever written. It includes the structural analysis of animals in a scientific and systematic fashion, promising the future discipline of comparative anatomy. The study of embryonic development and fetal nourishment, the characteristics of sex, the variations in the forms of the gonadal organs, as well as the diverse methods of copulation across different species, were all subjects of exploration. Aristotle claims that semen is a genuine excretion and explains why male fertilization is essential. He proposes that semen provides the "form" to the embryo, while the female contributes the matter that is shaped into the developing organism. He brilliantly categorized biological entities into a hierarchical system based on varying degrees of perfection (Zagris 2022, Connell 2021).

Aristotle was a keen reader of Hippocrates, and was highly aware of both earlier and contemporary medical ideas. He openly recognized the significant contributions made by physicians to the study of nature. According to Aristotle, living organisms are composed only of true individuals of the same species, and therefore, their existence can be explained by considering both its metaphysical and biological precedence. He clearly emphasizes this precedence while critiquing his predecessors. The first book of Historia Animalium provides the most crucial information regarding the organs and other anatomical structures of humans. The second book, in contrast, focuses on comparative anatomy, examining both intrinsic and extrinsic structures of various animals. Aristotle's extensive knowledge of human anatomy, particularly internal organs, reflects a systematic effort to outline the variations that discern the anatomical features of whole living creatures. Although the first book primarily discusses human anatomy, Aristotle emphasizes that the study of the internal structures of the human body should be based on comparative anatomy, with a particular focus on observing the morphology of mammals, which are anatomically closest to humans. Nevertheless, Aristotle is keenly aware of the distinct body patterns that differentiate quadrupeds from humans, particularly in terms of their spatial orientation (Oleksowicz 2018, Cole 1944, Connell 2021, Aristotle 2021, Caullery 1966)

According to the sources, although it is understood that Aristotle did not dissect human beings, a personality like him, who dissected hundreds of animals of many different kinds and had questions about human beings, must have dissected human beings in a way that would not be recorded. The information in the literature that his pupil Diocles performed dissections on the human body seems to support this argument.

References:

-Aristotle. History of Animals, Gece Kitaplığı, 2021.

- -Aristotle On the Motion of Animals, Gece Kitaplığı, 2021.
- -Aristotle. On the Parts of Animals, Gece Kitaplığı, 2021.
- -Bay NS, Bay BH. Greek anatomist herophilus: the father of anatomy. Anat Cell Biol. 2010 Dec;43(4):280-3.
- Blits K. C.. Aristotle: Form, Function, and Comparative Anatomy. The Anatomical record (New Anat.) 257:58–63, 1999.Caullery M., (1966). *A History of Biology*. Walker and Co., New York.
- Celesia GG. Alcmaeon of Croton's observations on health, brain, mind, and soul. J Hist Neurosci. 2012;21(4):409-26.
- Cole F. J.. A History Of Comparative Anatomy. Mc Millan & co, London, 1944
- Connell SM, Ed. The Cambridge companion to Aristotle's biology. Cambridge University Press, 2021.
- Conti AA, Paternostro F. Anatomical study in the Western world before the Middle Ages: historical evidence. Acta Biomed. 2019 Dec 23;90(4):523-525.
- Debernardi A, Sala E, D'Aliberti G, Talamonti G, Franchini AF, Collice M. Alcmaeon of Croton. Neurosurgery. 2010 Feb;66(2):247-52
- Dunn PM. Aristotle (384-322 BC): philosopher and scientist of ancient Greece. Arch Dis
- Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2006 Jan;91(1):F75-7.
- -Düring, I. (1957). Aristotle in the Ancient Biological Tradition (Göteborg: Institute of Classical
- Studies of the University of Göteborg).
- Humphreys Justin. Internet encyclopedia of philosophy. https://iep.utm.edu/aristotle/
- Marroquín-Arroyave E. & Vespa M. 2023. Aristotle on the anatomy of the heart and lungs (HA 1.17): new insights from a multidisciplinary approach, in Broseta A., Scaccuto A. & Zucker A. (éds), Observation zoologique, expérience et expérimentation sur l'animal. Antiquité – Moyen Âge. Anthropozoologica 58 (13): 131-143.
- Michał Oleksowicz. Aristotle on the heart and brain. Journal of Science and Theology, June 2018, Vol.14, No.3, 77-94.
- -King H. Hippocratic corpus. The Classical Review NEW SERIES, Vol. 67, No. 1 (APRIL 2017), pp. 31-33
- -Peck AL. 1983. Aristotle. In Goold GP, ed. Parts of animals. The Loeb Classical Library. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard. pp 401–405.

- Richard Van Praagh, Stella Van Praagh. Aristotle'S "Triventricular" Heart And The Relevant Early History Of The Cardiovascular System. Chest, 1983, 84(4): 462-468,
- -Rafael Romero Reverón. Herophilos, the great anatomist of antiquity. Anatomy 2015;9(2):108–111.
- Sallam HN. Aristotle, godfather of evidence-based medicine. Facts Views Vis Obgyn. 2010;2(1):11-9.
- -Thompson, W. D. (1913). On Aristotle as a Biologist (Oxford: Clarendon Press).
- -Zagris N. (2022). Aristotle (384-322 BC): the beginnings of Embryology. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 66: 5-8.



Multiple Sclerosis and Fatigue

Gizem Yağmur Yalçın¹

¹ Asst. Prof., Department of Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, Istinye University, Istanbul, Türkiye, ORCID ID: 0000-0001-8398-9181

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS) and usually occurs in patients aged 20-40 years. It is characterised by demyelination and subsequent degeneration leading to axonal loss and neuronal damage (Moustafaa et al., 2022). Since MS mostly affects young adults, it causes a decrease in productivity, adversely affects quality of life, and causes patients to withdraw from daily life activities due to the symptoms they experience (Coates et al., 2020).

There are studies indicating that multiple sclerosis is more common in Caucasians and in the temperate zone. It is reported that the prevalence increases in regions far from the equator, and that it is more common in regions such as Northern Europe, North America, Northern Australia than in regions close to the equator (Czerwińska-Mazur et al., 2018). When the epidemiology of MS is analysed worldwide, it is seen that the prevalence is 126 per 100 thousand (median 112) and the incidence is 6.5 per 100 thousand (median 5.2) (Melcon et al., 2014). In Europe, the prevalence has been reported as 17-216 per 100 thousand (median 83) and the incidence as 0.5-12 per 100 thousand (median 4.3) in the last thirty years (Pugliatti et al., 2006). In our country, it is reported that MS is seen in an average of 2000-2500 people, prevalence and incidence rates are lower than in Europe, and may be higher than in Middle Eastern and Asian countries (Evans et al., n.d.; Polat et al., 2017).

In a prevalence study on MS in Turkey, the rate was found to be 101/100,000 in Maltepe, Istanbul and 30/100,000 in Edirne. In a prevalence study conducted in two regions (Karabük-Akçakoca) located on the same latitude but different in terms of air pollution, different figures were found. The prevalence of MS in Turkey was calculated as 96.4 per 100,000 and the female/male ratio was 2.1/1 (Öztürk et al., 2024). The prevalence was found to be 95/100,000 in the region where air pollution is more intense (Karabük), while this rate was found to be 46/100,000 in the cleaner Akçakoca region (Börü et al., 2018). In MS, the disease can also be seen under the age of 15 and over the age of 55. It has a higher incidence rate in individuals aged 20-40 years and in women (Akdemir et al., 2017).

1.1. Etiology

Although the exact cause is not yet known, immunopathogenesis suggests that genetic predispositions and environmental variables interact to cause an immunological dysregulation (Harirchian et al., 2018).

Epstein-Barr virus infection, smoking and vitamin D deficiency are among the environmental parameters closely associated with MS risk (Harirchian et al.,

2018; Hedström et al., 2009). In addition, another data on the role of genetic factors in the etiology of MS is that some histocompatibility antigens (HLA) are more frequently observed in MS patients compared to controls. The strongest known association has been shown in the DR region on chromosome 6. Other HLA haplotypes (HLA- DR2 and to a lesser extent DR3, B7 and A3) that are more frequent in MS patients are believed to be markers of an MS "predisposition gene", possibly an immune response gene. The presence of one of these markers is reported to increase the risk of developing MS by 3 to 5 times. Although these antigens have been shown to be associated with disease frequency, their presence is not essential and their exact role is not clear (Soyder et al, 2004).

1.2. Physiopathology

The heterogeneity of the clinical presentation of multiple sclerosis cannot be explained by a single immune mechanism. The basic pathology results from CNS inflammation and damage to myelin-producing cells (oligodentrocytes). The myelin sheath is a structure consisting of special proteins that surrounds the axon and is necessary for the rapid progression of the conduction. Triggers from an environmental factor activate T lymphocytes and oligodentrocytes are targeted, and the blood-brain barrier becomes permeable (Czerwińska-Mazur et al., 2018). Although it is considered an autoimmune disease predominantly caused by T lymphocytes, there is evidence that B lymphocytes also play an important role (Hemmer and Selter, 2013).

As a result of inflammation in the central nervous system and damage to the myelin sheath, axon and glial cells, nerve conduction is disrupted. While attacks occur in this acute period, nerve damage leading to axon loss in the long term causes permanent disability (Polat Dunya et al., 2020). When the necessary medical intervention is provided after the attacks in the early stage, it is seen that the damage caused by the attacks can be reversed by repair, remyelination and restoration of conduction. The patient may recover from attacks with complete or partial damage. However, the accumulation of attacks over time and the formation of permanent axon damage leads to irreversible disability. However, there is controversy about the pathophysiological process, whether the inflammatory process is the cause or the result of some processes (Cortez et al., 2015).

1.3. Symptoms and Signs

Since disseminated lesions in multiple sclerosis can develop in any region of the CNS from the cerebral cortex to the spinal cord, the symptoms and signs show great variability. The clinical picture may be acute or may start with slowly progressive symptoms. Symptoms are often seen as 65-75% exacerbations and remissions and the duration of symptoms may vary. In multiple sclerosis, there may sometimes be suspicious symptoms such as fatigue, headache, depression, pain in the extremities and may initially suggest a psychoneurosis picture (Dobson & Giovannoni, 2019).

Most patients with multiple sclerosis present to the clinic with recurrent episodes of remission of initially new or recurrent neurological symptoms (Garg and Smith, 2015). The definition of an attack is largely based on the evaluation of clinical findings. After the last revision, according to the 2010 McDonald criteria, it is defined as "one or more neurological deficits consistent with an acute inflammatory demyelinating process described by the patient or detected by the physician and lasting at least 24 hours in the absence of fever and infection" (Yamout and Alroughani, 2018). Symptoms of MS may vary greatly depending on the affected nerve location.

Motor disorders; spasticity is observed in approximately 60-84% of MS patients. Spasticity leads to resistance to passive movements, increased muscle contraction, weakening of manual skills, spasms, difficulty in walking, and coordination disorders

Somatosensory disorders: It constitutes a large part of the initial manifestations of MS. It is seen in 52-70% of patients. There is numbress, burning sensation and pins and needles. There is deterioration in the sense of position and vibration. More rarely, pain, heat and sense of touch may be impaired. Lhermitte's sign may occur in MS. Impaired taste, hearing and vertigo may occur (Christogianni et al., 2018).

Cerebellar dysfunctions are seen in 50% of MS patients. Trunk ataxia is the most common. Intensional tremor, dysmetria, dysdiacokinesia and cerebellar dysarthria are also observed (Berger, 2013).

Visual dysfunctions; One of the first common clinical manifestations of relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) is unilateral optic neuritis (Ford, 2020). Patients with optic neuritis may experience progressive vision loss, eye pain that increases with movement and changes in colour vision. Optic neuritis is a symptom seen in

25% of MS patients. Diplopia, vision loss, oscillopsia are also common findings in MS patients (Zafeiropoulos et al., 2021).

Bladder and bowel dysfunctions; 80% of patients with multiple sclerosis have bladder dysfunction. Symptoms such as inability to urinate, frequent urination, inability to urinate may be observed. In the neurogenic bladder, which is common in MS, inadequacy in filling or emptying or both are seen. Failure in filling is the most common. Intestinal dysfunction is seen in 60% of MS patients. The most common complaint is constipation. Other bowel dysfunctions include diarrhoea, flatulence, slowing of colonic movements and ileus (Zielińska-Nowak et al., 2020).

Spasticity is an important problem that is frequently encountered in multiple sclerosis patients and leads to walking and transfer difficulties, joint contractures, limitation of movement, poor hygiene and restriction of activities of daily living (ADL). It is characterised by transient or persistent increased muscle tone and sometimes painful cramps. It occurs especially in the lower extremities. PPMS may start with spastic paraparesis (Torres-Pareja et al., 2019).

Cognitive disorders; cognitive problems are very common findings in MS. In studies, the prevalence in MS patients varies between 34-65% (Kalb et al., 2018). Cognitive impairment may start from the early stages of MS and may have negative effects on activities of daily living. The most common cognitive problems are memory-memory loss, impaired information processing, impaired attention and concentration, and impaired executive functioning. Symptoms such as information processing speed problems in 70% of patients, memory difficulties in 40-60%, attention impairment in 20-50%, and difficulty in executive functions in 15-20% were found (Oreja-Guevara et al., 2019).

Psychiatric disorders are seen in 72% of patients, 54% of which are depressive disorders. Depression usually develops as a reaction to the restrictive aspects of the disease (Dauwan et al., 2021). While the annual prevalence of depression in MS is 20%, the lifetime prevalence rate approaches 50%. Although there is no strong evidence of a close relationship between lesion location and the development of depression, it is thought that depression is more associated with neuropathologies developing in the left anterior temporal/parietal region (Siegert and Abernethy, 2005). Although more rare than depression, abnormal laughing and crying episodes, euphoria and bipolar disorder can be seen in MS patients (Penner, 2014).

Although *sexual dysfunctions* are seen in 70-73% of men, there are some studies showing that this rate reaches up to 90% in men. In men, erectile

dysfunction and ejaculation problems also trigger mood disorders (Guo et al., 2012; Kajbafvala et al., 2022; Qaderi & Merghati Khoei, 2014). The main sexual problems in women can be counted as decreased libido, orgasm disorder, decreased vaginal lubrication, loss of genital sensation. Constipation and faecal incontinence are bowel problems seen in MS patients (Guo et al., 2012; Kajbafvala et al., 2022; Khemiri et al., 2020).

Fatigue; Fatigue, which can be seen in 83% of patients, greatly affects the quality of life of patients (Kalb et al., 2018). Although the cause of the most common and most ignored fatigue is not fully understood, it is explained by cytokine production, which is related to the central nervous system and autoimmune factors such as demyelination and axon loss. Depression, weakness, severe exercise, ataxia, spasticity, age, stress, infection, infection, sleep problems, and medications aggravate the fatigue picture and negatively affect the individual's social relations, daily life activities, cognitive and physical functions (Dilek et al., 2019).

1.4. MS Classification

Multiple sclerosis presents in four types according to its clinical course. The most common type is RRMS, which is characterised by attacks and remissions; secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (SPMS), which is progressive from the onset of the disease; primary progressive multiple sclerosis (PPMS), which is progressive from the onset of the disease; and benign MS, which is characterised by mild attacks occurring at long intervals. In addition, a single episode of clinical demyelination occurring in a certain region of the brain is defined as clinical isolated syndrome (CSS). CIS does not mean that the person has MS, but it indicates that the patient has a high risk of developing MS. While lesions are detected on brain MRI in 60% of patients initially diagnosed with CIS, in approximately 20% of these patients, the diagnosis of MS becomes definite in the following period (Grup., 2018; Miller et al., 2012).

1.4.1. Clinical Isolated Syndrome (CIS)

A clinically isolated syndrome is the first clinical episode suggestive of MS. It is described in the revised McDonald 2017 criteria as follows;

- Presence of a monophasic clinical episode with symptoms and objective findings reflecting a focal or multifocal inflammatory demyelinating event in the central nervous system

- This process should last at least 24 hours, have an acute or subacute onset, and there should be no fever or infection during the process

- This episode is similar to a typical MS relapse (attack and exacerbation) but occurs in a patient without a diagnosis of MS.

In order to make a diagnosis of CSC, the patient should not have symptoms suggestive of another demyelinating event in the clinical history or radiological imaging. The clinical picture may be one or more of the symptoms mentioned above (Förster et al., 2019). Epidemiologically, the risk of developing MS has been found to be higher in patients diagnosed with WMD. In different studies, the transformation of WMD into clinical definite MS varies between 20-75% depending on the prevalence of MS in the country (Miller et al., 2012). On the other hand, there is also a study showing that 6% of patients with WMD enter a progressive disease phase within approximately 7 years after the first demyelinating attack (Kremenchutzky et al., 2006).

1.4.2. Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis (RRMS)

RRMS is the most common type of MS at disease onset, especially in young people. It is characterised by attacks with complete or partial recovery. Disease progression between attacks is low, but the attacks themselves can leave permanent disability, which can sometimes be severe. The diagnosis of RRMS depends on the demonstration of an inflammatory state in different parts of the CNS at two different times. If the above-mentioned disease presenting with an attack fulfils the McDonald 2017 criteria, it can be diagnosed as RRMS with a single attack. RRMS accounts for approximately 85-90% of patients at the time of diagnosis. Past clinical episodes may be temporarily worsened by fever, physical activity, high environmental temperature or metabolic disturbances and may last for hours or a day or more. This worsening, termed "pseudo-attack", is thought to reflect conduction block in demyelinating axons . It can be categorised as active or inactive RRMS according to the Lublin criteria (Group., 2018).

1.4.3. Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis (SPMS)

It has been reported that approximately half of MS cases progressing with attacks and remission turn into secondary progressive form after 10 years. While the patient initially experiences attacks and remissions, the clinical condition worsens and disability progresses as the disease progresses.

1.4.4. Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis (PPMS)

It is defined as a poor prognosis from the onset of the disease. PPMS accounts for approximately 10-15% of MS patients and is generally more common in elderly patients. In this form of the disease, spinal involvement is at the forefront

and the disease progresses more progressively although the cortex is preserved. It causes loss of mobility in many patients.

**Active disease* is defined as the development of new lesions with complete clinical recovery or sequelae and/or contrast enhancement on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) T1 examination and/or hyperintense new lesions on T2 examination.

1.4.5. Benign MS

It is a retrospective diagnosis characterised by infrequent attacks without severe sequelae and low lesion burden on MRI. Patients with "Expanded Disability Status Scale" (EDSS) scores \leq 3 15 years after the onset of the disease are considered benign MS (Kuhlmann and Antel, 2023a).

1.5. Diagnosis

It is not possible to diagnose MS with a single diagnostic test or a specific clinical finding. A detailed neurological examination and anamnesis and clinical symptoms specific to MS are sought. Immunoglobulin G (IgG) and oligoclonal bands in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) examination and demyelinating plaques with specific features of MS plaques formed in the brain and spinal cord are sought by MR imaging. In addition, secondary tests such as optical coherence, evoked potentials, neurocognitive tests and other tests such as urodynamics, angiography, biopsy, electrophysiology and chest radiography are used for differential diagnosis. The main aim is to demonstrate the spread of lesions in the central nervous system and the clinical condition in time and space and to rule out other diseases with clinical findings similar to MS. Poser and McDonald criteria are used in MS, which is a difficult disease to diagnose, and it is reported that the patient should have at least two attacks and MS plaques should be seen in at least two different regions of the brain (Thompson et al., 2018).

1.6.Treatment

Although there is no definite treatment for MS, the treatment approach can be summarised in three ways as preventive treatment, attack treatment and symptomatic treatment. Attack treatment is the intravenous administration of corticosteroids such as methylprednisolone for periods varying according to the state of the attack, such as 3-7 days. The aim of this treatment is that steroids suppress the immune system strongly and rapidly and reduce the severity of symptoms. Steroids accelerate the recovery of MS attacks, but do not change the long-term course of the disease.

Symptomatic treatment is the treatment that does not affect the activity of the disease and is applied to improve the quality of life of the individual and to treat the symptoms of MS. Another treatment method, preventive therapies, are a group of drugs that have emerged in the last 30 years and have effects on the immune system that works incorrectly. These drugs can be administered intravenously, orally, subcutaneously and intramuscularly in different forms and may cause different side effects depending on the active substance of the drug and the site of administration (Kuhlmann and Antel, 2023). Almost all of the preventive treatments are for the form of MS with attacks, and while they do not completely cure the disease, they prevent its progressive course (Kuhlmann and Antel, 2023; Thompson et al., 2018). MS and Fatigue

Fatigue is defined as an overwhelming feeling of exhaustion and lack of energy. Patients have the impression that the effort required to fulfil a given task is disproportionately high, leading to avoidance of physical activity. Fatigue is a subjective symptom, so it can be confused with a general feeling of malaise or depression (Comi et al., 2001). Patients should be carefully examined physically and psychologically to avoid confusing symptoms of fatigue syndrome with depression or other disorders, as they may require separate treatments. MS-related fatigue differs from physiological fatigue in that it is more intense, does not diminish with sleep or rest, and also lasts longer (Michel and Bogousslavsky, 2006). In addition, fatigue in MS usually increases in the afternoon and may be exacerbated by stress, mild physical or mental exertion (Coates et al., 2020). Physical fatigue refers to physical exhaustion after performing a task that requires physical energy, while cognitive fatigue is associated with mental fatigue (Chen et al., 2020).

Heat sensitivity can cause a feeling of fatigue characterised by the appearance of a conduction block in the nodes of Ranvier (Uhthoff phenomenon) (Flensner et al., 2011). Factors such as depression, certain medications (opioids, long-term benzodiazepines, sedatives, painkillers, muscle relaxants), alcohol or nicotine, sleep disorders, infections and fever also exacerbate fatigue (Charvet et al., 2014; Mollaòlu and Üstün, 2009; Weiland et al., 2015).

Fatigue in multiple sclerosis can occur due to primary and secondary causes. Primary causes are mostly related to myelin sheath inflammation, axonal transection and brain hypometabolism. Secondary causes include factors such as depression, physical activity level and sleep quality. Poor sleep quality is among the most important etiological factors of fatigue in MS patients (Sıvacı et al., 2018). In a study, it was found that 47.5% of MS patients had poor sleep quality (Merlino et al., 2009). There are studies showing that factors such as advanced

age, female gender, number of years since diagnosis, having several children, lower education level, type of MS, number of comorbidities, smoking, low physical activity level are also associated with fatigue in MS patients (Weiland et al., 2015; Kaya & Ergin., 2021).

Severe fatigue is more frequently observed in progressive relapsing MS compared with relapsing-remitting and primary progressive MS (Hadjimichael et al., 2008a). The symptom of fatigue may be a harbinger of a relapse and may occur even a few weeks or months before it, but it may persist for a long time and occur at a time independent of relapse or remission (Comi et al., 2001). Fatigue is the most common cause that negatively affects quality of life in MS patients. For many patients, it affects quality of life more than pain and physical disability. It also has socioeconomic consequences by causing loss of labour force. According to data from the United States of America, the national cost of MS patients is more than 6.8 million dollars and 50-80% of people were deprived of the labour force within 10 years due to fatigue from the onset of the disease (Al-Dughmi et al., 2016; Aldughmi et al., 2016; Caminero and Bartolomé, 2011).

Although many studies have been conducted so far, it is still not possible to clearly establish the underlying causes of the fatigue symptom. Among the many hypotheses, the most common are immune system disorders or sequelae from CNS damage. Specific causes include proinflammatory cytokines (increased TNF- α mRNA expression, TNF- α levels and interferon- γ levels), endocrine effects (decreased DHEA concentration), axonal loss or increased volumes and cerebral activation patterns (Braley and Chervin, 2010).

1.5. Fatigue and Sleep Relationship

Sleep is a reversible state in which the threshold of response to external stimuli increases. On the basis of electrophysiological, behavioural and neuronal activity characteristics; 2 types of sleep stages have been defined as rapid eye movement (rapid eye movements, REM) and slow eye movement (non-rapid eye movements, NREM) (Merlino et al., 2009). REM and NREM periods of sleep last alternately throughout the night. There is a 'reciprocal' relationship between REM sleep and NREM sleep. In other words, while the effect of one of them weakens, the other one strengthens and takes over the sleep. The period from the beginning of sleep until the end of the first REM sleep is a sleep cycle. This cycle varies between 90-120 minutes and is repeated 4-6 times a night. It is reported that even if a person sleeps for a short time, he/she wakes up more rested when woken up at the end of this cycle. The length of night sleep depends on many

factors such as age, genetic factors and habits (Barun, 2013; Merlino et al., 2009; Sparasci et al., 2022).

The International Classification of Sleep Disorders includes insomnia, sleeprelated respiratory disorders, central disorders of hypersomnolence, circadian rhythm sleep-wake disorders, parasomnias, sleep-related movement disorders and other sleep disorders. Sleep problems in MS patients who are categorised as other sleep disorders are also at a considerable level. Poor sleep quality was determined by PDQI in 47.5% of these patients (Mogavero et al., 2023). In fact, in studies in which the severity was also evaluated, it was shown that 13.3% had mild, 21.5% had moderate, and 30.0% had severe sleep problems (Qomi et al., 2023).

Sleep disorders are more common in MS than in the general population (Brass et al., n.d.). Sphincter disorders, spasticity and immobility in MS patients may cause sleep disturbance (Cortez et al., 2015). Spasticity, which is seen at a rate of 40-70% in the course of the disease, is an important factor in the occurrence of insomnia. Neurogenic bladder symptoms seen in 50-80% of patients with multiple sclerosis contribute to sleep disturbance (Kajbafvala et al., 2022). Nocturia causes the patient to get out of bed several times each night and interrupts sleep. In one study, 42% of patients with MS had mild insomnia, 53% moderate insomnia and 58% severe insomnia (Veauthier et al., 2011). Although there are no clear studies on this subject, steroids, immunomodulators, chemotherapeutics, antidepressants, anticonvulsants, opioids, antispastic agents used in MS may lead to sleep disorders (Baron et al., 2011). It has been shown that there is a decrease in sleep efficiency in two thirds of the night following interferon beta injection (Nadjar et al., 2011). Conventional MS treatment primarily focuses on the treatment of motor symptoms. However, sleep disturbance in MS patients is closely related to functional status, decreases quality of life and is one of the important causes of fatigue.

1.6.2. Fatigue and Quality of Life Relationship

Quality of life is the ability of the individual to experience psychological, social and physical satisfaction and to perform activities of daily living on their own (Nag et al., 2021). Although the prognosis of multiple sclerosis is variable, it can cause different degrees of limitations in patients. As the limitations associated with the disease increase, quality of life decreases (Aldughmi et al., 2016). Many psychosocial factors, including coping, mood, self-efficacy and perceived support, affect the quality of life of patients with MS more than indicators of disease prognosis (such as MRI lesions). Neuropsychiatric

complications such as cognitive impairment and fatigue are also moderate quality of life determinants even in patients in the early stages of the disease. In addition, psychological disorders such as depression, which have a direct cause-and-effect relationship with fatigue, also significantly affect quality of life (Siegert and Abernethy, 2005).

1.7. MS and Fatigue Management

Uncertainties about the definition, pathogenesis and measurement of fatigue associated with multiple sclerosis clearly hinder the testing of specific therapeutic anti-fatigue strategies. However, there are unproven strategies that could be trialled to help improve MS-related fatigue. As fatigue appears to be related to mood and quality of life, it is important to address these issues at the outset. Similarly, it is important to exclude common medical conditions that may exacerbate fatigue (e.g. hypothyroidism) and optimise doses of medications known to exacerbate fatigue. Non-pharmacological approaches for the specific management of fatigue include behavioural therapy, graded aerobic exercise programmes, energy-saving strategies, dietary advice, environmental cooling and improvement in basic sleep hygiene (Oliva Ramirez et al., 2021a). Despite its widespread use, modafinil has not yet been shown to be effective in MS-related fatigue (Tur, 2016). Antidepressant drugs, particularly serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors, are widely used with little or no evidence supporting their efficacy in MS-related fatigue. The use of stimulants such as amphetamines, methylphenidate and pemoline (not manufactured in the UK) in MS-related fatigue cannot be approved due to their unproven efficacy and possible side effects (Ballon et al., 2006).

In order to manage fatigue, it would be useful to focus on the factors associated with fatigue. As a result of the trainings given to MS patients about lifestyle changes such as diet, smoking, sleep hygiene, physical activity, there is evidence that the person can implement and sustain these recommendations even after 1-3 years, and there are studies showing that there is a significant improvement in quality of life (Latimer-Cheung et al., 2013; Marck et al., 2018).

In another study, it was found that an Internet-based rehabilitation programme reduced the level of fatigue in MS patients and improved cognitive activity (Moustafaa et al., 2022). With the advancing technological developments, internet-based training programmes that patients can quickly adapt to their lives, educational and motivational applications have started to take their place in the fields of study. There are project initiatives that patients can access quickly using technological devices, which are considered to be useful in the management of

fatigue and other symptoms (Cortés-Pérez et al., 2021; Giunti et al., 2018; Jongen et al., 2020; Latimer-Cheung et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2021).

The concepts of e-health technologies or telehealth, including online education and training programmes, have the potential for a better, easily accessible and cheaper infrastructure in healthcare (Campion et al., 2016; Van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011). Today, every individual can access the internet in very easy ways. MS patients are not only a patient group with high internet usage, but also easily adapt to online applications (Fischer et al., n.d.; Nielsen et al., n.d.; pöttgen et al., 2018). The integration of telehealth and wearable technology significantly affects the strength and sustainability of the service provided. Smart watches, which can be considered as the beginning of wearable technologies, have been enabling their users to perform their daily activities and work followups in a more organised way thanks to the notifications they receive since the 2010s. The smartwatch, one of the first wearable fashion components introduced to the market, can be defined in the most comprehensive way for consumers as a type of device worn on the wrist, which basically has many functions from e-mail to video recording (Bölen, 2020). A smartwatch is a computationally powerful, wrist-worn device that can be connected to other devices via short-range wireless connectivity and performs alert notifications by collecting and storing personal data through a series of sensors (Wu et al., 2016). Although there are studies in the literature on the use and continuity of these devices in the healthy population, there are no studies supported by smartwatch measurements on MS patients. It is of great importance that the use of these easily accessible devices to improve the quality of life patients is encouraged and supported by scientific results. In a recent Cochrane review on telerehabilitation in MS, five of the studies had interventions via the internet. The authors concluded that there was limited evidence for the effectiveness of telerehabilitation in improving functional activity, quality of life and fatigue (Khan et al., 2015).

In a review, roles such as care coordinator, care provider and expert resource were identified as the roles of nurses specialised in MS (Meehan & Doody, 2020). In a study conducted in 2013, 83% of MS patients stated that they preferred to communicate with the MS specialist nurse rather than other health professionals because they thought that the MS nurse understood their specific conditions better than other health professionals such as family physicians and neurologists (Ward-Abel et al., 2013). There are studies showing that nurses with expertise in chronic disease management have sufficient competence to provide comprehensive care to MS patients and are important in providing cost savings in health care (Buerhaus, 2018; Maloni, 2013; Roman & Menning, 2017).



Figure: Fatigue Management (Braley and Chervin, 2010)

REFERENCES

- Akdemir, N., Terzi, M., Arslan, N., & Onar, M., 2017, Prevalence of multiple sclerosis in the middle black sea region of Turkey and demographic characteristics of patients. *Noropsikiyatri Arsivi*, 54(1), 11–14.
- Al-Dughmi, M., Research, C. S.-N., 2016, The relationship between sleep quality and perceived fatigue measured using the Neurological Fatigue Index in people with Multiple Sclerosis, *Neurological Research*, 38(11), 943-949.
- Aldughmi, M., Huisinga, J., Lynch, S. G., & Siengsukon, C. F., 2016, The relationship between fatigability and sleep quality in people with multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal - Experimental, Translational and Clinical*, 2, 2055217316682774.
- Andersson, G., Lundström, P., & Ström, L., 2003, Internet-based treatment of headache: Does telephone contact add anything?, *Headache*, 43(4), 353–361.
- Ballon, J., Psychiatry, D., 2006, A systematic review of modafinil: potential clinical uses and mechanisms of action, *Journal of clinical Psychiatry*, 67(4), 554-566.
- Baron, K. G., Corden, M., Jin, L., & Mohr, D. C., 2011, Impact of psychotherapy on insomnia symptoms in patients with depression and multiple sclerosis, *Journal* of Behavioral Medicine, 34(2), 92–101.
- Barun, B., 2013, Pathophysiological background and clinical characteristics of sleep disorders in multiple sclerosis, *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, 115, S82-S85.
- Berger, T., 2013, Multiple sclerosis spasticity daily management: Retrospective data from Europe. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 13(sup1), 3-7.
- Bölen, M. C., 2020, Exploring the determinants of users' continuance intention in smartwatches, *Technology in Society*, 60, 101209.
- Börü, Ü. T., Bilgiç, A. B., Toksoy, C. K., Yılmaz, A. Y., Tasdemir, M., Sensöz, N. P., Öztop Çakmak, Ö., Duman, A., & Bölük, C., 2018, Prevalence of multiple sclerosis in a Turkish city bordering an iron and steel factory. *Journal of Clinical Neurology (Korea)*, 14(2), 234–241.
- Braley, T. J., & Chervin, R. D., 2010, Fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis: Mechanisms, Evaluation, and Treatment, *Sleep*, 33(8), 1061–1067.
- Brass, S. D., Duquette, P., Proulx-Therrien, J., & Auerbach, S., 2010, Sleep disorders in patients with multiple sclerosis, *Sleep medicine reviews*, 14(2), 121-129.
- Buerhaus, P., 2018, Nurse Practitioners, A Solution To America's Primary Care Crisis.
- Caminero, A., & Bartolomé, M., 2011, Sleep disturbances in multiple sclerosis, *Journal* of the Neurological Sciences, 309(1–2), 86–91.
- Charvet, L., Serafin, D., & Krupp, L. B., 2014, Fatigue in multiple sclerosis, *Fatigue: Biomedicine, Health and Behavior*, 2(1), 3–13.

- Chen, M. H., Wylie, G. R., Sandroff, B. M., Dacosta-Aguayo, R., DeLuca, J., & Genova, H. M., 2020, Neural mechanisms underlying state mental fatigue in multiple sclerosis: a pilot study, *Journal of Neurology*, 267(8), 2372–2382.
- Christogianni, A., Bibb, R., Davis, S. L., Jay, O., Barnett, M., Evangelou, N., & Filingeri, D., 2018, Temperature sensitivity in multiple sclerosis: An overview of its impact on sensory and cognitive symptoms, *Temperature*, 5(3), 208–223.
- Coates, K. D., Aboodarda, S. J., Krüger, R. L., Martin, T., Metz, L. M., Jarvis, S. E., & Millet, G. Y., 2020, Multiple sclerosis-related fatigue: The role of impaired corticospinal responses and heightened exercise fatigability, *Journal of Neurophy*siology, 124(4), 1131–1143.
- Comi, G., Leocani, L., Rossi, P., & Colombo, B., 2001, Physiopathology and treatment of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology*, 248(3), 174–179.
- Cortés-Pérez, I., Sánchez-Alcalá, M., Nieto-Escámez, F. A., Castellote-Caballero, Y., Obrero-Gaitán, E., & Osuna-Pérez, M. C., 2021, Virtual Reality-Based Therapy Improves Fatigue, Impact, and Quality of Life in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. A Systematic Review with a Meta-Analysis, *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland)*, 21(21).
- Cortez, M. M., Nagi Reddy, S. K., Goodman, B., Carter, J. L., & Wingerchuk, D. M., 2015, Autonomic symptom burden is associated with MS-related fatigue and quality of life, *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 4(3), 258–263.
- Czerwińska-Mazur, K., Kulesa-Mrowiecka, M., Kopański, Z., Tabak, J., & Mazurek, M., 2018, Multiple sclerosis – classification, epidemiology and etiology, *Jour*nal of Public Health, Nursing and Medical Rescue, 6, 8–11.
- Dauwan, M., Begemann, M. J. H., Slot, M. I. E., Lee, E. H. M., Scheltens, P., & Sommer, I. E. C., 2021, Physical exercise improves quality of life, depressive symptoms, and cognition across chronic brain disorders: a transdiagnostic systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials, *Journal of Neurology*, 268(4), 1222–1246.
- Dilek, F., Bitek, D. E., Erol, Ö., & Ünsar, S., 2019, Multipl Skleroz' Da Üç Semptom Yönetimi: Yorgunluk, Mesane Problemleri, Cinsellik, Journal of Anatolia Nursing and Health Sciences, 22(4), 300–305.
- Dobson, R., & Giovannoni, G., 2019, Multiple sclerosis a review, *European Journal* of Neurology, 26(1), 27–40.
- Evans, C., Tam, J., Kingwell, E., Oger, J., & Tremlett, H., 2012, Long-term persistence with the immunomodulatory drugs for multiple sclerosis: a retrospective database study, *Clinical therapeutics*, 34(2), 341-350.
- Fischer, A., Schröder, J., Vettorazzi, E., Wolf, O. T., Pöttgen, J., Lau, S., ... & Gold, S. M., 2015, An online programme to reduce depression in patients with multiple sclerosis: a randomised controlled trial, *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(3), 217-223.

- Flensner, G., Ek, A. C., Söderhamn, O., & Landtblom, A. M., 2011, Sensitivity to heat in MS patients: A factor strongly influencing symptomology - an explorative survey, *BMC Neurology*, 11.
- Ford, H., 2020, Clinical presentation and diagnosis of multiple sclerosis, *Clinical Medicine, Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of London*, 20(4), 380–383.
- Förster, M., Graf, J., Mares, J., Aktas, O., Hartung, H. P., & Kremer, D., 2019, Drug Treatment of Clinically Isolated Syndrome, CNS Drugs 2019 33:7, 33(7), 659– 676.
- Garg, N., & Smith, T. W., 2015, An update on immunopathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of multiple sclerosis, *Brain and Behavior*, 5(9), 1–13.
- Giunti, G., Mylonopoulou, V., & Romero, O. R., 2018, More Stamina, a Gamified mHealth Solution for Persons with Multiple Sclerosis: Research Through Design, *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*, 6(3).
- Guo, Z. N., He, S. Y., Zhang, H. L., Wu, J., & Yang, Y., 2012, Multiple sclerosis and sexual dysfunction, Asian Journal of Andrology, 14(4), 530–535.
- Hadjimichael, O., Vollmer, T., & Oleen-Burkey, M. K., 2008, Fatigue characteristics in multiple sclerosis: The North American Research Committee on Multiple Sclerosis (NARCOMS) survey, *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 6, 1–11.
- Harirchian, M. H., Fatehi, F., Sarraf, P., Honarvar, N. M., & Bitarafan, S., 2018, Worldwide prevalence of familial multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis, *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 43–47.
- Hedström, A. K., Bäärnhielm, M., Olsson, T., & Alfredsson, L., 2009, Tobacco smoking, but not Swedish snuff use, increases the risk of multiple sclerosis, *Neurology*, 73(9), 696–701.
- Hemmer, B., & Selter., 2013, Update on immunopathogenesis and immunotherapy in multiple sclerosis, *ImmunoTargets and Therapy*, 21.
- Jongen, P. J., ter Veen, G., Lemmens, W., Donders, R., van Noort, E., & Zeinstra, E., 2020, The interactive web-based program MSmonitor for self-management and multidisciplinary care in persons with multiple sclerosis: Quasi-experimental study of short-term effects on patient empowerment, *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(3).
- Kajbafvala, M., Ashnagar, Z., Lucio, A., Firoozeh, F., Salehi, R., Pashazadeh, F., Dadgoo, M., & Jafari, H., 2022, Pelvic floor muscle training in multiple sclerosis patients with lower urinary tract dysfunction: A systematic review and metaanalysis, *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 59, 103559.
- Kalb, R., Beier, M., Benedict, R. H. B., Charvet, L., Costello, K., Feinstein, A., Gingold, J., Goverover, Y., Halper, J., Harris, C., Kostich, L., Krupp, L., Lathi, E., La-Rocca, N., Thrower, B., & DeLuca, J., 2018, Recommendations for cognitive screening and management in multiple sclerosis care, *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 24(13), 1665–1680.

- Khan, F., Amatya, B., & Kesselring, J., 2015, Telerehabilitation for persons with multiple sclerosis, *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2015(5).
- Khemiri, N. B., Fadhel, S. Ben, Hakiri, A., Homri, W., & Labbane, R., 2020, Sexual dysfunction in the elderly: Prevalence and impact on quality of life, *Tunisie Medicale*, 98(12), 1011–1016.
- Kremenchutzky, M., Rice, G. P. A., Baskerville, J., Wingerchuk, D. M., & Ebers, G. C., 2006, The natural history of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study 9: Observations on the progressive phase of the disease. *Brain*, 129(3), 584–594.
- Kuhlmann, T., & Antel, J., 2023a, Multiple sclerosis: 2023 update, *Free Neuropathology*, 4, 3.
- Kuhlmann, T., & Antel, J., 2023b, Multiple sclerosis: 2023 update, In *Free Neuropathology* (Vol. 4). University of Muenster.
- Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Pilutti, L. A., Hicks, A. L., Martin Ginis, K. A., Fenuta, A. M., MacKibbon, K. A., & Motl, R. W., 2013, Effects of exercise training on fitness, mobility, fatigue, and health-related quality of life among adults with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review to inform guideline development, *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 94(9), 1800-1828.e3.
- Maloni, H. W., 2013, Multiple sclerosis: Managing patients in primary care, Nurse Practitioner, 38(4), 24–35.
- Marck, C. H., De Livera, A. M., Brown, C. R., Neate, S. L., Taylor, K. L., Weiland, T. J., Hadgkiss, E. J., & Jelinek, G. A., 2018, Health outcomes and adherence to a healthy lifestyle after a multimodal intervention in people with multiple sclerosis: Three year follow-up, *PLoS ONE*, 13(5), 1–13.
- Meehan, M., & Doody, O., 2020, The role of the clinical nurse specialist multiple sclerosis, the patients' and families' and carers' perspective: An integrative review, *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 39.
- Melcon, M. O., Correale, J., & Melcon, C. M., 2014, Is it time for a new global classification of multiple sclerosis? *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 344(1–2), 171–181.
- Merlino, G., Fratticci, L., Lenchig, C., Valente, M., Cargnelutti, D., Picello, M., Serafini, A., Dolso, P., & Gigli, G. L., 2009, Prevalence of 'poor sleep' among patients with multiple sclerosis: An independent predictor of mental and physical status, *Sleep Medicine*, 10(1), 26–34.
- Michel, P., & Bogousslavsky, J., 2006, Shared mechanisms of ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke: Still a lot to learn, *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 77(1), 1.
- Miller, D. H., Chard, D. T., & Ciccarelli, O., 2012, Clinically isolated syndromes, *The Lancet Neurology*, 11(2), 157–169.

- Mogavero, M. P., Lanza, G., Bruni, O., DelRosso, L. M., Ferri, R., & Ferrin-Strambi, L., 2023, Sleep counts! Role and impact of sleep in the multimodal management of multiple sclerosis, *Journal of Neurology*, 270(7), 3377–3390.
- Mollaòlu, M., & Üstün, E., 2009, Fatigue in multiple sclerosis patients, Journal of Clinical Nursing, 18(9), 1231–1238.
- Moustafaa, E. B. S., Darwish, M. H., El-Tamawy, M. S., & Abu Elkasem, S. T., 2022, Fatigue, cognition and inflammatory biomarkers changes in response to computer-based cognitive training in multiple sclerosis patients: A randomized controlled trial, *NeuroRehabilitation*, 1–10.
- Nadjar, Y., Coutelas, E., Prouteau, P., Panzer, F., Paquet, D., Saint-Val, C., & Créange, A., 2011, Injection of interferon-beta in the morning decreases flu-like syndrome in many patients with multiple sclerosis, *Clinical Neurology and* Neurosurgery, 113(4), 316–322.
- Nag, N., Yu, M., Jelinek, G. A., Simpson-Yap, S., Neate, S. L., & Schmidt, H. K., 2021, Associations between lifestyle behaviors and quality of life differ based on multiple sclerosis phenotype, *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, 11(11).
- Nielsen, A. S., Halamka, J. D., & Kinkel, R. P., 2012, Internet portal use in an academic multiple sclerosis center, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 19(1), 128-133.
- Oliva Ramirez, A., Keenan, A., Kalau, O., Worthington, E., Cohen, L., & Singh, S., 2021a, Prevalence and burden of multiple sclerosis-related fatigue: a systematic literature review, *BMC Neurology*, 21(1), 1–16.
- Oliva Ramirez, A., Keenan, A., Kalau, O., Worthington, E., Cohen, L., & Singh, S., 2021b, Prevalence and burden of multiple sclerosis-related fatigue: a systematic literature review, BMC Neurology, 21(1), 1–16.
- Oreja-Guevara, C., Blanco, T. A., Ruiz, L. B., Pérez, M. Á. H., Meca-Lallana, V., & Ramió-Torrentà, L., 2019, Cognitive dysfunctions and assessments in multiple sclerosis, *Frontiers in Neurology*, 10(7), 1–9.
- Öztürk, B., Taşkıran, E., Demir, S., Tuncer, M. A., Kürtüncü, M., Karabudak, R., ... & Birinci, Ş., 2024, Prevalence and incidence of multiple sclerosis in Turkey: A nationwide epidemiologic study. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 13524585241245318.
- Penner, I. K., 2014, Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis, *Nervenheilkunde*, 33(7–8), 505–510.
- Polat Dunya, C., Tulek, Z., Vızvız, G. Y., Gündüz, T., Panicker, J. N., Kürtüncü, M., & Eraksoy, M., 2020, Validation of the Turkish version of the eight-item actionable bladder symptom screening tool in multiple sclerosis, *Neurourology and* Urodynamics, 39(1), 243–252.

- Polat, C., Tülek, Z., Kürtüncü, M., & Eraksoy, M., 2017, Validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the monitoring my multiple sclerosis scale, *Noropsikiyatri Arsivi*, 54(2), 131–136.
- Pöttgen, J., Moss-Morris, R., Wendebourg, J. M., Feddersen, L., Lau, S., Köpke, S., Meyer, B., Friede, T., Penner, I. K., Heesen, C., & Gold, S. M., 2018, Randomised controlled trial of a self-guided online fatigue intervention in multiple sclerosis, *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 89(9), 970–976.
- Pugliatti, M., Rosati, G., Carton, H., Riise, T., Drulovic, J., Vécsei, L., & Milanov, I., 2006, The epidemiology of multiple sclerosis in Europe, *European Journal of Neurology*, 13(7), 700–722.
- Qaderi, K., & Merghati Khoei, E., 2014, Sexual problems and quality of life in women with multiple sclerosis, *Sexuality and Disability*, 32(1), 35–43.
- Qomi, M., Rakhshan, M., Ebrahimi Monfared, M., & Khademian, Z., 2023, The effect of distance nurse-led fatigue management on fatigue, sleep quality, and selfefficacy in patients with multiple sclerosis: a quasi-experimental study, *BMC Neurology*, 23(1).
- Roman, C., & Menning, K., 2017, Treatment and disease management of multiple sclerosis patients: A review for nurse practitioners, *Journal of the American Association of Nurse* Practitioners, 29(10), 629–638.
- Sıvacı, A. Ö., Demir, A. B., Turan, Ö. F., Taşkapılıoğlu, Ö., Bora, İ., & Ocakoğlu, G., 2018, A Demographic and Polysomnographic Investigation of Fatigue and Sleep Disorders in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis, *Türk Uyku Tıbbı Dergisi*, 5(3), 91–98.
- Siegert, R. J., & Abernethy, D. A., 2005, Depression in multiple sclerosis: A review. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 76(4), 469–475.
- Soyder Kuş, C. N., Zorlu, Y., Çoker, I., Şener, U., & Altınel, Ö., 2004, RR Tip Multipl Skleroz Hastalarında HLA DQ Antijenlerinin Dağılımı, *Ssk Tepecik Eğitim Araştırma dergisi*, 14(2).
- Sparasci, D., Fanfulla, F., Ferri, R., Aricò, D., Distefano, D., Pravatà, E., Heinzer, R., Haba-Rubio, J., Berger, M., Riccitelli, G. C., Gobbi, C., Zecca, C., & Manconi, M., 2022, Sleep-Related Breathing Disorders in Multiple Sclerosis: Prevalence, Features and Associated Factors, *Nature and Science of Sleep*, 14, 741–750.
- Thomas, S., Pulman, A., Dogan, H., Jiang, N., Passmore, D., Pretty, K., Fairbanks, B., Smith, A. D., & Thomas, P. W., 2021, Creating a Digital Toolkit to Reduce Fatigue and Promote Quality of Life in Multiple Sclerosis: Participatory Design and Usability Study, *JMIR Formative Research*, 5(12).
- Thompson, A. J., Banwell, B. L., Barkhof, F., Carroll, W. M., Coetzee, T., Comi, G., Correale, J., Fazekas, F., Filippi, M., Freedman, M. S., Fujihara, K., Galetta, S. L., Hartung, H. P., Kappos, L., Lublin, F. D., Marrie, R. A., Miller, A. E., Miller, D. H., Montalban, X., ... Cohen, J. A., 2018, Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis:

2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria, *The Lancet Neurology*, 17(2), 162–173.

- Torres-Pareja, M., Sánchez-Lastra, M. A., Iglesias, L., Suárez-Iglesias, D., Mendoza, N., & Ayán, C., 2019, Exercise interventions for improving flexibility in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis, *Medicina (Lithuania)*, 55(11).
- Tur, C., 2016, Fatigue Management in Multiple Sclerosis, Current Treatment Options in Neurology, 18(6).
- Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H. C., Kelders, S. M., Eysenbach, G., & Seydel, E. R., 2011, A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth Technologies, *Journal of medical Internet research*, 13(4), e1672.
- Veauthier, C., Radbru, H., Gaede, G., Pfueller, C. F., Dörr, J., Bellmann-Strobl, J., Wernecke, K. D., Zipp, F., Paul, F., & Sieb, J. P., 2011, Fatigue in multiple sclerosis is closely related to sleep disorders: a polysomnographic cross-sectional study, Multiple Sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England), 17(5), 613–622.
- Ward-Abel, N., Mutch, K., & Huseyin, H., 2013, Demonstrating that multiple sclerosis specialist nurses make a difference to patient care, 6(7), 319–324.
- Weiland, T. J., Jelinek, G. A., Marck, C. H., Hadgkiss, E. J., Van Der Meer, D. M., Pereira, N. G., & Taylor, K. L., 2015, Clinically significant fatigue: Prevalence and associated factors in an international sample of adults with multiple sclerosis recruited via the internet, *PLoS ONE*, 10(2).
- Wu, L. H., Wu, L. C., & Chang, S. C., 2016, Exploring consumers' intention to accept smartwatch, *Computers in Human Behavior*, 64, 383–392.
- Yamout, B. I., & Alroughani, R., 2018, Multiple Sclerosis, *Seminars in* Neurology, 38(2), 212–225.
- Kaya, G., & Ergin, G., 2021, Nörolojik Hastalıklarda Yorgunluk ve Değerlendirme Yöntemleri, İzmir Katip Çelebi Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi, 6(3), 171-178.
- Zafeiropoulos, P., Katsanos, A., Kitsos, G., Stefaniotou, M., & Asproudis, I., 2021, The contribution of multifocal visual evoked potentials in patients with optic neuritis and multiple sclerosis: a review, *Documenta Ophthalmologica*, 142(3), 283–292.
- Zielińska-Nowak, E., Włodarczyk, L., Kostka, J., & Miller, E. Ż. B., 2020, New strategies for rehabilitation and pharmacological treatment of fatigue syndrome in multiple sclerosis, *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(11), 1–18.



Dopamine and Leptin

Gonul Gurol Ciftci¹

¹ Prof. Dr. Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Halic University, Eyüpsultan, İstanbul

Food intake has significant effects on our emotional behaviors. These behaviors can also be a companion to cope with situations such as food selection, presentation style, nutrition styles, need for socialization, depression, stress, excitement, and sadness (Adolphs et al., 2019; Devonport et al., 2019; Ljubičić et al., 2023). It is thought that the pleasure or happiness felt as a result of food intake is similar to the euphoric feeling after drug use (Krupa et al., 2024). Using strong reinforcers to increase this pleasure even more activates the pleasure regions in the brain after a while and leads to neurophysiological changes. Processed foods are at the forefront of these powerful reinforcers, and the term "food addiction" and, recently, "sugar addiction" is frequently encountered (Meule A, 2019; Lane et al., 2024). The basic mechanism that initiates the formation of this addiction is the sense of taste. This sense begins with the stimulation of taste receptors located on the tongue and then continues by being resolved in the gastrointestinal system, bladder, and fat tissue. This transmission is also encoded in the brain by stimulating the reward system (Laffitte et al., 2014). Just like drugs, amphetamines, or alcohol, foods also realize their addictive properties through the mesolimbic dopaminergic system. With the discovery of Leptin, a hormone produced by fat cells, findings on the effects of leptin in the control of nutrition and energy expenditure are increasing daily in the literature. In addition, experimental and clinical studies have shown that Leptin regulates behavioral patterns associated with the mesolimbic dopaminergic system (Opland et al., 2010, Watts et al., 2022)

It is known that leptin reduces dopamine output by activating local GABA neurons in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system. In contrast, dopamine directly inhibits the NAc in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) (Figure 1). In the lateral hypothalamus, leptin inhibits VTA-projecting LepR neurons that form inhibitory synapses with VTA GABA neurons, thus reducing the inhibitory effect on GABA neurons in the VTA. This does not inhibit VTA GABA neurons but decreases dopamine neuronal activity (Omrani et al., 2021).



Figure 1. Effects of leptin on the mesolimbic dopaminergic system (Shale et al., 2021).

DA, dopamine; GABA, gamma-aminobutyric acid; LepR, leptin receptor; LH, lateral hypothalamus; NAc, nucleus accumbens; VTA, ventral tegmental area,

The focus of research on leptin is on the homeostatic effects of leptin. There are minimal studies on the interaction of leptin with reward mechanisms. Especially with the demonstration that leptin can regulate drug relapse, its functionality with mesolimbic dopamine circuits becomes remarkable, and it is suggested that changes in leptin levels may affect feeding behavior via VTA dopamine neurons. Therefore, it is suggested that food intake can be changed by modulating leptin transmission in the VTA (Shalev et al., 2001; Hommel et al., 2006, Asgari et al., 2024). However, it has been demonstrated that the rewarding effects of intracranial self-stimulation are suppressed due to intracerebroventricular or intraventral tegmental area leptin applications (Fulton et al., 2000). Dopamine release resulting from action potential bursts in dopaminergic neurons in the VTA is phasic (Watts et al., 2022).

The hedonic value of food, motivation, and reinforcement of food determines the area of action of dopamine in the brain. The hedonic state, i.e. liking delicious food, motivation, i.e. wanting food, and finally, reinforcement of food, i.e. learning the smell and taste of food, is regulated by the brain's reward pathways (Volkow et al., 2011). As a result, appetite and eating behavior patterns are formed. The effects of leptin on the mesolimbic pathway are two-way, direct, or indirect (Figure 2). However, it should also be noted that an increase in dopamine levels does not necessarily indicate an increase in food intake (Asgari et al., 2024). The mechanism underlying feeding behavior is the inhibition of VTA dopamine neurons by leptin and the modulation of the dopamine VTA nucleus accumbens reward circuit to control feeding behavior. In summary, leptin provides control of feeding by indirectly affecting the dopamine reward system (Baik J.H, 2021).



Figure 2. Effects of leptin release on the hypothalamus and ventral tegmental area (Asgari et al., 2024)

Leptin shows its effects in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus through decreased food intake and increased energy expenditure proopiomelanocortin (POMC neurons) as well as agouti-related protein and neuropeptide Y (AgRP/NPY neurons) neurons (Asgari et al., 2024). In the lateral hypothalamic area, it decreases food intake and inhibits dopaminergic neurons in VTA, while in the ventromedial hypothalamus, it stimulates energy expenditure (Figure 2). Leptin also has the feature of decreased locomotor activity in VTA dopaminergic neurons. This effect is also done via the activation of the signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 (STAT3) signaling (Ruegsegger et al., 2017).

There are many studies on leptin in areas such as energy homeostasis, nutrition, and hormonal interactions. On the other hand, the literature has limited information on its effects on cognitive functions. New experimental studies should be designed to provide data on the extent to which energy homeostasis and cognitive status or motivational conditions affect each other. The data obtained will shed light on the neuroanatomical, neuropharmacological, and even neurophysiological valid mechanisms in these conditions.

REFERENCES

- Adolphs, R., Mlodinow, L., & Barrett, L. F. (2019). What is an emotion?. Current biology, 29(20), R1060-R1064.
- Asgari, R., Caceres-Valdiviezo, M., Wu, S., Hamel, L., Humber, B. E., Agarwal, S. M., ... & Pereira, S. (2024). Regulation of energy balance by leptin as an adiposity signal and modulator of the reward system. Molecular Metabolism, 102078.
- Baik, J. H. (2021). Dopaminergic control of the feeding circuit. Endocrinology and Metabolism, 36(2), 229-239.
- Campos, A., Port, J. D., & Acosta, A. (2022). Integrative hedonic and homeostatic food intake regulation by the central nervous system: insights from neuroimaging. Brain sciences, 12(4), 431.
- Devonport, T. J., Nicholls, W., & Fullerton, C. (2019). A systematic review of the association between emotions and eating behaviour in normal and overweight adult populations. Journal of health psychology, 24(1), 3-24.
- Fulton, S., Woodside, B., & Shizgal, P. (2000). Modulation of brain reward circuitry by leptin. Science, 287(5450), 125-128.
- Hommel, J. D., Trinko, R., Sears, R. M., Georgescu, D., Liu, Z. W., Gao, X. B., ... & DiLeone, R. J. (2006). Leptin receptor signaling in midbrain dopamine neurons regulates feeding. neuron, 51(6), 801-810.
- Krupa, H., Gearhardt, A. N., Lewandowski, A., & Avena, N. M. (2024). Food Addiction. Brain Sciences, 14(10), 952.
- Laffitte, A., Neiers, F., & Briand, L. (2014). Functional roles of the sweet taste receptor in oral and extraoral tissues. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care, 17(4), 379-385.
- Lane, M. M., Travica, N., Gamage, E., Marshall, S., Trakman, G. L., Young, C., ... & Marx, W. (2024). Sugar-Sweetened Beverages and Adverse Human Health Outcomes: An Umbrella Review of Meta-Analyses of Observational Studies. Annual Review of Nutrition, 44(1), 383-404.
- Ljubičić, M., Matek Sarić, M., Klarin, I., Rumbak, I., Colić Barić, I., Ranilović, J., ... & Guiné, R. P. (2023). Emotions and food consumption: emotional eating behavior in a european population. Foods, 12(4), 872.
- Murray, S., Tulloch, A., Gold, M. S., & Avena, N. M. (2014). Hormonal and neural mechanisms of food reward, eating behaviour and obesity. Nature Reviews Endocrinology, 10(9), 540-552.
- Omrani, A., de Vrind, V. A., Lodder, B., Stoltenborg, I., Kooij, K., Wolterink-Donselaar, I. G., ... & Adan, R. A. (2021). Identification of novel neurocircuitry through which leptin targets multiple inputs to the dopamine system to reduce food reward seeking. Biological psychiatry, 90(12), 843-852.

- Opland, D. M., Leinninger, G. M., & Myers Jr, M. G. (2010). Modulation of the mesolimbic dopamine system by leptin. Brain research, 1350, 65-70.
- Ruegsegger, G. N., & Booth, F. W. (2017). Running from disease: molecular mechanisms associating dopamine and leptin signaling in the brain with physical inactivity, obesity, and type 2 diabetes. Frontiers in endocrinology, 8, 109.
- Shalev, U., Yap, J., & Shaham, Y. (2001). Leptin attenuates acute food deprivation-induced relapse to heroin seeking. The Journal of Neuroscience, 21(4), RC129.
- Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., & Baler, R. D. (2011). Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. Trends in cognitive sciences, 15(1), 37-46.
- Watts, A. G., Kanoski, S. E., Sanchez-Watts, G., & Langhans, W. (2022). The physiological control of eating: signals, neurons, and networks. Physiological reviews, 102(2), 689-813.


Home Care After Oncology Surgery

Muhammet Faruk Yiğit¹ & İsmail Deniz²

Öğr. Gör. Dr., Van Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi; Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi, Hemşirelik Bölümü, ORCID: 0000-0002-3803-6063
 Öğr. Gör., Hakkâri Üniversitesi; Sağlık Hizmetleri Meslek Yüksekokulu, Diyaliz Bölümü, ORCID: 0000-0002-6671-7667

Cancer is a major life-threatening global health problem. It has been reported by the World Health Organization that approximately 19.3 million people are currently diagnosed with cancer. This number is expected to increase in the coming years (1). According to the Yearbook of Health Statistics, the most common cancer types in Turkey are breast, lung, prostate, stomach, colorectal, thyroid, uterine, bladder, leukemia and ovarian cancer (2).

Cancer is a disease in which normal cells divide and multiply uncontrollably and spread to other parts of the body. Risk factors such as genetic factors, overweight, tobacco and alcohol use, sedentary lifestyle, unhealthy diet and air pollution are involved in cancer formation. Tobacco use is reported to be the most important risk factor in cancer formation (1,3,4).

Cancer is often a disease that progresses rapidly and sometimes has no symptoms. For this reason, some patients are diagnosed at an advanced stage. To prevent this, it is important to follow the signs and symptoms of cancer in addition to regular health checks. Although the symptoms of cancer vary depending on the type of cancer, common symptoms include fatigue, weight loss, loss of appetite, pain and bleeding. (5,6).

Once patients are diagnosed with life-threatening cancer, they need to be treated adequately and effectively. In general, the primary goal of treatment is to cure the cancer or prolong the patient's life. Improving the patient's quality of life is another important goal. Cancer treatment includes one or more options such as surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy depending on the stage of the cancer. In cancer treatment, palliative surgery options are applied as curative or to control symptoms (7,9).

Surgical interventions, which are an important option in the treatment of oncology patients, affect the daily life of patients and their families. Therefore, it is important to continue cancer treatment with effective care. Patients need physical, emotional, cognitive and spiritual care support in the postoperative period (10,11). Physical signs and symptoms of the disease such as vomiting, nausea, loss of appetite, fatigue, shortness of breath, pain, sleep problems, sexual problems seen in the preoperative period may continue in the postoperative period (12,13). In the emotional domain, fear of death, hopelessness, changes in body image, and a sense of dependence on others can occur (3,4).

Patients receiving oncologic surgical treatment tend to experience negative psychosocial problems. The problems experienced vary according to the stage of the disease and the treatment method, but also vary individually. In this process, supportive care is recognized as an important service to help meet the physiological, psychosocial and spiritual needs of oncology patients. (14)

Patients after oncologic surgery should be supported by health professionals and their relatives with a multidisciplinary team approach in the management of their symptoms and treatment side effects. Nurses are one of the most important members of the multidisciplinary team, supporting patients and their relatives at every stage of the disease (16). Ensuring patients' well-being and meeting their needs holistically is possible by providing individualized and quality nursing care in a behavioral, cognitive and comprehensive manner. Identifying and meeting the individualized care needs of patients undergoing oncologic surgery and their families at an early stage in order to help them cope with the problems they experience during this process is very important in terms of maintaining the wellbeing of patients and increasing their quality of life (13,15).

As it is known, cancer patients face many problems due to both the symptoms caused by the disease process and the side effects of treatments such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Regardless of the focus of the cancer, the problems experienced by patients in the home environment are generally similar. However, with each passing day, the care of cancer patients is becoming more complex and they need care not only in the hospital setting but also in the home environment (17,18).

Public health nurses aim to promote and improve health and prevent diseases by making home visits and health education to all individuals and families in the society. For this purpose, home care nursing has been accepted as a subcomponent of public health nursing for many years and continues to be accepted as such today. However, although public health and home care nursing have common aspects, they are both specialties in their own right (19). Therefore, a home care nurse is neither a public health nurse nor a clinical nurse (20). Home care nurses constitute a common synthesis of public health and clinical fields. It has become important to clearly define the competencies and training standards of home care nurses in order to provide safe, effective and quality health care services to individuals receiving home care services with a different approach than the service provision they receive in the hospital environment (21). The nurse providing home care services should collect information about the patient's condition in the clinic or after hospitalization and the period of hospitalization, create a recording system that provides information flow, and initiate initiatives to get to know the patient and his/her family. The functions to be carried out by the nurse in the home care process should be organized according to a care model, care plan and nursing process (22). Care related to activities of daily living; Pain

control, Nausea and vomiting, Oral mucositis, Fatigue and fatigue, Loss of appetite, Difficulty in adhering to treatment regimen, Psychosocial support services (17, 23, 24).

Oncology patients need the most help with activities of daily living such as bathing, toileting, moving, dressing and undressing, shopping and cleaning. It has been reported that oncology patients have problems in home environments such as shopping, house cleaning, bathing, getting in and out of vehicles, moving around in social areas, dressing and undressing, food preparation, nutrition, going to the toilet, making phone calls, using medications (17).

Pain Management: Since oncology patients have different diagnoses, stages of cancer and types of treatment, an individualized pain plan should be implemented. Pain should be considered and treated before and after treatment. In addition to pharmacologic treatments, non-pharmacologic methods should also be used. Recommendations for pain management and care:

- Non-pharmacological or pharmacological methods should be applied without waiting for the pain to intensify
- Painkillers must be used when necessary and in the correct dose.
 Information should be obtained from the home care nurse about the method of use and dosage, and this information should be supported by the nurse with brochures.
- Education about the possible side effects of painkillers should be provided by the home care nurse.
- If there is no decrease in the severity of pain, if it affects daily life such as nutrition and movement and if there is an increase in its frequency, the physician should be informed (25).

Nausea and Vomiting: Although not seen in all patients, cancer diagnosis, radiotherapy and chemotherapy can cause nausea and vomiting. The duration, frequency and amount of nausea and vomiting depending on the cause may vary from patient to patient. Suggestions to reduce nausea and vomiting:

- If nausea and vomiting are persistent, antiemetic medication should be used regularly.
- Easily digestible foods such as pretzels, chicken soup, vegetable soup, baked and grilled chicken, boiled potatoes, low-fat rice pilaf, yogurt should be consumed.

- Fluids should not be taken during feeding and should be taken one hour before or after feeding.
- Do not lie on your back for the first 30 minutes after meals.
- -Meals should be eaten little, often and slowly.
- -The room should be ventilated.
- If the smell of food bothers you, someone else should cook the food.
 Wait for the food to cool down before eating it.
- If there is no physician-ordered salt restriction, salty crackers, cheese, bread, toast can be consumed to prevent nausea.
- Spicy, very salty and sugary foods should be avoided.
- Mint menthol chewing gum can be chewed as a relaxant in case of a change in taste.
- Deep breathing and coughing exercises before treatments will reduce nausea and vomiting.
- It should be reminded that light meals and snacks two hours before chemotrapy can be relaxing.
- Despite all these recommendations, if vomiting occurs more than three times in one hour and the patient cannot drink more than four glasses of fluid a day, a physician should be consulted (25,26).

Oral Mucositis: Redness and sores in the mouth due to cancer and its treatment. This may lead to malnutrition and infections. The most effective treatment method of oral mucositis is proper oral care (27). Recommendations regarding oral care;

- Regular check-ups with the dentist should be made during treatment.
- The oral mucosa and tongue should be checked every day. It will be an opportunity to diagnose possible problems early.
- Teeth should be cleaned twice a day with a soft toothbrush.
- Before going to bed, one teaspoon of baking soda should be mixed into a tea glass of water and gargle with the mixture.
- If dentures are used, they must be cared for after meals.
- Moisturizer should be used for the lips in every oral care.

- Foods that threaten the integrity of the oral mucosa should be avoided.
- If there is pain during feeding, difficulty in swallowing, redness of the oral mucosa, the physician should be informed (27).

Fatigue and Weakness: It is a symptom that can be observed from mild to severe levels in all patients related to cancer and the treatment process. While many causes lead to fatigue and fatigue, the most common cause is chemotherapy treatment (24,26). Recommendations to reduce fatigue and weakness:

- Activities should be planned in order of priority.
- Rest intervals should be determined at periodic intervals during the day.
- To regulate night sleep, bedtime and wake-up time should be determined. Daily sleep time should be set at 6-8 hours
- You can listen to music or do relaxation exercises to make it easier to fall asleep.
- Regular nutrition will enable active and effective use of energy, so attention should be paid to nutrition. If necessary, help from a dietitian should be sought
- Drink at least 2,000 mL (8 glasses) of water during the day.
- 15-20 minutes of light exercise daily will make it easier to fall asleep.
- Despite all these recommendations, if you feel severe fatigue and weakness, you should consult a physician (28).

Eating disorder: Loss of appetite is common in oncology patients due to nausea, vomiting, oral mucositis, chemotherapy, radiotherapy and other medical treatments. Suggestions to reduce anorexia:

- High-calorie and protein-rich foods should be preferred.
- Nutrition should be planned as 3 main and 3 snacks.
- If there is no problem with the oral mucosa, lemon, vinegar, spices, mint and thyme can be consumed with meals.
- Fruit juices and soups should be consumed according to the patient's condition.

- Some chemotherapy drugs can leave a metal taste in the mouth. To eliminate this problem, a few drops of orange or lemon juice can be added to warm water..
- Foods that are very popular should not be consumed in case of severe anorexia.
- Odorless and cool foods should be preferred.
- Light exercise before meals can reduce anorexia.
- Eat in a comfortable, pleasant and odorless environment.
- If the mouth is not sore, favorite spices can be used to increase the sense of taste.
- Green leafy foods and unpeeled fruits should be soaked in vinegar water for 15 minutes and consumed after washing.
- -Foods cooked over coal fire should be avoided.
- Avoid grapefruit and its juice, excessively salty and sugary foods, and excessively fatty foods.
- If there is no improvement in anorexia despite all these suggestions, a physician should be consulted (26)

Postoperative Care Applications: Postoperative Care Practices: Patients with cancer and their relatives need care and information on many issues such as dressing, use of assistive devices and drugs (dose, interaction, side effects), exercise and diet after cancer-related surgical procedures (29,30). Recommendations in postoperative care;

- Bad odors should be removed by ventilating the house,
- Pay attention to the cleaning of upholstery and floors as they can create bad odors,
- Hygiene of body, clothing, bed, room and home should be ensured
- Food should be properly prepared and stored
- The temperature of the room where the patient bed is located should be controlled
- Care should be taken against the patient's body temperature dropping
- Patient-oriented medication should be administered

- Complications that may develop due to surgical procedures and poor environmental conditions should be monitored
- Create a hygienic environment suitable for care
- Infection control methods should be followed against postoperative infections (33).

Psychosocial Support Services: Cancer negatively affects individuals physiologically, psychologically and socially. This effect leads to various symptoms such as anxiety, fear and depression in patients, and when the main source of the problems is evaluated, it is determined that cancer is associated with death. In order to prevent or eliminate the occurrence of these problems, the nurse providing home care services should contact the hospital, request appointments from the necessary clinics and direct the patients to these areas (28).

An individual's illness affects all family members individually. Depending on the patient's prognosis, families experience uncertainty about the patient's current and future health status. Roles may change among family members due to the physical limitations and fatigue of the patient (29). The importance of each member of the family making their own decisions should be emphasized and reassured by the health care team. The patient and family should realize that they are being guided by professional individuals. One of the various home care service organizations in Europe and the USA is hospital-based home care services. Home care, which is hospital-based, was born as an alternative for inpatients and outpatients requiring chronic care and has become an expanding type of care. As health technology develops and expectations change, the scope and accessibility of home care services are expanding (32-33).

RESULTS

Patients undergoing oncologic surgery face many psychological, social and physical problems that will negatively affect their lives. Patients need supportive care needs due to these problems. The care needs of patients are met by their relatives or healthcare professionals. The care needs of patients undergoing oncologic surgery should be determined individually in the early period from the diagnosis of the disease. Since all these problems directly affect the treatment process, quality of life, mortality and morbidity rates of patients with cancer and their relatives, the concept of home care continues to be up-to-date. In this direction, it is necessary to evaluate and solve the problems faced by patients with cancer and their caregivers in the home environment within the framework of home care It is seen that the services provided by the home care team and nurses in cancer patients in the home environment have many positive effects such as the possibility of patient-specific care, not the disease, and ensuring the continuity of care without restricting the freedom of patients. The fact that cancer is an increasing chronic disease increases the need for home care services team. For this reason, it is seen that nurses in the home care team have an important place in improving the quality of life of cancer patients. It is recommended that nurses should feel responsible in this field, provide development for the field, and evaluate the opportunities of home care services throughout the country and present policies for their development.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Cancer. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer.
- Sağlık Bilgi Sistemleri Genel Müdürlüğü. Türkiye Sağlık İstatistiği Yıllığı. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Sağlık Sistemleri Genel Müdürlüğü. <u>https://sbsgm.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/40564/0/saglik-istatistikleri-yilligi-2019pdf.pdf</u>.
- 3. Zhang, Y. B., Pan, X. F., Chen, J., Cao, A., Zhang, Y. G., Xia, L., ... & Pan, A. (2020). Combined lifestyle factors, incident cancer, and cancer mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *British journal of cancer*, 122(7), 1085-1093.
- Cumberbatch, M. G. K., Jubber, I., Black, P. C., Esperto, F., Figueroa, J. D., Kamat, A. M., ... & Catto, J. W. (2018). Epidemiology of bladder cancer: a systematic review and contemporary update of risk factors in 2018. *European urology*, 74(6), 784-795.
- Simmons, C. P., McMillan, D. C., McWilliams, K., Sande, T. A., Fearon, K. C., Tuck, S., ... & Laird, B. J. (2017). Prognostic tools in patients with advanced cancer: a systematic review. *Journal of pain and symptom management*, 53(5), 962-970.
- Koo, M. M., Swann, R., McPhail, S., Abel, G. A., Elliss-Brookes, L., Rubin, G. P., & Lyratzopoulos, G. (2020). Presenting symptoms of cancer and stage at diagnosis: evidence from a cross-sectional, population-based study. *The Lancet Oncology*, 21(1), 73-79.
- Petrelli, F., Trevisan, F., Cabiddu, M., Sgroi, G., Bruschieri, L., Rausa, E., ... & Turati, L. (2020). Total neoadjuvant therapy in rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of treatment outcomes. *Annals of surgery*, 271(3), 440-448.
- Çukurova, İ., Vermişli, S., & Özbayır, T. (2017). Larenks kanseri nedeniyle cerrahi tedavi uygulanan hastaların ameliyat sonrası yaşam kalitelerinin değerlendirilmesi. *The Turkish Journal of Ear Nose and Throat*, 27(2), 91-98.
- Hanna, T. P., King, W. D., Thibodeau, S., Jalink, M., Paulin, G. A., Harvey-Jones, E., ... & Aggarwal, A. (2020). Mortality due to cancer treatment delay: systematic review and meta-analysis. *bmj*, 371.
- 10. Treanor, C., Kyaw, T., & Donnelly, M. (2018). An international review and metaanalysis of prehabilitation compared to usual care for cancer patients. *Journal* of *Cancer Survivorship*, *12*, 64-73.
- 11. Özbayır, T., Geçkil, Ö. S., & Aslan, A. (2017). An adaptation of the short-form supportive care needs survey questionnaire (SCNS-SF 34) into Turkish. *European journal of breast health*, *13*(4), 183.
- 12. Devlin, E. J., Denson, L. A., & Whitford, H. S. (2017). Cancer treatment side effects: a meta-analysis of the relationship between response expectancies and experience. *Journal of pain and symptom management*, 54(2), 245-258.

- 13. Uğur, Ö. (2014). Symptom management of cancer patients. *Turkish Journal of Oncology*, 29(3), 125-135.
- 14. Chou, Y. H., Hsieh, V. C. R., Chen, X., Huang, T. Y., & Shieh, S. H. (2020). Unmet supportive care needs of survival patients with breast cancer in different cancer stages and treatment phases. *Taiwanese Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 59(2), 231-236.doi:10.1016/j.tjog.2020.01.010.
- Aksuoğlu, A., & Şenturan, L. (2016).Destekleyici bakım gereksinimleri ölçeğinin geçerlik ve güvenirlik çalışması. Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci, 36(3):121-129. doi:10.5336/medsci.2016-51865.
- Yılmaz, M., & Yazgı, Z. G. (2020). Onkoloji hastalarının yaşadığı psikososyal sorunlarla baş etmesinde hemşirenin rolü. Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi, 4(1), 60-70.
- 17. Ataman, G. (2014). Bir üniversite hastanesinin cerrahi onkoloji polikliniğine başvuran kanser hastalarının evde bakım durumlarının, gereksinimlerinin ve yaşam kalitesinin saptanması (Master's thesis, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü).
- 18. Subaşı, D. (2010). Kanser ağrısı deneyimleyen hastaların yaşam kalitesi ve baş etme tutumlarının değerlendirilmesi (Master's Thesis, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü).
- 19. Friedman, Y. (2006). Mapping the literature of home health nursing. *J Med Lib Assoc.* 94(2), 49-55.
- 20. Duke, M., & Street, A. (2003). Hospital in the home: constructions of the nursing role–a literature review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *12*(6), 852-859.
- Sezer, A., Demirbaş, H., & Kadıoğlu, H. (2015). Evde bakım hemşireliği: Mesleki yetkinlikler ve eğitim standartları. *Florence Nightingale Hemşirelik Dergisi*, 23(2), 160-5.
- 22. Sayan, A. (2004). Günümüzde evde bakım. Atatürk Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Yüksekokulu Dergisi, 3(7), 91-96.
- 23. Ertem, G., Kalkim, A., Bulut, S., & Sevil, U. (2009). Quality of life and needs towards home care of patients treated with radiotherapy. *EJ Nurs Sci Art*, 2, 3-12.
- 24. Özçelik, H., Fadıloğlu, Ç., Uyar, M., & Karabulut, B. (2010). Kanser hastaları ve aileleri için palyatif bakım. *İzmir: Üniversite Opset*.
- 25. Öğüt, Düzen, K., Korkmaz, M. (2015). Symptom control in cancer patients, and use of complementary and alternative medicine. *DEUHFED*, 8(2), 67-76.
- Çayır, Y., & Işık, M. (2012). Terminal dönem kanser hastalarınde evde sağlık hizmetleri Home health care services in terminal stage cancer patients. *Smyrna Med J*, 3, 87-89.
- 27. Yacan, A. Onkoloji kliniğine yatan hastalarda oral mukozit gelişme sıklığı ve etkileyen faktörler. (Master's thesis, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü).

- Temiz, G. (2016). Kemoterapi uygulanan kanserli hastalarda yaşam kalitesinin ve sağlık bakım gereksinimlerinin değerlendirilmesi. (Master's thesis, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü).
- 29. Cengiz, B., & Bahar, Z. (2017). Perceived barriers and home care needs when adapting to a fecal ostomy: a phenomenological study. *Journal of Wound Ostomy & Continence Nursing*, 44(1), 63-68.
- 30. Ataman, G., & Erbaydar, T. (2017). Unmet home healthcare needs and quality of life in cancer patients: a hospital-based T urkish sample. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 25(4), 1347-1354.
- 31. Fadıloğlu, Ç., Ertem, G., & Şenuzun, F. (2013). Evde sağlık ve bakım. *Amasya: Göktuğ Yayıncılık*.
- 32. Fadıloğlu, Ç. (2006). Kanser Hastalarında Evde Bakım. İçinde: Uyar M, Uslu R, Kuzeyli Yıldırım Y. Editör. Kanser ve Palyatif Bakım. İzmir: Meta Basım Matbaacılık Hizmetleri.
- 32. Smith, M. E., Baker, C. R., Branch, L. G., Walls, R. C., Grimes, R. M., Karklins, J. M., ... & Wagster-Weare, M. (1992). Case-mix groups for VA hospital-based home care. *Medical Care*, 30(1), 1-16.
- Sezer, A., Demirbaş, H., & Kadıoğlu, H. (2015). Evde bakım hemşireliği: Mesleki yetkinlikler ve eğitim standartları. *Florence Nightingale Hemşirelik Dergisi*, 23(2), 160-5. doi:10.17672/fnhd.37608



Lithium Toxicity

Emre Gökçen¹

¹ Assoc. Prof. Dr., Yozgat Bozok University, Medical Faculty, Department of Emergency Medicine, Yozgat, Turkey, Orcid ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6018-6105

1.INTRODUCTION

Lithium is a pharmacological agent with proven efficacy whose medical use dates back to the mid-19th century. Over time, it has been the subject of various controversies. Initially introduced for the treatment of uric acid metabolism disorders, such as gout and rheumatic diseases, its effectiveness in these indications was not adequately substantiated through clinical studies. By the late 19th century, lithium-containing mineral waters and tablets had become widely popular; however, the lithium content in these products was typically negligible from a clinical perspective. In the early 20th century, the introduction of more concentrated lithium preparations led to an increase in toxicity cases, with adverse effects such as tremors, nausea, and vomiting frequently reported. In 1949, the use of lithium chloride as a salt substitute in low-sodium diets caused severe poisonings and fatalities, leading to the rapid abandonment of this practice. During the same period, the efficacy of lithium in treating manic disorders was demonstrated, although it did not gain widespread acceptance initially. Following its approval by the FDA in 1970, lithium entered clinical practice as a safe and effective treatment for bipolar disorder.(1)

Bipolar disorders (BD) are severe psychiatric conditions characterized by cycles of depression and mania. BD type I is associated with manic episodes, while BD type II is linked to hypomania and major depressive episodes. Lithium (Li+), particularly effective in the treatment of mania, is widely used in the management of both BD type I and BD type II.(2). Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a chronic form of dementia characterized by memory loss, behavioral changes, and impaired concentration. Studies have shown a significantly lower incidence of AD among bipolar disorder patients undergoing chronic lithium (Li+) therapy. The neuroprotective effects observed in bipolar disorder patients support the potential use of Li+ in the treatment of AD. Clinical trials are currently ongoing to validate this potential (3,4). Lithium (Li+) can be used as an adjuvant agent in the treatment of thyroid cancer and hyperthyroidism. Li+ inhibits the synthesis and release of thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3), thereby reducing their serum levels while increasing intrathyroidal iodine accumulation. This mechanism allows for greater uptake of radioactive iodine by both normal and cancerous thyroid cells, enhancing the efficacy of radioactive iodine therapy. Additionally, Li+ modulates the activity of deiodinase enzymes, regulating the conversion of thyroid hormones between their active and inactive forms. Through these effects, Li+ is considered an effective supportive treatment option in managing thyroid cancer.(5,6)

The narrow therapeutic window of lithium is a significant clinical factor that increases the risk of toxicity. The therapeutic window defines the effective and safe dosage range of a drug, and for lithium, this range is notably narrow, with minimal difference between therapeutic and toxic doses. The epidemiology of lithium toxicity is categorized into two main forms: acute and chronic toxicity. Acute toxicity is typically associated with the ingestion of high doses of lithium over a short period, often observed in younger individuals and suicide attempts. This form of toxicity is more common in patients who are new to lithium therapy, and its incidence is generally linked to exceeding the therapeutic range. Chronic toxicity, on the other hand, develops gradually due to the accumulation of serum lithium levels during long-term use at therapeutic doses. It is more frequently seen in elderly patients, individuals with impaired renal function, and those exposed to drug interactions. (7). The development of lithium toxicity can be influenced by various factors, including renal function, age, hydration status, concurrent medication use, and overdose. Since lithium elimination occurs almost exclusively through the kidneys, patients with impaired renal function are at a heightened risk for drug accumulation and subsequent toxicity. In elderly individuals, physiological declines in renal function and a reduction in total body water are notable factors that increase the risk of toxicity. Dehydration can further elevate serum lithium levels by reducing renal clearance. Additionally, medications such as diuretics, ACE inhibitors, ARBs, and NSAIDs can alter lithium pharmacokinetics, increasing the likelihood of toxicity. Accidental or intentional overdose can lead to acute lithium poisoning. In this context, regular monitoring of serum lithium levels, careful dose adjustment, and proactive management of coexisting risk factors are critical to preventing toxicity in patients receiving lithium therapy. (8,9)

2. PHARMACOKINETICS AND PHARMACODYNAMICS

Lithium is an agent metabolized in the body in a manner similar to sodium ions and is widely used in the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders. Pharmacodynamically, although its exact mechanism of action is not fully elucidated, lithium has been shown to inhibit the inositol monophosphate and glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) signaling pathways. These effects are thought to play a critical role in modulating energy metabolism, neuroprotection, neuroplasticity, and mood stabilization. Additionally, the reduction in intracellular inositol levels is considered a significant contributor to lithium's clinical efficacy.(10).

Pharmacokinetically, lithium is rapidly absorbed after oral administration, reaching peak serum concentrations within 1 to 3 hours for immediate-release

formulations and within 4 to 6 hours for extended-release formulations (11). The volume of distribution (Vd) for lithium typically ranges between 0.5 and 1.2 L/kg. It is an ion that does not bind to plasma proteins and freely distributes in total body water. Lithium can accumulate in certain tissues, such as the brain, kidneys, and thyroid, at concentrations exceeding those in serum. Unmetabolized lithium is eliminated as a free ion through the kidneys. After glomerular filtration, approximately 80% of the filtered lithium is reabsorbed via passive diffusion in the proximal tubules. In individuals with normal renal function, the elimination half-life of lithium ranges from 16 to 30 hours. However, this duration is extended in elderly individuals due to age-related declines in renal clearance (12).

3. PATHOPHYSIOLOGY AND CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Lithium toxicity is a serious clinical condition resulting from the accumulation of the drug in the body and is classified into three main forms: acute, chronic, and acute-on-chronic toxicity. These forms differ in terms of the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms and clinical manifestations (13).

3.1. Acute Lithium Toxicity

Acute lithium toxicity typically occurs following a single ingestion of a high dose of lithium and manifests with rapidly onset symptoms.

3.1.1. Gastrointestinal Symptoms:

Nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea are common early symptoms resulting from the irritative effects of lithium on the gastrointestinal mucosa. These symptoms generally appear within the first few hours of ingestion and can lead to fluid loss, increasing the risk of hypovolemia and renal dysfunction.

3.1.2. Neurological Symptoms:

Neurological manifestations, such as tremor, ataxia, agitation, and confusion, are associated with lithium's disruption of neuronal membrane stability. In severe cases, encephalopathy and seizures may develop. These symptoms usually follow the onset of gastrointestinal signs and correlate with the severity of toxicity. (9,14).

3.2. Chronic Lithium Toxicity

Chronic lithium toxicity typically develops during long-term lithium therapy due to overdose, impaired renal function, or drug interactions. Symptoms emerge gradually and often involve multiple organ systems (14).

3.2.1. Neurological Symptoms:

Neurological manifestations are prominent and include lethargy, cognitive impairment, cerebellar dysfunction, and extrapyramidal symptoms. These effects are associated with lithium crossing the blood-brain barrier and accumulating at the neuronal level (9,14).

3.2.2. Renal Dysfunction:

Complications such as nephrogenic diabetes insipidus (NDI) result from lithium's toxic effects on renal tubular cells. Symptoms like polyuria and polydipsia exacerbate fluid loss, further intensifying the severity of toxicity (15).

3.2.3. Endocrine Dysfunction:

Lithium's suppression of thyroid hormone synthesis can lead to hypothyroidism, which may exacerbate both neurological and systemic toxicity (16).

3.3. Acute-on-Chronic Lithium Toxicity

This form occurs when a patient receiving chronic lithium therapy experiences an acute overdose, combining features of both acute and chronic toxicity. Gastrointestinal symptoms tend to present earlier and more severely, while neurological symptoms develop rapidly, contributing to a more severe clinical presentation (14).

3.4. Variability in Clinical Presentation

The clinical manifestation of lithium toxicity varies depending on individual risk factors and underlying conditions. Elderly patients are more susceptible to toxicity due to decreased renal function and reduced total body water. Comorbid conditions, impaired hydration status, and the use of medications such as diuretics, ACE inhibitors, or NSAIDs further increase the risk of toxicity. Lithium toxicity is a complex clinical condition that can cause severe complications in the neurological, gastrointestinal, and renal systems. Acute toxicity presents with rapidly onset symptoms, whereas chronic toxicity progresses gradually with neurological and renal effects. The acute-on-chronic form combines features of both, resulting in a more complex clinical course. Clinical management requires careful assessment of the different forms of lithium toxicity and consideration of individual risk factors (9,14).

The Syndrome of Irreversible Lithium-Effectuated Neurotoxicity (SILENT) is a clinical condition characterized by persistent neurological and neuropsychiatric symptoms following lithium toxicity. SILENT occurs in some

cases of lithium toxicity where neurological toxicity develops at high serum lithium concentrations, and symptoms persist even after successful elimination of the drug from the body. A review of 117 patients with SILENT reported that the most common acute neurological finding was an altered level of consciousness, ranging from confusion to coma. This condition is associated with lithium's long-lasting effects and neurotoxic mechanisms in the central nervous system, posing a significant clinical burden on affected patients.(17).

4. ROLE OF LABORATORY TESTS

The following laboratory tests play a crucial role in the diagnosis and management of lithium toxicity:

4.1. Serum Lithium Levels:

Serum lithium levels are a critical marker for both therapeutic efficacy and toxicity detection. The therapeutic range is typically defined as 0.6–1.2 mmol/L. Mild symptoms may occur when lithium concentrations exceed 1.5 mmol/L, while levels above 2.5 mmol/L are associated with moderate-to-severe symptoms such as neurological dysfunction, tremors, and altered consciousness. Concentrations exceeding 3.5 mmol/L generally indicate severe toxicity. However, in cases of acute lithium ingestion, high serum levels may be observed without toxic manifestations due to the slow distribution of lithium into the central nervous system (CNS). Therefore, the evaluation of toxicity requires consideration of both serum lithium levels and clinical findings (8,9).

4.2. Electrolytes and Renal Function Tests:

Given that lithium is excreted primarily through the kidneys, it is essential to evaluate renal function using tests such as serum creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN). Electrolyte imbalances, including hyponatremia, hyperkalemia, and hypercalcemia, are also commonly observed and should be carefully monitored (9,18). Lithium therapy can lead to a reduction in the glomerular filtration rate (GFR), which reflects the kidneys' ability to filter blood. Additionally, lithium suppresses the kidneys' capacity to concentrate urine, resulting in conditions such as polyuria and polydipsia. Prolonged use of lithium is associated with an increased risk of chronic kidney disease and renal failure (7,19). Approximately half of the patients receiving lithium therapy develop polyuria within a few days to weeks of treatment initiation. Among these, about 20% may experience nephrogenic diabetes insipidus (NDI), a condition characterized by a loss of urine concentration capacity due to resistance to vasopressin. The clinical consequences of NDI include hypovolemia, hypernatremia, hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis, and distal renal tubular acidosis. These effects result in significant disruptions in fluid and electrolyte balance, imposing a substantial clinical burden on affected patients. (9,15).

4.3. Thyroid Function Tests:

Lithium's suppression of thyroid hormone synthesis can lead to hypothyroidism. Therefore, monitoring thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) and free thyroxine (fT4) levels is essential in patients receiving lithium therapy (9,16).

4.4. Parathyroid Function:

Hyperparathyroidism, a complication of lithium therapy, is associated with hypercalcemia. The osmotic effects of hypercalcemia can lead to fluid loss and subsequent volume depletion, further complicating the patient's clinical status (8).

4.5. Electrocardiography (ECG):

Lithium toxicity can result in QT prolongation and cardiac arrhythmias. Given that cardiac complications can be fatal in severe cases, ECG monitoring is crucial for early detection and management (20,21).

5. MANAGEMENT OF LITHIUM TOXICITY:

Although lithium toxicity is not a common reason for emergency department visits, it is a serious clinical condition with a high mortality rate. Therefore, management must be rapid, effective, and tailored to the patient's clinical course and symptoms. It is important to note that clinical symptoms may be delayed even when toxic levels are reached, meaning symptoms do not always accurately reflect the severity of the toxicity. Consequently, measuring lithium levels is essential for devising an appropriate treatment plan. Currently, there is no specific antidote for lithium toxicity. Treatment is based on two fundamental principles: first, effectively reducing circulating lithium levels, and second, correcting fluid and electrolyte imbalances to minimize the multi-organ effects caused by lithium. These approaches are critical in the management of lithium toxicity (22,23).

5.1. General Approach in Lithium Toxicity Management:

As with the management of all poisoning cases, the initial approach in lithium toxicity involves the assessment and stabilization of airway, breathing, and circulation ("ABCs"). Establishing appropriate monitoring conditions and evaluating the patient's level of consciousness are critical steps. As part of the initial assessment, measuring blood glucose via a fingertip test is essential to rule out hypoglycemia (8).

5.2. Fluid Replacement in the Treatment of Lithium Toxicity:

Fluid replacement plays a critical role in optimizing lithium elimination by enhancing renal perfusion. Intravenous infusion of isotonic saline (0.9% NaCl) is the preferred approach, especially in hypovolemic patients. Rapid rehydration is achieved by administering a bolus of 20 mL/kg isotonic saline, followed by a continuous infusion at a rate 1.5 to 2 times the maintenance rate, adjusted based on the patient's clinical condition. During treatment, urine output and serum lithium concentrations should be monitored regularly to assess the adequacy of renal perfusion. Serum sodium levels must also be frequently checked, considering the risk of hypernatremia due to arginine vasopressin resistance (AVP-R). Restoring sodium and water balance in hypovolemic patients is vital for maintaining glomerular filtration rate and promoting lithium excretion (8,9,24).

5.3. Gastrointestinal Decontamination in Lithium Toxicity Management:

Gastrointestinal decontamination plays a limited role in managing lithium toxicity but may be considered in specific clinical scenarios. Gastric lavage and the use of polystyrene resins are recommended in cases of acute toxicity or ingestion of extended-release preparations, though evidence supporting their efficacy is limited. Conflicting data in the literature suggest that while these approaches may serve as alternative options when renal replacement therapy is unavailable, their overall effectiveness is modest. Additionally, these methods generally demonstrate low efficacy in lithium elimination and carry the potential for adverse effects, making them unsuitable as replacements for standard treatment protocols. Thus, the use of gastrointestinal decontamination techniques should be carefully evaluated on a case-by-case basis and considered only as a supportive measure when more effective treatment options are not available. (8,25,26).

5.4. Hemodialysis in Lithium Toxicity Management:

Hemodialysis is an effective treatment for lithium toxicity due to lithium's small molecular weight, low plasma protein binding, limited volume of distribution (0.8–1.2 L/kg), and slow endogenous clearance (15–20 mL/min). It is particularly indicated in cases of severe neurological toxicity (e.g., altered consciousness, clonus, hyperreflexia, and seizures), life-threatening dysrhythmias, or renal impairment. Hemodialysis is recommended when serum lithium levels exceed 4.0 mEq/L or when adequate hydration cannot be achieved with intravenous fluids. Intermittent high-efficiency hemodialysis (PHD) is the first-line choice as it provides rapid and effective lithium elimination. Sessions

typically last 6–8 hours and are continued until serum lithium levels fall below 1 mEq/L. However, rapid removal of lithium from the plasma increases the risk of redistribution from intracellular to extracellular compartments (the "rebound phenomenon"). For this reason, post-dialysis serum lithium levels should be monitored for 6–12 hours, and additional sessions should be planned if necessary.

Continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT) can be considered when PHD is not feasible. However, as CRRT provides a lower lithium clearance rate, treatment duration is typically extended to 24 hours. Complications of hemodialysis include issues related to vascular access, such as infection and thrombosis, as well as osmotic imbalances that can lead to altered consciousness. Despite these risks, hemodialysis remains a reliable treatment option for reducing the total body lithium burden and mitigating the risk of neurotoxicity. A patient-specific, individualized approach is essential for optimal management.(18,27–29).

6. DISCHARGE PLANNING:

The management of lithium toxicity requires an individualized approach based on the severity of toxicity, serum lithium levels, and accompanying risk factors. Asymptomatic patients who have ingested immediate-release lithium preparations should be monitored with serial serum lithium measurements for 4–6 hours. Hospitalization is required if serum levels exceed 1.5 mEq/L. Patients who have ingested extended-release preparations should be admitted for close monitoring of toxicity symptoms, regardless of initial serum lithium levels. Patients with mild symptoms can usually be managed with intravenous saline therapy over 6–12 hours. They may be discharged once serum lithium levels fall below 1.5 mEq/L and after a psychiatric evaluation.

Hospital admission is necessary for patients with moderate toxicity. Patients with severe symptoms, such as altered consciousness, seizures, or cardiotoxicity, require intensive care monitoring and extracorporeal therapy (e.g., hemodialysis). Medications that increase the risk of lithium toxicity, such as thiazide diuretics, NSAIDs, and ACE inhibitors, should be discontinued. In cases of extended-release lithium ingestion, serial serum measurements should continue until levels are within the therapeutic range. Pregnant women taking lithium should be referred to an obstetrician for fetal evaluation and a risk-benefit assessment of lithium therapy. Patients without clinical toxicity symptoms, with a normal physical examination and serum lithium levels within the therapeutic range, can be safely discharged after appropriate psychiatric evaluation and follow-up planning (8,30–32).

REFERENCES

- 1. Strobusch AD, Jefferson JW. The checkered history of lithium in medicine. Pharmacy in history. 1980;22(2):72-6.
- Anderson D, Lord C, Risi S, DiLavore P, Shulman C, Thurm A, vd. American psychiatric association.(2013). diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. washington, dc: Author. The Linguistic and Cognitive Effects of Bilingualism on Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. 2017;21:175.
- Forlenza OV, De-Paula VJR, Diniz BSO. Neuroprotective Effects of Lithium: Implications for the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Neurodegenerative Disorders. ACS Chem Neurosci. 18 June 2014;5(6):443-50.
- 4. Kessing LV, Søndergård L, Forman JL, Andersen PK. Lithium treatment and risk of dementia. Archives of general psychiatry. 2008;65(11):1331-5.
- 5. Barbaro D, Boni G, Meucci G, Simi U, Lapi P, Orsini P, vd. Radioiodine treatment with 30 mCi after recombinant human thyrotropin stimulation in thyroid cancer: effectiveness for postsurgical remnants ablation and possible role of iodine content in L-thyroxine in the outcome of ablation. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2003;88(9):4110-5.
- 6. Köhrle J. Local activation and inactivation of thyroid hormones: the deiodinase family. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 1999;151(1-2):103-19.
- McKnight RF, Adida M, Budge K, Stockton S, Goodwin GM, Geddes JR. Lithium toxicity profile: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet. 2012;379(9817):721-8.
- 8. Baird-Gunning J, Lea-Henry T, Hoegberg LCG, Gosselin S, Roberts DM. Lithium Poisoning. J Intensive Care Med. May 2017;32(4):249-63.
- 9. Rico-Fontalvo J, Daza-Arnedo R, Leal-Martínez V, Abuabara-Franco E, Pájaro-Galvis N, Correa-Guerrero J, vd. Lithium Poisoning Update in Diagnosis and Treatment. Am J Intern Med [İnternet]. 2020 [a.yer 21 December 2024];20. Erişim adresi: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Jose-Guerrero</u> 92/publication/346795858_Lithium_Poisoning_Update_in_Diagnosis_and_Treatment/links/66e8631f01cba963bf2490f4/Lithium-Poisoning-Update-in-Diagnosis-and-Treatment.pdf
- 10. Meltzer H. Antipsychotic agents & lithium. Basic and clinical pharmacology 11th ed New York: Lange Medical Books/McGraw Hill. 2009;487-507.
- 11. Evans WE, Schentag JJ, Jusko WJ. Applied pharmacokinetics: principles of therapeutic drug monitoring. (No Title) [İnternet]. 1992 [a.yer 21 December 2024]; Access adress: https://cir.nii.ac.jp/crid/1130000794837963648
- 12. Sproule BA, Hardy BG, Shulman KI. Differential Pharmacokinetics of Lithium in Elderly Patients: Drugs & Aging. March 2000;16(3):165-77.

- Hedya SA, Avula A, Swoboda HD. Lithium toxicity. İçinde: StatPearls [Internet] [İnternet]. StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [a.yer 21 December 2024]. Access address: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/books/NBK499992/
- 14. Waring WS, Laing WJ, Good AM, Bateman DN. Pattern of lithium exposure predicts poisoning severity: evaluation of referrals to a regional poisons unit. Journal of the Association of Physicians. 2007;100(5):271-6.
- 15. Gong R, Wang P, Dworkin L. What we need to know about the effect of lithium on the kidney. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology. 01 December 2016;311(6):F1168-71.
- 16. Lazarus JH. Lithium and thyroid. Best practice & research Clinical endocrinology & metabolism. 2009;23(6):723-33.
- Konieczny K, Detraux J, Bouckaert F. The Syndrome of Irreversible Lithium-Effectuated Neurotoxicity: A Scoping Review. Alpha Psychiatry. 2024;25(2):190.
- 18. Eyer F, Pfab R, Felgenhauer N, Lutz J, Heemann U, Steimer W, vd. Lithium poisoning: pharmacokinetics and clearance during different therapeutic measures. Journal of clinical psychopharmacology. 2006;26(3):325-30.
- 19. Grünfeld JP, Rossier BC. Lithium nephrotoxicity revisited. Nature Reviews Nephrology. 2009;5(5):270-6.
- 20. Farag S, Watson RS, Honeybourne D. Symptomatic junctional bradycardia due to lithium intoxication in patient with previously normal electrocardiogram. The Lancet. 1994;343(8909):1371.
- 21. White B, Larry J, Kantharia BK. Protracted presyncope and profound bradycardia due to lithium toxicity. International journal of Cardiology. 2008;125(3):e48-50.
- 22. Oruch R, Elderbi MA, Khattab HA, Pryme IF, Lund A. Lithium: a review of pharmacology, clinical uses, and toxicity. European journal of pharmacology. 2014;740:464-73.
- 23. Vodovar D, El Balkhi S, Curis E, Deye N, Mégarbane B. Lithium poisoning in the intensive care unit: predictive factors of severity and indications for extracorporeal toxin removal to improve outcome. Clinical Toxicology. 13 September 2016;54(8):615-23.
- 24. Roberts DM, Gosselin S. Variability in the Management of Lithium Poisoning. Seminars in Dialysis. July 2014;27(4):390-4.
- 25. Bretaudeau Deguigne M, Hamel JF, Boels D, Harry P. Lithium poisoning: the value of early digestive tract decontamination. Clinical Toxicology. May 2013;51(4):243-8.

- 26. Thanacoody R, Caravati EM, Troutman B, Höjer J, Benson B, Hoppu K, vd. Position paper update: Whole bowel irrigation for gastrointestinal decontamination of overdose patients. Clinical Toxicology. 02 Jaunary 2015;53(1):5-12.
- 27. Bailey AR, Sathianathan VJ, Chiew AL, Paterson AD, Chan BS, Arora S. Comparison of intermittent haemodialysis, prolonged intermittent renal replacement therapy and continuous renal replacement haemofiltration for lithium toxicity: a case report. Critical Care and Resuscitation. 2011;13(2):120-2.
- Decker BS, Goldfarb DS, Dargan PI, Friesen M, Gosselin S, Hoffman RS, vd. Extracorporeal treatment for lithium poisoning: systematic review and recommendations from the EXTRIP workgroup. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2015;10(5):875-87.
- 29. Lavonas EJ, Buchanan J. Hemodialysis for lithium poisoning. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [İnternet]. 2015 [a.yer 22 December 2024];(9). Access address: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD007951.pub2/abstract
- Dunne FJ. Lithium toxicity: the importance of clinical signs. Br J Hosp Med. April 2010;71(4):206-10.
- 31. Finley PR. Drug Interactions with Lithium: An Update. Clin Pharmacokinet. August 2016;55(8):925-41.
- 32. Offerman SR, Alsop JA, Lee J, Holmes JF. Hospitalized lithium overdose cases reported to the California Poison Control System. Clinical Toxicology. June 2010;48(5):443-8.



Acute Appendicitis

Emre Gökçen¹

¹ Assoc. Prof. Dr., Yozgat Bozok University, Medical Faculty, Department of Emergency Medicine, Yozgat, Turkey, Orcid ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6018-6105

1.INTRODUCTION

Acute appendicitis is one of the most common general surgical emergencies worldwide, with an estimated lifetime risk of 8.6% in men and 6.9–12% in women. While it is most frequently observed in individuals aged 10–19 years, it can occur across all age groups and is the most common non-obstetric surgical emergency during pregnancy, affecting approximately 1 in 1,500 pregnancies (1–4). In the United States, 250,000–300,000 appendectomies are performed annually, whereas in Europe, this number reaches up to 700,000 (5,6). Approximately 69% of appendicitis cases occur in individuals under 30 years of age, with the highest incidence reported during the summer months. This condition represents a significant burden on modern healthcare systems (1,2,5).

The etiology of appendicitis remains poorly understood, and the lack of reliable biomarkers to predict disease severity complicates its diagnosis and management. Some of patients experience complications such as perforation, often associated with disparities in access to healthcare services. Despite advancements in laboratory tests and imaging techniques, achieving an accurate diagnosis remains challenging. Both missed diagnoses of appendicitis and unnecessary surgeries due to misdiagnosis can result in severe consequences. Therefore, appendicitis should always be considered in patients presenting with acute, non-traumatic abdominal pain (2).

Historically regarded as a vestigial organ, the appendix is now thought to play an immunological role in maintaining gut microbiome homeostasis. Bacteriaphage complexes within the appendix may help reseed the intestinal microbiota in cases where gut flora is disrupted by stressors, dietary changes, or antibiotics, thus contributing to intestinal equilibrium (1,7).

Acute appendicitis stands out due to its epidemiological significance and challenges in clinical management. The development of improved diagnostic tools, reduction of complication rates, and elimination of healthcare disparities are essential steps in optimizing the management of this common surgical emergency.

2. PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

The pathophysiology of acute appendicitis typically begins with obstruction of the appendiceal lumen. This obstruction may result from fecaliths (hardened fecal masses), lymphoid hyperplasia, gallstones, foreign bodies, parasites, or tumors. Obstruction prevents the normal outflow of mucus and bacteria from the appendix. The continued secretion of mucus by the luminal mucosa increases intraluminal pressure, leading to ischemia, necrosis, and eventually perforation of the appendiceal wall. However, the absence of fecaliths in most cases of appendicitis indicates that obstruction is not always present, and the underlying causes of appendicitis remain incompletely understood (2,8,9).

The increase in intraluminal pressure compromises the vascular and lymphatic circulation of the appendix, threatening the integrity of the wall. The cessation of capillary perfusion leads to localized ischemia and inflammation. Over time, bacterial overgrowth becomes predominant within the lumen, with bacteria invading the wall and inducing neutrophilic exudation. Aerobic bacteria dominate in the early stages, while anaerobic organisms, particularly *Escherichia coli*, *Bacteroides fragilis*, and *Peptostreptococcus*, become more common in later stages. This process can lead to the spread of inflammation to surrounding tissues, culminating in diffuse peritonitis (10,11).

Acute appendicitis typically begins with periumbilical pain, associated with the activation of visceral nerve fibers entering spinal segments T8 to T10 (9). This pain is usually described as vague and poorly localized. As the inflammation progresses to involve the parietal peritoneum, the pain becomes localized to McBurney's point in the right lower quadrant. However, anatomical variations can alter the localization of pain. A retrocecal appendix may present with flank pain, while a pelvic appendix can manifest as pelvic pain, dysuria, or diarrhea. During pregnancy, the displacement of abdominal organs by the enlarging uterus can lead to tenderness in the right upper quadrant. Nevertheless, the right lower quadrant remains the most common site of pain in pregnant patients (4).

The mechanism of luminal obstruction varies by age. In younger individuals, lymphoid hyperplasia is a more common cause, often secondary to infections. In older patients, obstruction is more likely due to fibrosis, fecaliths, or neoplasms. In endemic regions, parasites may play a significant role in the etiology of obstruction across all age groups (2,12).

The pathophysiological process can lead to various outcomes depending on the severity and duration of inflammation. Inflammation following obstruction usually becomes evident within 24 hours of symptom onset, but perforation generally takes more than 48 hours to develop. Perforation can result in localized abscess formation or diffuse peritonitis. In rare cases, appendicitis may resolve spontaneously (2,8,12).

Finally, appendicitis can occasionally be associated with unique conditions such as "tip appendicitis" or "stump appendicitis." Tip appendicitis refers to inflammation localized to the distal tip of the appendix, which carries a higher risk of misdiagnosis due to its subtle clinical and imaging findings. Stump appendicitis, on the other hand, involves inflammation of the residual appendiceal tissue following an appendectomy. This rare phenomenon can occur anywhere from 4 days to 50 years after the initial surgery (13).

The progressive nature of acute appendicitis highlights the importance of early diagnosis, as delayed intervention can result in significant complications. Therefore, a thorough understanding of its pathophysiology is essential for the development of effective diagnostic and therapeutic strategies.

3. CLINICAL FEATURES AND HISTORY

Abdominal pain is the most common symptom of acute appendicitis and is reported in nearly all confirmed cases. The classic presentation includes right lower quadrant pain, anorexia, and nausea or vomiting. Patients often describe the initial pain as peri-umbilical and colicky, which intensifies over time and migrates to the right lower quadrant as the inflammation progresses. However, this pain migration is observed in only 50–60% of cases. Nausea and vomiting, when present, typically follow the onset of pain. Fever and systemic symptoms usually appear in the later stages of the disease (9,14,15).

In some patients, the initial symptoms may be atypical or non-specific, including indigestion, bloating, irregular bowel habits, diarrhea, or generalized fatigue. The vague nature of these early symptoms can lead both patients and clinicians to underestimate their importance. The clinical manifestations of appendicitis often depend on the anatomical position of the appendix. For example, a retrocecal appendix may cause dull abdominal pain, while a pelvic appendix may present with lower abdominal tenderness, dysuria, tenesmus, or diarrhea. In pregnancy, the growing uterus may displace the appendix, causing tenderness in the right upper quadrant, although the right lower quadrant remains the most common site of pain (15–17).

The patient's age and the appendix's anatomical location significantly influence the clinical presentation. Diagnosis is particularly challenging in infants, young children, and elderly patients. Infants and young children often exhibit non-specific signs such as withdrawal, while elderly patients may present with atypical symptoms, including confusion(16).

The patient's medical history is an essential part of the diagnostic process, providing clues that may confirm appendicitis or suggest alternative conditions. A prior history of similar symptoms is often associated with other diagnoses, as appendicitis rarely presents as a recurrent or waxing-and-waning condition. Appendicitis is typically a progressive disease, with symptoms worsening until perforation occurs. Temporary relief may follow perforation due to a decrease in intraluminal pressure, but this is usually followed by generalized peritonitis and more severe abdominal pain (12,14).

Classic symptoms such as pain migration are useful diagnostic clues, but their absence does not rule out appendicitis. The duration of symptoms varies widely and may not reliably predict the severity or risk of complications. A high level of suspicion is essential, particularly in patients with atypical presentations or those in age groups where diagnosis is more challenging (18,19).

4.PHYSICAL EXAMINATION

Physical examination plays a crucial role in the diagnosis of acute appendicitis, but early-stage findings are often subtle due to the lack of involvement of somatic nerve fibers in the visceral organs. The most common physical finding is abdominal tenderness, which is observed in over 95% of patients. This is typically localized to the right lower quadrant, particularly at McBurney's point (16).

4.1. General Findings

Patients may present with flushed skin, a dry tongue, and foul breath odor. Low-grade fever (up to 38°C) and tachycardia are common. A fever exceeding 38.3°C suggests progressive inflammation or the development of peritonitis. Percussion tenderness, involuntary muscle guarding, and rebound tenderness (Blumberg's sign) are among the most reliable clinical findings for acute appendicitis. However, rebound tenderness should not be routinely elicited to avoid unnecessary discomfort to the patient(9,16,18).

4.2. Specific Signs and Findings

These classic signs are helpful for diagnosing appendicitis but are not definitive. The absence of these findings does not exclude the diagnosis, as variations in the anatomical position of the appendix (e.g., retrocecal or pelvic) may result in atypical presentations.

Specific signs and findings helpful for diagnosing appendicitis include McBurney's point tenderness, characterized by maximal tenderness located 1.5–2 inches from the anterior superior iliac spine on a straight line to the umbilicus; Rovsing's sign, where pain in the right lower quadrant elicited by palpation of the left lower quadrant suggests right-sided localized peritoneal irritation; the psoas sign, where right lower quadrant pain triggered by passive extension of the right hip indicates a retrocecal appendix; and the obturator sign, characterized by

pain in the right lower quadrant during internal rotation of the right hip while the hip and knee are flexed, suggesting a pelvic appendix. While these classic signs can support the diagnosis of appendicitis, they are not definitive, and their absence does not rule out the condition, as anatomical variations in the position of the appendix, such as retrocecal or pelvic locations, may lead to atypical presentations (12,16,19).

4.3. Rectal and Pelvic Examination

Rectal and pelvic examinations have limited diagnostic value for appendicitis and are not routinely recommended. However, they may be helpful in distinguishing appendicitis from pelvic or gynecological pathologies. In women, tenderness in the right adnexal region may be observed, but differentiating between pelvic and appendiceal tenderness can be challenging(20–22).

Physical examination findings are valuable for supporting the diagnosis of appendicitis but are not definitive on their own. A comprehensive evaluation, including imaging and laboratory testing, is essential for confirming the diagnosis.

5. LABORATORY FINDINGS

Although white blood cell (WBC) count is frequently used in the evaluation of acute appendicitis, it lacks sufficient sensitivity, specificity, and predictive value to definitively confirm or exclude the diagnosis. Peripheral WBC elevation is considered one of the earliest markers of inflammation. A study conducted prospectively and retrospectively on 722 children identified acute appendicitis as the most common diagnosis in children over 4 years old presenting with non-traumatic abdominal pain and leukocytosis. However, normal WBC levels are not uncommon, and leukopenic presentations have also been documented in the literatüre (23–25).

CRP, a systemic inflammatory marker synthesized by the liver, is typically elevated in acute appendicitis. CRP levels become more pronounced, especially when symptoms persist beyond 12 hours. However, CRP alone has limited diagnostic value (sensitivity 38–70%, specificity 65–85%). The combined evaluation of WBC and CRP can increase diagnostic sensitivity to as high as 97–100%. When both markers are within normal ranges, the likelihood of acute appendicitis is significantly reduced (26,27).

Urinalysis in acute appendicitis may reveal pyuria (7-25%) or microscopic hematuria, particularly when inflammation extends to the ureter or bladder. However, these findings are not specific and may also result from other

conditions such as renal colic or pyelonephritis. In female patients, pregnancy testing is recommended to exclude ectopic pregnancy or other pregnancy-related conditions. Tests such as electrolyte levels, liver function tests, and lipase may aid in evaluating alternative causes of abdominal pain but are not specific to acute appendicitis (28).

The combined evaluation of WBC, CRP, and neutrophil ratios can enhance diagnostic accuracy. The combination of normal WBC and CRP values yields a negative predictive value (NPV) of up to 88%. Some studies have shown that the diagnostic sensitivity of this combination can range from 97% to 100%. Research on novel biomarkers, such as procalcitonin and bilirubin, is ongoing, and further studies are needed before these markers can be implemented into routine clinical practice (29,30).

While laboratory findings alone are insufficient for diagnosing acute appendicitis, they provide valuable supportive information when combined with clinical and imaging evaluations. As such, laboratory tests remain an integral component of the diagnostic approach to acute appendicitis.

6. IMAGING

6.1. Plain Radiography

Plain radiography has limited value in diagnosing acute appendicitis and is not recommended for routine use due to its poor sensitivity and specificity. However, it may provide supportive findings in certain cases. Radiographic signs suggestive of acute appendicitis include appendiceal fecalith, gas within the appendix, distension or air-fluid levels in the terminal ileum, cecum, or ascending colon (indicative of localized paralytic ileus), loss of the cecal shadow, blurring or obliteration of the right psoas muscle, rightward scoliosis of the lumbar spine, increased density or haziness over the right sacroiliac joint, and free intraperitoneal air or fluid. These findings are not specific and may overlap with other inflammatory conditions. In cases of suspected perforation, an upright chest radiograph may be helpful in identifying free air under the diaphragm, a finding indicative of peritonitis secondary to perforation. Such findings warrant immediate surgical consultation for likely operative intervention (31).

6.2. Ultrasonography

Ultrasonography is the preferred imaging modality for evaluating acute appendicitis, particularly in children, pregnant women, and young, non-obese adults. Its advantages include the absence of radiation, rapid implementation, non-invasiveness, and cost-effectiveness. However, the diagnostic accuracy of ultrasonography is highly dependent on the operator's experience and the patient's anatomical characteristics (32–34).

Graded compression ultrasonography is a technique that enhances diagnostic accuracy by applying pressure with the ultrasound probe to reduce bowel gas and facilitate visualization of the appendix. A normal appendix appears as a lamellated, elongated, blind-ending structure on ultrasonography. It is typically compressible and measures less than 6 mm in diameter. In acute appendicitis, the appendix is >6 mm in diameter, has a thickened wall, and is non-compressible. Doppler ultrasonography can detect increased vascularity around the inflamed appendix. In cases of perforation, the appendix may exhibit an irregular contour, and periappendiceal fluid collections may be observed (32,35,36).

Ultrasonography is particularly advantageous in pediatric patients, as it avoids long-term radiation risks and benefits from lower obesity rates in this population. It is also useful in pregnant patients, although the visualization rate of the appendix tends to be lower during pregnancy. In women presenting with pelvic pain, pelvic ultrasonography can help differentiate appendicitis from other gynecologic conditions such as pelvic inflammatory disease (33,34).

The results of ultrasonography are operator-dependent and may vary based on the operator's expertise and the patient's anatomical characteristics. Inexperienced operators may have lower diagnostic accuracy. In cases of nondiagnostic ultrasonography, additional imaging or clinical observation is necessary. Even when ultrasonography strongly suggests appendicitis, the findings should be corroborated with other clinical parameters(18,27,32).

6.3. Computed Tomography (CT)

In adult patients with suspected acute appendicitis, particularly those with an ambiguous clinical presentation, abdominopelvic CT plays a primary diagnostic role. CT is characterized by findings such as a dilated appendix (>6mm), wall thickening, periappendiceal inflammation, and appendicolith/abscess. In cases of perforation, reduced luminal obstruction may complicate CT visualization (12,14).

CT demonstrates high sensitivity (>94%) and positive predictive value (>95%), exhibiting greater sensitivity (%96) compared to ultrasound (US). Preoperative CT is associated with reduced negative appendectomy rates. The American College of Radiology (ACR) recommends US as the first-line modality in children, but acknowledges CT as generally more accurate. Rectal contrast in

appendiceal CT offers an alternative to oral contrast and avoids adverse effects from IV contrast (37–39).

CT is the modality of choice in non-pregnant patients, offering high sensitivity, specificity, and a decreased negative appendectomy rate. It's a rapid and operator-independent examination. Ionizing radiation is the primary drawback. Low-dose CT protocols are effective in mitigating this risk (39,40).

6.4. Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

MRI is a significant alternative in evaluating acute appendicitis, particularly in pregnant patients and when ultrasound (US) is inconclusive. Its advantages include the absence of ionizing radiation and reduced operator dependence. However, cost, accessibility, and the need for specialized interpretation are limiting factors. MRI exhibits high sensitivity and specificity in pregnant women. While it eliminates radiation risk in younger patients, more data are needed regarding its use in acute abdominal pain. MRI is not superior to US in differentiating perforated appendicitis.

MRI is preferred in pregnant patients and situations where radiation is contraindicated. It can image the entire abdomen in multiple planes. Its use is increasing in pediatric patients, especially those over 5 years old, and when US is insufficient. MRI is often favored over computed tomography (CT) for appendicitis evaluation in the first trimester of pregnancy (12). Gadolinium is contraindicated during pregnancy and in patients with renal insufficiency. MRI's longer scan time makes it unsuitable for hemodynamically unstable patients. However, advancements in technology are enabling faster and non-contrast MRI scans (41). On MRI, a normal appendix is ≤ 6 mm, while a fluid-filled appendix >7mm is considered abnormal; appendices measuring 6-7mm are deemed indeterminate (42).

7. MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES FOR ACUTE APPENDICITIS

In the evaluation of patients with suspected acute appendicitis, supportive care is paramount. Patients should be kept without oral intake, and intravenous (IV) fluid therapy with isotonic solutions such as normal saline or lactated Ringer's solution should be initiated to ensure adequate hydration. Systemic signs of infection, more common in perforated appendicitis, warrant antipyretics and antibiotics. Although acute uncomplicated appendicitis rarely causes severe sepsis or septic shock, these complications can arise with delayed presentation or diagnosis (16,43)Antibiotic therapy should be initiated upon diagnosis of appendicitis or early in the management of septic patients with suspected appendicitis. Antibiotics should cover gram-negative aerobes, enteric grampositive streptococci, and anaerobes. Pseudomonal coverage is not necessary for patients with mild-to-moderate disease and no healthcare-associated risk factors. Surgical consultation remains vital in the management of acute appendicitis. The decision regarding operative management (OM) versus nonoperative management (NOM) is made jointly between the patient and surgeon, but emergency physicians should be knowledgeable about both pathways. Appendectomy is generally considered the initial treatment of choice. Nonoperative management with antibiotics alone is also an option, similar to the management of uncomplicated diverticulitis, salpingitis, and neonatal enterocolitis. A nonoperative approach is occasionally used for older, sicker patients considered high-risk surgical candidates. However, some studies suggest that these patients may have worse outcomes with nonoperative treatment. Randomized clinical trials have yet to provide sufficient evidence to support the routine use of NOM; while antibiotics alone may be feasible in selected, uncomplicated patients, surgical management remains the accepted standard (5,44–47).

Preoperative intra-abdominal or pelvic abscess occurs in 3.8% of appendicitis patients, suspected with a palpable mass. While delayed presentation has traditionally been considered a risk factor for perforation and abscess, some patients are at risk despite prompt treatment. Meta-analyses support conservative treatment with antibiotics and percutaneous drainage if needed. Early surgery is associated with increased morbidity. Malignancy can be found in 1.2% of patients with a conservatively treated abscess. Patients over 40, or with malignancy suspicion, should undergo follow-up with colonoscopy or CT. The rate of occult appendiceal malignancy after successful antibiotic treatment is unknown. Long-term evidence and follow-up is scarce; interval appendectomy may be considered based on age, symptoms, and radiological findings (2,16,43,48).

In summary, management of acute appendicitis requires a multi-faceted approach including supportive care, antibiotics, and potentially surgical intervention. While non-operative management shows promise, surgery remains the standard of care in many cases. Careful consideration of patient characteristics and clinical presentation is critical in determining the most appropriate course of action.

8. DISPOSITION

Management and disposition decisions for patients with suspected acute appendicitis are contingent upon the certainty of diagnosis, patient reliability, and clinical status. When the diagnosis is confirmed, IV antibiotics are initiated, and surgical consultation is obtained, while selected patients may be discharged with oral antibiotics and close follow-up. Reliable patients with a low probability of appendicitis who demonstrate clinical improvement and understand return precautions can also be discharged. In cases of inconclusive imaging or persistent suspicion, patients are either admitted for observation or, if reliable, discharged with close follow-up and return precautions. Although surgery remains the standard treatment for acute appendicitis, stable and reliable patients may be discharged provided they have a scheduled follow-up visit. Pain control should be achieved, oral hydration should be tolerated, and patients must adhere to discharge instructions (2,16,18,43).
9. REFERENCES:

- Vitetta, L., Chen, J., & Clarke, S. (2019). The vermiform appendix: an immunological organ sustaining a microbiome inoculum. Clinical Science, 133(1), 1-8.
- Bhangu, A., Søreide, K., Di Saverio, S., Assarsson, J. H., & Drake, F. T. (2015). Acute appendicitis: modern understanding of pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. The Lancet, 386(10000), 1278-1287.
- Cobben, L. P., Groot, I., Haans, L., Blickman, J. G., & Puylaert, J. (2004). MRI for clinically suspected appendicitis during pregnancy. American Journal of Roentgenology, 183(3), 671-675.
- 4. Mourad, J., Elliott, J. P., Erickson, L., & Lisboa, L. (2000). Appendicitis in pregnancy: new information that contradicts long-held clinical beliefs. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology, 182(5), 1027-1029.
- 5. Mason, R. J. (2008). Surgery for appendicitis: is it necessary?. Surgical infections, 9(4), 481-488.
- In't Hof, K. H., Van Lankeren, W., Krestin, G. P., Bonjer, H. J., Lange, J. F., Becking, W. B., & Kazemier, G. (2004). Surgical validation of unenhanced helical computed tomography in acute appendicitis. Journal of British Surgery, 91(12), 1641-1645.
- Guinane, C. M., Tadrous, A., Fouhy, F., Ryan, C. A., Dempsey, E. M., Murphy, B., ... & Ross, R. P. (2013). Microbial composition of human appendices from patients following appendectomy. MBio, 4(1), 10-1128.
- 8. Horn, C. B., Tian, D., Bochicchio, G. V., & Turnbull, I. R. (2018). Incidence, demographics, and outcomes of nonoperative management of appendicitis in the United States. journal of surgical research, 223, 251-258.
- 9. Birnbaum, B. A., & Wilson, S. R. (2000). Appendicitis at the millennium. Radiology, 215(2), 337-348.
- Mulholland, M. W. (2016). Greenfield's surgery: scientific principles and practice. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Bennion, R. S., Baron, E. J., THOMPSON JR, J. E., Downes, J. U. L. I. A., Summanen, P. A. U. L. A., Talan, D. A., & Finegold, S. M. (1990). The bacteriology of gangrenous and perforated appendicitis—revisited. Annals of surgery, 211(2), 165-171.
- 12. Martin, R. F. (2014). Acute appendicitis in adults: Clinical manifestations and differential diagnosis. Editado por Martin Weiser Up to date.
- Dikicier, E., Altintoprak, F., Ozdemir, K., Gundogdu, K., Uzunoglu, M. Y., Cakmak, G., ... & Capoglu, R. (2018). Stump appendicitis: a retrospective review of 3130 consecutive appendectomy cases. World Journal of emergency surgery, 13, 1-4.

- 14. Hopkins, K. L., Patrick, L. E., & Ball, T. I. (2001). Imaging findings of perforative appendicitis: a pictorial review. Pediatric radiology, 31, 173-179.
- 15. Andersson, R. E. B. (2004). Meta-analysis of the clinical and laboratory diagnosis of appendicitis. Journal of British Surgery, 91(1), 28-37.
- Humes, D. J., & Simpson, J. (2006). Acute appendicitis. Bmj, 333(7567), 530-534.
- 17. Guidry, S. P., & Poole, G. V. (1994). The anatomy of appendicitis. The American surgeon, 60(1), 68-71.
- 18. Snyder, M. J., Guthrie, M., & Cagle, S. (2018). Acute appendicitis: efficient diagnosis and management. American family physician, 98(1), 25-33.
- Echevarria, S., Rauf, F., Hussain, N., Zaka, H., Ahsan, N., Broomfield, A., ... & Khawaja, U. A. (2023). Typical and atypical presentations of appendicitis and their implications for diagnosis and treatment: a literature review. Cureus, 15(4).
- 20. Dunning, P. G., & Goldman, M. D. (1991). The incidence and value of rectal examination in children with suspected appendicitis. Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England, 73(4), 233.
- 21. Ebell, M. H. (2008). Diagnosis of appendicitis: part I. History and physical examination. American family physician, 77(6), 828-830
- 22. Takada, T., Nishiwaki, H., Yamamoto, Y., Noguchi, Y., Fukuma, S., Yamazaki, S., & Fukuhara, S. (2015). The role of digital rectal examination for diagnosis of acute appendicitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One, 10(9), e0136996.
- Yu, C. W., Juan, L. I., Wu, M. H., Shen, C. J., Wu, J. Y., & Lee, C. C. (2013). Systematic review and meta-analysis of the diagnostic accuracy of procalcitonin, C-reactive protein and white blood cell count for suspected acute appendicitis. Journal of British Surgery, 100(3), 322-329.
- Beltrán, M. A., Almonacid, J., Vicencio, A., Gutiérrez, J., Cruces, K. S., & Cumsille, M. A. (2007). Predictive value of white blood cell count and C-reactive protein in children with appendicitis. Journal of pediatric surgery, 42(7), 1208-1214.
- 25. Wang, L. T., Prentiss, K. A., Simon, J. Z., Doody, D. P., & Ryan, D. P. (2007). The use of white blood cell count and left shift in the diagnosis of appendicitis in children. Pediatric emergency care, 23(2), 69-76.
- Dayawansa, N. H., Segan, J. D., Yao, H. H., Chong, H. I., & Sitzler, P. J. (2018). Incidence of normal white cell count and C-reactive protein in adults with acute appendicitis. ANZ journal of surgery, 88(6), E539-E543.
- 27. Benabbas, R., Hanna, M., Shah, J., & Sinert, R. (2017). Diagnostic accuracy of history, physical examination, laboratory tests, and point-of-care ultrasound for

pediatric acute appendicitis in the emergency department: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Academic Emergency Medicine, 24(5), 523-551.

- 28. Goldberg, L. C., Prior, J., & Woolridge, D. (2016). Appendicitis in the infant population: a case report and review of a four-month old with appendicitis. The Journal of Emergency Medicine, 50(5), 765-768.
- Atema, J. J., Gans, S. L., Beenen, L. F., Toorenvliet, B. R., Laurell, H., Stoker, J., & Boermeester, M. A. (2015). Accuracy of white blood cell count and Creactive protein levels related to duration of symptoms in patients suspected of acute appendicitis. Academic Emergency Medicine, 22(9), 1015-1024.
- Benito, J., Acedo, Y., Medrano, L., Barcena, E., Garay, R. P., & Arri, E. A. (2016). Usefulness of new and traditional serum biomarkers in children with suspected appendicitis. The American journal of emergency medicine, 34(5), 871-876.
- 31. van Randen, A., Laméris, W., Luitse, J. S., Gorzeman, M., Hesselink, E. J., Dolmans, D. E., ... & OPTIMA study group. (2011). The role of plain radiographs in patients with acute abdominal pain at the ED. The American journal of emergency medicine, 29(6), 582-589
- Mostbeck, G., Adam, E. J., Nielsen, M. B., Claudon, M., Clevert, D., Nicolau, C., ... & Owens, C. M. (2016). How to diagnose acute appendicitis: ultrasound first. Insights into imaging, 7, 255-263.
- Jaffe, T. A., Miller, C. M., & Merkle, E. M. (2007). Practice patterns in imaging of the pregnant patient with abdominal pain: a survey of academic centers. American Journal of Roentgenology, 189(5), 1128-1134.
- Topin, F., Thierry, A. L., Catrevaux, O., Barnoux, T., Menguy, P., Bertani, A., ... & Bougère, J. (2016). Diagnostic accuracy of emergency physician-performed ultrasound for acute appendicitis in a remote location. The Journal of emergency medicine, 50(6), 859-867.
- Rosendahl, K., Aukland, S. M., & Fosse, K. (2004). Imaging strategies in children with suspected appendicitis. European Radiology Supplements, 14, L138-L145.
- Sivit, C. J. (1993). Diagnosis of acute appendicitis in children: spectrum of sonographic findings. AJR. American journal of roentgenology, 161(1), 147-152.
- Stephen, A. E., Segev, D. L., Ryan, D. P., Mullins, M. E., Kim, S. H., Schnitzer, J. J., & Doody, D. P. (2003). The diagnosis of acute appendicitis in a pediatric population: to CT or not to CT. Journal of pediatric surgery, 38(3), 367-371.
- Bendeck, S. E., Nino-Murcia, M., Berry, G. J., & Jeffrey Jr, R. B. (2002). Imaging for suspected appendicitis: negative appendectomy and perforation rates. Radiology, 225(1), 131-136.

- Wijetunga, R., Tan, B. S., Rouse, J. C., Bigg-Wither, G. W., & Doust, B. D. (2001). Diagnostic accuracy of focused appendiceal CT in clinically equivocal cases of acute appendicitis. Radiology, 221(3), 747-753.
- Smith, M. P., Katz, D. S., Lalani, T., Carucci, L. R., Cash, B. D., Kim, D. H., ... & Rosen, M. P. (2015). ACR Appropriateness Criteria® right lower quadrant pain—suspected appendicitis. Ultrasound quarterly, 31(2), 85-91.
- Chen, M. M., Coakley, F. V., Kaimal, A., & Laros Jr, R. K. (2008). Guidelines for computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging use during pregnancy and lactation. Obstetrics & Gynecology, 112(2 Part 1), 333-340.
- Pedrosa, I., Levine, D., Eyvazzadeh, A. D., Siewert, B., Ngo, L., & Rofsky, N. M. (2006). MR imaging evaluation of acute appendicitis in pregnancy. Radiology, 238(3), 891-899.
- 43. Smink, D., & Soybel, D. (2023). Management of acute appendicitis in adults. Chen WW M,(ed) Uptodate. Waltham, Mass2015.
- 44. Park, H. C., Kim, M. J., & Lee, B. H. (2017). Randomized clinical trial of antibiotic therapy for uncomplicated appendicitis. Journal of British Surgery, 104(13), 1785-1790.
- Loftus, T. J., Brakenridge, S. C., Croft, C. A., Smith, R. S., Efron, P. A., Moore, F. A., ... & Jordan, J. R. (2018). Successful nonoperative management of uncomplicated appendicitis: predictors and outcomes. journal of surgical research, 222, 212-218.
- Harnoss, J. C., Zelienka, I., Probst, P., Grummich, K., Mueller-Lantzsch, C., Harnoss, J. M., ... & Diener, M. K. (2017). Antibiotics versus surgical therapy for uncomplicated appendicitis: systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials (PROSPERO 2015: CRD42015016882). Annals of Surgery, 265(5), 889-900.
- 47. Talan, D. A., Saltzman, D. J., Mower, W. R., Krishnadasan, A., Jude, C. M., Amii, R., ... & Jeng, A. C. (2017). Antibiotics-first versus surgery for appendicitis: a US pilot randomized controlled trial allowing outpatient antibiotic management. Annals of emergency medicine, 70(1), 1-11.
- 48. Hui, T. T., Major, K. M., Avital, I., Hiatt, J. R., & Margulies, D. R. (2002). Outcome of elderly patients with appendicitis: effect of computed tomography and laparoscopy. Archives of Surgery, 137(9), 995-1000.